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[INSIDE COVER ART]

ABOUT THIS PROSPECTUS SUPPLEMENT

THIS DOCUMENT IS IN TWO PARTS. THE FIRST PART IS THIS PROSPECTUS
SUPPLEMENT, WHICH DESCRIBES THE TERMS OF THIS OFFERING AND ALSO ADDS TO AND
UPDATES INFORMATION CONTAINED IN THE ACCOMPANYING PROSPECTUS AND THE DOCUMENTS
INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE. THE SECOND PART IS THE ACCOMPANYING PROSPECTUS, WHICH
PROVIDES FURTHER INFORMATION, SOME OF WHICH MAY NOT APPLY SPECIFICALLY TO THIS
OFFERING. GENERALLY, WHEN WE REFER TO THIS "PROSPECTUS," WE ARE REFERRING TO
BOTH DOCUMENTS. REFERENCES TO THIS PROSPECTUS SUPPLEMENT OR THE PROSPECTUS ALSO
INCLUDE THE INFORMATION CONTAINED IN DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE. TO THE
EXTENT THAT INFORMATION APPEARING IN A LATER DOCUMENT IS INCONSISTENT WITH PRIOR
INFORMATION, THE LATER STATEMENT WILL CONTROL. IF THIS PROSPECTUS SUPPLEMENT IS
INCONSISTENT WITH THE PROSPECTUS, YOU SHOULD RELY ON THIS PROSPECTUS SUPPLEMENT.

YOU SHOULD RELY ONLY ON THE INFORMATION PROVIDED OR INCORPORATED BY
REFERENCE IN THIS PROSPECTUS SUPPLEMENT AND THE ACCOMPANYING PROSPECTUS. WE HAVE
NOT AUTHORIZED ANYONE ELSE TO PROVIDE YOU WITH DIFFERENT INFORMATION. THE
INFORMATION CONTAINED IN THIS PROSPECTUS SUPPLEMENT AND THE ACCOMPANYING
PROSPECTUS IS ACCURATE ONLY AS OF THEIR RESPECTIVE DATES, REGARDLESS OF TIME OF
DELIVERY OF THIS PROSPECTUS SUPPLEMENT AND THE ACCOMPANYING PROSPECTUS OR OF ANY
SALE OF OUR COMMON STOCK. WE ARE NOT MAKING AN OFFER OF THESE SECURITIES IN ANY
STATE WHERE THE OFFER IS NOT PERMITTED.

Unless this prospectus supplement indicates otherwise or the context

otherwise requires, references to "we," "our," "us," the "Company," or "Gardner
Denver" are to Gardner Denver, Inc., its subsidiaries and their predecessors.
References to "Thomas Industries" are to Thomas Industries Inc., its

subsidiaries and their predecessors.
FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This prospectus supplement and the accompanying prospectus and documents we
incorporate by reference into this prospectus supplement and accompanying
prospectus contain statements that do not directly or exclusively relate to
historical facts. Such statements are forward-looking statements made in
reliance upon the safe harbor of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of
1995. As a general matter, forward-looking statements are those focused upon
anticipated events or trends and expectations and beliefs relating to matters
that are not historical in nature. Such forward-looking statements are subject
to uncertainties and factors relating to our operations and business
environment, all of which are difficult to predict and many of which are beyond
our control. These uncertainties and factors could cause actual results to
differ materially from those matters expressed in or implied by such
forward-looking statements.

The following uncertainties and factors, among others (including those set
forth under "Risk Factors"), could affect future performance and cause actual
results to differ materially from those expressed in or implied by
forward-looking statements:

- our ability to complete the Thomas Industries acquisition and to
identify, negotiate and complete future acquisitions;

- the speed with which we are able to integrate acquisitions and
realize the related financial benefits;

- our ability to maintain and to enter into key purchasing, supply
and outsourcing relationships;
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- changes in our purchased material cost, including surcharges;

- our ability to effectively manage the transition of iron casting

supply to alternate sources and

the skill, commitment and

availability of such alternate sources;

- the successful implementation of other strategic initiatives,

including, without limitation,

restructuring plans, inventory

reduction programs and other cost reduction efforts;

- the domestic and/or worldwide level of oil and natural gas prices
and oil and gas drilling and production, which affect demand for

our petroleum products;

- changes in domestic and/or worldwide industrial production and

industrial capacity utilization
compressor and vacuum products;

- pricing of our products;

- the degree to which we are able
international markets;

rates, which affect demand for our

to penetrate niche and

- changes in currency exchange rates (primarily among the U.S.
dollar, the euro and the British pound);

- changes in interest rates;

- our ability to attract and retain quality management personnel;

- market performance of our pension plan assets and changes in
discount rates used for actuarial assumptions in our pension and

other postretirement obligation

and expense calculations;

- our continued ability to effectively manage and defend litigation

matters pending, or asserted in

the future, against us;

- the development and acceptance of our new product offerings;

- the continued successful implementation and utilization of our

electronic services; and

- changes in laws and regulations,

including accounting standards,

tax requirements and interpretations or guidance related to the
American Jobs Creation Act of 2004.

We do not undertake, and hereby disclaim, any duty to update these
forward-looking statements, even though our situation and circumstances may

change in the future.
NON-GAAP FINANCIAL
To supplement our financial information

generally accepted accounting principles, or
to clarify and enhance understanding of past

MEASURES

presented in accordance with
"GAAP," we use additional measures
performance and prospects for the

future. These measures may exclude, for example, the impact of unique items

(acquisitions, one-time gains and losses) or
(foreign currency exchange rates).

items outside of our control



Edgar Filing: GARDNER DENVER INC - Form 424B2

Gross margin (defined as revenues less cost of sales), gross margin
percentage (defined as gross margin divided by revenues), operating earnings
(defined as revenue less cost of sales, depreciation and amortization, and
selling and administrative expenses) and operating margin (defined as operating
earnings divided by revenues) are indicative of short-term operational
performance and ongoing profitability. We closely monitor operating earnings and
operating margin of each business segment to evaluate past performance and
actions required to improve profitability.

EBITDA, as presented in this prospectus supplement, is a supplemental
measure of our performance. It is not a measurement of our financial performance
under GAAP and should not be considered as an alternative to net income or any
other performance measure derived in accordance with GAAP or as an alternative
to net cash provided by operating activities as a measure of our liquidity.

EBITDA represents net income before provision for income taxes, interest
expense and depreciation and amortization. We believe EBITDA provides investors
with helpful information with respect to our operating performance and cash
flows. We include it to provide additional information with respect to our
ability to meet our future debt service, capital expenditures and working
capital requirements and because certain covenants in our borrowing arrangements
are tied to measures that will be similarly calculated.

In addition, in evaluating this non-GAAP measure, you should be aware that
in the future we will incur expenses such as those excluded in calculating it.

S—-ii

EBITDA has limitations as an analytical tool, and you should not consider
it in isolation, or as a substitute for analysis of our results as reported
under GAAP. Some of these limitations are:

- it does not reflect our cash expenditures, or future requirements
for capital expenditures or contractual commitments;

- it does not reflect changes in, or cash requirements for, our
working capital needs;

- it does not reflect the significant interest expense, or the cash
requirements necessary to service interest or principal payments,
on our debt;

- it does not reflect any cash income taxes that we may be required
to pay;

- although depreciation and amortization are non-cash charges, the
assets being depreciated and amortized will often have to be
replaced in the future, and EBITDA does not reflect any cash
requirements for such replacements;

- it is not adjusted for all non-cash income or expense items that
are reflected in our statements of cash flows;

—— it does not reflect limitations on, or costs related to,
transferring earnings from our subsidiaries to us; and

- other companies in our industry may calculate EBITDA differently
than we do, limiting its usefulness as a comparative measure.

Because of these limitations, our EBITDA measures should not be considered
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as a measure of discretionary cash available to us to invest in the growth of
our business or as a measure of cash that will be available to us to meet our
obligations. You should compensate for these limitations by relying primarily on
our GAAP results and using these measures supplementally. See our financial
statements and the related notes included elsewhere in this prospectus
supplement.

MARKET AND INDUSTRY DATA

Some of the market and industry data and other statistical information used
throughout this prospectus supplement are based on independent industry
publications, government publications, reports by market research firms or other
published independent sources. Some data are also based on our good faith
estimates, which are derived from our review of internal surveys, as well as the
independent sources referred to above. Although we believe these sources to be
reliable, we have not independently verified the information and cannot
guarantee its accuracy or completeness.

S-iii

PROSPECTUS SUPPLEMENT SUMMARY

This summary may not contain all of the information that is important to
you. You should read the entire prospectus supplement and the accompanying
prospectus and the documents incorporated and deemed to be incorporated by
reference therein, including the consolidated financial statements and related
notes and other financial data, before making an investment decision. This
summary includes a discussion of our pending acquisition of Thomas Industries
Inc. under " - The Thomas Industries Acquisition and Related Financing
Transactions" but, unless specifically noted, does not otherwise reflect the
effect of the Thomas Industries acquisition. The Thomas Industries acquisition
is subject to numerous conditions and may not be consummated. See "Risk

Factors - Risks Related to the Thomas Industries Acquisition." This summary
includes references to EBITDA, a non-GAAP financial measure, for which we
provide a reconciliation to net income in " - Summary Historical and Pro Forma

Consolidated Financial Information."
OUR COMPANY

We are a leading designer, manufacturer and marketer of highly engineered
ailr compressors, liquid ring pumps, blowers and certain fluid transfer products.
Our products primarily are used to move fluids, gases or solids through the
application of pressure, vacuum or other mechanical influences, often in highly
demanding applications or environments. Our compressors, liquid ring pumps and
blowers are used in a broad range of industrial applications and our fluid
transfer products are used primarily for oil and natural gas well drilling,
servicing, production and transfer as well as for industrial cleaning and
maintenance.

We report our results of operations through two segments, Compressor and
Vacuum Products (compressors, liquid ring pumps and blowers) and Fluid Transfer
Products, which represented approximately 80% and 20% of our 2004 revenues,
respectively. Our history dates back to 1859 when Robert Gardner redesigned the
fly-ball governor to provide speed control for steam engines. For the fiscal
year ended December 31, 2004, we had revenues of $739.5 million, EBITDA of $84.3
million and net income of $37.1 million. In 2004, we completed the acquisition
of Syltone plc ("Syltone") for $112.5 million and of nash_elmo Holdings, LLC
("Nash Elmo") for $224.6 million. For the fiscal year ended December 31, 2004,
pro forma for acquisitions completed in 2004, we had revenue of $895.9 million,
EBITDA of $102.7 million and net income of $40.4 million.
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We sell our products and services globally to customers in diverse
industries around the world. The following charts show the percentage of
revenues generated in 2004 by industries served and by geographic regions, pro
forma for acquisitions completed in 2004.

LOGO

The majority of our products are marketed through our global network of
over 1,000 independent distributors and representatives, many of whom sell our
products exclusively. We offer our distributors access to one of the broadest
product lines in our served markets. In addition, we provide our distributors
with sales and product literature, technical assistance and training programs,
advertising and sales promotions, order-entry and tracking systems and an annual
restocking program. Our distributors maintain an inventory of complete units and
parts and provide aftermarket service to end-users. We service original
equipment
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manufacturers ("OEMs") and engineering firms through our direct sales force as
these customers typically require higher levels of technical assistance, more
coordinated shipment scheduling and more complex product service than customers
of our less specialized products.

We have an extensive installed base of equipment for which we supply
replacement parts and repair services. Our aftermarket parts and service
businesses provide us with a recurring source of revenues with attractive
margins. Our aftermarket businesses also allow us to be in frequent contact with
customers, enabling us to provide enhanced customer service and product
information, which often generates additional sales of new products. We estimate
that aftermarket parts and services represented approximately 30% of our
revenues in 2004.

OUR BUSINESS SEGMENTS

We report our results of operations through two segments: Compressor and
Vacuum Products and Fluid Transfer Products.

COMPRESSOR AND VACUUM PRODUCTS. Our Compressor and Vacuum Products segment
designs, manufactures, markets and services the following products and related
aftermarket parts for industrial and commercial applications: rotary screw,
reciprocating, sliding vane and centrifugal compressors; positive displacement,
centrifugal and side channel blowers; liquid ring pumps; and engineered systems.
Compressors are used in applications that require high-pressure air, while
blowers and liquid ring pumps are used when higher-volume, low-pressure air or
vacuums are needed in an application. Compressors are used primarily in
manufacturing, process industry and material handling applications. Blowers are
used primarily in pneumatic conveying, wastewater aeration and engineered vacuum
systems, and liquid ring pumps are used primarily in process industry
applications. In general, our standard products are sold through distributors or
directly to OEMs, while our more specialized products and those designed for
specific applications are sold through independent representatives or directly
to end-users.

FLUID TRANSFER PRODUCTS. Our Fluid Transfer Products segment designs,
manufactures, markets and services a wide array of reciprocating pumps as well
as water jetting systems, loading arms and related aftermarket parts. Our
reciprocating pumps are used in oil and natural gas well drilling, servicing and
production and our water Jjetting systems are used for industrial cleaning and

LOGO
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maintenance. Our loading arms and related transfer components are used to load
and unload ships, tank trucks and rail cars. Most of our pump products are sold
directly to end-users or to packagers. Packagers are customers that combine our
equipment with ancillary products before they are sold to end-users.

OUR COMPETITIVE STRENGTHS

MARKET LEADERSHIP POSITIONS. We believe we are the second largest
manufacturer of compressed air products in the United States and the third
largest in the world, as measured by revenues. We believe we are one of the
world's two largest manufacturers of pumps used for oil and natural gas well
servicing and drilling. We believe that our acquisition of Nash Elmo in 2004
made us the largest worldwide manufacturer of liquid ring pumps and that our
acquisition of Syltone in 2004 made us the second largest worldwide manufacturer
of loading arms. We have achieved our leadership positions through our
commitment to product innovation and quality, our well-developed distribution
channels and our strategic acquisitions. We believe that, as a market segment
leader, we have greater access to distributors and are more likely to be
specified as a supplier when our target customers develop new requirements.

BRAND NAME RECOGNITION. Our products are marketed under a variety of
well-known brand names in our industries served, including: Gardner Denver (R)
compressors, blowers and pumps, Champion(R) compressors, Belliss & Morcom(R)
compressors, Elmo Technology(TM) blowers, Sutorbilt (R) blowers, DuroFlow (R)
blowers, Drum(R) blowers, Nash(R) liquid ring pumps, Partek (R) water jetting
pumps and Emco Wheaton (R) loading arms. Each of these brands enjoys a strong
reputation in its market segment, built over many years. We believe that the
strength of these brand names helps reduce the importance of price as a
competitive factor and provides a measure of built-in demand when we introduce
new products.
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STRONG DISTRIBUTION NETWORK AND OEM ALLIANCES. We offer our customers one
of the industry's broadest selections of high quality products and services. As
a result, we have been able to establish strong customer relationships with
several key OEMs and exclusive supply arrangements with many of our
distributors. These relationships strengthen our market position, facilitate our
sales efforts and provide a valuable conduit for feedback when developing new
products.

LARGE INSTALLED EQUIPMENT BASE. We have maintained strong positions in our
market segments over a number of years, which has allowed us to establish a
large base of installed equipment. For most of the products in our installed
base, a significant portion of total life cycle cost consists of replacement
parts and maintenance. Therefore, our installed base provides us with a
recurring source of aftermarket revenues, typically with attractive margins.
Additionally, we believe that when our customers replace existing equipment they
prefer to do so with equipment of the same type or brand to avoid incremental
costs related to training, operations and maintenance. As a result, we believe
that our large installed base also provides a source of new product revenues.

BROAD AND DIVERSE PRODUCT AND CUSTOMER BASE. We have a product-driven
strategy that is based on our core competencies of manufacturing compressed air
and pump equipment. As a result, we have developed products and services for an
extensive array of applications that we market globally to a diverse group of
industries and customers. In 2004, no customer represented more than 3% of our
total revenues. We believe that our diversity of products and customers reduces
our dependence on any particular geographic or served industry segment.
Additionally, we believe that our presence in many different industries
generates broader brand awareness and facilitates the development and
introduction of new products.
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STRONG CASH FLOW FROM OPERATIONS. Since becoming an independent company, we
have increased our annual cash flow from operations from $17.5 million in 1994
to $76.8 million in 2004. We have achieved this through internal growth in
revenues and earnings, through acquisitions and by aggressively managing working
capital and controlling expenses on an ongoing basis throughout our
organization. Our strong cash flow from operations provides us with the
financial flexibility to pursue acquisitions and internal investments.

ABILITY TO EFFECTIVELY INTEGRATE ACQUISITIONS. We believe that our
acquisition and integration expertise is a critical element for the successful
implementation of our strategic growth and profitability initiatives. Between
our spin-off from Cooper Industries, Inc. in 1994 and 2003, we acquired and
successfully integrated 15 businesses. In 2004, we made two additional
acquisitions, Syltone and Nash Elmo, and have made meaningful progress toward
integrating these businesses. For example, since we acquired Syltone, we have
eliminated redundant administrative costs, relocated certain of Syltone's
manufacturing operations into our existing facilities, rationalized both Gardner
Denver's and Syltone's distribution networks to broaden and strengthen our
distribution capabilities and sold certain of Syltone's non-core,
underperforming businesses. With respect to Nash Elmo, we have eliminated
certain of Nash Elmo's administrative expenses, initiated the integration of
Nash Elmo's management information systems and are reviewing opportunities with
respect to the rationalization of Nash Elmo's manufacturing operations.

EXPERIENCED MANAGEMENT TEAM. Our senior management team has significant
experience, averaging more than 12 years with us and more than 20 years in
manufacturing. In addition, this team has substantial experience in identifying,
structuring and integrating acquisitions, supply chain management programs and
lean manufacturing techniques, all of which are important to our long-term
growth.

STRONG CORPORATE GOVERNANCE. We believe that our corporate culture is based
on strong corporate governance and a commitment to stockholder accountability.
Seven of the eight members of our Board of Directors are non-employee directors
and our senior executives are expected to maintain meaningful holdings of our
common stock. We believe our culture and operating performance have been and
will continue to be enhanced by our strong corporate governance.

OUR BUSINESS STRATEGY

Over the last several years, we have employed a six point business strategy
that we believe has positioned us for future profitable growth. During this
period, we have implemented numerous cost reduction
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and sales initiatives, acquired Syltone and Nash Elmo and announced the pending
acquisition of Thomas Industries. We believe that all of these actions have been
consistent with our strategy as highlighted below.

REDUCE COSTS. We continually seek to increase our efficiency and improve
margins in existing and acquired lines of business through the implementation of
cost reduction initiatives. The areas we are focusing on include:

- Lean manufacturing techniques. We have implemented lean manufacturing
programs such as cellular manufacturing and lot size reduction at many
of our facilities. These programs have translated directly into
lower-cost manufacturing, shorter lead times, better quality, and
reduced inventory investment and have freed more than 300,000 square
feet of manufacturing and office space. Our lean manufacturing
techniques have also facilitated better communications and problem
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resolution among production personnel and reduced the likelihood of
errors. As we have implemented lean techniques, we have developed an
internal "lean council" to promote the adoption of our best
manufacturing practices throughout our organization. We also have gone
beyond internal implementation by partnering with suppliers to achieve
additional efficiencies in the supply chain.

- Purchasing and sourcing. Throughout our organization, we have formed
purchasing teams tasked with identifying the most cost-effective way
to source and manufacture our products. Our purchasing teams seek to
reduce basic material costs by identifying the best-value suppliers,
implementing global sourcing strategies and working with our
manufacturing and engineering personnel to identify less expensive
manufacturing input alternatives. Our purchasing teams also review
non-critical product components to determine whether it is more
cost-effective to manufacture or outsource such products.

- Capital investments. We evaluate capital expenditures based on the
potential for the investment to generate adequate returns by
increasing our operating efficiency and flexibility, expanding
production capacity and increasing product quality. Our strategy is to
invest throughout our economic cycle. Between 2001 and 2003, when we
faced a challenging operating environment, we cumulatively invested
$37.1 million of capital in our business. Our capital expenditures
were targeted toward investments such as flexible machining centers
that reduced labor and setup expenses and improved product lead time.
As our business began to recover in 2004, we believe that these
investments contributed to the significant operating leverage we
achieved and will continue to benefit us in the future.

PURSUE INTERNATIONAL MARKETS. In 2004, we generated 56% of our revenues in
international markets (59% pro forma for acquisitions completed during 2004).
Between 1994 and 2004, our revenues from international sales grew at a compound
annual growth rate of 27%. The growth of our international revenues and our
improved market positions in Europe, Asia and South America are a result of
successful acquisitions and the expansion of our distribution channels. We sell
through distributors and representatives in more than 20 countries and have
manufacturing facilities in Germany, the United Kingdom, China, Finland, Brazil
and Canada. Also, in 2004, we opened an assembly facility in China that packages
our compressors and blowers to serve growing demand in Asian markets. We believe
international markets will continue to offer attractive growth opportunities.

ACCELERATE NEW PRODUCT DEVELOPMENT. As a leader in our industry, we
consistently develop new products and enhance existing products to meet the
evolving demands of our customers, as well as to enter into new markets and
reduce costs. We have implemented formal processes that coordinate research,
development and engineering activity with feedback from distributors, end-users
and suppliers. We believe that these processes can accelerate the product
development cycle by up to 50%, thereby reducing our costs and shortening the
time it takes us to introduce new products to the market. For example, we
recently developed a new line of global single-stage lubricated compressors
using variable speed drives. This product line was developed concurrently in
Finland and the U.S., which resulted in a number of advantages, including a more
rapid development cycle, more efficient use of engineering resources and global
purchasing opportunities that we expect will lower our production costs. We
believe that our ability to rapidly design and develop new products in response
to the needs of our customers will enhance the future growth of our business.
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MANUFACTURE PROPRIETARY PRODUCTS. We seek to differentiate our products
from those of our competitors by developing proprietary products that offer
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superior performance at the lowest total life cycle cost. We also reengineer
products and develop new controls and other product functionalities to improve
their key performance characteristics. We believe that commodity-like products,
such as consumer—-grade air compressors, are more susceptible to pricing pressure
and are more likely to dilute brand equity. Conversely, we believe that our
proprietary products enhance our brand names, provide value to customers and
build customer loyalty, allowing us to increase market share and achieve premium
pricing.

EMBRACE NEW TECHNOLOGIES. We continue to embrace new technologies
throughout our business, including within our engineering, manufacturing, sales
and distribution functions. For example, we are utilizing our computer systems
and Internet technology to allow our business partners immediate and continuous
access to sales and technical literature, order processing and tracking, and
service and warranty information. We are also linking these ordering systems
directly to our manufacturing facilities to reduce order processing paperwork,
lead times and the amount of working capital employed. From an engineering
perspective, we employ a number of advanced technologies, including
computational fluid dynamics, finite element analysis and solid modeling
software. Overall, we view our investment in technology as an important means to
increase our efficiency and better serve our customers.

PURSUE STRATEGIC ACQUISITIONS. We believe that our industry is relatively
fragmented and opportunities remain to acquire companies that complement or
expand our product offerings, distribution capabilities and geographic presence.
Our management team has substantial experience making and integrating
acquisitions, having completed 17 acquisitions since Gardner Denver became an
independent company in 1994. While we will opportunistically pursue larger
transactions such as the pending acquisition of Thomas Industries, we will
continue to pursue smaller transactions that incrementally expand our business.
As acquired companies are integrated, we will seek to rationalize administrative
expenses, manufacturing capacity, product lines and distribution channels to
maximize our returns.

OUR INDUSTRY

Our Compressor and Vacuum Products segment competes in a worldwide market
that we estimate to be in excess of $5 billion per year in sales. The largest
market served within our Fluid Transfer Products segment consists of the
worldwide market for industrial/process pumps that we estimate to be in excess
of $22 billion per year in sales. Our reciprocating pumps compete for
approximately $2 billion of this market. Products in all of our served markets
are sold to a diverse group of customers across a wide range of industries.

Competition in our markets is generally robust and is based on product
quality, performance, price and availability. The relative importance of each of
these factors varies depending on the specific type of product. Given the
potential for equipment failures to cause expensive operational disruption, our
customers generally view quality and reliability as critical factors in their
equipment purchasing decision. The required frequency of maintenance is highly
variable based on the type of equipment and application.

Although there are a few large manufacturers of compressor and vacuum
products, the marketplace for these products remains fragmented due to the wide
variety of product technologies, applications and selling channels. The
marketplace for industrial/process pumps, although dominated by a few
multinational manufacturers with a broad product offering, is also fragmented,
as the ten largest pump manufacturers account for only approximately 40% of
annual industry sales. Because we are currently focused on pumps used in oil and
natural gas drilling, servicing and production, we do not typically compete
directly with the major full-line manufacturers. Competition in the market
segment for oil and natural gas pumps is much more concentrated than for pumps
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generally. The marketplaces for water jetting systems and loading arms tend to
be niche-oriented and somewhat concentrated with the largest three or four
competitors controlling the majority of the market.

THE THOMAS INDUSTRIES ACQUISITION AND RELATED FINANCING TRANSACTIONS

On March 9, 2005, we announced that we had signed a definitive agreement to
acquire Thomas Industries Inc. (NYSE: ticker "TII") for a purchase price of
$40.00 per share, or approximately
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$734.2 million, and the assumption of $9.5 million in long-term capitalized
lease obligations. As of December 31, 2004, Thomas Industries had $267.1 million
in cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments. Therefore, the net
transaction value, including assumed debt and net of cash, is approximately
$476.6 million. Thomas Industries generated revenues of $410.1 million and
EBITDA of $226.7 million ($48.0 million excluding income related to Genlyte
Thomas Group LLC or "GTG") for the year ended December 31, 2004. These EBITDA
figures include $5.2 million of non-recurring charges related to plant shutdown,
legal and environmental costs. See "Selected Consolidated Financial Information
of Thomas Industries" for a reconciliation of EBITDA to net income.

Thomas Industries, headquartered in Louisville, Kentucky, is a worldwide
leader in the design, manufacture, and marketing of precision engineered pumps
and compressors. Thomas Industries markets its products under a number of
well-known brand names, including Rietschle Thomas (R) pumps and compressors,
Welch (R) laboratory equipment and Oberdorfer (TM) bronze and high alloy liquid
pumps. Thomas Industries serves a diversified, global customer base of OEMs,
end-users and engineered system customers with a relationship strategy focused
on product innovation, application engineering and value added designs.

Thomas Industries' products are sold into a broad range of attractive end
markets, including medical, general industrial, printing, environmental,
packaging and laboratory. Thomas Industries has wholly-owned operations in 21
countries, on five continents. Its primary manufacturing facilities are located
in Sheboygan, Wisconsin; Monroe, Louisiana; Skokie, Illinois; Syracuse, New
York; and Schopfheim, Fahrnau, Puchheim and Memmingen, Germany. In 2004, Thomas
Industries completed the construction of a manufacturing facility in Wuxi,
China, that is expected to become operational in mid-2005. Thomas Industries has
other locations around the world to support sales, marketing, service and
distribution. In 2004, more than 60% of Thomas Industries' sales were derived
outside the United States.

If completed, the acquisition of Thomas Industries will significantly
expand our product portfolio, distribution channels and end markets served.
Although the basic technology of Thomas Industries' products is similar to that
of our products, Thomas Industries' business is primarily complementary to ours:

- Thomas Industries' products are generally used in smaller, fractional
horsepower applications, while our products are typically used in
larger applications requiring more power;

- the majority of Thomas Industries' products are sold directly to OEMs
while the majority of our products are sold through distributors and
manufacturers' representatives; and

- more than 30% of Thomas Industries' OEM sales are to attractive end
markets such as medical, environmental and laboratory, in which we

have a limited presence.

While our business and Thomas Industries' business are complementary, we
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believe that significant opportunities for synergies exist between our
businesses should we complete the acquisition, including:

- reduction of corporate overhead;

- reduction of selling and administrative expense within business units;
- leveraging purchases of common raw materials and components;

- implementation of lean manufacturing initiatives;

- cross—-selling of complementary product lines; and

- rationalization of manufacturing capacity.

Our ability to realize these synergies is subject to uncertainties. See "Risk
Factors —-—- Risks Related to the Thomas Industries Acquisition."

The following charts reflect our consolidated revenue mix by industries
served and geographic regions for 2004 on a combined basis as if Syltone, Nash
Elmo and Thomas Industries had been acquired at the beginning of 2004.

S-6

LOGO LOGO

(1) Thomas Industries' information based on OEM sales, which represent
approximately 76% of Thomas Industries' total sales.

Our plan to finance the acquisition of Thomas Industries, and to refinance
approximately $35.6 million of our debt, is outlined in the sources and uses
table below:

SOURCES USES

(dollars in millions)

Available cash at Gardner Denver..... $ 20.0 Merger consideration................. $734.2
Available cash at Thomas Repay existing Gardner Denver

Industries (1) «v ittt i ieeeennn 219.2 Aebt (2) v i i et e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e 35.6
New term 1oan......uueeeeeeeennnnennens 230.0 Fees and eXPenNSeS. .. v eeeeeeannnn 25.0
New senior subordinated notes........ 125.0
This offering(3) ..., 200.6
0 o= T $794.8 0 o= T $794.8

Note: Assumes our existing $375 million credit facility is successfully
amended and restated and will not need to be refinanced.

(1) Represents the estimated immediately available amount of Thomas
Industries' total cash and short-term investments.

12
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(2) Includes repayment of $8.7 million of our revolver debt and repayment
of $26.9 million of our other long-term debt.

(3) Does not assume exercise of over-allotment option. If over-allotment
option is exercised an additional $28.7 million of our revolver debt
would be repaid.

Concurrent with this offering, we are offering $125.0 million aggregate
principal amount of Senior Subordinated Notes due 2013 in a private placement.
The notes will not be registered under the Securities Act and may not be offered
or sold in the United States absent registration or an exemption from the
registration requirements. The notes will be unconditionally guaranteed, jointly
and severally, by certain of our current and future domestic subsidiaries. The
gross proceeds from the notes offering will be placed into escrow, together with
an amount in cash, cash equivalents or treasury securities, so that the escrowed
funds will be sufficient to pay the special mandatory redemption price described
below for the notes, when and if due. The notes are subject to a special
redemption on or before January 2, 2006, at a redemption price equal to their
price of issuance, plus accrued interest and accretion of any discount to the
date of redemption, in the event that the Thomas Industries acquisition is not
consummated by December 31, 2005. The proceeds from the notes offering will be
released from escrow upon consummation of the Thomas Industries acquisition.

As of December 31, 2004, our existing credit facility consisted of a $225.0
million revolving credit facility and a $148.1 million term loan. We expect to
enter into an amendment and restatement of this facility which will become
effective upon the consummation of the Thomas Industries acquisition. The
amended and restated facility is expected to provide an additional $230.0
million term loan, the proceeds of which will be used as described above. The
effectiveness of the amendment and restatement is subject to the consummation

S-=7

of the Thomas Industries acquisition, receipt of sufficient proceeds from this
offering and our concurrent notes offering and other customary closing
conditions.

The acquisition of Thomas Industries is not contingent upon completion of
this offering, the concurrent notes offering or the amendment and restatement of
our credit facility. We have received a financing commitment letter jointly
issued by affiliates of Bear, Stearns & Co. Inc. and J.P. Morgan Securities Inc.
to ensure availability of funding, subject to customary conditions. A number of
material conditions must still be satisfied before we can effect the acquisition
of Thomas Industries and, as discussed in "Risk Factors," the satisfaction of
many of these conditions is outside of our control. While we plan to finance the
acquisition as outlined in the sources and uses table above, we may alter our
plans depending on market conditions or other factors. Pending the closing of
the acquisition of Thomas Industries, net proceeds from this offering will be
used to repay a portion of our existing indebtedness. See "Use of Proceeds" and
"Unaudited Pro Forma Consolidated Financial Statements."

Our principal executive offices are located at 1800 Gardner Expressway,
Quincy, Illinois 62305, and our telephone number is (217) 222-5400. Our website
address 1s www.gardnerdenver.com. Information contained on our website does not
constitute part of this prospectus supplement.

S-8

THE OFFERING
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ISSUEL . i v ittt ittt i

Common stock offered..........

Common stock outstanding after
this offering.................

Use of proceeds.......oovv...

Risk factors..................

Dividend policy......ccovvvnnn

New York Stock Exchange

Gardner Denver, Inc.

5,000,000 shares of common stock, par value
$0.01 per share.

25,106,468 shares.

We estimate that the net proceeds of this
offering will be $191.1 million ($219.8 million
if the underwriters exercise their

over—allotment option in full). We expect to
use the net ©proceeds from the sale of our
common stock in this offering to finance a

portion of our acquisition of Thomas
Industries. See "Use of Proceeds."

You should carefully consider all of the
information set forth in this prospectus

supplement and the accompanying prospectus and,
in particular, should evaluate the specific
factors set forth under "Risk Factors" in
deciding whether to invest in shares of the
common stock.

We have not paid cash dividends in 2003 or 2004
and we do not expect to pay cash dividends in
2005.

GDI

We have granted the wunderwriters a 30-day
option to purchase from us, from time to time,
up to an additional 750,000 shares of our
common stock to cover any over-allotments.

The number of shares of our common stock to be outstanding after this
offering is based on our shares outstanding as of March 31, 2005, as adjusted
for the 5,000,000 shares offered by this prospectus supplement. It excludes:

—— Up to 750,000 shares issuable by us if the underwriters exercise
their over-allotment option in full;

- 2,351,962 shares reserved for issuance under our existing stock

incentive plans,

including 1,578,649 shares issuable upon exercise

of options outstanding as of March 31, 2005 at a weighted average
exercise price of $23.11 per share;

- 445,055 shares reserved for issuance under our employee stock

purchase plan; and

- 241,218 shares reserved for issuance under our retirement savings

plan.

Except as otherwise noted in this prospectus supplement, we have assumed
that the underwriters will not exercise their over-allotment option.

S-9

SUMMARY HISTORICAL AND PRO FORMA CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL INFORMATION
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The summary historical consolidated financial information shown below is as
of and for each of the years ended December 31, 2002, 2003 and 2004. The
information for the three years ended December 31, 2002, 2003 and 2004 is
derived from our consolidated financial statements for such years, which are
included herein beginning on page F-1.

The table below also sets forth unaudited pro forma financial information
after giving effect to the Nash Elmo acquisition, this offering, the Thomas
Industries acquisition and the related financing transactions. The unaudited pro
forma consolidated statement of operations data for the year ended December 31,
2004 is presented as if these transactions had taken place on January 1, 2004.
The unaudited pro forma consolidated balance sheet data is presented as if this
offering, the Thomas Industries acquisition and the related financing
transactions had been completed on December 31, 2004. The Thomas Industries
acquisition is subject to a number of closing conditions and may not be
consummated. See "Risk Factors - Risks Related to the Thomas Industries
Acquisition.”

Effective with the close of business on July 31, 2004, Thomas Industries
sold its 32% interest in GTG to Genlyte Group Incorporated, or "Genlyte," for
approximately $400.9 million. However, as required by Article 11 of Regulation
S—-X, the unaudited pro forma financial information set forth below includes
equity income from GTIG as well as a gain from the sale of Thomas Industries'
interest in GTG. In total, the unaudited pro forma financial information
includes approximately $177.0 million of pretax income, $95.1 million of net
income and $3.90 of diluted earnings per share from the effects of GTG. See
footnote (1) below for information excluding the effects of GTG.

You should read this information in conjunction with the information under
"Unaudited Pro Forma Consolidated Financial Statements" and related notes
thereto, "Selected Consolidated Financial Information of Gardner Denver" and the
respective consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes of Gardner
Denver and Thomas Industries included elsewhere in this prospectus supplement.
The Gardner Denver consolidated financial statements for the years ended
December 31, 2002, 2003 and 2004 have been audited by KPMG LLP, an independent
registered public accounting firm.

S-10

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31,
———————————————————————————————— PRO FORMA (1)
2002 2003 2004 UNAUDITED 2004

(in thousands, except per share data)

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS DATA:

REVENUE S . ¢ttt ettt ettt et ettt eeeeaeeeeeanns $418,158 $439,530 $ 739,539 $1,305,970
Costs and expenses
Cost Of SAleS .ttt ieeeeeeennenn 289,631 307,753 498,435 848,269
Depreciation and amortization............ 14,139 14,566 21,901 50,415
Selling and administrative expenses...... 79,400 85,326 157,453 309,679
Interest eXPEeNSE. ..t i ittt tenneeeeeeenns 6,365 4,748 10,102 38,482
Other income, Net......iii it ennnnnns (204) (3,221) (638) (2,312)
Total costs and eXPEeNSeS. . v e ettt tennneeenn. 389,331 409,172 687,253 1,244,533
Equity income from GTG........cuuweeeeeennnn - - - 18,608
Gain on sale of GTG. ...t ittt ittt eeneennennn —— —— —— 160,410
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Income before income taxes.........oeueeeen.. 28,827 30,358 52,286 240,455
Provision for income taxes.........coeiueueon.. 9,225 9,715 15,163 102,529
Net 1nCome. ...ttt ettt et eeeennnaens $ 19,602 $ 20,643 S 37,123 $ 137,926
Basic earnings per share..........ccieevenn. S 1.24 $ 1.29 S 1.96 $ 5.76
Diluted earnings per share.................. S 1.22 $ 1.27 S 1.92 $ 5.66
Basic shares outstanding.................... 15,854 16,061 18,955 23,955
Diluted shares outstanding.................. 16,042 16,312 19,377 24,377
BALANCE SHEET DATA (AS OF END OF PERIOD) :
Total ASSEeLS . it i ittt ittt eeaeeeeeeeennnns $478,730 $589, 733 $1,028,609 $1,678,512
Long-term debt, less current maturities..... 112,663 165,756 280,256 625,733
Total debt .ttt ittt ettt e 120,163 182,631 313,205 642,180
Total liabilities......iiiiiiiiiieeennnnnn 255,807 323,828 623,133 1,081,963
Stockholders' equUity..ve et eeeennnn. 222,923 265,905 405,476 596,549
OTHER FINANCIAL DATA:
Gross mMmargin (2) ¢ vt i ittt teeeeeeeeenns $128,527 $131,777 $ 241,104 $ 457,701
EBITDA (3) t ot ettt eeeeeeeeeeeeeeenaaaeeennens 49,331 49,672 84,289 329,352
Capital expenditures (4) .....iiiiiineeeennn. 13,641 11,950 19,550 37,971
Net cash provided by operating activities... 52,481 46,283 76,752 -
Orders (5) t vttt ettt ettt 402,019 425,620 786, 990 -

(1) As noted above, effective with the close of business on July 31, 2004,

Thomas Industries sold its 32% interest in GTG to Genlyte for approximately
$400,900. The information set forth below adjusts the information presented
under the title "Pro Forma Unaudited 2004" to exclude the effects of GTG,

assuming Thomas Industries had sold its interest in GTG at the beginning of

the period presented and
S-11

used a portion of the net proceeds from the sale to repay all of Thomas

Industries' existing debt, other than its capitalized lease obligations.

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2004

PRO FORMA
UNAUDITED 2004 ADJUSTMENTS

REVENUE S . 4 v vt ettt ettt tteeeeeeeeeneeeeeeenns $1,305,970 S -
Total costs and eXPEensSesS. ..o eennnenns 1,244,533 (2,064)
Equity income from GTG........ouuueeeeeenenen. 18,608 (18,608)
Gain on sale of GTG. ...ttt ittt teeeennnnn 160,410 (160,410)
Income before income taxes........cooeueeen.. 240,455 (176, 954)
Provision for income taxes............coo... 102,529 (81,891)
Net INCOME . vt ittt e et e e e et ettt ettt eeeeeeennn $ 137,926 S (95,063)
Diluted earnings per share (@) ............. S 5.66 S (3.90)

(a) Based on 24,377 diluted weighted average number of shares

PRO FORMA
UNAUDITED 2004, AS
ADJUSTED FOR GTG

1,242,469
63,501
20,638

$ 42,863

$ 1.76
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outstanding.

Gross margin consists of revenues minus cost of sales (excluding
depreciation and amortization).

EBITDA consists of net income before provision for income taxes, interest
expense and depreciation and amortization. EBITDA is not a measurement of
financial performance or liquidity determined in accordance with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States and should not be
considered as an alternative to net income, net cash provided by operating
activities or other consolidated income or cash flow statement data prepared
in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. We present
EBITDA because we believe it is frequently used by analysts, investors and
other interested parties in the financial evaluation of companies in our
industry, and we believe it provides useful information to investors. This
definition of EBITDA, however, may differ from the definition used by other
companies. A reconciliation of net income to EBITDA is provided as follows:

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31,
——————————————————————————— PRO FORMA
2002 2003 2004 UNAUDITED 2004

(in thousands)

Net 1NCOME. v vttt ittt e et ettt eeee e e $19,602 $20,643 $37,123 $ 137,926
Provision for income taxes.............. 9,225 9,715 15,163 102,529
Interest eXPEeNSe. .. i ittt ttneeeeeneenns 6,365 4,748 10,102 38,482
Depreciation and amortization........... 14,139 14,566 21,901 50,415

EBITDA . &ttt ettt e ittt e $49,331 $49,672 $84,289 329,352

Adjustment to reflect sale Of GTG. .. i ittt ittt eeneeneeneenn (178, 665)

EBITDA excluding effects Of GTG. ...ttt ittt eneeeeeeeeeeenennnnns $ 150,687

Pro forma capital expenditures represent the sum of our actual capital
expenditures for the year ended December 31, 2004, Nash Elmo for the eight
month period ended August 31, 2004 and Thomas Industries for the year ended
December 31, 2004.

Orders consist of bookings we believe to be firm for which a customer
purchase order has been received or communicated. Since orders can be
rescheduled or canceled at any time, orders do not necessarily reflect
future sales levels.
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RISK FACTORS

Before you invest in our shares, you should consider carefully the risk

factors described below together with all of the other information included in
this prospectus supplement, the accompanying prospectus and the documents we
have incorporated by reference into this document. If any of the following risks
actually occur, our business, financial condition or results of operations could
be materially adversely affected and you may lose all or part of your
investment.

RISKS RELATED TO THE THOMAS INDUSTRIES ACQUISITION

17
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OUR ABILITY TO CONSUMMATE THE THOMAS INDUSTRIES ACQUISITION IS SUBJECT TO THE
SATISFACTION OF A NUMBER OF CONDITIONS, AND IT IS POSSIBLE THAT WE WILL BE
UNABLE TO CONSUMMATE THE THOMAS INDUSTRIES ACQUISITION.

The Thomas Industries acquisition is subject to the satisfaction or waiver
of a number of closing conditions, including, among other things, the receipt of
governmental and third-party consents, the absence of any material adverse
change with respect to Thomas Industries and the absence of breaches of the
representations, warranties and covenants of Thomas Industries set forth in the
agreement and plan of merger, which we refer to as the "Merger Agreement." We
cannot assure you that all of the closing conditions to the Thomas Industries
acquisition will be satisfied or waived and that we will consummate the Thomas
Industries acquisition. In the event the Thomas Industries acquisition is not
consummated, we will be unable to realize the anticipated benefits of the
acquisition and we may be required to incur certain cash and non-cash charges,
including, under certain circumstances, a $5.0 million payment to Thomas
Industries.

THE THOMAS INDUSTRIES ACQUISITION IS SUBJECT TO THE RECEIPT OF CONSENTS AND
APPROVALS FROM VARIOUS GOVERNMENT ENTITIES, WHICH MAY JEOPARDIZE OR DELAY
COMPLETION OF THE THOMAS INDUSTRIES ACQUISITION OR REDUCE THE ANTICIPATED
BENEFITS OF THE THOMAS INDUSTRIES ACQUISITION.

Completion of the Thomas Industries acquisition is conditioned upon filings
with, and the receipt of required consents, orders, approvals or clearances from
the Federal Trade Commission or the Antitrust Division of the U.S. Department of
Justice and regulatory bodies in Germany and Norway. These consents, orders,
approvals and clearances may impose conditions on or require divestitures
relating to the divisions, operations or assets of Thomas Industries or us. Such
conditions or divestitures may Jjeopardize or delay completion of the Thomas
Industries acquisition or may reduce the anticipated benefits of the Thomas
Industries acquisition. The Merger Agreement provides that we and Thomas
Industries will use our best efforts to obtain the consents of the Federal Trade
Commission or the U.S. Department of Justice and the various foreign regulatory
bodies that are reviewing the Thomas Industries acquisition, but that we are not
required to agree to effect any divestitures in order to obtain such consents.

WE MAY NOT BE ABLE TO EFFECTIVELY INTEGRATE THE BUSINESSES OF THOMAS INDUSTRIES.

Our future success will depend in part on our ability to effectively
integrate the businesses of Thomas Industries into our operations. We will face
significant challenges in consolidating functions and integrating procedures,
personnel, product lines and operations in a timely and efficient manner. The
integration process will be complex and time consuming, may be disruptive to the
businesses and may cause an interruption of, or a loss of momentum in, the
businesses as a result of a number of obstacles such as:

- the loss of key employees or customers;

- the failure to maintain the quality of customer service that each
business has historically provided;

- the need to coordinate geographically diverse organizations; and

- the resulting diversion of management's attention from our day-to-day
business and the need to hire additional management personnel to
address integration obstacles.

If we are not successful in this integration, if it takes longer than

anticipated, or if our integrated product and service offerings fail to achieve
market acceptance, our business could be adversely affected.
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WE MAY NOT BE ABLE TO REALIZE ANTICIPATED COST SAVINGS, SYNERGIES OR REVENUE
ENHANCEMENTS FROM THE THOMAS INDUSTRIES ACQUISITION AND WE MAY INCUR SIGNIFICANT
CASH INTEGRATION COSTS TO ACHIEVE THESE COST SAVINGS.

Even if we are able to integrate our operations with those of Thomas
Industries successfully, we cannot assure you that we will realize the cost
savings, synergies or revenue enhancements that we anticipate from such
integration or that we will realize such benefits within the time frame that we
currently expect. Our ability to realize anticipated cost savings, synergies or
revenue enhancements may be affected by a number of factors, including the
following:

- Our ability to effectively eliminate redundant administrative
overhead and overlapping sales personnel and rationalize
manufacturing capacity is difficult to predict. Accordingly, the
actual amount and timing of the resulting cost savings are inherently
difficult to predict.

- We may incur significant cash integration costs in achieving these
cost savings, and any cost savings and other synergies from the
Thomas Industries acquisition may be offset by such integration
costs.

- The cost savings and other synergies may be offset by increases in
other expenses, by operating losses or by problems unrelated to the
Thomas Industries acquisition.

- Labor cost savings depend on the avoidance of labor disruptions in
connection with the integration of the businesses.

OUR SUBSTANTIAL INDEBTEDNESS COULD ADVERSELY AFFECT OUR FINANCIAL HEALTH.

We have substantial indebtedness now and our indebtedness will increase if
we consummate the Thomas Industries acquisition. As of December 31, 2004, pro
forma for this offering, the Thomas Industries acquisition and the related
financing transactions, we would have had approximately $642.2 million of
indebtedness. Our high level of debt could have a significant adverse future
effect on our business. For example:

- we may have limited ability to borrow additional amounts for working
capital, capital expenditures, acquisitions, debt service
requirements, execution of our growth strategy or other purposes;

- a substantial portion of our cash flow may be used to pay principal
and interest on our debt, which will reduce the funds available for
working capital, capital expenditures, acquisitions and other
purposes;

- we may be more vulnerable to adverse changes in general economic,
industry and competitive conditions;

- our high debt level and the various covenants contained in our
amended and restated senior credit facility, the indenture governing
the new notes and the documents governing our other existing
indebtedness may place us at a relative competitive disadvantage as
compared to some of our competitors; and

- borrowings under our amended and restated credit facility bear
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interest at floating rates, which could result in higher interest
expense in the event of an increase in interest rates.

The terms of our existing credit facility, our amended and restated credit
facility and the indenture governing the new notes will not prohibit us or our
subsidiaries from incurring additional indebtedness. If we or our subsidiaries
are in compliance with the financial covenants set forth in these agreements, we
and our subsidiaries may be able to incur substantial additional indebtedness.
If we or any of our subsidiaries incur additional indebtedness, the related
risks that we and they now face may intensify.

RISKS RELATED TO OUR BUSINESS
WE HAVE EXPOSURE TO ECONOMIC DOWNTURNS AND OPERATE IN CYCLICAL MARKETS.

As a supplier of capital equipment to a variety of industries, we are
adversely affected by general economic downturns. Demand for our compressor and
vacuum products is dependent upon capital spending
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by manufacturing and process industries. Many of our customers, particularly
industrial customers, will delay capital projects, including non-critical
maintenance and upgrades, during economic downturns. Demand for certain of our
fluid transfer products is primarily tied to the number of working and available
drilling rigs and oil and natural gas prices. The energy market, in particular,
is cyclical in nature as the worldwide demand for oil and natural gas
fluctuates. When worldwide demand for these commodities is depressed, the demand
for our products used in drilling and recovery applications is reduced.

Accordingly, our operating results for any particular period are not
necessarily indicative of the operating results for any future period. The
markets for our products have historically experienced downturns in demand.
Future downturns could have a material adverse effect on our operating results.

WE FACE INTENSE COMPETITION IN THE MARKETS WE SERVE, WHICH COULD MATERIALLY AND
ADVERSELY AFFECT OUR OPERATING RESULTS.

We actively compete with companies producing the same or similar products.
Depending on the particular product, we experience competition based on a number
of factors, including quality, performance, price and availability. We compete
against many companies, including divisions of larger companies, that have
greater financial resources than us. As a result, these competitors may be
better able to withstand a change in conditions within the markets in which we
compete and throughout the economy as a whole. In addition, new competitors
could enter our markets. In particular, it is possible that our European- and
Asian-based competitors could seek to establish a greater presence in the United
States market. If we cannot compete successfully, our sales and operating
results could be materially and adversely affected.

LARGE OR RAPID INCREASES IN THE COSTS OF RAW MATERIALS OR SUBSTANTIAL DECREASES
IN THEIR AVAILABILITY AND OUR DEPENDENCE ON PARTICULAR SUPPLIERS OF RAW
MATERIALS COULD MATERIALLY AND ADVERSELY AFFECT OUR OPERATING RESULTS.

The primary raw materials we use are cast iron and steel. While we are
seeking to enter into long-term contracts with our suppliers, most of our
suppliers are not currently parties to long-term contracts with us.
Consequently, we are vulnerable to fluctuations in prices of such raw materials.
Factors such as supply and demand, freight costs and transportation
availability, inventory levels of brokers and dealers, the level of imports and
general economic conditions may affect the price of cast iron and steel. We
utilize single sources of supply for certain iron castings and other selected
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components. From time to time in recent years, we have experienced a disruption
to our supply deliveries and we may experience further supply disruptions. Any
such disruption could have a material adverse effect on our ability to meet our
commitments to customers and, therefore, our operating results.

WE MAY NOT BE ABLE TO CONTINUE TO MAKE THE ACQUISITIONS NECESSARY FOR US TO
REALIZE OUR GROWTH STRATEGY OR INTEGRATE ACQUISITIONS SUCCESSFULLY.

One of our growth strategies is to increase our sales and expand our
markets through acquisitions. We have completed 17 acquisitions since becoming
an independent company in 1994 and entered into a definitive agreement to
acquire Thomas Industries on March 8, 2005. We expect to continue making
acquisitions if appropriate opportunities arise. We may not be able to identify
and successfully negotiate suitable acquisitions, obtain financing for future
acquisitions on satisfactory terms or otherwise complete future acquisitions.
Furthermore, our acquired companies may encounter unforeseen operating
difficulties and may require significant financial and managerial resources
which would otherwise be available for the ongoing development or expansion of
our existing operations. Largely as a consequence of our acquisitions, a
substantial portion of our assets consists of goodwill. If we are unable to
successfully integrate and operate our acquired business, we may determine that
our goodwill assets are impaired and be required to reduce the stated value of
such assets. If we are unable to successfully identify acquisition candidates,
complete acquisitions and integrate the acquired businesses with our existing
businesses (including their internal control procedures), our business,
operating results and financial condition may be materially and adversely
affected.

ECONOMIC, POLITICAL AND OTHER RISKS ASSOCIATED WITH INTERNATIONAL SALES AND
OPERATIONS COULD ADVERSELY AFFECT OUR BUSINESS.

For the fiscal year ended December 31, 2004, approximately 56% (59% pro
forma for acquisitions completed during 2004) of our revenues were from
customers in countries outside of the United States. We have manufacturing
facilities in Germany, the United Kingdom, China, Finland, Brazil and Canada. We
anticipate that we may continue to expand our international operations to the
extent that suitable opportunities become available.

Our international operations and United States export sales could be
adversely affected as a result of:

- nationalization of private enterprises;

- political or economic instability in certain countries;

- differences in foreign laws, including increased difficulties in
protecting intellectual property and uncertainty in enforcement of

contract rights;

- changes in the legal and regulatory policies of foreign
jurisdictions;

—— credit risks;
- currency fluctuations;
- exchange controls;

- changes in tariff restrictions;
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- royalty and tax increases;

- export and import restrictions and restrictive regulations of foreign
governments;

- potential problems obtaining supply of raw materials;
- shipping products during times of crisis or war; and
- other factors inherent in foreign operations.

WE ARE A DEFENDANT IN CERTAIN ASBESTOS AND SILICOSIS PERSONAL INJURY LAWSUITS
WHICH COULD ADVERSELY AFFECT OUR FINANCIAL CONDITION.

We have been named as a defendant in an increasing number of asbestos and
silicosis personal injury lawsuits. The plaintiffs in these suits allege
exposure to asbestos or silica from multiple sources, and typically we are one
of approximately 25 or more named defendants. In our experience to date, the
substantial majority of the plaintiffs have not been physically impaired with a
disease by alleged exposure to products for which we have responsibility.

We believe that the pending lawsuits will not, in the aggregate, have a
material adverse effect on our consolidated financial position, results of
operations or liquidity. However, future developments, including, without
limitation, potential insolvencies of insurance companies, could cause a
different outcome. Accordingly, there can be no assurance that the resolution of
pending or future lawsuits, whether by judgment, settlement, or dismissal, will
not have a material adverse effect on our consolidated financial position,
results of operations or liquidity.

THE NATURE OF OUR PRODUCTS CREATES THE POSSIBILITY OF SIGNIFICANT PRODUCT
LIABILITY AND WARRANTY CLAIMS WHICH COULD HARM OUR BUSINESS.

Customers use some of our products in potentially hazardous drilling,
completion and production applications that can cause injury or loss of life and
damage to property, equipment or the environment. In addition, our products are
integral to the production process for some end-users and any failure of our
products could result in a suspension of their operations.
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Although we maintain strict quality controls and procedures, we cannot be
certain that our products will be completely free from defect. We maintain
amounts and types of insurance coverage that we believe are adequate and
consistent with normal industry practice. However, we cannot guarantee that
insurance will be adequate to cover all liabilities we may incur. We also may
not be able to maintain insurance in the future at levels we believe are
necessary and at rates we consider reasonable. We may be named as a defendant in
product liability or other lawsuits asserting potentially large claims if an
accident occurs at a location where our equipment and services have been used.

ENVIRONMENTAL COMPLIANCE COSTS AND LIABILITIES COULD ADVERSELY AFFECT OUR
FINANCIAL CONDITION.

Our operations and properties are subject to increasingly stringent
domestic and foreign laws and regulations relating to environmental protection,
including laws and regulations governing air emissions, water discharges, waste
management and workplace safety. Under such laws and regulations, we can be
subject to substantial fines and sanctions for violations and be required to
install costly pollution control equipment or effect operational changes to
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limit pollution emissions and/or decrease the likelihood of accidental hazardous
substance releases. We must conform our operations and properties to these
domestic and foreign laws and regulations.

We use and generate hazardous substances and wastes in our manufacturing
operations. In addition, many of our current and former properties are or have
been used for industrial purposes. We have been identified as a potentially
responsible party with respect to several sites designated for cleanup under
federal "Superfund" or similar state laws. We have an accrued liability on our
balance sheet reflecting costs which are probable and estimable for our
projected financial obligations relating to these matters. If we have
underestimated our remaining financial obligations, we may face greater exposure
that could have an adverse effect on our financial condition, results of
operations or liquidity. Stringent fines and penalties may be imposed for
non-compliance with regulatory requirements relating to environmental matters,
and many environmental laws impose joint and several liability for remediation
for cleanup of certain waste sites and for related natural resource damages.

We have experienced, and expect to continue to experience, operating costs
to comply with environmental laws and regulations. In addition, new laws and
regulations, stricter enforcement of existing laws and regulations, the
discovery of previously unknown contamination, or the imposition of new clean-up
requirements could require us to incur costs or become the basis for new or
increased liabilities that could have a material adverse effect on our business,
financial condition, results of operations or liquidity.

OUR SUCCESS DEPENDS ON OUR EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND OTHER KEY PERSONNEL.

Our future success depends to a significant degree on the skills,
experience and efforts of our executive officers and other key personnel. The
loss of the services of any of our executive officers, particularly our
Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer, Ross J. Centanni, could have an
adverse impact on us. None of our executive officers has an employment agreement
with us. However, we have a common stock ownership requirement and provide
certain benefits for our executive officers, including change in control
agreements, which provide incentives for them to make a long-term commitment to
us. Our future success will also depend on our ability to attract and retain
qualified personnel and a failure to attract and retain new qualified personnel
could have an adverse effect on our operations.

OUR BUSINESS COULD SUFFER IF WE EXPERIENCE EMPLOYEE WORK STOPPAGES OR OTHER
LABOR DIFFICULTIES.

We have approximately 3,800 full-time employees. More than half of our
employees, including most of our employees outside of the United States, are
represented by labor unions. Although we do not anticipate future work stoppages
by our union employees, there can be no assurance that work stoppages will not
occur.

Although we believe that our relations with our employees are good and we
have not experienced any recent strikes or work stoppages, we cannot assure you
that we will be successful in negotiating new collective bargaining agreements,
that such negotiations will not result in significant increases in the cost of
labor or that a breakdown in such negotiations will not result in the disruption
of our operations. If any of the

preceding were to occur, it could impair our ability to manufacture our products
and result in increased costs and/or decreased operating results.
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THE RESTRICTIVE COVENANTS IN OUR EXISTING CREDIT FACILITY, OUR AMENDED AND
RESTATED CREDIT FACILITY AND THE INDENTURE GOVERNING THE NEW NOTES AND ANY OF
OUR FUTURE INDEBTEDNESS COULD ADVERSELY RESTRICT OUR FINANCIAL AND OPERATING
FLEXIBILITY AND SUBJECT US TO OTHER RISKS.

Our existing credit facility, our amended and restated credit facility and
the indenture governing the new notes contain affirmative and negative covenants
that limit our and our subsidiaries' ability to take certain actions. These
agreements require or will require us to maintain specified financial ratios and
satisfy other financial conditions. These agreements also restrict or will
restrict, among other things, our and our subsidiaries' ability to:

—— incur additional debt;

- pay dividends or make other distributions or repurchase our capital
stock or subordinated debt;

—— make certain investments;
—— create liens;
- enter into certain types of transactions with affiliates;

- restrict dividend or other payments by our restricted subsidiaries to
us;

- use assets as security in other transactions; and
- sell certain assets or merge with or into other companies.

These restrictions may limit our ability to operate our businesses and may
prohibit or limit our ability to enhance our operations or take advantage of
potential business opportunities as they arise. The breach of any of these
covenants by us or the failure by us to meet any of these conditions could
result in a default under any or all of such indebtedness. Our ability to
continue to comply with such agreements may be affected by events beyond our
control, including prevailing economic, financial and industry conditions. In
addition, upon the occurrence of an event of default under our debt agreements,
all of such amounts outstanding, together with accrued interest, could become
immediately due and payable.

THIRD PARTIES MAY INFRINGE UPON OUR INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY AND WE MAY EXPEND
SIGNIFICANT RESOURCES ENFORCING OUR RIGHTS OR SUFFER COMPETITIVE INJURY.

Our success depends in part on our proprietary technology. We rely on a
combination of patents, copyrights, trademarks, trade secrets, confidentiality
provisions and licensing arrangements to establish and protect our proprietary
rights. We may be required to spend significant resources to monitor and police
our intellectual property rights. If we fail to successfully enforce our
intellectual property rights, our competitive position could suffer, which could
harm our operating results.

OUR PENSION AND OTHER POSTRETIREMENT BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS AND EXPENSE (OR INCOME)
ARE DEPENDENT UPON ASSUMPTIONS USED IN CALCULATING SUCH AMOUNTS AND ACTUAL
RESULTS OF INVESTMENT ACTIVITY.

Pension and other postretirement benefit obligations and expense (or
income) are dependent on assumptions used in calculating such amounts and actual
results of investment activity. These assumptions include discount rate, rate of
compensation increases, expected return on plan assets and expected healthcare
trend rates. While we believe that the assumptions are appropriate, differences
in actual experience or future changes in assumptions may affect our
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obligations, future expense and funding requirements.

A SIGNIFICANT PORTION OF OUR ASSETS CONSISTS OF GOODWILL AND OTHER INTANGIBLE
ASSETS, THE VALUE OF WHICH MAY BE REDUCED IF WE DETERMINE THAT THOSE ASSETS ARE
IMPAIRED.

As of December 31, 2004, goodwill and other intangible assets represented
approximately $484.3 million, or 47% of our total assets. Upon completion of the
Thomas Industries acquisition, we estimate that we will increase our goodwill
and other intangible assets by $322.5 million. Goodwill is generated in an
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acquisition when the cost of such acquisition exceeds the fair value of the net
tangible and identifiable intangible assets we acquire. Goodwill is no longer
amortized under generally accepted accounting principles as a result of SFAS No.
142. Instead, goodwill and certain other identifiable intangible assets are
subject to impairment analyses at least annually. We could be required to
recognize reductions in our net income caused by the impairment of goodwill and
other intangibles, that, if significant, could materially and adversely affect
our results of operations.

RISKS RELATED TO THE OFFERING

OUR STOCK PRICE HAS BEEN, AND MAY CONTINUE TO BE, VOLATILE, WHICH COULD RESULT
IN SUBSTANTIAL LOSSES FOR INVESTORS PURCHASING SHARES IN THIS OFFERING.

The trading price of our common stock has fluctuated, ranging between
$24.55 and $43.13 per share over the 52 weeks preceding the date of this
prospectus supplement. The overall market and the price of our common stock may
continue to be volatile. The trading price of our common stock may be
significantly affected by various factors, including:

- general economic and market conditions;
- variations in our quarter-to-quarter operating results;

- changes in investors' and analysts' perceptions of the business risks
and conditions of our business;

- the expiration of the lock-up period referred to under "Underwriting"
(90 days after the offering); and

- the limited public float of our common stock.

In addition, there can be no assurance that the issuance of shares in this
offering and in potential future offerings will not have an adverse effect on
the trading price of our common stock.

VARIOUS RESTRICTIONS IN OUR GOVERNING DOCUMENTS AND DELAWARE LAW COULD HINDER A
TAKEOVER THAT IS NOT SUPPORTED BY OUR BOARD OF DIRECTORS.

Certain provisions in our corporate documents and Delaware law could delay
or prevent a change in control. Our Certificate of Incorporation and By-Laws
contain provisions that may make it difficult to acquire control of us,
including provisions: regulating the ability of our stockholders to bring
matters for action at annual meetings; prohibiting the stockholders from acting
by written consent; authorizing the Board of Directors to issue and set the
terms of preferred stock; and creating a Board of Directors comprised of three
classes of directors with staggered terms. We also have a rights plan in place
that would cause extreme dilution to any person or group which attempts to
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acquire a significant interest in us without advance approval of the Board of
Directors. In addition, Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation law
imposes restrictions on mergers and other business combinations between us and
any holder of 15% or more of our common stock.
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USE OF PROCEEDS

The net proceeds to us from this offering are estimated to be approximately
$191.1 million after deducting the underwriting discount and commissions and
offering expenses payable by us. If the underwriters' option to purchase 750,000
additional shares in this offering is exercised in full, we estimate our net
proceeds will be approximately $219.8 million. We expect to use the net proceeds
from this offering, along with the proceeds from the concurrent notes offering,
borrowings under our amended and restated credit facility and available cash, to
finance our acquisition of Thomas Industries, repay approximately $8.7 million
of our revolver debt and approximately $26.9 million of our other long term debt
and pay related fees and expenses. See the sources and uses table in "Unaudited
Pro Forma Consolidated Financial Statements - Thomas Industries Acquisition
Financing." The debt to be repaid has a weighted average interest rate of 5.25%
and a weighted average maturity of November 2006.

Pending the application of the net proceeds, we expect to repay all amounts
outstanding under our revolving credit facility and to invest in short term,
interest-bearing securities. If the Thomas Industries acquisition is not
consummated, we expect to use the net proceeds from this offering to repay all
amounts outstanding under our revolving credit facility and a portion of our
term loan.

PRICE RANGE OF COMMON STOCK

Our common stock is traded on the New York Stock Exchange under the trading
symbol "GDI". The following table sets forth, for the periods indicated, the
high and low sales prices per share of our common stock as reported on the New
York Stock Exchange.

HIGH LOW

FISCAL YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2003

LI = X o 16 = i = S 20.44 $ 16.35

SECONA QUAT L T e i i vt ittt ettt ettt ettt et ettt $ 20.80 $ 18.10

Third QUALL T . it i ittt et et e et ettt et et e ettt ee s $ 25.10 $ 20.05

B X B ol o N = = S 24.99 $ 19.95
FISCAL YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2004

LI = X o 16 = i = $ 30.30 $ 23.75

SECONA QUAT L BT e i i it ittt et ettt et ettt et ettt S 28.96 S 24.55

Third QUALL ET e it i ittt et e e et et ettt et ettt e $ 28.53 $ 25.36

L X B ol o N = = $ 37.95 $ 27.15
FISCAL YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2005

FirsSt QUAT O . i it ittt e et et e et e et et ettt et e eeeeneenn S 43.13 S 33.97

Second Quarter (through April 13, 2005) ......ccveennn.. S 41.95 $ 38.13

On April 13, 2005, the last reported sale price of our common stock on the
New York Stock Exchange was $40.12. As of April 13, 2005 there were
approximately 7,757 stockholders of record of our common stock.

26



Edgar Filing: GARDNER DENVER INC - Form 424B2

DIVIDEND POLICY

We have not paid a dividend on our common stock since our spin-off from
Cooper Industries, Inc. in 1994. We plan to retain all net earnings for debt
service and capital accumulation and reinvestment. We do not plan to pay
dividends on our common stock for the foreseeable future. Our Board of Directors
has sole discretion over the declaration and payment of future dividends. Any
future dividends will depend upon our profitability, financial condition, cash
requirements, future prospects, general business conditions, legal and
contractual restrictions on the payment of dividends and other factors our Board
of Directors believes are relevant. Our debt instruments contain restrictions on
the payment of cash dividends.

CAPITALIZATION

The following table sets forth our cash and cash equivalents, short-term
debt, long-term debt and stockholders' equity as of December 31, 2004: (1) on an
actual basis, (2) as adjusted to give effect to this offering and the
application of the estimated net proceeds from this offering to repay
indebtedness and (3) on a pro forma basis to give effect to this offering, the
Thomas Industries acquisition and the related financing transactions. You should
read this information in conjunction with the information under "Selected
Consolidated Financial Information of Gardner Denver," "Unaudited Pro Forma
Consolidated Financial Statements," "Management's Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Conditions and Results of Operations" and our consolidated financial
statements and related notes beginning on page F-1.

DECEMBER 31, 2004

AS ADJUSTED PRO FORMA
ACTUAL UNAUDITED (1) UNAUDITED (2

Cash and equivalent s . ...ttt it ittt ettt eeeeennnneeenenens S 64,601 S 64,601 S 92,500
Short—term DoOrroOWINgS .« v vttt ittt ettt ittt e eneeeeeneeeenennns $ 12,627 $ 12,627 $ 1,729
Current maturities of long-term debt......... ... $ 20,322 $ 20,322 $ 14,718

Long-term debt:

Credit line, due 2009. .. .. ittt ittt ittt eeeeennneeeennns 113,635 - 104,961
Term loan, due 2009. ...ttt ittt ettt eeeeeeeeeneeeennns 138,750 61,312 138,750
Term loan, due 2010. .. ..ttt ittt ittt teeteeeeeeeneeanns —— - 230,000
Senior Subordinated Notes, due 2013...... . it ennn. —— —— 125,000
Other long-term debt...... ..ttt eennenns 27,871 27,871 27,022
Total long-term debt ... ...t tn ettt et ettt $280,256 $ 89,183 S 625,733

Stockholders' equity:
Common stock (shares authorized: 50,000,000, par value
$0.01; shares issued: 19,947,570 actual; 24,947,570

as adjusted and pro forma) .......c.ceo ittt 217 267 267
Capital in excess of par value........ ittt eennnnns 262,091 453,114 453,114
Retained earnings. ... iii ittt ettt ettt eennenns 139,430 139,430 139,430
Accumulated other comprehensive income.................. 30,185 30,185 30,185
Treasury stock at COST ...ttt ittt ittt e i ee e e eeenn (26,447) (26,447) (26,447
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Total stockholders' equUity......iuiiiiiiiiennnennn. 405,476 596,549 596,549

Total capitalization.......iii it eeennnnneens $718,681 $718,681 $1,238,729

(1) Our intention is to use the net proceeds from this offering to finance a
portion of the acquisition of Thomas Industries. However, if we are unable
to consummate the acquisition of Thomas Industries, we will use the net
proceeds from this offering to repay all amounts outstanding under our
revolving credit facility and a portion of our term loan as presented above
under the title "As Adjusted Unaudited."

(2) Information presented under the title "Pro Forma Unaudited" assumes that the
acquisition of Thomas Industries is consummated. However, the Thomas
Industries acquisition is subject to a number of closing conditions and may
not be consummated. See "Risk Factors - Risks Related to the Thomas
Industries Acquisition."

The number of shares of our common stock to be outstanding after this
offering is based on our shares outstanding as of March 31, 2005, as adjusted
for the 5,000,000 shares offered by this prospectus supplement. It excludes:

—— Up to 750,000 shares issuable by us if the underwriters exercise
their over-allotment option in full;

- 2,351,962 shares reserved for issuance under our existing stock
incentive plans, including 1,578,649 shares issuable upon exercise of
options outstanding as of March 31, 2005 at a weighted average
exercise price of $23.11 per share;

- 445,055 shares reserved for issuance under our employee stock
purchase plan; and

- 241,218 shares reserved for issuance under our retirement savings
plan.

UNAUDITED PRO FORMA CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
GENERAL DESCRIPTION

The following unaudited pro forma consolidated financial statements are
based on our audited historical consolidated financial statements and the
audited historical consolidated financial statements of Thomas Industries, each
included in this prospectus supplement, adjusted to give effect to the Nash Elmo
acquisition, this offering, the Thomas Industries acquisition and the related
financing transactions. The unaudited pro forma consolidated statement of
operations for the year ended December 31, 2004 gives effect to the Nash Elmo
acquisition, this offering, the Thomas Industries acquisition and the related
financing transactions as if each had occurred on January 1, 2004. The unaudited
pro forma consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2004 gives effect to
this offering, the Thomas Industries acquisition and the related financing
transactions as if each had occurred on December 31, 2004.

THOMAS INDUSTRIES ACQUISITION FINANCING
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We intend to use the proceeds from this
offering,

$35.6 million of our debt,

offering, a concurrent notes

borrowings under our amended and restated credit facility and
available cash to fund our acquisition of Thomas Industries,
of our outstanding indebtedness and to pay related fees and expenses.
to finance the acquisition of Thomas Industries,
is outlined in the sources and uses table below:

to repay a portion
Our plan
and to refinance approximately

SOURCES USES
(dollars in millions)
Available cash at Gardner Denver..... $ 20.0 Merger consideration................. $734.2
Available cash at Thomas 219.2 Repay existing Gardner Denver 35.6
Industries (1) « v ittt i ie e [ 1Y o X oA (52 T

New term 1oan.....cuuueeeeeeennnneenens 230.0 Fees and eXpPensesS. ... eeeeeennnenns 25.0
New senior subordinated notes........ 125.0

This offering(3) ... ... 200.6

0 o= B $ 794.8 o o T O $794.8

Note: Assumes our existing $375 million
amended and restated and will not

credit facility is successfully
need to be refinanced.

(1) Represents the estimated immediately available amount of Thomas
Industries' total cash and short-term investments.

(2) Includes repayment of $8.7 million of our revolver debt and repayment
of $26.9 million of our other long-term debt.

(3) Does not assume exercise of over-allotment option. If over-allotment

option is exercised an additional $28.7 million of our revolver debt
would be repaid.

Concurrent with this offering, we are offering $125.0 million aggregate
principal amount of Senior Subordinated Notes due 2013 in a private placement.
The notes will not be registered under the Securities Act and may not be offered
or sold in the United States absent registration or an exemption from the
registration requirements. The notes will be unconditionally guaranteed, jointly
and severally, by certain of our current and future domestic subsidiaries. The
gross proceeds from the notes offering will be placed into escrow, together with
an amount in cash, cash equivalents or treasury securities, so that the escrowed
funds will be sufficient to pay the special mandatory redemption price described
below for the notes, when and if due. The notes are subject to a special
redemption on or before January 2, 2006, at a redemption price equal to their
price of issuance, plus accrued interest and accretion of any discount to the
date of redemption, in the event that the Thomas Industries acquisition is not
consummated by December 31, 2005. The proceeds from the notes offering will be
released from escrow upon consummation of the Thomas Industries acquisition.

As of December 31, 2004, our existing credit facility consisted of a $225.0
million revolving credit facility and a $148.1 million term loan. We expect to
enter into an amendment and restatement of this facility which will become
effective upon the consummation of the Thomas Industries acquisition. The
amended and restated facility is expected to provide an additional $230.0
million term loan, the proceeds of which will be
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used as described above. The effectiveness of the amendment and restatement is
subject to the consummation of the Thomas Industries acquisition, receipt of
sufficient proceeds from this offering and our concurrent notes offering and
other customary closing conditions.

The acquisition of Thomas Industries is not contingent upon completion of
this offering, the concurrent notes offering or the amendment and restatement of
our credit facility. We have received a financing commitment letter jointly
issued by affiliates of Bear, Stearns & Co. Inc. and J.P. Morgan Securities Inc.
to ensure availability of funding, subject to customary conditions. A number of
material conditions must still be satisfied before we can effect the acquisition
of Thomas Industries and, as discussed in "Risk Factors," the satisfaction of
many of these conditions is outside of our control. While we plan to finance the
acquisition as outlined in the sources and uses table above, we may alter our
plans depending on market conditions or other factors. Pending the closing of
the acquisition of Thomas Industries, net proceeds from this offering will be
used to repay a portion of our existing indebtedness. See "Use of Proceeds."

THOMAS INDUSTRIES HISTORICAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The historical consolidated financial statements of Thomas Industries
included in the unaudited pro forma consolidated financial statements are based
on Thomas Industries' audited consolidated financial statements as of, and for
the twelve-month period ended, December 31, 2004.

The Genlyte Group Incorporated, or "Genlyte," and Thomas Industries formed
Genlyte Thomas Group LLC, or "GTG," on August 31, 1998. Effective with Thomas
Industries' investment in GTG, their interest in GTG was accounted for using the
equity method of accounting. Effective with the close of business on July 31,
2004, Thomas Industries sold its 32% interest in GTG to Genlyte for
approximately $400.9 million. The historical consolidated statement of
operations of Thomas Industries for the year ended December 31, 2004 includes
equity income from GTG for the seven months ended July 31, 2004 of $18.6 million
and a pretax gain of $160.4 million from the sale of its interest in GTG.

PRO FORMA ADJUSTMENTS

The unaudited pro forma consolidated financial statements reflect pro forma
adjustments that are described in the accompanying notes and are based on
available information and certain assumptions we believe are reasonable but are
subject to change. In our opinion, all adjustments that are necessary to fairly
present the pro forma information have been made pursuant to Article 11 of
Regulation S-X. The unaudited pro forma consolidated financial statements do not
purport to represent what our results of operations or financial position would
actually have been if this offering, the Thomas Industries acquisition and the
related financing transactions had occurred on such dates or to project our
results of operations or financial position for any future date or period.

The unaudited pro forma consolidated financial statements reflect our
preliminary estimates of the allocation of the purchase price for the Thomas
Industries acquisition and are subject to change. The unaudited pro forma
consolidated financial statements do not reflect any operating efficiencies and
cost savings that we may achieve with respect to the combined entities nor any
expense associated with achieving these benefits.

As required by Article 11 of Regulation S-X, the Unaudited Pro Forma
Consolidated Statement of Operations includes equity income from GTG, as well as
a gain from the sale of Thomas Industries' interest in GTG. In total, the
Unaudited Pro Forma Consolidated Statement of Operations includes approximately
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$177.0 million of pretax income, $95.1 million of net income and $3.90 of
diluted earnings per share from the effects of GTIG. Thus, the pro forma results
are not indicative of future results of operations of Thomas Industries or the
combined businesses of Gardner Denver, Nash Elmo and Thomas Industries. Absent
the effects of GTG, we would have had $1.76 of pro forma diluted earnings per
share. For information that excludes the effects of GTG, see Note (F) in the
Unaudited Pro Forma Consolidated Statement of Operations.

OTHER RELATED INFORMATION IN THIS PROSPECTUS SUPPLEMENT

You should read the following unaudited pro forma consolidated financial
statements in conjunction with our historical audited consolidated financial
statements and the related notes, Thomas Industries' historical
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audited consolidated financial statements and the related notes, "Use of
Proceeds" and "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and
Results of Operations" included elsewhere in this prospectus supplement.
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UNAUDITED PRO FORMA CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2004
(IN THOUSANDS, EXCEPT PER SHARE AMOUNTS)

NASH ELMO
HISTORICAL FOR
EIGHT MONTHS NASH ELMO PRO FORMA
GARDNER DENVER ENDED PRO FORMA GARDNER DENVER
HISTORICAL AUGUST 31, 2004 ADJUSTMENTS AND NASH ELMO
REVENUES .« e v v v e et e e enneeeenns $739,539 $156,317 S - $895, 856
Costs and expenses
Cost of sales......covuo... 498,435 (Rn) 97,066 - 595,501
Depreciation and

amortization............. 21,901 4,817 2,000 (B) 28,718
Selling and administrative

EXPENSES . v v v e e e e 157,453 40,952 —— 198,405

Interest expense........... 10,102 3,160 2,918 (C) 16,180

Other income, net.......... (638) (63) —— (701)

Total costs and expenses..... 687,253 145,932 4,918 838,103

Equity income from GTG....... - - - -

Gain on sale of GTIG.......... - - - -

Income before income taxes... 52,286 10,385 (4,918) 57,753

Provision for income taxes... 15,163 3,028 (865) (D) 17,326

Net income...........ou0... $ 37,123 $ 7,357 $(4,053) S 40,427

Basic earnings per share..... $ 1.96 $ 2.13

Diluted earnings per share... $ 1.92 $ 2.09
Basic weighted average number

of shares outstanding...... 18,955 18,955
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Diluted weighted average
number of shares
outstanding................

Revenues................
Costs and expenses
Cost of sales.......ooov
Depreciation and
amortization.............
Selling and administrative
EXPENSES . vttt vt nnnnnenn
Interest expense...........
Other income, net..........

Total costs and expenses.....
Equity income from GTIG.......

Gain on sale of GIG..........

Income before income taxes...
Provision for income taxes...

Net income...............
Basic earnings per share.....

Diluted earnings per share...

Basic weighted average number

of shares outstanding......

Diluted weighted average
number of shares
outstanding................

19,377
THOMAS
INDUSTRIES ACQ.
AND RELATED
THOMAS FINANCING
INDUSTRIES PRO FORMA
HISTORICAL (F) ADJUSTMENTS
$410,114 $ -
252,768 -
16,340 5,357(G)
111,274 -
2,691 27,568 (H)
(1,611) -
381,462 32,925
18,608 -
160,410 -
207,670 (32,925)
93,516 (10,700) (1)
$114,154 $(22,225)

PRO FORMA
GARDNER
DENVER,

NASH ELMO,
THOMAS
INDUSTRIES
AND RELATED
FINANCING (F)

$1,305,970
848,269
50,415

309,679
38,482
(2,312)
1,244,533
18,608
160,410
240,455
102,529

NOTE: THE ABOVE UNAUDITED PRO FORMA CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS
INCLUDES EQUITY INCOME FROM THOMAS INDUSTRIES' 32% INVESTMENT IN GTG.
GENLYTE AND THOMAS INDUSTRIES FORMED GTG ON AUGUST 30,

WITH THOMAS INDUSTRIES'

INVESTMENT IN GTG,

1998. EFFECTIVE
ITS INTEREST IN GTG WAS

ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE EQUITY METHOD OF ACCOUNTING. EFFECTIVE WITH THE
CLOSE OF BUSINESS ON JULY 31, 2004, THOMAS INDUSTRIES SOLD ITS 32%
INTEREST IN GTG TO GENLYTE FOR APPROXIMATELY $400,900.

ARTICLE 11 OF REGULATION S-X,

AS REQUIRED BY
THE UNAUDITED PRO FORMA CONSOLIDATED

STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS INCLUDES EQUITY INCOME FROM GTG, AS WELL AS A

GAIN FROM THE SALE OF THOMAS INDUSTRIES'

INTEREST IN GTG.

IN TOTAL, THE

UNAUDITED PRO FORMA CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS INCLUDES

$176,954 OF PRETAX INCOME,

$95,063 OF NET INCOME AND $3.90 OF DILUTED

EARNINGS PER SHARE FROM THE EFFECTS OF GTG. FOR INFORMATION THAT
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EXCLUDES THE EFFECTS OF GTG, SEE NOTE (F) BELOW.
See accompanying notes to unaudited pro forma consolidated financial statements
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UNAUDITED PRO FORMA CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

DECEMBER 31, 2004
(IN THOUSANDS)

TH
INDU
ACC
RE
ADJUSTMENTS THOMAS FIN
GARDNER DENVER FOR THE GARDNER DENVER INDUSTRIES PRC
HISTORICAL OFFERING AS ADJUSTED HISTORICAL ADJU
ASSETS
Current assets
Cash and equivalents....... S 64,601 S - S 64,601 $133,472 S (1
Short-term investments..... - - - 133,627 (1
Receivables, net........... 163,927 —— 163,927 58,305
Inventories, net........... 138,386 —— 138,386 75,207
Deferred income taxes...... 9,465 —— 9,465 5,101
Other current assets....... 9,143 - 9,143 7,514
Total current assets..... 385,522 - 385,522 413,226 (2
Property, plant and
equipment, net............. 148,819 —— 148,819 114,868
Goodwill. . eneeeennnn 374,159 - 374,159 68,639 1
Other intangibles, net....... 110,173 - 110,173 22,659 1
(
Other assets................. 9,936 - 9,936 2,544
Total assets........... $1,028,609 $ - S 1,028,609 $621,936 S
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS'
EQUITY
Current liabilities
Short-term borrowings and
current maturities of
long-term debt........... S 32,949 S - S 32,949 s 1,797 S
Accounts payable and
accrued liabilities...... 206,069 - 206,069 53,961
Dividends payable.......... - - - 1,689
Total current
liabilities............ 239,018 - 239,018 57,447 (
Long-term debt, less current
maturities................. 280,256 (191,073) (J) 89,183 7,751 5
Postretirement benefits other
than pensions.............. 30,503 - 30,503 -
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Deferred income taxes........ 21,324 —— 21,324 8,978
Other liabilities............ 52,032 - 52,032 20,827
Total liabilities........ 623,133 (191,073) 432,060 95,003

Total stockholders'
[STe 1 I ol 405,476 191,073 (J) 596,549 526,933

Total liabilities and
stockholders'
equity.ee et $1,028,609 $ - S 1,028,609 $621,936

See accompanying notes to unaudited pro forma consolidated financial statements
S-27

NOTES TO UNAUDITED PRO FORMA CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(IN THOUSANDS EXCEPT PER SHARE AMOUNTS)

(A) Includes a $3,735 non-recurring unfavorable impact related to recording
the acquired inventory of Syltone and Nash Elmo at fair value.

(B) Reflects the change in Nash Elmo's depreciation and amortization expense
due to the depreciation of the step-up in its property, plant and
equipment to estimated fair value over estimated average useful lives
ranging from 3 to 25 years, and the amortization of the separately
identifiable intangible assets with finite lives at estimated fair values
over estimated useful lives ranging from 5 to 20 years. This adjustment
is based on our estimated allocation of the purchase price for the Nash
Elmo acquisition. We will base the final allocation on appraisals that
have not yet been completed.

(C) Reflects the following interest expense on the incremental borrowings
necessary to finance the Nash Elmo acquisition:

Interest on the incremental credit line borrowing ($117,480

= T TR T $ 2,937
Interest on the incremental term loan borrowing ($108,750 at
G T S T3 T 2,719

Incremental interest on our previously existing borrowings
due to an increase in rates on borrowings and commitments
resulting from the increased leverage from the Nash Elmo

F= K0T 16 T = I e o L 213
Net impact on amortization of debt issue costs related to
the financing for the Nash Elmo acquisition............... (117)

Elimination of historical interest expense on Nash Elmo's
debt repaid in conjunction with the Nash Elmo
ACOUISIEI0ON . ittt e e e e e e e e e e e e e (2,834)

Total interest expense adjustment..................oo.. $ 2,918

For purposes of determining the adjustment for the credit line and the
term loan borrowings, the applicable LIBOR rate plus the applicable
margin per our credit agreement was used.

(D) Reflects the income tax effects of the pro forma adjustments to provide
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for the combined effective income tax rate for Gardner Denver and Nash
Elmo of 30.0%.

(E) Reflects the reduction in interest expense assuming net proceeds from the
stock offering of $191,073 were used to pay down debt:

Interest on paid down credit line borrowing ($113,635 at

o B T $(4,375)
Interest on paid down term loan borrowing ($77,438 at
I B T (2,981)
Interest on remaining borrowings due to decreased leverage
from stock Offering. ... ...ttt ittt (843)
Net impact on amortization of debt issue costs related to
debt retired. ... ...ttt e e e 242
$(7,957)

For purposes of determining the adjustment to interest expense for the
credit line and term loan borrowings, the applicable LIBOR rate plus the
applicable margin per our credit agreement was used.

(F) As noted above, effective with the close of business on July 31, 2004,
Thomas Industries sold its 32% interest in GTG to Genlyte for
approximately $400,900. The information set forth below adjusts the
information presented under the title "Pro Forma Gardner Denver, Nash
Elmo, Thomas Industries and Related Financing" to exclude the effects of
GTG, assuming Thomas Industries had sold its interest in GTIG at the
beginning of the period presented and used a portion of the net proceeds
from the sale to repay all of Thomas Industries' existing debt, other
than its capitalized lease obligations.
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YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31

PRO FORMA
GARDNER
DENVER,
NASH ELMO,
THOMAS
INDUSTRIES
AND RELATED
FINANCING ADJUSTMENTS

(in thousands, except per sh

RV MU S s 4 vttt ettt ettt ettt ettt et e eeeeeeeeeeneeens $1,305,970 -
Costs and expenses
CoSt Of SALES .t ittt ittt et et ettt ettt ettt et 848,269 ——
Depreciation and amortization............. ... 50,415 -
Selling and administrative expenses...........cco.o.... 309,679 (353) (1)
INterest EXPENSE . v ittt ettt et et e ettt eeeeeeeeeeennn 38,482 (1,711) (2)
Other INncComEe, NEeL ... i i ittt ittt ettt ettt eneeneeens (2,312) ——
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(2,064)
(18,608) (3)
(160,410) (4)

(176, 954)
(81,891) (5)

$ (95,063)

Total COSES ANd EXPENSES . i v vt vttt et et ee e eeeeeeeeenns 1,244,533
Equity income from GTG. ... ...ttt ittt eneeeeeeeenneens 18,608
Gain on sale 0f GTG. .. ittt ittt ettt ettt teeeneeanns 160,410
Income before InCoOmMEe LaXeS .. u i i it eteeeeeeeeeeneeneenn 240,455
Provision for INCOmME taXeS .. uiewieweeeeeeeeeneeneenenan 102,529

1 = S 1o Yot 11T $ 137,926
Basic earnings per share...... ...ttt eennnnns $ 5.76
Diluted earnings per share.........iiiitiiiieeeeeennnnns $ 5.66
Basic weighted average number of shares outstanding.... 23,955

Diluted weighted average number of shares
OULStANAINg . ¢t ittt it e e e e e e e e e e e e e 24,377

(1) The adjustment reflects the reduced bank fees and deferred loan
amortization due to applying a portion of the proceeds from the
sale of Thomas Industries' interest in GIG to pay down previously
existing bank debt, except capitalized lease obligations, as of the
beginning of the period.

(2) The adjustment reflects the reduced interest expense due to
applying a portion of the proceeds from the sale of Thomas
Industries' interest in GTG to pay down debt as of the beginning of
the period.

(3) The adjustment reflects the elimination of Thomas Industries'
equity income from GTG due to the sale of GTIG as of the beginning
of the period.

(4) The adjustment reflects the elimination of the pretax gain on sale
of Thomas Industries' interest in GTG as of the beginning of the
period.

(5) The adjustment reflects the income tax effects of adjustments (1),
(2), (3) and (4) based on an overall effective tax rate to 32.5%
without the impact of the gain on Thomas Industries' sale of its
interest in GTG or its equity income prior to the sale.

Financial information for Thomas Industries includes $5,245 of
non-recurring charges related to plant shutdown, legal and environmental
costs.

Reflects the change in Thomas Industries' depreciation and amortization
expense due to the depreciation of the step-up in property, plant and
equipment to the estimated fair value over estimated average useful lives
ranging from 3 to 25 years, and the amortization of the separately
identifiable intangible assets with finite lives at estimated fair values
over estimated useful lives ranging from 5 to 20 years. This adjustment is
based on our estimated allocation of the purchase price for the Thomas
Industries acquisition. We will base the final allocation on appraisals
that have not yet been completed.

Reflects the following interest expense on the estimated incremental
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borrowings necessary to finance the Thomas Industries acquisition (as
discussed above under "- Thomas Industries Acquisition and Related
Financing") .

Reversal of interest savings noted in footnote (E) above to

reflect the paydown of such debt............ . ... .. .. ... $ 7,957
Interest on the new senior subordinated notes and term loan
borrowings ($355,000 @t 5.10%) « v vttt i iit ettt eeeeennnnneens 18,095

Incremental interest on our previously existing borrowings
due to an increase in rates on borrowings and commitments
resulting from the increased leverage from the Thomas

Industries acqguisition. ...ttt ittt ttneeeeeneenns 939
Elimination of historical interest expense on other

borrowings to be repaid ($35,573 at 5.25%) ... (1,868)
Net impact on amortization of debt issue costs related to

the financing for the Thomas Industries acquisition....... 1,171
Prepayment penalty on other borrowings to be repaid......... 1,274

Total interest expense adjustment............cooiiieeeenenn. $27,568

The prepayment penalty on other borrowings to be repaid of $1,274 was
based upon interest rates in effect as of January 1, 2004. Based upon
interest rates in effect at the time of this offering and principal
currently outstanding, the actual prepayment penalty is expected to be
approximately $324.

(1) Reflects the income tax effects of the pro forma adjustments to provide
for the combined effective income tax rate for Gardner Denver, Nash Elmo
and Thomas Industries (excluding the effect of GTG) of 32.5%.

(J) Reflects the issuance of 5,000,000 shares of common stock, par value $0.01
per share at $40.12 per share less direct costs associated with the
offering of $9,527. These net proceeds will be used to pay down the
existing credit line ($113,635) and a portion of the existing term loan
($77,438) .

(K) Reflects the following estimated sources and uses of cash, purchase price
allocation and net fair value adjustments to Thomas' assets and liabilities
including goodwill:

Sources and uses of cash:
Consideration to be paid at closing for the shares of Thomas

LIS T B 1wl == $ 734,200
Cash to be paid for estimated direct acquisition costs,

including financial advisory, legal, accounting, auditing

and Other COSES . v i ittt it ittt et e e e et ettt et ee e 8,500
Aggregate purChase PriCe. ... ittt ittt ittt eennenns $ 742,700
Available cash at Gardner DeNVEe L . ... it i ettt eeeeeneeneennenn 20,000
Available cash and short-term investments at Thomas

9T G = i e I = I 219,200
Total existing cash used for the acquisition................ $ 239,200

Borrowings available under existing credit line............. 113,635
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Borrowings available under existing term loan............... 77,438
Borrowings available under new term loan...........ccovuvuunn. 230,000
Borrowings available under new senior subordinated notes.... 125,000
Existing Gardner Denver debt to be repaid................... (35,573)
Total New DOrrOWINg S . . vt ittt ittt et ettt et ee e eeaeenns 510,500
Less estimated debt issuance costs related to new

oY B ah a3 o Y = (7,000) (N)

Net borrowings directly related to the acquisition purchase

Estimated purchase price allocation:

Aggregate puUrChase PriCe. ... ittt ittt ittt eennenns $ 742,700
Book value of Thomas Industries' net assets................. (526,933)
Capitalized estimated manufacturing profit in inventory

F= K@ 16 i o T R (3,192) (L)
Elimination O0f LIFO FeSEIVe . i it it ittt eeeneeeeeeeeeneeneeens (4,957)
Step-up 1in property, plant and equipment to fair value...... (25,791) (M)
Elimination of Thomas Industries' historical intangible

assets (other than goodwill) ... ...ttt inneeeeeeeennn 22,659
Separately identifiable intangible assets (other than

[ £ T A2 (108,000)

Adjustment of pension liabilities (equal to excess of the
projected benefit obligation over the fair value of plan

assets less Thomas Industries' existing liability......... 3,500
Additional deferred tax liabilities, net (on fair value

changes to assets and liabilities)..........coiiiiieonn. 42,857
Other asset and liability fair value adjustments, net....... 3,000
Net adjustment to goodwill. ... iiiiieee it eeeeenneneeeeennns $ 145,843

This reflects our preliminary estimates of the purchase price allocation
for the Thomas Industries acquisition, which may change upon completion of
appraisals. Further, we may identify other assets and liabilities to which
a portion of the purchase price will be allocated. The purchase price
allocation also does not include an accrual for any anticipated
restructuring activities in connection with the Thomas Industries
acquisition. We have not yet performed a detailed analysis to identify and
measure additional adjustments that may be necessary to conform Thomas
Industries' accounting policies with our accounting policies.

The adjusted pro forma balance of Thomas Industries' other separately
identifiable intangible assets is estimated to be comprised of the
following:

Other intangible assets:
Customer lists and relationships, to be amortized over 20

V25T k= T $ 50,000
Trademarks and trade names, indefinite lives.............. 45,000
Technology (primarily patents and software), to be

amortized
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OVEY 510 VAT S e i ittt ittt et e ettt et ettt 9,500
Other, to be amortized over 5 yvears........ouoeeiieeeennnennn 3,500
$108,000

In accordance with SFAS No. 142, "Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets,"
the pro forma statement of operations does not include amortization of
goodwill and other intangible assets with indefinite useful lives to be
acquired in the Thomas Industries acquisition.

(L) Reflects the estimated purchase accounting adjustment for capitalization
of estimated manufacturing profit in inventory to be acquired with Thomas
Industries. The pro forma statement of operations does not reflect the
one time adjustment on cost of sales during the period this inventory is
sold.

(M) Reflects the estimated purchase accounting adjustment to Thomas Industries'
property, plant and equipment to step-up the basis to estimated fair value.
This adjustment is based on the estimated allocation of the purchase price
for the Thomas Industries acquisition. The final allocation of the purchase
price will be based on appraisals that have not yet been completed.

(N) Reflects the estimated additional debt issuance costs related to the new
borrowings which will be capitalized and amortized through maturity.

(0) Reflects the elimination of Thomas Industries' historical consolidated
equity.

SELECTED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF GARDNER DENVER

The selected historical consolidated financial information presented below
is for, and as of the end of, each of the years in the five-year period ended
December 31, 2004. Our consolidated financial statements for the years ended
December 31, 2002, 2003 and 2004 have been audited by KPMG LLP, an independent
registered public accounting firm. Our consolidated financial statements for the
years ended December 31, 2000 and 2001 have been audited by Arthur Andersen LLP,
independent auditors. The consolidated financial statements as of December 31,
2003 and 2004, and for each of the years in the three-year period ended December
31, 2004, and the reports thereon, are included in this prospectus supplement.

The selected consolidated financial information should be read in
conjunction with the consolidated financial statements for the years ended
December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002, the related notes, and the independent
registered public accounting firm's reports.

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31,

(in thousands, except per share data)

STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS DATA:

Revenues. .. ...ttt $379,358 $419,770 $418,158 $439,530 $ 739,539
Costs and expenses
Cost of sales.. ..., 268,290 294,249 289,631 307,753 498,435
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Depreciation and amortization

0 T 15,881 17,567 14,139 14,566 21,901
Selling and administrative
EXPENSES . v v v v e e e e e eneee e 59,784 69,678 79,400 85,326 157,453

Interest exXpPense......oueeeeeeeennns. 7,669 6,796 6,365 4,748 10,102

Other income, net..........oueen.. (2,160) (3,203) (204) (3,221) (638)
Total costs and expenses............. 349,464 385,087 389,331 409,172 687,253
Income before income taxes........... 29,894 34,683 28,827 30,358 52,286
Provision for income taxes........... 11,210 12,659 9,225 9,715 15,163
Net income.......uuiiiiiieeeeeennnnn. $ 18,684 $ 22,024 $ 19,602 $ 20,643 $ 37,123
Basic earnings per share............. $ 1.22 S 1.42 S 1.24 S 1.29 $ 1.96
Diluted earnings per share........... $ 1.21 S 1.40 $ 1.22 S 1.27 $ 1.92
Basic shares outstanding............. 15,300 15,553 15,854 16,061 18,955
Diluted shares outstanding........... 15,489 15,783 16,042 16,312 19,377

BALANCE SHEET DATA (AS OF END OF

PERIOD) :
Total ASSeLS . iiie ittt ieeeennneeeenns $403,881 $488, 688 $478,730 $589, 733 $1,028,609
Long-term debt, less current

maturities.......c.iiiiiiiinn 115,808 160,230 112,663 165,756 280,256
Total debt ...ttt e e 121,589 167,605 120,163 182,631 313,205
Total liabilities.......iiiiiieeonn.. 232,733 289,960 255,807 323,828 623,133
Stockholders' equity.....ovvvieeoo.. 171,148 198,728 222,923 265,905 405,476

OTHER FINANCIAL DATA:

Gross Margin (2) ¢ v et eeeeennnnnn $111,068 $125,521 $128,527 $131,777 $ 241,104
EBITDA (3) t vt eeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeannnnns 53,444 59,046 49,331 49,672 84,289
Capital expenditures................. 13,549 11,524 13,641 11,950 19,550
Net cash provided by operating

activities. . vttt it 30, 636 44,153 52,481 46,283 76,752
Orders (4) c vt e e ne ettt eteeeeennnans 379,985 413,438 402,019 425,620 786,990

(1) As a result of adopting Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 142
"Goodwill and Other Intangibles Assets," periodic goodwill amortization
ceased effective January 1, 2002.

(2) Gross margin consists of revenues minus cost of sales (excluding
depreciation and amortization).

(3) EBITDA consists of net income before provision for income taxes, interest
expense and depreciation and amortization. EBITDA is not a measurement of
financial performance or liquidity determined in accordance with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States and should not be
considered as an alternative to net income, net cash provided by operating
activities or other consolidated income or cash flow statement data prepared
in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles.

S-32

We present EBITDA because we believe it is frequently used by analysts,
investors and other interested parties in the financial evaluation of
companies in our industry, and we believe it provides useful information to
investors. This definition of EBITDA, however, may differ from the
definition used by other companies. A reconciliation of net income to EBITDA
is provided as follows:
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YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31,

(in thousands)

Net income.........coivvuuun.. $18, 684 $22,024 $19,602 $20,643 $37,123
Provision for income taxes... 11,210 12,659 9,225 9,715 15,163
Interest expense............. 7,669 6,796 6,365 4,748 10,102
Depreciation and

amortization............... 15,881 17,567 14,139 14,566 21,901
EBIT DA . ittt ettt et eeeeeeeennn $53,444 $59, 046 $49,331 $49,672 $84,289

(4) Orders consists of bookings we believe to be firm for which a customer
purchase order has been received or communicated. Since orders can be
rescheduled or canceled at any time, orders do not necessarily reflect
future sales levels.

SELECTED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF THOMAS INDUSTRIES

The selected historical consolidated financial information presented below
is for, and as of the end of, each of the years in the five-year period ended
December 31, 2004. Thomas Industries' consolidated financial statements for the
years ended December 31, 2002, 2003 and 2004 have been audited by Ernst & Young
LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm. Its consolidated
financial statements for the years ended December 31, 2000 and 2001 have been
audited by Arthur Andersen, LLP, independent auditors. The consolidated
financial statements as of December 31, 2003 and 2004, and for each of the years
in the three-year period ended December 31, 2004, and the reports thereon, are
included in this prospectus supplement.

The selected consolidated financial information should be read in
conjunction with the consolidated financial statements for the years ended
December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002, the related notes, and the independent
registered public accounting firm's report.

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31,

(in thousands, except per share

STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS DATA:

Net SAleS. ittt eeeeeeeeeeeeeeeennnnn $188,824 $184,382 $240,602 $376,
Costs of products sold................ 120,835 118,625 154,904 246,
Gross Profit ...t 67,989 65,757 85,698 129,
Selling, general and administrative

EXPENSE S e v v vt e e et et 44,070 43,411 59,989 101,
Equity income from GTG.........ccuoueo... 24,575 24,835 28,804 32,

Gain on sale of GTG. ..o v i, - - -

data)

774 $410,114
832 262,654
942 147,460
943 117,728
138 18,608

- 160,410
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Operating iNCoOmMe. .....uuereenennneenns 48,494 47,181 54,513 60,137 208,750
Interest EXPEensSe. .. ii it eeeenneennn 3,995 3,630 3,370 4,237 2,691
Interest income and other............. 3,799 1,489 456 312 2,335
Other income (exXpPense) ..........c.ee... —— —— (434) (533) (724)
Income before income taxes and

minority interest.................. 48,298 45,040 51,165 55,679 207,670
TNCOME LAXES .ttt vttt eeeeeennneeeenenns 18,213 16,870 18,452 18,340 93,516
Income before minority interest....... 30,085 28,170 32,713 37,339 114,154
Minority interest, net of tax......... - - 21 25 -
Net 1NCOME . v v ittt ittt ettt ettt $ 30,085 $ 28,170 $ 32,692 $ 37,314 $114,154
Net income per share - Basic.......... S 1.95 $ 1.86 S 2.06 $ 2.17 S 6.53
Net income - Diluted.................. S 1.91 $ 1.80 S 2.00 $ 2.12 S 6.44
Dividends declared per share.......... S 0.30 S 0.34 S 0.34 $ 0.37 S 0.38

BALANCE SHEET DATA (AS OF END OF

PERIOD) :
Total assets. ..., $306,112 $306,714 $491,016 $573,134 $621,936
Long-term debt, less current

maturities.......ci it e 40,727 24,938 104,047 102,673 7,751
Total debt ...ttt eeeeenn 48,513 32,726 114,869 115,646 9,548
Total liabilities......oiiiiiieeennn. 88,710 69,001 176,615 189,779 95,003
Stockholders' equity....ovveieeeenn. 217,402 237,713 314,367 383,355 526,933

OTHER FINANCIAL DATA:

EBIT DA (L) ettt ettt eeeeeeeeeeeeenanaens $ 59,756 $ 56,583 $ 65,003 $ 75,123 $226,701
Capital expenditures...........c.coo.... 10,188 8,548 8,358 20,108 16,403

(1)

taxes,

EBITDA consists of net income before minority interest,
interest expense and depreciation and amortization.

provision for inc
EBITDA is not

ome
a

measurement of financial performance or liquidity determined in accordance
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States and

should not be considered as an alternative to net income,

by operating activities or other

net cash provid

ed

consolidated income or cash flow statement data prepared in accordance with

generally accepted accounting principles.
believe it is frequently used by analysts,

parties in the financial evaluation of companies in our industry,

believe it provides useful information to
EBITDA, however,
reconciliation of net income to EBITDA is

We present EBITDA because we
investors and other interested
and we

investors. This definition of

may differ from the definition used by other companies.

provided as follows:

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31,

A

2000
Net 1nCoOme. .....vueiieeennnnnn. $ 30,085 S
Minority interest, net of
L= -
Provision for income taxes..... 18,213
Interest expense..........ccuo... 3,995

Depreciation and

2001 2002 2003
(in thousands)
28,170 $ 32,692 $ 37,314
—— 21 25
16,870 18,452 18,340
3,630 3,370 4,237

$ 114,154

93,516
2,691
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amortization................. 7,463 7,913 10,468 15,207 16,340
EBIT DA . i ittt et ettt e eeeneeeeennn $ 59,756 $ 56,583 $ 65,003 $ 75,123 $ 226,701
Equity income from GTG......... (24,575) (24,835) (28,804) (32,138) (18,608)
Gain on sale of GIG............ —— —— —— —— (160,410)
Bank fees and deferred loan

amortization.........oviv... —— —— —= —= 353 (a)

EBITDA excluding effects of
GGt vt ettt et e e e e et $ 35,181 $ 31,748 $ 36,199 $ 42,985 $ 48,036 (b)

(a) Resulting from Thomas Industries' repayment of debt.

(b) Includes $5,245 of non-recurring charges related to plant shutdown,
legal and environmental costs.
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MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL
CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following discussion should be read in conjunction with our
Consolidated Financial Statements and notes thereto.

OVERVIEW

The Company believes it is one of the leading designers, manufacturers and
marketers of engineered stationary air compressors, liquid ring pumps and
blowers for various industrial and transportation applications and of pumps used
in the petroleum and industrial markets and other fluid transfer equipment
serving chemical, petroleum and food industries.

Since its spin-off from Cooper Industries, Inc. in 1994, the Company has
completed 17 acquisitions, growing its revenues from approximately $176 million
to $740 million in 2004. Of the 17 acquisitions, the two largest were completed
in 2004 with the purchase of nash_elmo Holdings, LLC ("Nash Elmo") and Syltone
plc ("Syltone").

On September 1, 2004, the Company acquired Nash Elmo, a leading global
manufacturer of industrial vacuum pumps. Nash Elmo is primarily split between
two businesses, liquid ring pumps and side channel blowers. Both businesses'
products are complementary to the Compressor and Vacuum Products segment's
existing product portfolio. Nash Elmo, previously headquartered in Trumbull, CT,
has primary manufacturing facilities located in Bad Neustadt and Nuremberg,
Germany; Zibo, China; and Campinas, Brazil. For the year ended December 31,
2003, Nash Elmo's revenues and earnings before income taxes were $212.4 million
and $7.8 million, respectively. Nash Elmo's largest markets are in Europe, Asia,
North America and South America. Approximately 70% of Nash Elmo's revenues are
generated from liquid ring pump products (including related engineered systems
and aftermarket services), while the remaining 30% are derived from side channel
blower products (including aftermarket services).

On January 2, 2004, the Company acquired the outstanding shares of Syltone,
previously a publicly traded company listed on the London Stock Exchange.
Syltone, previously headquartered in Bradford, United Kingdom ("U.K."), 1is one
of the world's largest manufacturers of equipment used for loading and unloading
liquid and dry bulk products on commercial transportation vehicles. This
equipment includes compressors, blowers and other ancillary products that are
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complementary to the Company's existing product lines. Syltone is also one of
the world's largest manufacturers of fluid transfer equipment (including loading
arms, swivel joints, couplers and valves) used to load and unload ships, tank
trucks and rail cars. For the twelve months ended September 30, 2003, Syltone
generated revenues and operating profit (in accordance with accounting
principles generally accepted in the U.K.) of L84.4 million and L6.3 million,
respectively (approximately $151.1 million and $11.3 million, respectively as
calculated using the December 31, 2003 exchange rate of $1.79/L). Syltone's
largest markets are Europe and North America, which represent approximately 67%
and 20% of its revenues, respectively. Approximately 70% of Syltone's revenues
are generated through transportation-related activities while the remaining 30%
are derived from fluid transfer-related activities.

Subsequent to the acquisition of Nash Elmo and Syltone, the Company
continues to be organized based upon the products and services it offers and has
four operating divisions: Compressor, Blower, Liquid Ring Pump and Fluid
Transfer. These divisions comprise two reportable segments, Compressor and
Vacuum Products (formerly Compressed Air Products) and Fluid Transfer Products.
The Compressor, Blower (which now includes the Syltone transportation-related
activities and Nash Elmo's side channel blower business) and Liquid Ring Pump
(consisting of Nash Elmo's liquid ring pump business) Divisions are aggregated
into one reportable segment (Compressor and Vacuum Products) since the long-term
financial performance of these businesses are affected by similar economic
conditions, coupled with the similar nature of their products, manufacturing
processes and other business characteristics. During the third quarter of 2004,
the Company's former Pump and Fluid Transfer (which consisted of the Syltone
fluid transfer-related activities) Divisions were combined into one division,
Fluid Transfer. These two divisions were previously aggregated into one
reportable segment (Fluid Transfer Products) primarily due to the same factors
as noted above, and thus, there has been no change to the Fluid Transfer
Products segment.
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In the Compressor and Vacuum Products segment, the Company designs,
manufactures, markets and services the following products and related
aftermarket parts for industrial and commercial applications: rotary screw,
reciprocating, sliding vane and centrifugal compressors; positive displacement,
centrifugal and side channel blowers; and liquid ring pumps and engineered
systems. Stationary air compressors are used in manufacturing, process
applications and materials handling, and to power air tools and equipment.
Blowers are used primarily in pneumatic conveying, wastewater aeration, numerous
applications in industrial manufacturing and engineered vacuum systems. Liquid
ring pumps are used in many different vacuum applications and engineered
systems, such as water removal, distilling, reacting, efficiency improvement,
lifting and handling, and filtering, principally in the pulp and paper,
industrial manufacturing, chemical and power industries. Revenues of the
Compressor and Vacuum Products segment constituted 80% of total revenues in
2004.

In the Fluid Transfer Products segment, the Company designs, manufactures,
markets and services a diverse group of pumps, water jetting systems and related
aftermarket parts used in oil and natural gas production, well servicing and
drilling and industrial cleaning and maintenance. This segment also designs,
manufactures, markets and services other fluid transfer components and equipment
for the chemical, petroleum and food industries. Revenues of the Fluid Transfer
Products segment constituted 20% of total revenues in 2004.

The Company sells its products through independent distributors and sales
representatives, and directly to original equipment manufacturers, engineering
firms, packagers and end-users.
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The following table sets forth percentage relationships to revenues of

certain income statement items for the years presented.
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RECENT DEVELOPMENTS

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31,

100.0%

100.0%

On March 8, 2005, the Company signed a definitive agreement to acquire

Thomas Industries Inc. ("Thomas Industries"),

a New York Stock Exchange listed

company trading under the ticker symbol "TII." Thomas Industries is a worldwide
leader in the design, manufacture and marketing of precision engineered pumps,
compressors and blowers. The agreed-upon purchase price is $40.00 per share for

all outstanding shares and share equivalents

(approximately $734.2 million) and

the assumption of $9.5 million of long-term capitalized lease obligations. As of

December 31, 2004, Thomas Industries had $267.1 million in cash,
equivalents and short-term investments.
assumed debt and net of cash,

Business - The Thomas Industries Acquisition."

The net transaction value,
is approximately $476.6 million.

cash
including
See "Our

The acquisition is expected to close in 2005 and is subject to the approval
of Thomas Industries' stockholders and other customary closing conditions,

including the receipt of applicable regulatory approvals.

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2004, COMPARED WITH
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31,

REVENUES

Revenues increased $300.0 million (68%) to $739.5 million in 2004,
This increase was primarily due to acquisitions in

to $439.5 million in 2003.
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2004, which contributed $247.3 million in revenues.

stimulation pumps, pump parts,

currency exchange rates and
Revenues outside the United
to 56% in 2004, compared to
volume increases in Europe,

2003

compressors and blowers,

compared

Increased shipments of well
combined with changes in

price increases, also contributed to this increase.

States, as a percentage of total revenues,

increased

42% in 2003, primarily due to acquisitions and

China and South Africa.
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Revenues for the Compressor and Vacuum Products segment increased $220.4
million (60%) to $589.4 million in 2004, compared to $369.0 million in 2003.
This increase is primarily due to acquisitions in 2004 (52%), increased volume
of compressor and blower shipments in the U.S., Europe, China and South Africa
(3%), changes in currency exchange rates (3%) and price increases (2%).

Fluid Transfer Products segment revenues increased $79.7 million to $150.2
million in 2004, compared to $70.5 million in 2003. This 113% increase is
primarily due to the acquisition of Syltone (78%), increased shipments of well
stimulation pumps, water jetting systems and related aftermarket (34%) and price

increases (4%). These positive factors were partially offset by a decreased
volume of drilling pump shipments (3%).

COSTS AND EXPENSES

Gross margin increased $109.3 million (83%) to $241.1 million in 2004,
compared to $131.8 million in 2003. Gross margin percentage increased to 32.6%
in 2004, compared to 30.0% in 2003. This increase in gross margin percentage was
principally attributable to the increased volume in both segments and the
related positive impact of increased leverage of fixed and semi-fixed costs over
a higher revenue base. Acquisitions completed in 2004 also positively impacted
gross margin percentage, as their gross margin percentage (35.1%) was higher
than the Company's previously existing businesses despite a non-recurring
negative impact of approximately $3.7 million stemming from recording their
inventory at fair value on the respective acquisition dates. Finally, favorable
sales mix also contributed to the increased gross margin as 2004 included a
higher percentage of aftermarket sales compared to the prior year. These
positive factors were partially offset by higher material costs due to
surcharges on castings and other components stemming from increases in scrap
iron and other metal prices. Higher warranty costs and some supply chain
inefficiencies that affected material availability also negatively impacted
gross margin.

Depreciation and amortization increased $7.3 million to $21.9 million in
2004, compared to $14.6 million in 2003, primarily due to the Syltone and Nash
Elmo acquisitions.

Selling and administrative expenses increased $72.1 million (85%) to $157.5
million in 2004, compared to $85.3 million in 2003, primarily due to
acquisitions in 2004 ($61.9 million). Higher compensation and fringe benefit
costs, professional fees and changes in currency exchange rates also contributed
to this increase. As a percentage of revenues, selling and administrative
expenses increased to 21.3% for 2004 from 19.4% in the prior year, primarily due
to the 2004 acquisitions.

Other income, net decreased $2.6 million in 2004 to $0.6 million, compared
to $3.2 million in 2003. This change was primarily due to higher foreign
currency transaction gains recorded in 2003. Prior year results included a $3.2
million gain in the fourth quarter related to the appreciation of U.S. dollar
borrowings, which were converted to British pounds prior to being used to
consummate the Syltone acquisition. An additional $1.2 million gain was recorded
related to these borrowings in the first quarter of 2004. Prior year results
also included a $0.4 million pretax gain on the sale of an idle manufacturing
facility in Syracuse, New York.

The Compressor and Vacuum Products segment generated operating earnings as
a percentage of revenues of 7.9% in 2004, compared to 7.5% in 2003. This
increase was primarily attributable to the positive impact of increased leverage
of the segment's fixed and semi-fixed costs over a higher revenue base,
favorable sales
S5-38
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mix and restructuring programs initiated in the fourth quarter of 2003. These
positive factors were partially offset by higher material, compensation and
fringe benefit and warranty costs. Operating earnings as a percentage of
revenues from Compressor and Vacuum Products segment businesses that existed
prior to the Nash Elmo and Syltone acquisitions were 7.9% for 2004.

The Fluid Transfer Products segment generated operating earnings as a
percentage of revenues of 10.0% in 2004, compared to 5.8% in 2003. This
improvement was primarily attributable to the positive impact of increased
leverage of the segment's fixed and semi-fixed costs over a higher revenue base,
operational improvements and price increases. These positive factors were
partially offset by the impact of the Syltone business included in this segment
which had lower operating earnings as a percentage of revenues than the
segment's previously existing businesses. Operating earnings as a percentage of
revenues from Fluid Transfer Products segment businesses that existed prior to
the Syltone acquisition were 13.6% in 2004.

Interest expense increased $5.4 million (113%) to $10.1 million in 2004,
compared to $4.7 million in 2003, due to higher average borrowings stemming from
the Syltone and Nash Elmo acquisitions and higher average interest rates. The
average interest rate was 5.0% in 2004, compared to 3.9% in 2003. See Note 7 to
the Consolidated Financial Statements for further information on the Company's
borrowing arrangements.

Income before income taxes increased $21.9 million (72%) to $52.3 million
in 2004, compared to $30.4 million in 2003. Acquisitions in 2004 contributed
$10.6 million to this increase. The balance of the increase is primarily due to
the increased volume in both segments and the related positive impact of
increased leverage of fixed and semi-fixed costs over a higher revenue base.
These positive factors were partially offset by higher material, compensation
and fringe benefit and warranty costs.

The provision for income taxes increased by $5.4 million to $15.2 million
in 2004, compared to $9.7 million in 2003, as a result of the incremental income
before taxes partially offset by a lower overall effective tax rate. The
Company's effective tax rate was lowered to 29.0% in 2004 compared to 32.0% in
2003. The lower rate is principally due to favorable tax audit settlements in
Finland and the U.S. of $1.4 million and $0.2 million, respectively. A higher
proportion of earnings derived from lower taxed non-U.S. jurisdictions also
contributed to the lower effective tax rate. These positive factors were
partially offset by incremental taxes accrued in the amount of $0.9 million for
the planned repatriation of certain non-U.S. earnings in 2005 at a reduced
income tax rate pursuant to the American Jobs Creation Act of 2004.

Net income increased $16.5 million (80%) to $37.1 million ($1.92 diluted
earnings per share) in 2004, compared to $20.6 million ($1.27 diluted earnings
per share) in 2003. The increase in net income is primarily attributable to the
same factors that resulted in increased income before taxes and the lower
effective tax rate as noted above. Changes in currency exchange rates also
contributed favorably by increasing net income by approximately $0.8 million.
Net income included $0.1 million ($0.01 diluted earnings per share) and $0.2
million ($0.02 diluted earnings per share) in after-tax LIFO income in 2004 and
2003, respectively. The estimated incremental impact on diluted earnings per
share from acquisitions was $0.33 in 2004, which was partially offset by a $0.23
dilutive impact from a stock offering completed in the first quarter of 2004.

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2003, COMPARED WITH
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2002

REVENUES
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Revenues increased $21.3 million to $439.5 million in 2003, compared to
$418.2 million in 2002, primarily due to changes in currency exchange rates.
Revenues outside the United States, as a percentage of total revenues, increased
to 42% in 2003, compared to 37% in 2002. This increase is due to changes in
currency exchange rates (primarily the euro and British pound) and volume
increases in Asia and Canada.

Revenues for the Compressor and Vacuum Products segment increased $19.0
million (5%) to $369.0 million in 2003, compared to $350.0 million in 2002.
Revenues in this segment increased approximately $17.3 million due to changes in
currency exchange rates. Increased prices contributed approximately $2.6 million
but were partially offset by lower centrifugal blower volume.
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Revenues in the Fluid Transfer Products segment increased $2.4 million (4%)
to $70.5 million in 2003, compared to $68.1 million in 2002. Volume increases
contributed approximately 3 percentage points of the change, primarily due to
increased shipments of well stimulation pumps and petroleum pump parts which was
partially offset by lower drilling pump shipments. Increased prices contributed
the remaining 1 percentage point increase. In 2002, Fluid Transfer Products
segment revenues were supported by drilling pump backlog carried over from 2001
orders.

COSTS AND EXPENSES

During the fourth quarter of 2003, the Company announced and initiated
restructuring plans to eliminate redundant manufacturing capacity, streamline
operations and reduce costs. These activities represent further integration of
previously completed acquisitions, which the Company expects will better
leverage existing manufacturing facilities. As a result of the restructuring,
the Company expects to realize a net reduction in headcount of approximately 80
personnel (approximately 4% of its workforce as of September 30, 2003) by the
end of 2005. The substantial majority of this headcount reduction was realized
during the fourth quarter of 2003. As part of the restructuring program, the
Company refocused the marketing strategies of its German blower business to
place more emphasis on the truck blower market rather than industrial
applications for its products. In addition, the Company exited the marketing and
manufacturing of certain highly engineered compressor packages in the U.K. and
U.S. The Company also announced its plan to implement new manufacturing
processes and systems improvements to reduce inventory and its intent to
establish a compressor packaging and assembly operation in China. The aggregate
financial impact of these profitability improvement programs (restructuring
plans, inventory reduction plan and establishment of China operations) resulted
in a reduction in diluted earnings per share of approximately $0.12 in the
fourth quarter of 2003.

Atchison Casting Corporation, the Company's largest supplier of iron
castings in 2002, downsized and subsequently closed its LaGrange, Missouri
foundry in the second half of 2002. As a result, the Company implemented its
previously developed contingency plan to secure alternate supply sources. There
was a negative impact on the Company's financial performance (estimated at
$0.04-$0.05 and $0.01-$0.03 diluted earnings per share in 2003 and 2002,
respectively) as additional costs were incurred to expedite delivery of castings
from new suppliers and accelerate depreciation expense of pattern modification
charges from alternate casting suppliers who are no longer servicing the
Company .

Gross margin increased $3.3 million (3%) in 2003 to $131.8 million,

compared to $128.5 million in 2002. Gross margin percentage of revenues
decreased to 30.0% in 2003 from 30.7% in 2002. This decrease in the gross margin
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percentage was principally attributable to charges to cost of sales of $2.1
million incurred in conjunction with implementing the profitability improvement
programs discussed above. This factor contributed 0.5 percentage points of the
0.7 percentage point decrease in gross margin as a percentage of revenues.
Unfavorable sales mix (including a lower proportion of drilling pump and
centrifugal blower sales which generate higher gross margins, and a higher
proportion of compressor package sales, which generate lower gross margins), and
incremental costs associated with the disruption in the Company's casting supply
chain also contributed to this decrease. These negative factors were partially
offset by cost reduction efforts, including continued acquisition integration.

Selling and administrative expenses increased by 7% to $85.3 million in
2003 from $79.4 million in 2002, primarily due to changes in currency exchange
rates. Selling and administrative expenses increased 4% due to changes in
currency exchange rates and 1% due to expenses associated with the profitability
improvement programs. The remaining increase of 2% was primarily attributable to
higher compensation and postretirement expenses, which were partially offset by
lower medical costs and other cost reduction efforts, including continued
acquisition integration. As a percentage of revenues, selling and administrative
expenses were 19.4% in 2003, compared to 19.0% in 2002. The increase in this
ratio was primarily attributable to the factors discussed above, partially
offset by the impact of higher revenues.

Operating earnings for the Compressor and Vacuum Products segment decreased
$2.0 million (7%) to $27.8 million, compared to $29.8 million in 2002. This
decrease was primarily attributable to $2.7 million of charges incurred in the
fourth quarter of 2003 for the profitability improvement programs. Higher
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compensation, postretirement and warranty expenses combined with costs
associated with the disruption within the Company's casting supply chain also
contributed to this decrease. These negative factors were partially offset by
changes in currency exchange rates, lower medical costs and cost reductions
efforts, including continued acquisition integration. As a percentage of
revenues, operating earnings decreased to 7.5% in 2003, compared to 8.5% in
2002, as a result of the factors noted above. The expenses incurred in the
fourth quarter of 2003 related to implementing the profitability improvement
programs contributed 0.8 percentage points of this 1.0 percentage point decrease
in operating earnings as a percentage of revenues.

Operating earnings for the Fluid Transfer Products segment decreased $1.1
million to $4.1 million in 2003, a 21% decrease from $5.2 million in 2002. This
decrease was primarily attributable to a less favorable sales mix due to a lower
proportion of revenues from drilling pumps, which generate higher margins than
other pump products. Higher compensation and postretirement expenses also
contributed to this decrease. As a percentage of revenues, operating earnings
for this segment decreased to 5.8% in 2003, compared to 7.6% in 2002, as a
result of the factors noted above.

Interest expense decreased $1.6 million (25%) to $4.7 million for 2003,
compared to $6.4 million in 2002, due to lower average borrowings and interest
rates. The average interest rate for 2003 was 3.9% compared to 4.4% in 2002.

Other income, net increased $3.0 million to $3.2 million in 2003 compared
to $0.2 million in 2002, due to an unrealized currency transaction gain of $3.2
million recorded in the fourth quarter of 2003. This gain related to the
appreciation of U.S. dollar borrowings, which were converted to British pounds
in November 2003 prior to being used to consummate the Syltone acquisition in
January 2004.
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Income before income taxes increased $1.5 million (5%) to $30.4 million in
2003 from $28.8 million in 2002. This increase was primarily the result of the
unrealized currency transaction gain, lower interest expense and changes in
currency exchange rates discussed above. These positive factors were partially
offset by the lower operating earnings in each segment.

The provision for income taxes increased by $0.5 million (5%) to $9.7
million in 2003, compared to $9.2 million in 2002, as a result of the higher
income before taxes. The Company's effective tax rate was 32% in both years.

Net income increased $1.0 million (5%) to $20.6 million ($1.27 diluted
earnings per share) in 2003, compared to $19.6 million ($1.22 diluted earnings
per share) in 2002. Net income included $0.2 million ($0.02 diluted earnings per
share) and $0.3 million ($0.02 diluted earnings per share) in after-tax LIFO
income in 2003 and 2002, respectively. The increase in net income was primarily
attributable to the same factors that resulted in increased income before taxes
discussed above. Changes in currency exchange rates also contributed favorably
by increasing net income by approximately $0.8 million in 2003.

OUTLOOK

In 2004, orders for compressor and vacuum products were $611.3 million,
compared to $352.7 million in 2003. Order backlog for the Compressor and Vacuum
Products segment was $169.9 million as of December 31, 2004, compared to $48.7
million as of December 31, 2003. The favorable impact from 2004 acquisitions for
this segment was approximately $193.9 million and $99.4 million for orders and
backlog, respectively, for the year ended and as of December 31, 2004. Excluding
this impact, the increase in orders and backlog compared to the prior year was
primarily due to improvement in industrial demand in the U.S. and Europe
combined with incremental market share gains in Europe, China and South Africa
and favorable changes in currency exchange rates. The Company also experienced
an increase in demand for positive displacement blowers and locomotive
compressors due to an improved transportation market in the U.S. These positive
factors were partially offset by the Company's exit from the marketing and
manufacture of certain highly engineered compressor packages in the U.K. and
U.S. in fourth quarter of 2003.

Because air is often used as a fourth utility in the manufacturing process,
demand for compressor and vacuum products is generally correlated to
manufacturing capacity utilization rates and the rate of change of industrial
equipment production. Over longer time periods, demand also follows the economic
growth patterns
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indicated by the rates of change in the Gross Domestic Product. These indicators
have been relatively weak in both 2004 and 2003 but did improve gradually during
2004. As a result, orders for compressor and vacuum products are anticipated to

improve modestly in 2005 as the U.S. and European industrial economies continue

to recover.

Demand for fluid transfer products, which are primarily petroleum related,
has historically corresponded to market conditions and expectations for oil and
natural gas prices. Orders for fluid transfer products were $175.7 million in
2004, an increase of $102.8 million (141%) compared to $72.9 million in 2003.
Order backlog for the Fluid Transfer Products segment was $52.3 million at
December 31, 2004, compared to $9.7 million as of December 31, 2003,
representing a 442% increase. The increase in orders and backlog for this
segment due to 2004 acquisitions is $55.5 million and $17.7 million,
respectively. Increased demand for well stimulation pumps, drilling pumps and
petroleum pump parts also contributed to the increase as a result of elevated
prices for oil and natural gas. Future increases in demand for these products
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will likely be dependent upon rig counts and oil and natural gas prices, which
the Company cannot predict.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES
OPERATING WORKING CAPITAL

During 2004, operating working capital (defined as receivables plus
inventories, less accounts payable and accrued liabilities) increased $34.6
million to $96.2 million compared to $61.6 million in the prior year primarily
due to the 2004 acquisitions. Inventory turnover decreased to 4.6 at December
31, 2004, compared to 4.9 at December 31, 2003. Days sales outstanding improved
to 61 days at December 31, 2004, compared to 63 days at December 31, 2003, due
to increased use of progress billings and improved collections.

CASH FLOWS

During 2004, the Company generated cash flows from operations totaling
$76.8 million, an increase of $30.5 million (66%) compared to 2003. This
increase was primarily the result of acquisitions ($22.8 million) and higher net
income from previously existing businesses. Net of cash acquired, $295.3 million
was used to fund the Nash Elmo and Syltone acquisitions (including direct
acquisition costs) in 2004. This use of cash was primarily funded by net
borrowings of $84.7 million, the common stock offering in March 2004 that
generated $79.6 million and excess cash reserves. The effect of exchange rate
changes on cash and cash equivalents was $3.8 million in 2004 compared to $10.7
million in 2003. This decrease is primarily due to a significant strengthening
of the British pound against the U.S. dollar during 2003 combined with the fact
that the Company had significant British pound denominated cash and cash
equivalents on hand during the fourth quarter of 2003 to fund the Syltone
acquisition in January 2004. The cash flows provided by operating and financing
activities and used in investing activities, combined with the effect of
exchange rate changes, resulted in a net cash decrease of $68.2 million during
2004.

CAPITAL EXPENDITURES AND COMMITMENTS

Capital projects designed to increase operating efficiency and flexibility,
expand production capacity and increase product quality resulted in expenditures
of $19.6 million in 2004, compared to $12.0 million in 2003. This increase was
primarily due to 2004 acquisitions, the completion of a new assembly and
packaging facility in China and the integration of certain businesses onto the
Company's common enterprise resource planning system. Commitments for capital
expenditures at December 31, 2004 are approximately $10 million. Capital
expenditures related to environmental projects have not been significant in the
past and are not expected to be significant in the foreseeable future.

In October 1998, Gardner Denver's Board of Directors authorized the
repurchase of up to 1,600,000 shares of the Company's common stock to be used
for general corporate purposes. Approximately 200,000 shares remain available
for repurchase under this program. The Company has also established a Stock
Repurchase Program for its executive officers to provide a means for them to
sell Gardner Denver common stock and obtain sufficient funds to meet income tax
obligations which arise from the exercise or vesting of incentive stock options,
restricted stock or performance shares. The Gardner Denver Board has authorized
up to 400,000 shares for repurchase under this program, and of this amount,
approximately 200,000 shares
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remain available for repurchase. During 2004, no shares were repurchased under
these repurchase programs. As of December 31, 2004, a total of 1,572,542 shares
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have been repurchased at a cost of $22.8 million under both repurchase programs.
In 2004, the Company also acquired 17,799 shares of its common stock, valued at
$0.5 million, which were tendered for the exercise of stock options.

LIQUIDITY

On March 6, 2002, the Company amended and restated its then existing
Revolving Line of Credit Agreement (the "Credit Agreement"), increasing the
aggregate borrowing capacity to $150.0 million and extending the maturity date
to March 6, 2005. On September 1, 2004, the Company amended and restated the
Credit Agreement once again, increasing the borrowing capacity to $375.0
million. This latter amended and restated Credit Agreement provided the Company
with access to senior secured credit facilities including a $150.0 million
five-year Term Loan and a $225.0 million five-year Revolving Line of Credit (the
"Credit Line"). Proceeds from the Credit Agreement were used to fund the Nash
Elmo acquisition and retire debt outstanding under its previously existing
Credit Line and Term Loan.

The Credit Line matures on September 1, 2009. On December 31, 2004, the
Credit Line had an outstanding principal balance of $113.6 million, leaving
$111.4 million available for letters of credit or future use, subject to the
terms of the Credit Line.

The $150.0 million Term Loan has a final maturity of September 1, 2009. The
Term Loan requires principal payments totaling $7.5 million, $15.0 million,
$22.5 million, $37.5 million and $67.5 million in years one through five,
respectively. Other terms and conditions of the Term Loan are similar to those
of the Credit Line.

The Company's borrowing arrangements permit certain investments and
dividend payments and are generally unsecured with the exception of the Credit
Agreement, which requires the pledge of the stock of certain wholly-owned
subsidiaries, and a security interest in the Company's manufacturing facility in
Bad Neustadt, Germany. There are no material restrictions on the Company as a
result of its credit arrangements, other than customary covenants regarding
certain earnings, liquidity and capital ratios.

On September 24, 2003, the Company filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission ("SEC") a shelf registration statement regarding $150 million of its
securities. In March 2004, the Company sold 3.45 million shares of common stock
lowering the amount of securities available on the shelf to $65.5 million. On
January 31, 2005, the Company filed a second shelf registration statement
regarding $184.5 million of its securities, bringing the total securities
currently available to $250.0 million. The registration statement has since been
declared effective by the SEC and allows the Company to complete one or more
offerings of its common stock, preferred stock, debt securities or warrants. The
Company intends to use the net proceeds from any offerings for acquisitions,
capital expenditures, repayment of borrowings, working capital and other general
corporate purposes. This offering is being made pursuant to these registration
statements.

On March 8, 2005, the Company executed an agreement and plan of merger
("Merger Agreement") through which it expects to effectively acquire all the
outstanding shares of Thomas Industries. The Company's acquisition of Thomas
Industries through the Merger Agreement is not contingent on the Company's
ability to finance the transaction.

Simultaneously with the execution of the Merger Agreement, the Company
executed a Commitment Letter with Bear, Stearns & Co. Inc. and JP Morgan Chase
Bank, NA and affiliated parties (together, the "Commitment Parties"). This
Commitment Letter obligates the Commitment Parties, subject to limited
conditions, to provide senior secured credit facilities to the Company in the
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aggregate amount of $930.0 million if the Company's acquisition of Thomas
Industries is consummated. These credit facilities could be used by the Company
to finance the acquisition of Thomas Industries, pay related fees and expenses,
refinance the existing indebtedness of the Company, and finance the Company's
continuing operations after the acquisition of Thomas Industries.
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Although these credit facilities are available to the Company through the
Commitment Letter, the Company currently plans to finance the Thomas Industries
acquisition through the amendment and expansion of its existing Credit
Agreement, this offering, $125.0 million of new notes and available cash. The
size and timing of these financings are subject to prevailing market conditions.
See "Use of Proceeds."

Management currently expects the Company's cash flows in 2005 to be
sufficient to fund its scheduled debt service and provide required resources for
working capital and capital investments.

CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS
At December 31, 2004 certain of the Company's contractual obligations,

including estimated payments due by period, are as follows (dollars in
thousands) :

PAYMENTS DUE BY PERIOD

CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS LESS THAN

TOTAL 1 YEAR 1-3 YEARS 3-5 YEARS
1D o $313,571 $ 32,949 $54,090 $210,496
Operating leases......c.ovveeeeen.. 38,233 9,608 12,661 6,305
Purchase obligations............. 73,339 73,231 108 ——
Total. ittt et ettt $425,143 $115,788 $66,859 $216,801

MORE THAN
5 YEARS

9,659

Purchase obligations consist primarily of inventory purchases made in the
normal course of business to meet operational requirements. The above table
excludes $103.9 million of other non-current liabilities recorded in the balance
sheet, which primarily consist of pension and other postretirement liabilities
and deferred income taxes, because the timing of payments related to such
liabilities is uncertain. The table also excludes interest payments on existing
debt arrangements. For further information regarding the Company's debt
arrangements and related interest rates, see Note 7 to the Consolidated
Financial Statements.

MARKET RISK

The Company is exposed to market risk related to changes in interest rates,
as well as European and other foreign currency exchange rates, and selectively
uses derivative financial instruments, including forwards and swaps, to manage
these risks. The Company does not hold derivatives for trading purposes. The
value of market-risk sensitive derivatives and other financial instruments is
subject to change as a result of movements in market rates and prices.
Sensitivity analysis is one technique used to evaluate these impacts. Based on a
hypothetical ten percent change in interest rates or ten percent weakening in
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the U.S. dollar across relevant foreign currencies, principally the euro,
British pound and Chinese Yuan (if permitted to float independently of the U.S.
dollar), the potential losses in future earnings, fair value and cash flows are
not material to the Company.

CONTINGENCIES

The Company is a party to various legal proceedings, lawsuits and
administrative actions, which are of an ordinary or routine nature. In addition,
due to the bankruptcies of several asbestos manufacturers and other primary
defendants, the Company has been named as a defendant in an increasing number of
asbestos personal injury lawsuits. The Company has also been named as a
defendant in an increasing number of silicosis personal injury lawsuits. The
plaintiffs in these suits allege exposure to asbestos or silica from multiple
sources and typically the Company is one of approximately 25 or more named
defendants. In the Company's experience, the vast majority of the plaintiffs are
not impaired with a disease for which the Company bears any responsibility.

Predecessors to the Company manufactured, distributed and sold products
allegedly at issue in the pending asbestos and silicosis litigation lawsuits
(the "Products"). The Company has potential responsibility for certain of these
Products, namely: (a) air compressors which used asbestos containing components
manufactured and supplied by third parties; and (b) portable air compressors
used in sandblasting operations

as a component of sandblasting equipment manufactured and sold by others. The
sandblasting equipment is alleged to have caused the silicosis disease
plaintiffs claim in these cases.

Neither the Company nor its predecessors ever mined, manufactured, mixed,
produced or distributed asbestos fiber. The asbestos-containing components used
in the Products were completely encapsulated in a protective non-asbestos binder
and enclosed within the subject Products. Furthermore, the Company has never
manufactured or distributed portable air compressors.

The Company has entered into a series of cost sharing agreements with
multiple insurance companies to secure coverage for asbestos and silicosis
lawsuits. The Company also believes some of the potential liabilities regarding
these lawsuits are covered by indemnity agreements with other parties. The
Company's uninsured settlement payments for past asbestos and silicosis lawsuits
have been immaterial.

The Company believes that the pending and future asbestos and silicosis
lawsuits will not, in the aggregate, have a material adverse effect on its
consolidated financial position, results of operations or liquidity, based on:
the Company's anticipated insurance and indemnification rights to address the
risks of such matters; the limited potential asbestos exposure from the
components described above; the Company's experience that the vast majority of
plaintiffs are not impaired with a disease attributable to alleged exposure to
asbestos or silica from or relating to the Products; various potential defenses
available to the Company with respect to such matters; and the Company's prior
disposition of comparable matters. However, due to inherent uncertainties of
litigation and because future developments could cause a different outcome,
there can be no assurance that the resolution of pending or future lawsuits,
whether by judgment, settlement or dismissal, will not have a material adverse
effect on its consolidated financial position, results of operations or
liquidity.

The Company has also been identified as a potentially responsible party
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with respect to several sites designated for environmental cleanup under various
state and federal laws. The Company does not own any of these sites. The Company
does not believe that the future potential costs related to these sites will
have a material adverse effect on its consolidated financial position, results
of operations or liquidity.

NEW ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

In May 2004, the FASB issued Staff Position No. FAS 106-2, "Accounting and
Disclosure Requirements Related to the Medicare Prescription Drug, Improvement
and Modernization Act of 2003," ("FAS 106-2"). FAS 106-2 supersedes Staff
Position No. FAS 106-1, "Accounting and Disclosure Requirements Related to the
Medicare Prescription Drug, Improvement and Modernization Act of 2003," and
provides guidance on the accounting, disclosure, effective date and transition
related to the Prescription Drug Act. FAS 106-2 was effective for the third
quarter of 2004. According to an actuarial assessment, the Company currently
provides prescription drug benefits, which are actuarially equivalent to the
Medicare prescription drug benefit, to certain retired and other employees and
will therefore qualify for the subsidy. As a result, the Company accounted for
the federal subsidy attributable to past services as an actuarial gain, which
reduced the accumulated post-retirement benefit obligation. This actuarial gain
is then amortized in future periods in accordance with Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards ("SFAS") No. 106, "Employers' Accounting for Postretirement
Benefits Other Than Pensions." The federal subsidy attributable to employee
service rendered in current and future periods will reduce future net periodic
postretirement benefit cost as those employees provide service. The Company has
adopted FAS 106-2, resulting in a favorable impact to diluted earnings per share
of $0.01 in 2004. The favorable impact to diluted earnings per share in 2005 is
expected to be $0.02.

In November 2004, the FASB issued SFAS No. 151, "Inventory Costs - an

amendment to ARB No. 43, Chapter 4." This statement amends previous guidance and
requires expensing for abnormal amounts of idle facility expense, freight,
handling costs, and wasted material (spoilage). In addition, the statement

requires that allocation of fixed production overheads to inventory be based on
the normal capacity of production facilities. SFAS No. 151 is effective for
inventory costs incurred during annual periods beginning after June 15, 2005.
The Company 1is currently evaluating the impact of SFAS No. 151 on its future
consolidated financial statements.

In December 2004, the FASB issued a revision to SFAS No. 123, "Accounting
for Stock-Based Compensation," SFAS No. 123-R, "Share-Based Payment." SFAS No.
123-R focuses primarily on transactions in which an entity exchanges its equity
instruments for employee services and generally establishes standards for the
accounting for transactions in which an entity obtains goods or services in
share-based payment transactions. The Company will adopt SFAS No. 123-R in the
first quarter of 2006.

In December 2004, the FASB issued Staff Position No. FAS 109-1,
"Application of FASB Statement No. 109, Accounting for Income Taxes, to the Tax
Deduction on Qualified Production Activities Provided by the American Jobs

Creation Act of 2004," ("FAS 109-1"), and Staff Position No. FAS 109-2,
"Accounting and Disclosure Guidance for the Foreign Earnings Repatriation
Provision within the American Jobs Creation Act of 2004," ("FAS 109-2"). FAS

109-1 requires that companies who qualify for the recent tax law's deduction for
domestic production activities to account for it as a special deduction under
Statement No. 109 and reduce their tax expense in the period or periods the
amounts are deductible on the tax return. FAS 109-2 allows companies additional
time to evaluate whether foreign earnings will be repatriated under the
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repatriation provisions of the new tax law and requires specific disclosures for
companies needing additional time to complete the evaluation. Both staff
positions are effective immediately. During 2004, the Company determined that
approximately $16.6 million of existing foreign earnings should meet the
requirements of the American Jobs Creation Act of 2004 (the "AJCA"). The Company
intends to repatriate these earnings during calendar 2005, as soon as the
qualifying requirements are met. Since these earnings are no longer consider
indefinitely reinvested, the Company accrued $0.9 million of income tax expense
in 2004. In addition, the Company is evaluating the potential to repatriate
other foreign earnings pursuant to the AJCA. Whether the Company repatriates
these foreign earnings is dependent upon the Company's ability to meet the
requirements of the AJCA with respect to these earnings. Until that
determination is made, the Company will make no change in its current intention
to indefinitely reinvest accumulated earnings of its foreign subsidiaries except
with respect to the $16.6 million noted above. The range of additional amounts
that the Company is considering for repatriation under the AJCA is between zero
and $40 million. The potential range of income tax is between zero and $2.1
million.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Management has evaluated the accounting policies used in the preparation of
the Company's financial statements and related notes and believes those policies
to be reasonable and appropriate. Certain of these accounting policies require
the application of significant judgment by management in selecting the
appropriate assumptions for calculating financial estimates. By their nature,
these judgments are subject to an inherent degree of uncertainty. These
judgments are based on historical experience, trends in the industry,
information provided by customers and information available from other outside
sources, as appropriate. The most significant areas involving management
judgments and estimates are described below. Management believes that the
amounts recorded in the Company's financial statements related to these areas
are based on their best judgments and estimates, although actual results could
differ materially under different assumptions or conditions.

INVENTORIES

Inventories, which consist of materials, labor and manufacturing overhead,
are carried at the lower of cost or market value. As of December 31, 2004, $97.5
million (70%) of the Company's inventory is accounted for on a first-in,
first-out (FIFO) basis with the remaining $40.9 million (30%) accounted for on a
last—-in, first-out (LIFO) basis. Management regularly reviews inventory for
obsolescence to determine whether a write-down is necessary. Various factors are
considered in making this determination, including recent sales history and
predicted trends, industry market conditions and general economic conditions.

GOODWILL AND OTHER INTANGIBLES

The Company has adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards
("SFAS") No. 141 "Business Combinations." Among other things, this standard
requires that intangible assets acquired in a business combination be recognized
(at fair value) apart from goodwill if they meet one of two criteria - the
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contractual-legal criterion or the separability criterion. The Company has also
adopted SFAS No. 142 "Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets." Under the
provisions of this standard, intangible assets deemed to have indefinite lives
and goodwill are not subject to amortization. All other intangible assets are
amortized over their estimated useful lives. Goodwill and other intangible
assets not subject to amortization are tested for impairment annually, or more
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frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that the asset might
be impaired. This testing requires comparison of carrying values to fair values,
and when appropriate, the carrying value of impaired assets is reduced to fair
value. During the second quarter of 2004, the Company completed its annual
impairment test and determined that no impairment existed. While management
believes that its estimates of fair value are reasonable, different assumptions
regarding such factors as product volumes, selling price changes, labor and
material cost changes, productivity, interest rates and foreign exchange rates
could affect such valuations.

PENSION AND OTHER POSTRETIREMENT BENEFITS

Pension and other postretirement benefit obligations and expense (or
income) are dependent on assumptions used in calculating such amounts. These
assumptions include discount rate, rate of compensation increases, expected
rates of return on plan assets and expected healthcare trend rates. In
accordance with GAAP, actual results that differ from the assumptions are
accumulated and amortized over future periods. While management believes that
the assumptions are appropriate, differences in actual experience or changes in
assumptions may affect the Company's pension and other postretirement benefit
obligations and future expense (or income). In addition, due to the significant
declines in the financial markets in recent years, the fair value of the plan
assets of certain of the Company's funded defined benefit pension plans was less
than their accumulated benefit obligation at December 31, 2004. As a result, the
Company has recorded a cumulative reduction to stockholders' equity (accumulated
other comprehensive income) in the amount of $5.6 million (after tax) as of
December 31, 2004. This non-cash reduction in stockholders' equity did not
impact the Company's compliance with its existing debt covenants and could be
reversed in future periods if a combination of factors, including interest rate
increases, improved investment results and contributions, cause the pension
plans to return to or exceed fully funded status. However, depending upon the
performance of the equity and bond markets in 2005 and beyond, the Company could
also be required to record additional charges to stockholders' equity in the
future.

OUR INDUSTRY

Our Compressor and Vacuum Products segment competes in a worldwide market
for Compressor and Vacuum products and services which we estimate to be in
excess of $5 billion per year in sales. Our Pump Product segment competes in a
worldwide market for pump products which we estimate to be in excess of $22
billion per year in sales. Our reciprocating pumps compete for approximately $2
billion of that market. Products in all of our served markets are sold to a
diverse group of customers across a wide range of industries.

Almost all manufacturing plants and industrial facilities, as well as many
service industries, utilize air compressors and/or blowers. Our largest
customers for compressor products are durable and non-durable goods
manufacturers; process industries (petroleum, primary metals, pharmaceutical,
food and paper); manufacturers of carpet cleaning equipment, pneumatic conveying
equipment, and dry and liquid bulk transports; wastewater treatment facilities;
and automotive service centers and niche applications such as PET bottle
blowing, breathing air equipment and compressed natural gas. Typical
applications for our pumps include oil transfer, salt water disposal, ammine
pumping for gas processing, repressurizing, enhanced oil recovery, hydraulic
power and other liquid transfer applications.

Compressed air and pump products are best characterized as mature, with
evolutionary technological advances. Technological advances in compressed air

57



Edgar Filing: GARDNER DENVER INC - Form 424B2

products include development of oil-free air compressors, increased product
efficiency, reduction of noise levels and advanced control systems to upgrade
the flexibility and precision of regulating pressure and capacity. Emerging
compressed air market niches result from new technologies in plastics extrusion,
0il and natural gas well drilling, field gas gathering, mobile and stationary
vacuum applications, utility and fiber optic installation and environmental
impact minimization, as well as other factors. Technological advances in pump
products include development of larger horsepower and lighter weight pumps.

Given the wide variety of end-users who use compressed air and pump
products, strong distribution channels are critical. Products are sold through
independent distributors, sales representatives, company stores, and directly to
OEMs, engineering firms and end-users. Competitors within our industry use
various combinations of distribution channels to reach customers.

Competition in our markets is generally robust and is based on product
quality, performance, price and availability. The relative importance of each of
these factors varies depending on the specific type of product. Given the
potential for equipment failures to cause expensive operational disruption, our
customers generally view quality and reliability as critical factors in their
equipment purchasing decision. The required frequency of maintenance is highly
variable based on the type of equipment and application.

Although there are a few large manufacturers of compressed air products,
the marketplace for these products remains fragmented due to the wide variety of
product technologies, applications and selling channels. Our principal
competitors in sales of compressed air products include Ingersoll-Rand, Sullair
(owned by United Technologies Corporation), Atlas Copco, Quincy Compressor
(owned by En Pro Industries), CompAir and Roots. The marketplace for pumps,
although dominated by a few multinational manufacturers with a broad product
offering, is also fragmented, as the ten largest pump manufacturers account for
only approximately 40% of annual sales. Because we are currently focused on
pumps used in oil and natural gas production, well servicing and well drilling,
we do not typically compete directly with the major full-line manufacturers.
Competition in the market segment for oil and natural gas pumps is much more
concentrated than for pumps generally. Our principal competitors in sales of
petroleum pump products include National-Oilwell and SPM Flow Control, Inc. The
marketplaces for water jetting systems and loading arms tend to be
niche-oriented and somewhat concentrated with the largest three or four
competitors controlling the majority of the market. Our principal competitors in
sales of water jetting systems include NLB Corp., WOMA Apparatebau GmbH and
Hammelmann Maschinenfabrik GmbH. Our principal competitors in sales of loading
arms are OPW Engineered Systems (owned by Dover Corporation) and Kanon in
distribution applications; and FMC Technology and Schwelm Verladetechnik GmbH in
both marine and distribution technologies.
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OUR BUSINESS

Other than under " - The Thomas Industries Acquisition," the following
discussion of our business does not reflect our planned acquisition of Thomas
Industries.

Gardner Denver designs, manufactures and markets compressor and vacuum
products and fluid transfer products. We believe we are one of the leading
manufacturers of highly engineered stationary air compressors, blowers and
liquid ring pumps for industrial applications in the United States. Stationary
air compressors are used in manufacturing, process applications and materials
handling, and to power air tools and equipment. Blowers are used primarily in
pneumatic conveying, wastewater aeration and engineered vacuum systems. Liquid
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ring pumps are used primarily in process industry applications. We also believe
that we are one of the leading manufacturers of reciprocating pumps used in oil
and natural gas well drilling, servicing and production, water jetting systems
and loading arms.

For the year ended December 31, 2004, we had revenues of $739.5 million, of
which approximately 80% were derived from sales of compressor and vacuum
products while approximately 20% were from sales of fluid transfer products.
Approximately 44% of our total revenues for the year ended December 31, 2004
were derived from sales in the United States and approximately 56% were from
sales to customers in various countries outside the United States. Of the total
non-U.S. sales, 58% were to Europe, 23% to Asia, 9% to Canada, 8% to Latin
America and 2% to other regions.

Pro forma for the year ended December 31, 2004, assuming that the Syltone
and Nash Elmo acquisitions were completed on January 1, 2004, we had revenues of
$895.9 million, of which approximately 83% were derived from sales of compressor
and vacuum products while approximately 17% were from sales of fluid transfer
products. Approximately 41% of our total pro forma revenues for the year ended
December 31, 2004 were derived from sales in the United States and approximately
59% were from sales to customers in various countries outside the United States.
Of the total pro forma non-U.S. sales, 59% were to Europe, 22% to Asia, 7% to
Canada, 7% to Latin America and 5% to other regions.

COMPRESSOR AND VACUUM PRODUCTS SEGMENT

In the Compressor and Vacuum Products segment, we design, manufacture,
market and service the following products and related aftermarket parts for
industrial and commercial applications: rotary screw, reciprocating, sliding
vane and centrifugal air compressors; positive displacement, centrifugal and
side channel blowers; and liquid ring pumps and engineered systems. We also
design, manufacture, market and service complementary ancillary products (access
platforms, axles and gear boxes, power take-offs and valves) as a result of the
Syltone acquisition. Our sales of compressor and vacuum products for the year
ended December 31, 2004 were $589.4 million, of which approximately 42% were to
customers in the United States.

Compressors are used to increase the pressure of gas, including air, by
mechanically decreasing its volume. Our reciprocating compressors range from 0.5
to 1,500 horsepower and are sold under the Gardner Denver, Champion and Belliss
& Morcom trademarks, among others. Our rotary screw compressors range from 5 to
680 horsepower and are sold under the Gardner Denver trademark, among others.

Blowers and liquid ring pumps are used to produce a high volume of air at
low pressure and to produce vacuum. Our positive displacement blowers range from
0 to 36 pounds per square inch gauge, or "PSIG," pressure and 0-28 inches of
mercury, or "Hg," vacuum and 0 to 43,000 cubic feet per minute, or "CFM," and
are sold under the trademarks Sutorbilt, DuroFlow and Drum, among others. Our
multistage centrifugal blowers are sold under the Gardner Denver trademark,
among others, and range from 0.5 to 25 PSIG pressure and 0-18" Hg vacuum and 100
to 50,000 CFM. Our side channel blowers range from 0 to 15 PSIG pressure and 0
to 1,800 CFM and are sold under the trademark Elmo Technology. Our rotary
sliding vane compressors and vacuum pumps range from 0 to 150 PSIG and 0 to
3,000 CFM and are sold under the Gardner Denver trademark, among others. Our
engineered vacuum systems are used in industrial cleaning and maintenance and
are sold under the Gardner Denver trademark, among others. Our liquid ring pumps
and engineered systems range from 0 to 150 PSIG and 1,000 to 3,000 CFM and are
sold under the Nash trademark, among others.
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Almost all manufacturing plants and industrial facilities, as well as many
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service industries, utilize air compressors or blowers. The largest customers
for our compressor products are durable and non-durable goods manufacturers;
process industries (petroleum, primary metals, pharmaceutical, food and paper);
original equipment manufacturers; manufacturers of carpet cleaning equipment,
pneumatic conveying equipment, and dry and liquid bulk transports; wastewater
treatment facilities; and automotive service centers and niche applications such
as PET bottle blowing, breathing air equipment and compressed natural gas.
Manufacturers of machinery and related equipment use stationary compressors for
automated systems, controls, materials handling and special machinery
requirements. The petroleum, primary metals, pharmaceutical, food and paper
industries require compressed air and vacuums for process, instrumentation and
control, packaging and pneumatic conveying. Blowers are instrumental to local
utilities for aeration in treating industrial and municipal waste. Blowers are
also used in service industries, for example, residential carpet cleaning to
vacuum moisture from carpets during the shampooing and cleaning process. Blowers
and rotary vane compressors are used on trucks to vacuum leaves and debris from
street sewers and to unload liquid and dry bulk and powder materials such as
cement, grain and plastic pellets. Additionally, blowers are used in packaging
technologies, medical applications, printing and paper processing and numerous
chemical process applications. Liquid ring pumps are used in many different
vacuum applications and engineered systems, such as water removal, distilling,
reacting, efficiency improvement, lifting and handling, and filtering,
principally in the pulp and paper, industrial manufacturing, chemical and power
industries.

As a result of the Syltone acquisition, we have 14 vehicle fitting
facilities in 11 countries worldwide. These fitting facilities offer customized
vehicle installations of systems, which include compressors, generators,
hydraulics, pumps and oil and fuel systems. Typical uses for such systems
include road demolition equipment, tire removal, electrical tools and lighting,
hydraulic hand tools and high-pressure water Jjetting pumps. The fitting facility
in the U.K. also manufactures access platforms which are hydraulically powered
and are typically used for overhead service applications. The diverse range of
customers for these products include local government authorities, utility
companies (electricity, water, gas, telecommunications) and tire and road
service providers.

The Compressor and Vacuum Products segment operates production facilities
around the world, including nine plants (including two remanufacturing
facilities) in the U.S., five in the U.K., three in Germany, two in China, and
one each in Finland, Brazil and Canada. The most significant facilities include
owned properties in Sedalia, Missouri; Gloucester, U.K.; Princeton, Illinois;
and Bad Neustadt and Schopfheim, Germany and leased properties in Peachtree
City, Georgia; Tampere, Finland; and Nuremburg, Germany.

FLUID TRANSFER PRODUCTS SEGMENT

We design, manufacture, market and service a diverse group of pumps, water
jetting systems and related aftermarket parts used in oil and natural gas well
drilling, servicing and production and in industrial cleaning and maintenance.
This segment also designs, manufactures, markets and services other fluid
transfer components and equipment for the chemical, petroleum and food
industries. Sales of our fluid transfer products for the year ended December 31,
2004 were $150.2 million, of which approximately 52% were to customers in the
United States.

Positive displacement reciprocating pumps are marketed under the Gardner
Denver trademark, among others. Typical applications of Gardner Denver pumps in
0il and natural gas production include oil transfer, water flooding, salt water
disposal, pipeline testing, ammine pumping for gas processing, re-pressurizing,
enhanced oil recovery, hydraulic power and other liquid transfer applications.
Our production pumps range from 16 to 600 horsepower and consist of horizontal
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and vertical designed pumps. We market one of the most complete product lines of
well servicing pumps. Well servicing operations include general workover
service, completions (bringing wells into production after drilling), and
plugging and abandonment of wells. Our well servicing products consist of
high-pressure plunger pumps ranging from 165 to 400 horsepower. We also
manufacture intermittent duty triplex and quintuplex plunger pumps ranging from
250 to 3,000 horsepower for well cementing and stimulation, including reservoir
fracturing or acidizing. Duplex pumps, ranging from 16 to 135 horsepower, are
produced for shallow drilling, which includes water well drilling, seismic
drilling and mineral exploration. Continuous duty triplex mud pumps for oil and
natural gas drilling rigs

range from 275 to 2,000 horsepower. A small portion of Gardner Denver pumps are
sold for use in industrial applications.

Our water jetting pumps and systems are used in industrial cleaning and
maintenance and are sold under the Partek trademark, among others. Applications
in this market segment include runway and ship hull cleaning, concrete
demolition and metal surface preparation.

Our other fluid transfer components and equipment include loading arms,
swivel joints, couplers and valves used to load and unload ships, tank trucks
and rail cars. These products are sold primarily under the Emco Wheaton
trademark, among others.

The Fluid Transfer Products segment operates seven production facilities
(including one remanufacturing facility) in the U.S and one each in Germany and
Canada. The most significant facilities include owned properties in Quincy,
Illinois; Tulsa, Oklahoma and Kirchhain, Germany and two leased properties in
Houston, Texas and one in Oakville, Ontario.

CUSTOMERS AND CUSTOMER SERVICE

We sell our products through independent distributors and sales
representatives and directly to OEMs, engineering firms and end-users. We have
been able to establish strong customer relationships with numerous key OEMs and
exclusive supply arrangements with many of our distributors. We use a direct
sales force to service OEM and engineering firm accounts because these customers
typically require higher levels of technical assistance, more coordinated
shipment scheduling and more complex product service than customers of our less
specialized products. As a majority of our products are marketed through
independent distribution, we are committed to developing and supporting our
distribution network of over 1,000 distributors and representatives. We have
distribution centers in Memphis, Tennessee and St. Peters, Missouri that stock
parts, accessories and small compressor and vacuum products in order to provide
adequate and timely availability. We also lease sales office and warehouse space
in various U.S. locations and foreign countries. We provide our distributors
with sales and product literature, technical assistance and training programs,
advertising and sales promotions, order-entry and tracking systems and an annual
restocking program. Furthermore, we participate in major trade shows and have a
telemarketing department to generate sales leads and support the distributors'
sales staffs.

Our distributors maintain an inventory of complete units and parts and
provide aftermarket service to end-users. There are several hundred field
service representatives for our products in the distributor network. Our service
personnel and product engineers provide the distributors' service
representatives with technical assistance and field training, particularly with
respect to installation and repair of equipment. We also provide aftermarket
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support through our remanufacturing facilities in Indianapolis, Indiana; Fort
Worth, Texas; and Mayfield, Kentucky and our 14 vehicle fitting facilities. The
Indianapolis operation remanufactures and repairs air ends for rotary screw
compressors, blowers and reciprocating compressors. The Fort Worth facility
repairs and remanufactures well servicing pumps, while the Mayfield operation
provides aftermarket parts and repairs for centrifugal compressors. The vehicle
fitting facilities provide preventative maintenance programs, repairs,
refurbishment, upgrades and spare parts for access platforms and vehicle
systems.

RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT

Compressor and vacuum and fluid transfer products are best characterized as
mature, with evolutionary technological advances. Technological trends in
compressor and vacuum products include development of oil-free air compressors,
increased product efficiency, reduction of noise levels and advanced control
systems to upgrade the flexibility and precision of regulating pressure and
capacity. Emerging compressor and vacuum market niches result from new
technologies in plastics extrusion, oil and natural gas well drilling, field gas
gathering, mobile and stationary vacuum applications, utility and fiber optic
installation and environmental impact minimization, as well as other factors.
Trends in fluid transfer products include development of larger horsepower and
lighter weight pumps and loading arms to convey natural gas.

S-51

We actively engage in a continuing research and development program. Our
research and development centers are dedicated to various activities, including
new product development, product performance improvement and new product
applications.

Our products are designed to satisfy the safety and performance standards
set by various industry groups and testing laboratories. Care is exercised
throughout the manufacturing and final testing process to ensure that products
conform to industry, government and customer specifications.

Expenditures for research and development were $6.2 million in 2004, $2.8
million in 2003 and $2.4 million in 2002.

MANUFACTURING

In general, our manufacturing processes involve machining castings and
forgings which are assembled into finished components. These components are sold
as finished products or packaged with purchased components into complete
systems. We operate 32 manufacturing facilities that utilize a broad variety of
processes. At our manufacturing locations, we maintain advanced manufacturing,
quality assurance and testing equipment geared to the specific products that we
manufacture, and use extensive process automation in our manufacturing
operations. Most of our manufacturing facilities utilize computer-aided
numerical control tools and manufacturing techniques that concentrate the
equipment necessary to produce similar products in one area of the plant, which
we refer to as cell manufacturing. One operator using cell manufacturing can
monitor and operate several machines, as well as assemble and test products made
by such machines, thereby improving operating efficiency and product quality
while reducing the amount of work-in-process and finished product inventories.

We have representatives on the American Petroleum Institute's working
committee and we have relationships with standard enforcement organizations such
as Underwriters Laboratories, Det Norske Veritas and the Canadian Standard
Association. We maintain ISO 9001-2000 certification on the quality systems at a
majority of our manufacturing and design locations.
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RAW MATERIALS

The primary raw materials we use are cast iron and steel. Such materials
are generally available from a number of suppliers. We do not currently have
long-term contracts with our suppliers of raw materials, but we believe that our
sources of raw materials are reliable and adequate for our needs. We utilize
single sources of supply for certain iron castings and other selected
components. A disruption in deliveries from a given supplier could therefore
have an adverse effect on our ability to meet our commitments to customers.
Nevertheless, we believe that we have appropriately balanced this risk against
the cost of sustaining a greater number of suppliers. Moreover, we have sought,
and will continue to seek, cost reductions in our purchases of materials and
supplies by consolidating purchases, pursuing alternate sources of supply and
using online bidding competitions among potential suppliers.

BACKLOG

Our backlog was approximately $222.2 million at December 31, 2004 as
compared to approximately $58.4 million at December 31, 2003. Backlog consists
of orders believed to be firm for which a customer purchase order has been
received or communicated. Since orders may be rescheduled or canceled, backlog
does not necessarily reflect future sales levels. For further discussion of
backlog levels, see the information included under "Outlook" contained in
"Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations."

PATENTS, TRADEMARKS AND OTHER INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY

We believe that the success of our business depends more on the technical
competence, creativity and marketing abilities of our employees than on any
individual patent, trademark or copyright. Nevertheless, as part of our ongoing
research, development and manufacturing activities, we have a policy of seeking
to protect our proprietary products, product enhancements and processes with
appropriate intellectual property protections.
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In the aggregate, patents and trademarks are of considerable importance to
the manufacturing and marketing of many of our products. However, we do not
consider any single patent or trademark, or group of patents or trademarks, to
be material to our business as a whole, except for the Gardner Denver trademark.
Other important trademarks we use include Champion, Belliss & Morcom, Elmo
Technology, Sutorbilt, DuroFlow, Drum, Nash, Partek and Emco Wheaton. We have
registered our trademarks in the countries where it is deemed necessary.

We also rely upon trade secret protection for our confidential and
proprietary information. We routinely enter into confidentiality agreements with
our employees. There can be no assurance, however, that others will not
independently obtain similar information and techniques or otherwise gain access
to our trade secrets or that we can effectively protect our trade secrets.

EMPLOYEES

As of January 2005, we had approximately 3,800 full-time employees. More
than half of our employees, including most employees outside of the United
States, are represented by labor unions. We believe that our current relations
with employees are satisfactory.

ENVIRONMENTAL MATTERS
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We are subject to numerous federal, state, local and foreign laws and
regulations relating to the storage, handling, emission, disposal and discharge
of materials into the environment. We believe that our existing environmental
control procedures are adequate and we have no current plans for substantial
capital expenditures in this area. We have an environmental policy that confirms
our commitment to a clean environment and to compliance with environmental laws.
We have an active environmental management program aimed at compliance with
existing environmental regulations and developing methods to eliminate or
significantly reduce the generation of pollutants in the manufacturing
processes.

We have been identified as a potentially responsible party, or "PRP," with
respect to several sites designated for cleanup under federal "Superfund" or
similar state laws, which impose liability for cleanup of certain waste sites
and for related natural resource damages. Persons potentially liable for such
costs and damages generally include the site owner or operator and persons that
disposed or arranged for the disposal of hazardous substances found at those
sites. Although these laws impose joint and several liability, in application,
the PRPs typically allocate the investigation and cleanup costs based upon the
volume of waste contributed by each PRP. Based on currently available
information, Gardner Denver was only a small contributor to a substantial
majority of these waste sites, and we have, or are attempting to negotiate, de
minimis settlements for their cleanup. The cleanup of the remaining sites is
substantially complete and our future obligations entail a share of the sites'
ongoing operating and maintenance expense.

We have an accrued liability on our balance sheet to the extent costs are
known or can be estimated for our remaining financial obligations for these
matters. Based upon consideration of currently available information, we do not
anticipate any materially adverse effect on our results of operations, financial
condition, liquidity or competitive position as a result of compliance with
federal, state, local or foreign environmental laws or regulations, or cleanup
costs relating to the sites discussed above.

THE THOMAS INDUSTRIES ACQUISITION

On March 9, 2005, we announced that we had signed a definitive agreement to
acquire Thomas Industries Inc. Thomas Industries is a worldwide leader in the
design, manufacture and marketing of precision engineered pumps, compressors and
blowers. The agreed-upon purchase price is $40.00 per share for all outstanding
shares and share equivalents (approximately $734.2 million) and the assumption
of $9.5 million of long-term capitalized lease obligations. As of December 31,
2004, Thomas Industries had $267.1 million in cash, cash equivalents and
short-term investments. The net transaction value, including assumed debt and
net of cash, is approximately $476.6 million.

Thomas Industries is a leading supplier of pumps, compressors and blowers
to the OEM market in such applications as medical equipment, gasoline vapor and
refrigerant recovery, automotive and transportation applications, printing,
packaging, tape drives and laboratory equipment. Thomas Industries designs,
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manufacturers, markets, sells and services these products through worldwide
operations with regional headquarters as follows: North American

Group - Sheboygan, Wisconsin; European Group - Puchheim, Germany; and Asia
Pacific Group - Hong Kong, China.

Thomas Industries has wholly-owned operations in 21 countries on five
continents. Its primary manufacturing facilities are located in Sheboygan,
Wisconsin; Monroe, Louisiana; Skokie, Illinois; Syracuse, New York; Schopfheim,
Fahrnau, Puchheim and Memmingen, Germany; and Wuxi, China. The manufacturing
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operations in the United States produce rotary vane, linear, piston and
diaphragm pumps and compressors, and various liquid pumps. These products are
directly sold worldwide to OEMs, as well as through fluid power and industrial
distributors. The German operations manufacture a complementary line of rotary
vane, linear, diaphragm, gear, side channel, radial, claw, screw and rotary lobe
pumps, compressors and blowers, as well as various liquid pumps, air-centers and
centralized systems. These products are also distributed worldwide. The
manufacturing facility in China was constructed during late 2004 and will begin
production in mid 2005.

Thomas Industries' largest markets are Europe and the United States, which
represent approximately 52% and 38% of its revenues, respectively. Of the total
European sales, approximately 61% are within Germany and 39% are within other
European countries. Approximately 10% of Thomas Industries' revenues are
generated in Asia Pacific. At December 31, 2004, Thomas Industries employed
approximately 2,200 people.

For the year ended December 31, 2004, Thomas Industries' revenues and
operating income were $410.1 million and $208.8 million, respectively. Operating
income for this period included $18.6 million from Thomas Industries' 32%
interest in GTG and a $160.4 million nonrecurring gain on the sale of this joint
venture in July 2004. Operating income included $5.2 million of non-recurring
charges related to plant shutdown, legal and environmental costs.

The acquisition of Thomas Industries is expected to close in 2005 and is
subject to the approval of Thomas Industries' stockholders and other customary
closing conditions, including the receipt of applicable regulatory approvals.

See "Risk Factors - Risks Related to the Thomas Industries Acquisition."
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MANAGEMENT
EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND DIRECTORS

Set forth below is information regarding our executive officers and
directors as of April 13, 2005.

NAME AGE OFFICE

Ross J. Centanni.......... 59 Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer

Michael S. Carney......... 47 Vice President and General Manager, Blower Division

Helen W. Cornell.......... 46 Vice President, Finance and Chief Financial Officer

Tracy D. Pagliara......... 42 Vice President, Administration, General Counsel and

Secretary

J. Dennis Shull........... 56 Vice President and General Manager, Compressor
Division

Richard C. Steber......... 54 Vice President and General Manager, Liquid Ring
Pump Division

Donald G. Barger, Jr...... 62 Director

Frank J. Hansen........... 63 Director

Raymond R. Hipp........... 62 Director

Thomas M. McKenna......... 67 Director

David Petratis............ 47 Director

Diane K. Schumacher....... 51 Director

Richard L. Thompson....... 65 Director
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ROSS J. CENTANNI, age 59, has been President and Chief Executive Officer
and a director of Gardner Denver since its incorporation in November 1993. He
has been Chairman of Gardner Denver's Board of Directors since November 1998.
Prior to Gardner Denver's spin-off from Cooper Industries, Inc., or "Cooper," in
April 1994, he was Vice President and General Manager of Gardner Denver's
predecessor, the Gardner-Denver Industrial Machinery Division, where he also
served as Director of Marketing from August 1985 to June 1990. He has a B.S.
degree in industrial technology and an M.B.A. degree from Louisiana State
University. Mr. Centanni is a director of Esterline Technologies, a publicly
held manufacturer of components for avionics, propulsion and guidance systems,
and Denman Services, Inc., a privately held supplier of medical products. He is
also a member of the Petroleum Equipment Suppliers Association Board of
Directors and a member of the Executive Committee of the International
Compressed Air and Allied Machinery Committee.

MICHAEL S. CARNEY, age 47, joined the Company as Vice President and General
Manager, Gardner Denver Blower Division in November 2001. Prior to joining
Gardner Denver, Mr. Carney worked for Woods Equipment Company from 1995 to May
2001. The last position he held with Woods was Vice President, Construction
Business. From 1979 to 1995, Mr. Carney worked for General Electric Company in
various management positions. Mr. Carney has a B.S.M.E. degree from the
University of Notre Dame, an M.S.E.E. degree from the University of Cincinnati,
and an M.S.I.A. degree from Purdue University.

HELEN W. CORNELL, age 46, was appointed Vice President, Finance and Chief
Financial Officer in August 2004. She served as Vice President and General
Manager, Fluid Transfer Division and Operations Support of Gardner Denver from
March 2004 until her promotion. She served as Vice President, Strategic Planning
and Operations Support from August 2001 until March 2004 and as Vice President,
Compressor Operations for the Compressor and Pump Division from April 2000 until
August 2001. From November 1993 until accepting her operations role, Ms. Cornell
held positions of increasing responsibility as the Corporate Secretary and
Treasurer of the Company, serving in the role of Vice President, Corporate
Secretary and Treasurer from April 1996 until April 2000. She holds a B.S.
degree in accounting from the University of Kentucky and an M.B.A. from
Vanderbilt University. She is a Certified Public Accountant and a Certified
Management Accountant.

TRACY D. PAGLIARA, age 42, was appointed Vice President, Administration,
General Counsel and Secretary of Gardner Denver in March 2004. He previously
served as Vice President, General Counsel and
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Secretary from August 2000 until his promotion. Prior to Jjoining Gardner Denver,
Mr. Pagliara held positions of increasing responsibility in the legal
departments of Verizon Communications/GTE Corporation from August 1996 to August
2000 and Kellwood Company from May 1993 to August 1996, ultimately serving in
the role of Assistant General Counsel for each company. Mr. Pagliara, a
Certified Public Accountant, has a B.S. degree in accounting and a J.D. degree
from the University of Illinois.

J. DENNIS SHULL, age 56, has been the Vice President and General Manager,
Gardner Denver Compressor Division since January 2002. He previously served the
Company as Vice President and General Manager, Gardner Denver Compressor and
Pump Division since its organization in August 1997. Prior to August 1997, he
served as Vice President, Sales and Marketing since the Company's incorporation
in November 1993. From August 1990 until November 1993, Mr. Shull was the
Director of Marketing for the Gardner Denver Industrial Machinery Division. Mr.
Shull has a B.S. degree in business from Northeast Missouri State University and
an M.A. in business from Webster University.
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RICHARD C. STEBER, age 54, has been the Vice President and General Manager,
Gardner Denver Liquid Ring Pump Division since January 2005. He previously
served the Company as Vice President and General Manager of the Gardner Denver
Fluid Transfer Division (formerly the Gardner Denver Pump Division) from January
2002 until his promotion. Prior to joining Gardner Denver, he was employed by
Goulds Pumps, a division of ITT Industries, for twenty-five years, most recently
as the President and General Manager for Europe, Middle East, and Africa. He
previously held positions of Vice President for both the sales and marketing
organizations at Goulds Pumps, with domestic and international responsibility.
Mr. Steber has a B.S. degree in engineering from the State University of New
York College of Environmental Science and Forestry at Syracuse University.

DONALD G. BARGER, JR., age 62, has been a director of Gardner Denver since
its spin-off from Cooper in April 1994. Mr. Barger 1is the Senior Vice President
and Chief Financial Officer of Yellow Roadway Corporation, a publicly held
company specializing in the transportation of goods and materials. He joined the
predecessor company, Yellow Corporation, or "Yellow," in December 2000 in the
same capacity. Prior to joining Yellow, he served as Vice President and Chief
Financial Officer of Hillenbrand Industries Inc., or "Hillenbrand," a publicly
held company serving healthcare and funeral services, from March 1998 until
December 2000. Mr. Barger was also Vice President, Chief Financial Officer of
Worthington Industries, Inc., a publicly held manufacturer of metal and plastic
products and processed steel products, from September 1993 until joining
Hillenbrand. Mr. Barger has a B.S. degree from the United States Naval Academy
and an M.B.A. from the University of Pennsylvania, Wharton School of Business.
Mr. Barger is a director of the Quanex Corporation.

FRANK J. HANSEN, age 63, has been a director of Gardner Denver since June
1997. Mr. Hansen was the President and Chief Executive Officer of IDEX
Corporation, a publicly held manufacturer of proprietary fluid handling and
industrial products, from April 1999 until his retirement in April 2000. He was
President and Chief Operating Officer from January 1998 to April 1999 and Senior
Vice President and Chief Operating Officer from July 1994 until January 1998.
Mr. Hansen has a B.S. degree in business administration from Portland State
University.

RAYMOND R. HIPP, age 62, has been a director of Gardner Denver since
November 1998. Since July 2002, Mr. Hipp has served as a strategic alternative
and merger and acquisition consultant. Mr. Hipp served as Chairman, President
and CEO and a Director of Alternative Resources Corporation, a provider of
information technology staffing and component outsourcing, a position he held
from July 1998 until his retirement in June 2002. From August 1996 until May
1998, Mr. Hipp was the Chief Executive Officer of ITI Marketing Services, a
provider of telemarketing services. Mr. Hipp has a B.S. degree from Southeast
Missouri State University.

THOMAS M. MCKENNA, age 67, has been a director of Gardner Denver since its
spin-off from Cooper in April 1994. Mr. McKenna served as the President of
United Sugars Corporation, a marketing cooperative which is one of the nation's
largest sugar marketers to both the industrial and retail markets, from December
1998 until his retirement in December 2002. He was President and Chief Executive
Officer of Moorman Manufacturing Company, a privately held manufacturer of
agricultural supplies, from August 1993 until
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January 1998. Mr. McKenna has a B.A. degree from St. Mary's College and an
M.B.A. from Loyola University.

DAVID D. PETRATIS, age 47, has been a director of Gardner Denver since July
2004. Mr. Petratis has been the President and Chief Executive Officer of the
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North American Operating Division of Schneider Electric, located in Palatine,
Illinois, since January 2004. Schneider Electric is headquartered in Paris,
France and provides a market-leading brand of electrical distribution and
industrial control products, systems and services. Mr. Petratis previously
served as the President and Chief Operating Officer of the North American
Division of Schneider Electric from December 2002 until his promotion. He was
President of MGE Americas, a privately held manufacturer of power supplies, from
1996 through 2002. Mr. Petratis earned a B.A. degree in Industrial Management
from the University of Northern Iowa and an M.B.A. from Pepperdine University.
He has held positions on the Board of Directors of the University of California,
Irvine Graduate School of Management, the California State (Fullerton) Quality
Advisory Board and Project Independence, a community agency in Costa Mesa,
California for the developmentally disabled. Mr. Petratis also serves on the
Board of Governors of National Electrical Manufacturers Association (NEMA).

DIANE K. SCHUMACHER, age 51, has been a director of Gardner Denver since
August 2000. Ms. Schumacher has served as Senior Vice President, General Counsel
and Secretary of Cooper from 1995 to 2003 and presently serves as Senior Vice
President, General Counsel and Chief Compliance Officer. Ms. Schumacher holds a
B.A. degree in economics from Southern Illinois University and a J.D. degree
from DePaul University College of Law. She also completed the Harvard Advanced
Management Program and serves as a director of the American Arbitration
Association and is a member of the Executive Committee.

RICHARD L. THOMPSON, age 65, has been a director of Gardner Denver since
November 1998. Mr. Thompson served as a Group President and Executive Office
Member of Caterpillar Inc., or "Caterpillar," a publicly held manufacturer of
construction machinery and equipment, from 1995 until his retirement in June
2004. He earned a B.S. in electrical engineering and an M.B.A. from Stanford
University and completed the Caterpillar Advanced Management Program. Mr.
Thompson serves as Vice Chairman of the Board of Directors of Lennox

International, Inc., a publicly held manufacturer of HVAC and refrigeration
equipment, and as a director of NiSource Inc., a publicly held electric and gas
utility.

DESCRIPTION OF CAPITAL STOCK

Information about our capital stock appears under "Description of Our
Capital Stock" in the accompanying prospectus.
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UNDERWRITING

Subject to the terms and conditions of an Underwriting Agreement, dated
April , 2005, the underwriters named below, acting through their
representatives, Bear, Stearns & Co. Inc., J.P. Morgan Securities Inc. and
KeyBanc Capital Markets, a division of McDonald Investments, Inc. have severally
agreed with us, subject to the terms and conditions of the Underwriting
Agreement, to purchase from us the number of shares of common stock set forth
below opposite their respective names.

UNDERWRITERS NUMBER OF SHARES

Bear, Stearns & CoO. TINC. ..ttt ittt it eeeeeeeeeseteeassonsenns

J. P. Morgan SecuUrities InC.......euiiiiettenneeeeeeeennenns

KeyBanc Capital Markets, a division of McDonald Investments,
Inc.
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The Underwriting Agreement provides that the obligations of the several
underwriters to purchase and accept delivery of the shares of our common stock
offered by this prospectus supplement are subject to approval by their counsel
of legal matters and to other conditions set forth in the Underwriting
Agreement. The underwriters are obligated to purchase and accept delivery of all
the shares of common stock offered hereby, other than those shares covered by
the over-allotment option described below, if any are purchased.

The representatives of the underwriters have advised us that the
underwriters propose to initially offer shares of our common stock to the public
at the public offering price set forth on the cover page of this prospectus
supplement and to certain dealers at that price less a concession not in excess
of $ per share, of which $ may be reallowed to other dealers. After
this offering, the public offering price, concession and other terms of the
offering may be changed by the representatives. No such change shall change the
amount of proceeds to be received by us as set forth on the cover page of this
prospectus supplement. The shares of our common stock are offered by the
underwriters as stated herein, subject to receipt and acceptance by them and
subject to their right to reject any order in whole or in part.

We have granted to the underwriters an option, exercisable within 30 days
after the date of the prospectus supplement, to purchase from time to time up to
an aggregate of 750,000 shares of common stock to cover over—-allotments, if any,
at the public offering price less underwriting discounts and commissions. If the
underwriters exercise their over-allotment option to purchase any of the 750,000
additional shares, each underwriter, subject to certain conditions, will become
obligated to purchase its pro-rata portion of these additional shares based on
the underwriter's percentage underwriting commitment in the offering as
indicated in the preceding table. If purchased, these additional shares will be
sold by the underwriters on the same terms as those on which the shares offered
hereby are being sold. We will be obligated, pursuant to the over-allotment
option, to sell shares to the underwriters to the extent the over-allotment
option is exercised. The underwriters may exercise the over-allotment option
only to cover over—-allotments made in connection with the sale of the shares of
common stock offered in this offering.

The following table shows the public offering price, underwriting discounts
and commissions and proceeds, before expenses, to us. Such amounts are shown
assuming both no exercise and full exercise of the underwriters' over-allotment
option to purchase additional shares.

WITHOUT
OVER-
PER SHARE ALLOTMENT WITH OVER-ALLOTME

Public offering price....c.uu ittt teeeennnnneens S S $
Underwriting discount......... .ottt iineenneeennnn
Proceeds TO Gardner DenvVeT . ... ..o eeeennneeeeeeeenns

We estimate expenses payable by us in connection with this offering, other
than the underwriting discounts and commissions referred to above, will be
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approximately $500,000.

We have agreed to indemnify the underwriters against certain liabilities,
including liabilities under the Securities Act, or to contribute to payments
that the underwriters may be required to make in respect of those liabilities.

Each of our executive officers and directors will agree, subject to
specified exceptions, not to:

- offer to sell, contract to sell, or otherwise sell, dispose of, loan,
pledge or grant any rights with respect to any shares or any options
or warrants to purchase any shares, or any securities convertible
into or exchangeable for shares owned as of the date of this
prospectus supplement or thereafter acquired directly by those
holders or with respect to which they have the power of disposition,
or

- enter into any swap or other arrangement that transfers all or a
portion of the economic consequences associated with the ownership of
any shares (regardless of whether any of these transactions are to be
settled by the delivery of shares, or such other securities, in cash
or otherwise)

for a period of 90 days after the date of this prospectus supplement without the
prior written consent of Bear, Stearns & Co. Inc. This restriction terminates
after the close of trading of the common stock on the 90th day after the date of
this prospectus supplement. However, Bear, Stearns & Co. Inc. may, in its sole
discretion and at any time or from time to time before the termination of the
90-day period, without notice, release all or any portion of the securities
subject to lock-up agreements. There are no existing agreements between the
representative and any of our stockholders who will execute a lock-up agreement,
providing consent to the sale of shares prior to the expiration of the lock-up
period.

In addition, we have agreed that, subject to certain exceptions, during the
lock-up period we will not, without the prior written consent of Bear, Stearns &
Co. Inc., consent to the disposition of any shares held by stockholders subject
to lock-up agreements prior to the expiration of the lock-up period, or issue,
sell, contract to sell, or otherwise dispose of, any shares, any options or
warrants to purchase any shares or any securities convertible into, exercisable
for or exchangeable for common stock other than our sale of shares in this
offering, the issuance of our shares upon the exercise of outstanding options or
warrants, and the issuance of options or shares under existing incentive and
benefit plans.

Other than in the United States, no action has been taken by us or the
underwriters that would permit a public offering of the shares of common stock
offered by this prospectus supplement in any jurisdiction when action for that
purpose is required. The shares of common stock offered by this prospectus
supplement may not be offered or sold, directly or indirectly, nor may this
prospectus supplement or any other offering material or advertisements in
connection with the offer and sale of any such shares be distributed or
published in any jurisdiction, except under circumstances that will result in
compliance with the applicable rules and regulations of that jurisdiction.
Persons into whose possession this prospectus supplement comes are advised to
inform themselves about and to observe any restrictions relating to the offering
and the distribution of this prospectus supplement. This prospectus supplement
does not constitute an offer to sell or a solicitation of an offer to buy any
shares of common stock offered by this prospectus supplement in any Jjurisdiction
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in which such an offer or a solicitation is unlawful.

OUR SHARES ARE TRADED ON THE NEW YORK STOCK EXCHANGE UNDER THE SYMBOL
"GDI."

A prospectus supplement in electronic format may be made available on the
Internet sites or through other online services maintained by one or more of the
underwriters of this offering, or by their affiliates. In those cases,
prospective investors may view offering terms online and, depending upon the
particular underwriter, prospective investors may be allowed to place orders
online. The underwriters may agree with us to allocate a specific number of
shares for sale to online brokerage account holders. Any such allocation for
online distributions will be made by the underwriters on the same basis as other
allocations. Other than the prospectus supplement in electronic format, the
information on any underwriter's web site and any information contained in any
other web site maintained by an underwriter is not part of the prospectus
supplement or the registration statement of which this prospectus supplement
forms a part, has not been approved and/or endorsed by us or any underwriter in
its capacity as underwriter and should not be relied upon by investors.
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The representatives of the underwriters have advised us that, pursuant to
Regulation M under the Securities Exchange Act, some participants in the
offering may engage in transactions, including stabilizing bids, syndicate
covering transactions or the imposition of penalty bids, that may have the
effect of stabilizing or maintaining the market price of the shares of common
stock at a level above that which might otherwise prevail in the open market. A
"stabilizing bid" is a bid for or the purchase of shares of common stock on
behalf of the underwriters for the purpose of fixing or maintaining the price of
the shares of common stock. A "syndicate covering transaction" is the bid for or
purchase of shares of common stock on behalf of the underwriters to reduce a
short position incurred by the underwriters in connection with the offering. A
"penalty bid" is an arrangement permitting the representatives to reclaim the
selling concession otherwise accruing to an underwriter or syndicate member in
connection with this offering if the shares of common stock originally sold by
such underwriter or syndicate member are purchased by the representatives in a
syndicate covering transaction and have therefore not been effectively placed by
such underwriter or syndicate member. The representatives of the underwriters
have advised us that such transactions may be effected on the New York Stock
Exchange or otherwise and, if commenced, may be discontinued at any time.

The underwriters may, from time to time, engage in transactions with, and
perform services for, us in the ordinary course of their business. Pending
consummation of the Thomas Industries acquisition, we intend to use a portion of
the proceeds of this offering to repay outstanding amounts under our existing
senior credit facility. Affiliates of Bear, Stearns & Co. Inc., J.P. Morgan
Securities Inc. and KeyBanc Capital Markets are lenders under our existing
senior credit facility and, as a result, would receive a portion of the proceeds
of this offering pending consummation of the acquisition. In addition, JPMorgan
Chase Bank, N.A., an affiliate of J.P. Morgan Securities Inc., 1is the agent
under, and J.P. Morgan Securities Inc. is the lead arranger under, our existing
senior credit facility. Bear, Stearns & Co. Inc. and J.P. Morgan Securities Inc.
are expected to be the lead arrangers under our amended and restated credit

facility. In addition, Bear Stearns Corporate Lending Inc., an affiliate of
Bear, Stearns & Co. Inc., and JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., an affiliate of J.P.
Morgan Securities Inc., are expected to be lenders under and the syndication

agent and administration agent, respectively, under our amended and restated
credit facility. KeyBank National Association, an affiliate of KeyBanc Capital
Markets, 1is expected to be a lender under our amended and restated credit
facility.
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LEGAL MATTERS

Certain legal matters in connection with the shares of common stock will be
passed upon for us by Bryan Cave LLP, St. Louis, Missouri. Certain legal matters
will be passed upon for the underwriters by Cahill Gordon & Reindel LLP, New
York, New York.

EXPERTS

The consolidated financial statements of Gardner Denver, Inc. and
subsidiaries as of December 31, 2004 and 2003, and for each of the years in the
three-year period ended December 31, 2004, and management's assessment of the
effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting as of December 31,
2004, have been included in this prospectus supplement in reliance upon the
reports of KPMG LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm, and upon
the authority of said firm as experts in accounting and auditing.

The audit report on management's assessment of the effectiveness of
internal control over financial reporting and the effectiveness of internal
control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2004, contains an
explanatory paragraph that states that Gardner Denver, Inc. acquired Nash Elmo
on September 1, 2004, and management excluded from its assessment of the
effectiveness of the Gardner Denver, Inc.'s internal control over financial
reporting as of December 31, 2004, Nash Elmo's internal control over financial
reporting. Total assets related to Nash Elmo as of December 31, 2004 of $331
million and revenues for the four-month period subsequent to the acquisition
(September 1 - December 31, 2004) of $84 million were included in the
consolidated financial statements of Gardner Denver, Inc. and subsidiaries as of
and for the year ended December 31, 2004. The audit of internal control over
financial reporting of Gardner Denver, Inc. also excluded an evaluation of the
internal control over financial reporting of Nash Elmo.

The consolidated financial statements of Thomas Industries Inc. at December
31, 2004 and 2003, and for each of the years in the three-year period ended
December 31, 2004, in this prospectus supplement and registration statement have
been audited by Ernst & Young LLP, independent registered public accounting
firm, as set forth in their report thereon appearing elsewhere herein, and are
included in reliance upon such report given on the authority of such firm as
experts in accounting and auditing.

INDEX TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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REPORT ON MANAGEMENT'S ASSESSMENT OF INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING

Gardner Denver management 1is responsible for establishing and maintaining
adequate internal control over financial reporting, as such term is defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f). Any system of internal control, no matter how well
designed, has inherent limitations, including the possibility that a control can
be circumvented or overridden and misstatements due to error or fraud may occur
and not be detected. Also, because of changes in conditions, internal control
effectiveness may vary over time. Accordingly, even an effective system of
internal control over financial reporting will provide only reasonable assurance
with respect to financial statement preparation.

Under the supervision and with the participation of management, including
the chief executive officer and chief financial officer, the Company conducted
an evaluation of the effectiveness of its internal control over financial
reporting based on the framework in "Internal Control -- Integrated Framework"
issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission.
Based on its evaluation under the framework in "Internal Control -- Integrated
Framework, " management concluded that internal control over financial reporting
was effective as of December 31, 2004, subject to the scope limitation with
respect to Nash Elmo as discussed in the paragraph below.

Gardner Denver acquired Nash Elmo on September 1, 2004. As permitted by SEC
guidance, management excluded from its assessment of the effectiveness of
Gardner Denver's internal control over financial reporting as of December 31,
2004, Nash Elmo's internal control over financial reporting. Total assets
related to Nash Elmo as of December 31, 2004 were $331 million and revenues for
the four-month period subsequent to the acquisition (September 1 -- December 31,
2004) were $84 million.

Management's assessment of the effectiveness of our internal control over
financial reporting as of December 31, 2004 has been audited by KPMG LLP, an

independent registered public accounting firm, as stated in their report which
is included herein.

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Board of Directors and Stockholders of
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Gardner Denver, Inc.:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Gardner
Denver, Inc. and subsidiaries (the Company) as of December 31, 2004 and 2003,
and the related consolidated statements of operations, stockholders' equity, and
cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31,
2004. These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the
Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these
consolidated financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public
Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that
we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes
examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in
the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting
principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as
evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our
audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above
present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Gardner
Denver, Inc. and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2004 and 2003, and the results
of their operations and their cash flows for each of the years in the three-year
period ended December 31, 2004, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted
accounting principles.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public

Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the effectiveness of Gardner
Denver, Inc.'s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31,
2004, based on criteria established in Internal Control -- Integrated Framework

issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission
(COSO), and our report dated March 11, 2005 expressed an unqualified opinion on
management's assessment of, and the effective operation of, internal control
over financial reporting.

/s/ KPMG LLP

St. Louis, Missouri
March 11, 2005

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Board of Directors and Stockholders of
Gardner Denver, Inc.:

We have audited management's assessment, included in the accompanying
Report on Management's Assessment of Internal Control Over Financial Reporting,
that Gardner Denver, Inc. (the Company) maintained effective internal control
over financial reporting as of December 31, 2004, based on criteria established
in Internal Control —-- Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO). Gardner Denver,
Inc.'s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over
financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal
control over financial reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on
management's assessment and an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company's
internal control over financial reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public
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Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that
we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all
material respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal
control over financial reporting, evaluating management's assessment, testing
and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control, and
performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the
circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our
opinion.

A company's internal control over financial reporting is a process designed
to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting
and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles. A company's internal control over
financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to
the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly
reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2)
provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to
permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are
being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of
the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely
detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company's
assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial
reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any
evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that
controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the
degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, management's assessment that Gardner Denver, Inc.
maintained effective internal control over financial reporting as of December
31, 2004, is fairly stated, in all material respects, based on criteria
established in Internal Control -- Integrated Framework issued by C0OSO. Also, in
our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material respects, effective
internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2004, based on
criteria established in Internal Control -- Integrated Framework issued by COSO.

The Company acquired Nash Elmo on September 1, 2004, and management
excluded from its assessment of the effectiveness of Gardner Denver, Inc.'s
internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2004, Nash Elmo's
internal control over financial reporting. Total assets related to Nash Elmo at
December 31, 2004 of $331 million and revenues for the four-month period
subsequent to the acquisition (September 1 -- December 31, 2004) of $84 million
were included in the consolidated financial statements of Gardner Denver, Inc.
and subsidiaries as of and for the year ended December 31, 2004. Our audit of
internal control over financial reporting of Gardner Denver, Inc. also excluded
an evaluation of the internal control over financial reporting of Nash Elmo.

F-4

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public
Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the consolidated balance
sheets of Gardner Denver, Inc. and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2004 and
2003, and the related consolidated statements of operations, stockholders'
equity, and cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended
December 31, 2004, and our report dated March 11, 2005 expressed an unqualified
opinion on those consolidated financial statements.

/s/ KPMG LLP
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St. Louis, Missouri
March 11, 2005

GARDNER DENVER, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31
(DOLLARS IN THOUSANDS EXCEPT PER SHARE AMOUNTS)

2004 2003 2002

REVENUE S . ¢ ittt ettt et e ettt ettt eeeeee e eeeeeeeeeeeaneeeeens $739,539 439,530 418,158
COSTS AND EXPENSES

COSt Of SALES . ittt ittt et ittt ettt ettt teeeeeeeaaeeeaenens 498,435 307,753 289,631

Depreciation and amortization...........ceuiiiiiennnnn. 21,901 14,566 14,139

Selling and administrative exXpPensesS........veeeeeeeeennn 157,453 85,326 79,400

INtEeresSt EXPENS . i it ittt it e et e ettt ae et 10,102 4,748 6,365

Other Income, Nel .. ..ttt ittt it ittt ettt eeeeneeaens (638) (3,221) (204)
TOTAL COSTS AND EXPENSES. . ittt it ittt ettt e teeeteeessansenseas 687,253 409,172 389,331
INCOME BEFORE INCOME TAXE S .ttt ttteensenneeeeeeeneenennneeeennens 52,286 30,358 28,827
PROVISION FOR INCOME TAXE S . ittt et ittt neeeeeeseseeassensnens 15,163 9,715 9,225
NET TINCOME . & vt vttt e e e e eeeeeeeseeeneeneaaeeesseeenenennneeesenens $ 37,123 20,643 19,602
BASIC EARNINGS PER SHARE . ..ttt ittt ittt eteeeeseseeassonsnens S 1.96 1.29 1.24
DILUTED EARNINGS PER SHARE . ... ittt ittt ittt eeeenenenens S 1.92 1.27 1.22

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements.
F-6
GARDNER DENVER, INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
DECEMBER 31
(DOLLARS IN THOUSANDS EXCEPT PER SHARE AMOUNTS)
2004 2003
ASSETS

Current assets

Cash and equivalents . @ittt it ittt ettt eeneenns S 64,601 132,803

Receivables, (net of allowances of $7,543 in 2004 and

S4,534 AN 2003) vttt ittt e e e e e et ettt e e 163,927 81,345
INVeNntoOries, NeT ... it ittt ittt ettt ettt ettt eneeaeean 138,386 64,327
Deferred 1NCOME LaAXE S . it i ittt eeteeeeeeeneeeeeeneeneeanens 9,465 3,652
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Other current asSSel S ... i i it ittt ittt ettt eeeeeeeeaeanns
Total current assSel S . ...ttt ittt ittt et teeeeeeeeenns

Property, plant and equipment, net........ ...ttt
[T T A
Other intangibles, Net..... ..ttt ittt eeeeeeenns
Deferred InCOmMEe L£aXeS . i i i it ittt e ie et eeeeeeeeeeaneeeeenns
(O ol o TS = i

TOLAl @SS St i it ittt ittt ettt et ettt et e

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
Current liabilities
Short-term borrowings and current maturities of long-term

Long-term debt, less current maturities.....................
Postretirement benefits other than pensions.................
Deferred InCOmMEe L£aXeS . i it it ittt e ettt eeeeeeeeeeaneeeeenns
Other liabilities. ...ttt ittt ettt et aaeeeennn

Total liabilities. ...ttt ittt et eeeeeeeannn

Stockholders' equity:

Common stock, $0.01 par value; 50,000,000 shares
authorized; 19,947,570 and 16,117,026 shares
outstanding in 2004 and 2003, respectively.............

Capital in excess of par value. . ... ..o iiiinneneennnnns

Retained earningsS. ...ttt ittt ettt teeeeeeeeeenaenns

Accumulated other comprehensive income....................

Treasury stock at cost, 1,739,661 and 1,721,862 shares in
2004 and 2003, respecCtively ... u et i ettt eeneeeennn

Total stockholders' equUity.....iiiiiii i iiieeeeeeennn

Total liabilities and stockholders' equity.............

148,819
374,159
110,173

75,428
205,488
10,341
5,374
5,293

$ 32,949
206,069

280,256
30,503
21,324
52,032

217
262,091
139,430

30,185

(26,447)

16,875
84,081

165,756
32,110

178
174,474
102,307

14,893

(25,947)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements.
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GARDNER DENVER, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY

YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31
(DOLLARS IN THOUSANDS)

CAPITAL

IN EXCESS
COMMON OF PAR TREASURY RETAINED
STOCK VALUE STOCK EARNINGS

ACCUMULATED
OTHER

COMPREHENSIVE

INCOME

(LOSS)

STC
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Balance January 1, 2002..........

Stock issued for benefit plans

and options.......iiiiiiiiaa.
Treasury stock.........ciii...
Net income.........oiiiiiiin

Foreign currency translation

adjustments....... ... i

Minimum pension liability
adjustments, net of tax of

Balance December 31, 2002........

Stock issued for benefit plans

and options...... ..o
Treasury stock.........ciii...
Net income.........coiiiiiiin

Foreign currency translation

adjustments....... ... i

Minimum pension liability
adjustments, net of tax of

S(L,678) i

Balance December 31, 2003........

Stock offering.......... ...

Stock issued for benefit plans

and options........iiiiiiiiaa.
Treasury stock.........ii...
Net income........ciiiiiiiinn

Foreign currency translation

adjustments.......... i

Minimum pension liability
adjustments, net of tax of

Balance December 31, 2004........

The accompanying notes

w

=

$178

35

F-8

GARDNER DENVER,

166,262 (25,602) 62,062
4,785
(217)
19,602
171,047 (25,819) 81,664
3,427
(128)
20,643
174,474 (25,947) 102,307
79,522
8,095
(500)
37,123
262,091 (26,447) 139,430

INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31
(DOLLARS IN THOUSANDS)

are an integral part of these statements.

2004 2003

2002
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Cash flows from operating activities:
L= S 15'e ) 1= $ 37,123 20,643 19,602
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided
by operating activities:

Depreciation and amortization...........c.cciiieeeeonn. 21,901 14,566 14,139
Unrealized foreign currency transaction gain, net.... (980) (3,212) ——
Net gain on asset dispositions.............oieeuinenn.. (40) (370) (20)
LIFO liquidation dncome. .........uiiiiitteennneennn (132) (367) (394)
Stock issued for employee benefit plans.............. 3,239 2,434 2,342
Deferred INCOME LaAXES . i i i ittt tineeeeeeeeneeeeeeneenns 537 5,724 2,455

Changes in assets and liabilities:
[ Y LSS A V7= o T S = (6,011) (3,568) 13,321
INVENEOT L eSS . i ittt e e e et e e e e e e e e e e e e (1,745) 7,270 11,254
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities.......... 20,526 4,095 (9,313)
Other assets and liabilities, net................. 2,334 (932) (905)
Net cash provided by operating activities....... 76,752 46,283 52,481

Cash flows from investing activities:

Business acquisitions, net of cash acquired............ (295,313) (2,402) ——
Capital expenditUres. ... it ittt it ettt teeeeeeeeanns (19,550) (11, 950) (13,641)
Disposals of property, plant and equipment............. 557 1,959 200
Foreign currency hedging transactions.................. (1,258) - (5)
L i o L - (516) -

Net cash used in investing activities........... (315, 564) (12,909) (13,4406)

Cash flows from financing activities:

Principal payments on short-term borrowings............ (3,648) - -
Proceeds from short-term borrowings..............c...... 327 - -
Principal payments on long-term debt................... (274,470) (59,532) (109,442)
Proceeds from long-term debt........... .00t 362,533 122,000 62,000
Proceeds from issuance of common stock................. 79,557 —— ——
Proceeds from stock options..........iiiiiiiiinna.. 4,860 993 2,446
Purchase of treasury stoCK........ii it iennnnns (500) (128) (217)
Debt 1SSUANCE COST St it it ittt ettt et et ettt et ettt (1,847) (302) (754)

Net cash provided by (used in) financing

activities. ..ol e e 166,812 63,031 (45,967)
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and equivalents..... ____;:;;é _16:;;1 ___;:;1;
(Decrease) increase in cash and equivalents................. __;;57;5;) 15;:1;; __;;:;1;)
Cash and equivalents, beginning of year...........ccoviieo... 132,803 25,667 29,980
Cash and equivalents, end of year........uiiiiiiiteennnnnnnn ;__;;:;51 I;;:égg __;;:;;;

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements.
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GARDNER DENVER, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(DOLLARS IN THOUSANDS EXCEPT PER SHARE AMOUNTS OR AMOUNTS DESCRIBED IN MILLIONS)

NOTE 1: SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
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BASIS OF PRESENTATION

The accompanying consolidated financial statements reflect the operations
of Gardner Denver, Inc. ("Gardner Denver" or the "Company") and its
subsidiaries. Certain prior year amounts have been reclassified to conform with
current year presentation.

PRINCIPLES OF CONSOLIDATION

The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the accounts of
the Company and its wholly-owned subsidiaries. All significant intercompany
transactions and accounts have been eliminated.

USE OF ESTIMATES

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States ("GAAP") requires management
to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and
liabilities, the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of
the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses
during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from these estimates.

FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSLATION

Assets and liabilities of the Company's foreign operations are translated
at the exchange rate in effect at the balance sheet date, while revenues and
expenses are translated at average rates prevailing during the year. Translation
adjustments are reported in accumulated other comprehensive income, a separate
component of stockholders' equity.

REVENUE RECOGNITION

The Company recognizes product revenue when the products are shipped and
title passes to the customer and collection is reasonably assured. Service
revenue is recognized when services are performed and earned and collection is
reasonably assured.

CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash equivalents are highly liquid investments (valued at cost, which
approximates fair value) acquired with an original maturity of three months or
less. As of December 31, 2003, L62.4 million ($111.4 million) in cash was
deposited on account to acquire the shares of Syltone (See Note 2). These funds
were restricted for such use until the acquisition was consummated. As of
December 31, 2004, cash of $5.3 million was pledged to financial institutions as
collateral to support the issuance of standby letters of credit and similar
instruments on behalf of the Company and its subsidiaries.

INVENTORIES
Inventories, which consist of materials, labor and manufacturing overhead,
are carried at the lower of cost or market value. As of December 31, 2004, $97.5
million (70%) of the Company's inventory is accounted for on a first-in,
first-out (FIFO) basis, with the remaining $40.9 million (30%) accounted for on
a last-in, first-out (LIFO) basis.
F-10

GARDNER DENVER, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS —-- (CONTINUED)
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Property, plant and equipment are carried at cost. Depreciation is provided
using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the assets:
buildings -- 10 to 45 years; machinery and equipment -- 10 to 12 years; office
furniture and equipment -- 3 to 10 years; and tooling, dies, patterns, etc. -—- 3
to 7 years.

GOODWILL AND OTHER INTANGIBLES

The Company has adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards
("SFAS") No. 141 "Business Combinations." Among other things, this standard
requires that intangible assets acquired in a business combination be recognized
(at fair value) apart from goodwill if they meet one of two criteria -- the
contractual-legal criterion or the separability criterion. The Company has also
adopted SFAS No. 142 "Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets." Under the
provisions of this standard, intangible assets deemed to have indefinite lives
and goodwill are not subject to amortization. All other intangible assets are
amortized over their estimated useful lives. Goodwill and other intangible
assets not subject to amortization are tested for impairment annually, or more
frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that the asset might
be impaired. This testing requires comparison of carrying values to fair values,
and when appropriate, the carrying value of impaired assets is reduced to fair
value.

The Company uses the straight-line method to amortize intangible assets
(subject to amortization) over their estimated useful lives, generally 5 to 20
years. During the second quarter of 2004, the Company completed its annual
impairment test and determined that no impairment existed.

IMPAIRMENT OF LONG-LIVED ASSETS AND LONG-LIVED ASSETS TO BE DISPOSED

Recoverability of assets to be held and used is measured by a comparison of
the carrying amount of an asset to future net undiscounted cash flows expected
to be generated by the asset. If such assets are considered to be impaired, the
impairment to be recognized is measured by the amount by which the carrying
amount of the assets exceeds the fair value of the assets. Assets to be disposed
are reported at the lower of the carrying amount or fair value, less costs to
dispose.

PRODUCT WARRANTY

The Company's product warranty liability is calculated based primarily upon
historical warranty claims experience. Management also factors into the product
warranty accrual any specific warranty issues identified during the period which
are expected to impact future periods and may not be consistent with historical
claims experience. Product warranty accruals are reviewed regularly by
management and adjusted from time to time when actual warranty claims experience
differs from that estimated.

PENSION AND OTHER POSTRETIREMENT BENEFITS

Pension and other postretirement benefit obligations and expense (or
income) are dependent on assumptions used in calculating such amounts. These
assumptions include the discount rate, rate of compensation increases, expected
return on plan assets and expected healthcare trend rates. In accordance with
GAAP, actual results that differ from the assumptions are accumulated and
amortized over future periods.

INCOME TAXES
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The Company has determined tax expense and other deferred tax information
based on the liability method. Deferred income taxes are provided to reflect
temporary differences between financial and tax reporting.

F-11
GARDNER DENVER, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS —-- (CONTINUED)
RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT

Costs for research and development are expensed as incurred and were
$6,186, $2,808 and $2,398 for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002,
respectively.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

All derivative instruments are reported on the balance sheet at fair value.
For each derivative instrument designated as a cash flow hedge, the gain or loss
on the derivative is deferred in accumulated other comprehensive income until
recognized in earnings with the underlying hedged item. For each derivative
instrument designated as a fair value hedge, the gain or loss on the derivative
instrument and the offsetting gain or loss on the hedged item are recognized
immediately in earnings. Currency fluctuations on non-U.S. dollar borrowings
that have been designated as hedges on the Company's investment in a foreign
subsidiary are included in other comprehensive income.

STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION

As allowed under SFAS No. 123, "Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation,"
the Company measures its compensation cost of equity instruments issued under
employee compensation plans using the intrinsic value method in accordance with
Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25 ("APB No. 25"), "Accounting for Stock
Issued to Employees," and related interpretations. In December 2002, the FASB
issued SFAS No. 148, "Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation Transition and
Disclosure, an Amendment to SFAS No. 123," to require prominent disclosures in
both annual and interim financial statements about the method of accounting for
stock-based employee compensation and the effect of the method used on reported
results. Under APB No. 25, no compensation cost was recognized for the Company's
stock option plans. Had compensation cost for the Company's stock option plans
been determined based on the fair value at the grant date for awards outstanding
during 2004, 2003 and 2002 consistent with the provisions of this Statement, the
Company's net income and earnings per share would have been as shown in the
table below:

2004 2003 2002

Net income, as reported. .. ... ittt imteeeeeeeennenennns $37,123 20,643 19,602
Less: Total stock-based employee compensation expense

determined under fair value method, net of related

tax effects. ittt e e e e e e et e e e (1,359) (1,252) (1,274
Pro forma net 1nCOme. ... ...ttt ittt teeeeeeeneeneeanns $35,764 19,391 18,328
Earnings per share:
Basic earnings per share, as reported..........iiiiunenenn.. S 1.96 1.29 1.24
Basic earnings per share, pro forma............ooiiiin.. $ 1.89 1.21 1.16
Diluted earnings per share, as reported.............c...... $ 1.92 1.27 1.22
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Diluted earnings per share, pro forma.............ccouee... $ 1.85 1.19

Compensation costs charged against income (net of tax) for restricted stock
issued under the Company's Incentive Plan totaled $0.2 million in 2003. There
were no restricted stock awards in 2004 or in 2002.

COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Items impacting the Company's comprehensive income, but not included in net
income, consist of translation adjustments, including realized and unrealized
gains and losses (net of income taxes) on the foreign currency hedge of the
Company's investment in a foreign subsidiary, fair market value adjustments of
interest rate swaps and additional minimum pension liability (net of income
taxes). See Note 8 for further discussion of additional minimum pension
liability adjustments.
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GARDNER DENVER, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS —-- (CONTINUED)
NEW ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

In May 2004, the FASB issued Staff Position No. FAS 106-2, "Accounting and
Disclosure Requirements Related to the Medicare Prescription Drug, Improvement
and Modernization Act of 2003," ("FAS 106-2"). FAS 106-2 supersedes Staff
Position No. FAS 106-1, "Accounting and Disclosure Requirements Related to the
Medicare Prescription Drug, Improvement and Modernization Act of 2003," and
provides guidance on the accounting, disclosure, effective date and transition
related to the Prescription Drug Act. FAS 106-2 was effective for the third
quarter of 2004. According to an actuarial assessment, the Company currently
provides prescription drug benefits, which are actuarially equivalent to the
Medicare prescription drug benefit, to certain retired and other employees and
will therefore qualify for the subsidy. As a result, the Company accounted for
the federal subsidy attributable to past services as an actuarial gain, which
reduced the accumulated post-retirement benefit obligation. This actuarial gain
is then amortized in future periods in accordance with SFAS No. 106, "Employers'
Accounting for Postretirement Benefits Other Than Pensions." The federal subsidy
attributable to employee service rendered in current and future periods will
reduce future net periodic postretirement benefit cost as those employees
provide service. The Company has adopted FAS 106-2 resulting in a favorable
impact to diluted earnings per share of $0.01 in 2004. The favorable impact to
diluted earnings per share in 2005 is expected to be $0.02.

In November 2004, the FASB issued SFAS No. 151, "Inventory Costs —-- an
amendment to ARB No. 43, Chapter 4." This statement amends previous guidance and
requires expensing for abnormal amounts of idle facility expense, freight,
handling costs, and wasted material (spoilage). In addition, the statement
requires that allocation of fixed production overheads to inventory be based on
the normal capacity of production facilities. SFAS No. 151 is effective for
inventory costs incurred during annual periods beginning after June 15, 2005.
The Company 1is currently evaluating the impact of SFAS No. 151 on its future
consolidated financial statements.

In December 2004, the FASB issued a revision to SFAS No. 123, "Accounting
for Stock-Based Compensation," SFAS No. 123-R, "Share-Based Payment." SFAS No.
123-R focuses primarily on transactions in which an entity exchanges its equity
instruments for employee services and generally establishes standards for the
accounting for transactions in which an entity obtains goods or services in
share-based payment transactions. The Company will adopt SFAS No. 123-R in the
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third quarter of fiscal 2005 and currently expects an unfavorable impact on
diluted earnings per share of approximately $0.03 to $0.05, in the second half
of 2005.

In December 2004, the FASB issued Staff Position No. FAS 109-1,
"Application of FASB Statement No. 109, Accounting for Income Taxes, to the Tax
Deduction on Qualified Production Activities Provided by the American Jobs
Creation Act of 2004," ("FAS 109-1"), and Staff Position No. FAS 109-2,
"Accounting and Disclosure Guidance for the Foreign Earnings Repatriation
Provision within the American Jobs Creation Act of 2004," ("FAS 109-2"). FAS
109-1 requires that companies who qualify for the recent tax law's deduction for
domestic production activities to account for it as a special deduction under
Statement No. 109 and reduce their tax expense in the period or periods the
amounts are deductible on the tax return. FAS 109-2 allows companies additional
time to evaluate whether foreign earnings will be repatriated under the
repatriation provisions of the new tax law and requires specific disclosures for
companies needing additional time to complete the evaluation. Both staff
positions are effective immediately and the required income tax disclosures have
been included in Note 10.

NOTE 2: ACQUISITIONS

On September 1, 2004, the Company acquired nash_elmo Holdings, LLC ("Nash
Elmo") . Nash Elmo is a leading global manufacturer of industrial vacuum pumps
and is primarily split between two businesses, ligquid ring pumps and side
channel blowers. Both businesses' products are complementary to the Compressor
and Vacuum Products segment's existing product portfolio. The purchase price of
$224.6 million, including

F-13
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assumed bank debt (net of cash acquired) and direct acquisition costs, was paid
in cash and the assumption of certain of Nash Elmo's debt ($10.4 million). There
are no additional contingent payments or commitments related to this
acquisition.

This acquisition has been accounted for by the purchase method and,
accordingly, its results are included in the Company's consolidated financial
statements from the date of acquisition. The purchase price (including direct
acquisition costs) has been allocated primarily to receivables ($35,629);
inventory ($47,749); property, plant and equipment ($34,461); intangible assets
($170,893); other assets ($6,880); accounts payable and accrued liabilities
($48,985); net deferred income tax liabilities ($18,515) and other long-term
liabilities ($3,547), based on their estimated fair values on the date of
acquisition. This allocation reflects the Company's preliminary estimates of the
purchase price allocation and is subject to change upon completion of appraisals
in 2005. Further, other assets and liabilities may be identified to which a
portion of the purchase price could be allocated.

The following table summarizes the preliminary fair values of the
intangible assets acquired in the Nash Elmo acquisition:

Amortized intangible assets:
Customer lists and relationships.........c.c.oiiiiiiinnnn.. $ 44,000
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[ 1 1 s 7,245
Unamortized intangible assets:

(€Y e 91, 648

= o L o 111 = 28,000
Total intangible aSSel S . ittt ittt ittt et teeeenanneens $170,893

The preliminary weighted average amortization period for customer lists and
relationships and other amortized intangible assets is 20 years and 5 years,
respectively. The total amount of goodwill that is expected to be deductible for
tax purposes is approximately $10 to $15 million. The assignment of goodwill has
been allocated to the Compressor and Vacuum Products segment.

On January 2, 2004, the Company acquired the outstanding shares of Syltone
plc ("Syltone"), previously a publicly traded company listed on the London Stock
Exchange. Syltone, previously headquartered in Bradford, United Kingdom
("U.K."), is one of the world's largest manufacturers of equipment used for
loading and unloading liquid and dry bulk products on commercial transportation
vehicles. This equipment includes compressors, blowers and other ancillary
products that are complementary to the Company's product lines. Syltone is also
one of the world's largest manufacturers of fluid transfer equipment (including
loading arms, swivel joints, couplers and valves) used to load and unload ships,
tank trucks and rail cars. The purchase price of L63.0 million (or approximately
$112.5 million), including assumed bank debt (net of cash acquired) and direct
acquisition costs, was paid in the form of cash (L46.3 million), new loan notes
(L5.2 million) and the assumption of Syltone's existing bank debt, net of cash
acquired (L11.5 million). There are no additional contingent payments or
commitments related to this acquisition.

This acquisition has been accounted for by the purchase method, and
accordingly, its results are included in the Company's consolidated financial
statements from the date of acquisition. The purchase price has been allocated
primarily to receivables ($30,382); inventory ($20,554); property, plant and
equipment ($33,488); intangible assets ($90,160); accounts payable and accrued
liabilities ($40,581); net deferred income tax liabilities ($1,796) and other
long-term liabilities ($19,658), based on their estimated fair values on the
date of acquisition.
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The following table summarizes the fair values of the intangible assets
acquired in the Syltone acquisition:

Amortized intangible assets:

Customer lists and relationships.........c.coiiiiiiinnnn.. $ 8,000

[ 1 1 S 4,867
Unamortized intangible assets:

(€YY e R 68,803

It Lo L o =11 = Y 8,490
Total intangible aSSel S ...ttt ittt it ettt teeeeennnees $90, 160
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The weighted average amortization period for customer lists and
relationships and other amortized intangible assets is 20 years and 5 years,
respectively. The total amount of goodwill that is expected to be deductible for
tax purposes is not anticipated to be significant, given the stock nature of the
acquisition. The assignment of goodwill has been allocated to the Compressor and
Vacuum Products segment ($57,194) and the Fluid Transfer Products segment
($11,609) . See Note 14 for additional segment information.

The following table summarizes the unaudited supplemental pro forma
information as if the Nash Elmo and Syltone acquisitions had been completed on
January 1, 2003 (this unaudited information is subject to change upon
finalization of the purchase price allocation of Nash Elmo) :

2004 2003
(UNAUDITED)
ROV NI S e v v vttt et ettt te ettt eeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeneeeeeeas $895, 856 790,696
J S A e Yo 1 43,043 20,356
Diluted earnings per share....... ..ottt ennnneennn S 2.22 1.25

The 2003 pro forma net income reflects the negative impact of a one-time
adjustment on cost of sales of approximately $3.6 million stemming from
recording Syltone's and Nash Elmo's inventory at fair value.

In August 2003, the Company paid $2.4 million to acquire certain assets and
assume certain liabilities of a small machine shop operation in Odessa, Texas.
This operation services and repairs well stimulation and drilling pumps serving
the Permian Basin and thus, its financial results were included in the Fluid
Transfer Products segment from the date of acquisition. There are no additional
contingent payments or commitments related to this acquisition. The amounts
assigned to goodwill and other intangible assets were inconsequential.

All acquisitions have been accounted for by the purchase method and,
accordingly, their results are included in the Company's consolidated financial
statements from the respective dates of acquisition. Under the purchase method,
the purchase price is allocated based on the fair value of assets received and
liabilities assumed as of the acquisition date.
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NOTE 3: INVENTORIES

2004 2003
Raw materials, including parts and subassemblies............ S 62,477 34,992
Lo Rl s 0 o R ol Yo L R 23,405 8,506
Finished goods . . it it i ittt ettt ettt ettt eaaeeeeens 57,321 25,362

143,203 68,860
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Excess of FIFO costs over LIFO COSES .t ittt ittt eneenneens (4,817) (4,533)

IS S V=Y o Bl B A == SR o V= i $138,386 64,327

During 2004, 2003 and 2002, reductions in inventory quantities (net of
acquisitions) resulted in liquidations of LIFO inventory layers carried at lower
costs prevailing in prior years. The effect was to increase net income in 2004,
2003 and 2002 by $94, $249 and $268, respectively. It is the Company's policy to
record the earnings effect of LIFO inventory liquidations in the quarter which a
decrease for the entire year becomes certain. In each of the years 2002 through
2004, the LIFO liquidation income was recorded in the fourth quarter. The
Company believes that FIFO costs in the aggregate approximates replacement or
current cost and thus the excess of replacement or current cost over LIFO value
was $4.8 million and $4.5 million as of December 31, 2004 and 2003,
respectively.

NOTE 4: PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

2004 2003
Land and land Improvement S. ... e ettt ettt eeeeeeeanneeeennn $ 15,304 8,710
2 e e 5 o s 75,482 41,727
Machinery and equUipment . ...t ittt ittt ettt teeeeeeeeennenns 141,130 114,594
Tooling, dies, patterns, etC. ...ttt eennenns 23,516 13,884
Office furniture and equipment.......... ittt iennnennn. 22,715 14,574
(05 o L 10,242 6,780
ConStrUCLion 1N PrOgreSS . v i vt ittt ettt ettt eaneeeeenns 4,664 2,612
293,053 202,881
Accumulated depreciation. ...ttt ittt e e e e (144,234) (127,453)
Property, plant and equipment, net......... ..o, $ 148,819 75,428

NOTE 5: GOODWILL AND OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS

As discussed in Note 1, the Company has adopted SFAS No. 142. This
statement required, among other things, the discontinuation of goodwill
amortization, assignment of goodwill to reporting units, and completion of a
transitional goodwill impairment test. Substantially all goodwill was assigned
to the reporting unit that acquired the business. Under the impairment test, if
a reporting unit's carrying amount exceeds its estimated fair value, a goodwill
impairment is recognized to the extent that the reporting unit's carrying amount
of goodwill exceeds the implied fair value of the goodwill. The fair value of
each reporting unit was estimated using discounted cash flows and market
multiples. During the second quarter of 2004, the Company completed its annual
impairment test and determined that no impairment existed.

F-16
GARDNER DENVER, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS —-- (CONTINUED)

The changes in the carrying amount of goodwill attributable to each
business segment for the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003 are as follows:
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COMPRESSOR & FLUID TRANSFER

VACUUM PRODUCTS PRODUCTS TOTAL
Balance as of January 1, 2003.........0.00ccuun.. $176,230 25,531 201,761
ACUIsSItionS . . ittt ittt e e e e e e - 103 103
Foreign currency translation................... 3,624 - 3,624
Balance as of December 31, 2003................ 179,854 25,634 205,488
Acquisitions. ...t e 148,842 11,609 160,451
Foreign currency translation................... 7,379 841 8,220
Balance as of December 31, 2004...........000... $336,075 38,084 374,159

Other intangible assets at December 31, 2004 and 2003 consisted of the
following:

DECEMBER 31, 2004 DECEMBER 31, 2003
GROSS GROSS
CARRYING ACCUMULATED CARRYING ACCUMULATED
AMOUNT AMORTIZATION AMOUNT AMORTIZATION
Amortized intangible assets:
Customer lists and relationships....... $ 53,855 S (2,153) 1,295 (927)
Acquired technology.....eeeeeeeeeennnnn. 19,218 (9,732) 13,312 (8,002)
[ w0 oL 11,352 (2,508) 2,943 (1,337)
Unamortized intangible assets:
TrademarkS . @ v vttt it e et e et et e 40,141 —— 3,057 ——
Total other intangible assets....... $124,566 $(14,393) 20,607 (10, 266)

Amortization of intangible assets was $4.4 million and $1.4 million in 2004
and 2003, respectively. Amortization of intangible assets is anticipated to be
approximately $7.0 million per year for 2005 through 2009 based upon intangible
assets with finite useful lives included in the balance sheet as of December 31,
2004.

NOTE 6: ACCOUNTS PAYABLE AND ACCRUED LIABILITIES

2004 2003
Accounts payable—trade. . ...ttt ittt e e $ 81,977 39,691
Salaries, wages and related fringe benefits................. 39,251 14,661
AR S e v e e e et e ettt ettt e et eeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeneeneean 12,860 3,422
Advance payments on sales contractsS........ouiiiiieennnenn. 11,600 1,000
ProdUCE WaAZTan Y e v vt ittt e e ettt e et e e et et eeeee et eaeeeeeee 10,671 6,635

88



Edgar Filing: GARDNER DENVER INC - Form 424B2

Product liability, workers' compensation and insurance...... 8,030 5,046

(05 o L 41,680 13,626

Total accounts payable and accrued liabilities............ $206,069 84,081
F-17
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A reconciliation of the changes in the accrued product warranty liability
for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002 is as follows:

2004 2003 2002

Balance as O0f January L. ...t ittt teneeeeeeeenneeeens $ 6,635 7,060 7,578
Product warranty aCCrUalsS. .. ..o i i e e et eeneeeeeeeennneeeens 7.476 5,420 5,281
LTSN i =Y 1Yo T T (7,611) (6,171) (6,126)
Other (primarily acquisitions and foreign currency

Rl o= o 1= = i 1o ) 1 4,171 326 327
Balance as oOf December 3l ... .ttt ittt teneeneeneeeneenenn $10,671 6,635 7,060
NOTE 7: DEBT

2004 2003

SHORT-TERM DEBT:

Revolving Loans, due 2005 (1) ¢t v i it ittt ittt et eeaeenns $ 10,898 —=

[ 1 1 s 1,729 ——
Total short—term debt . ...ttt ittt e ettt e et e eeeeenn $ 12,627 -
LONG-TERM DEBT:

Credit Line, due 2009 (2) c v vt vttt ittt ettt ettt eeeeaeeeannnens $113,635 114,000

Term Loan, due 20009 (3) v vt i ittt ittt ettt ettt eneeaeeens 148,125 45,625

Secured Mortgages at 4.6%, due 2022 (4) ¢ v vt i i it i 10,362 -

Unsecured Senior Note at 7.3%, due 2006......c.00ciuieeenenn.. 10,000 15,000

Variable Rate Industrial Revenue Bonds, due 2018 (5)....... 8,000 8,000

Term Loans, du€ 2007 (6) v v e vt i ittt ettt eeeteeeeeeeneeneeens 6,001 —=

L oL O 4,455 6
Total long-term debt including current maturities........... 300,578 182,631
Current maturities of long-term debt........................ 20,322 16,875
Long-term debt, less current maturities..................... $280,256 165,756
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(1) This amount consists of three loan agreements with similar terms assumed in
the 2004 acquisition of Syltone. The loans are Euro denominated and had an
outstanding balance of E8,046 at December 31, 2004. At December 31, 2004 the
rate on this debt was 2.9% and averaged 3.0% for the year ended December 31,
2004.

(2) The loans under this facility may be denominated in U.S. dollars or several
foreign currencies. At December 31, 2004, the outstanding balance consisted
of U.S. dollar borrowings of $73,000 and Euro borrowings of E30,000. The
interest rates under the facility are based on prime, federal funds and/or
LIBOR for the applicable currency and were 4.2% and 4.0% as of December 31,
2004 for the U.S. dollar and Euro loans, respectively. The rates averaged
3.6% and 4.0% for the year ended December 31, 2004 for the U.S. dollar and
Euro loans, respectively.

(3) The interest rate varies with prime, federal funds and/or LIBOR. As of
December 31, 2004, this rate was 4.1% and averaged 3.5% for the year ended
December 31, 2004.

(4) This amount consists of two commercial bank loans assumed in the 2004
acquisition of Nash Elmo with an outstanding balance of E7,650 at December
31, 2004. The loans are secured by the Company's facility in Bad Neustadt,
Germany and are net of unamortized discount of E270.
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(5) The interest rate varies with market rates for tax—-exempt industrial revenue
bonds. As of December 31, 2004, this rate was 2.1% and averaged 1.3% for the
year ended December 31, 2004.

(6) This amount consists of two loan agreements with similar terms assumed in
the 2004 acquisition of Syltone. The loans are denominated in British pounds
and had an outstanding balance of L3,133 at December 31, 2004. At December
31, 2004 the rate on this debt was 3.1% and averaged 3.1% for the year ended
December 31, 2004.

On January 20, 1998, the Company entered into a Revolving Line of Credit
Agreement (the "Credit Agreement") with an aggregate $125,000 borrowing capacity
and terminated a previous agreement. On March 6, 2002, the Company amended and
restated its Credit Agreement, increasing the aggregate borrowing capacity to
$150,000 and extending the maturity date to March 6, 2005. On September 1, 2004,
the Company amended and restated the Credit Agreement once again, increasing the
borrowing capacity to $375,000. This latter amended and restated Credit
Agreement provided the Company with access to senior secured credit facilities
including a $150,000 five-year Term Loan and a $225,000 five-year Revolving Line
of Credit (the "Credit Line"). Proceeds from the Credit Agreement were used to
fund the Nash Elmo acquisition and retire debt outstanding under its previously
existing Credit Line and Term Loan.

The Credit Line has a borrowing capacity of $225,000 and the total debt
balance is due upon final maturity on September 1, 2009. On December 31, 2004,
the Credit Line had an outstanding principal balance of $113,635, leaving
$111,365 available for letters of credit or future use, subject to the terms of
the Credit Line.

The $150,000 Term Loan has a final maturity of September 1, 2009. The Term
Loan requires principal payments totaling $7,500, $15,000, $22,500, $37,500 and
$67,500 in years one through five, respectively. Other terms and conditions of
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the Term Loan are similar to those of the Credit Line.

In September 1996, the Company obtained fixed rate financing by entering
into an unsecured senior note agreement for $35,000. This note has a ten-year
final, seven-year average maturity, with principal payments that began in 2000.

On April 23, 1998, the Fayette County Development Authority issued $9,500
in industrial revenue bonds, on behalf of the Company, to finance the cost of
constructing and equipping a new manufacturing facility in Peachtree City,
Georgia. On July 2, 2001, the Company prepaid $1,500 of principal from unused
funds. The remaining principal for these industrial revenue bonds is to be
repaid in full on March 1, 2018. These industrial revenue bonds are secured by
an $8,100 letter of credit.

The Company's borrowing arrangements permit certain investments and
dividend payments and are generally unsecured with the exception of the Credit
Agreement, which requires the pledge of the stock of certain wholly-owned
subsidiaries, and a security interest in the Company's manufacturing facility in
Bad Neustadt, Germany. There are no material restrictions on the Company as a
result of its credit arrangements, other than customary covenants regarding
certain earnings, liquidity and capital ratios.

Debt maturities for the five years subsequent to December 31, 2004 and
thereafter, are $32,949, $26,022, $28,068, $45,618, $164,878 and $16,036,
respectively.

Cash paid for interest in 2004, 2003 and 2002 was $7,817, $4,498 and
$6,263, respectively.

The rentals for all operating leases were $7,814, $3,818, and $3,357 in
2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively. Future minimum rental payments for operating
leases for the five years subsequent to December 31, 2004 and thereafter are
$9,608, $7,252, $5,409, $4,305, $2,000 and $9,659, respectively.
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NOTE 8: PENSION AND OTHER POSTRETIREMENT BENEFITS

The Company sponsors retirement plans covering substantially all worldwide
employees. Benefits are provided to employees under defined benefit pay-related
and service-related plans, which are generally noncontributory in the U.S. and
Germany and are generally contributory in the U.K. Annual Company contributions
to U.S. retirement plans equal or exceed the minimum funding requirements of the
Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974. The retirement plans covering
the employees of the Company's operation in Schopfheim, Germany are unfunded and
the full amount of the pension benefit obligation is included as an accrued
benefit liability on the Consolidated Balance Sheets.

With regard to the 2001 Belliss & Morcom acquisition, the majority of the
employees are based in the U.K. and are provided retirement benefits under a
contributory defined benefit pay and service-related plan. Under the Company's
purchase agreement, these employees were allowed to continue to participate in
the seller's benefit plan for a period of up to one year from the acquisition
date. Within this one-year timeframe, the Company established a similar
retirement plan arrangement allowing employees the option of transferring their
accumulated benefit. The purchase agreement also required the transfer from the
seller's plan of plan assets in excess of the transferred accumulated benefit
obligation. As of December 31, 2002, the Company had not received this transfer
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and thus an estimate of this receivable was included in the reconciliation of
fair value of plan assets table presented below. During 2003, the Company
settled this receivable resulting in adjustments to the benefit obligation and
fair value of plan assets for non-U.S. pension plans. These adjustments are
included on the "acquisitions"™ line in the reconciliation table below.
Participation in this plan was frozen as of January 1, 2004. Employees hired
after that date participate in a contributory defined contribution plan.

With regard to the 2004 Syltone acquisition, the majority of the employees
are based in the U.K. and Germany. In the U.K., the majority of these employees
are provided benefits under a contributory defined benefit pay and
service-related plan. Participation in this plan was frozen as of July 1, 2003.
Employees hired after that date participate in a contributory defined
contribution plan. In Germany, with regard to employees of the Syltone
acquisition, employees are provided benefits under either a non-contributory
defined benefit pay and service-related plan or under a contributory defined
contribution plan.

With regard to the Nash Elmo 2004 acquisition, the majority of the
employees are based in the U.S. and Germany. In the U.S., employees are provided
benefits under both a non-contributory defined contribution plan and under
another defined contribution plan with no Company contributions. In Germany,
certain employees are covered by a non-contributory defined benefit pay and
service related plan. Employees hired after October 2000, are covered by a
non-contributory defined contribution plan.

Due to the significant declines in the financial markets, the fair value of
the plan assets of certain of the Company's funded defined benefit pension plans
was less than their accumulated benefit obligation at December 31, 2002. As a
result, the Company recorded a non-cash charge to stockholders' equity
(accumulated other comprehensive loss) in the amount of $8.5 million (net of
income taxes of $5.0 million) in the fourth quarter of 2002. During 2003, the
financial markets and the assets of the Company's funded benefit pension plans
experienced significant gains. As a result, the Company recorded a credit to
accumulated other comprehensive income of $3.3 million (net of income taxes of
$1.7 million) to reduce its additional minimum pension liability. During 2004,
the Company's recorded an additional non-cash charge to accumulated other
comprehensive income of $0.4 million (net of income taxes of $0.1 million) to
increase the additional minimum pension liability.

The Company also sponsors defined contribution plans. Benefits are
determined and funded annually based on terms of the plans or as stipulated in a
collective bargaining agreement. Certain of the Company's full-time salaried and
nonunion hourly employees in the U.S. are eligible to participate in Company-—
sponsored defined contribution savings plans, which are qualified plans under
the requirements of
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Section 401 (k) of the Internal Revenue Code. The Company's matching
contributions to the savings plans are in the form of the Company's common
stock.

The full-time salaried and hourly employees of the Company's operations in
Finland have pension benefits, which are guaranteed by the Finnish government.
Although the plans are similar to defined benefit plans, the guarantee feature
of the government causes the substance of the plans to be defined contribution.
Therefore, the discounted future liability of these plans is not included in the
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liability for defined benefit plans, but the expense for the Company's
contribution is included in the pension benefit cost for defined contribution
plans.

Certain salaried employees in the U.S. who retired prior to 1989, as well
as certain other employees who were near retirement and elected to receive
certain benefits and certain Nash Elmo employees, have retiree medical,
prescription and life insurance benefits. In most cases, the Nash Elmo retirees
pay the entire cost of their coverage. No other active salaried employees have
postretirement medical benefits. The hourly employees have separate plans with
varying benefit formulas. In all cases, however, no currently active hourly
employee, except for certain employees who are near retirement, will receive
healthcare benefits after retirement. All of the Company's postretirement
medical plans are unfunded.
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The following tables provide a reconciliation of the changes in both the
pension and other postretirement plans benefit obligations and fair value of

assets over the two-year period ended December 31, 2004, and a statement of the
funded status as of December 31, 2004 and 2003:

PENSION BENEFITS

OTHER POSTRETI

U.S. PLANS NON-U.S. PLANS BENEFITS
2004 2003 2004 2003 2004
RECONCILTIATION OF BENEFIT OBLIGATION
Obligation as of January l............. $ 58,531 55,633 $ 33,388 26,541 S 27,664 2
SEervViCe COST .t ittt ittt et ie et eaenn 2,119 1,988 4,187 1,528 16
Interest COsSt.. .ttt i, 3,356 3,430 6,413 1,416 1,649
Actuarial loss (gain)........ooeeeeenann.. 1,129 2,156 1,248 3,617 (1,804)
Employee contributions................. - - 1,065 415 -
Benefit payments....... ..ot (4,4606) (4,676) (2,464) (920) (2,617) (
Acquisitions. ...ttt —— —— 98, 652 (2,667) 585
Effect of foreign currency exchange
rate changes...... ... .. —— —— 7,994 3,458 ——
Obligation as of December 31......... $ 60,669 58,531 $150,483 33,388 $ 25,493 2
RECONCILTIATION OF FAIR VALUE OF PLAN
ASSETS
Fair value of plan assets as of January
L e e e $ 44,305 40,539 $ 23,059 18,358
Actual return on plan assets........... 4,733 7,304 8,270 3,891
Acquisitions. ...ttt - - 76,015 (996)
Employer contributions................. 3,201 1,138 3,394 102
Employee contributions................. - - 1,065 415
Benefit payments....... ..ot (4,4606) (4,676) (3,403) (920)
Effect of foreign currency exchange
rate changes...... ... .. - - 5,994 2,209
Fair value of plan assets as of
December 3l ...ttt eeeeeeeeennnnn S 47,773 44,305 $114,394 23,059
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FUNDED STATUS

Funded status as of December 31........ $(12,896) (14,226) $(36,089) (10,329) $(25,493) (2
Unrecognized transition liability...... 4 9 - - 742
Unrecognized prior-service cost........ (451) (537) —— —— (730)
Unrecognized loss (gain) ............... 8,911 9,069 7,343 6,249 (7,723) (

Accrued benefit liability............ S (4,432) (5,685) $(28,746) (4,080) $(33,204) (3

GARDNER DENVER, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS —-- (CONTINUED)

The total pension and other postretirement accrued benefit liability is
included in the balance sheets in the following captions:

2004 2003
Deferred 1NCOME LaAXE S . vt ittt eeteeeeeeeeeeoeeeeeeneeneeens S 3,438 3,298
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities.............c...... (2,966) (2,380)
Postretirement benefits other than pensions................. (30,503) (32,110)

Other liabilities........

................................... (41, 926) (18,218)

Accumulated other comprehensive income............oiiuunnn.. 5,575 5,155

Total pension and other
liability...........

postretirement accrued benefit

The aggregate accumulated benefit obligation and fair value of plan assets
for pension plans with accumulated benefit obligations in excess of plan assets
at December 31, 2004 and 2003 are as follows:

DECEMBER 31,

U.S. PLANS NON-U.S. PLANS
2004 2003 2004 2003
Accumulated benefit obligation................... 560,562 58,412 $119,094 4,360

Fair value of plan assets

........................ $47,773 44,305 $104, 629 -

The following table provides the components of net periodic benefit expense
(income) for the plans for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002:

PENSION BENEFITS

U.S. PLANS NON-U.S. PLANS
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2004 2003 2002 2004 2003 2002 2004

Service COST . v iv et eennnnnn $ 2,119 1,988 2,200 S 4,187 1,529 1,288 S 16
Interest cost.......... ... ... 3,356 3,430 3,658 6,413 1,416 1,302 1,649
Expected return on plan

assetsS. .t i i e (3,701) (3,269) (4,180) (6,853) (1,474) (1,717) -
Amortization of transition

liability . e e e e ii i 5 5 8 - -— - 25
Amortization of prior-service

Lo e 7= (86) (86) (86) - -— - (156)
Amortization of net loss

(gain) oo e e it 255 439 2 211 211 2 (559)

Net periodic benefit expense

(INCOME) v vt v ettt i e e e e 1,948 2,507 1,602 3,958 1,682 875 $ 975

Defined contribution plans.... 3,021 2,548 2,576 1,677 1,378 1,281

Total retirement expense.... $ 4,969 5,055 4,178 $ 5,635 3,060 2,156
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The following weighted average assumptions were used to determine the
benefit obligations and net periodic benefit expense (income) for pension and
other postretirement plans:

PENSION AND OTHER POSTRETIREMENT BENEFITS

U.S. PLANS NON-U.S. PLANS
2004 2003 2002 2004 2003 2002
Discount rate (1) c v vt ittt ettt et ettt e e e 6.0% 6.3 6.8 5.4% 5.5 5.6
Rate of increase in compensation levels(2)..... 5.0% 5.0 5.0 3.4% 3.5 3.3
Expected long-term rate of return on
ASSEES (2) ittt e e e e e e 9.0% 9.0 9.0 7.6% 8.3 8.0
(1) Net periodic benefit expense (income) 1is determined by the previous year's

discount rate
(2) Applies only to pension plans
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For measurement purposes, the annual rate of increase in the per capita
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cost of covered healthcare benefits assumed for 2004 was 8.4% for all
participants. The rates were assumed to decrease gradually each year to a rate
of 5.0% for 2010 and remain at that level thereafter.

Assumed healthcare cost trend rates have a significant effect on the
amounts reported for the postretirement medical plans. A one-percentage point
change in assumed healthcare cost trend rates would have the following effects:

ONE-PERCENTAGE POINT

INCREASE DECREASE
Effect on total of service and interest cost components of
net periodic other postretirement benefit cost —-- increase
(e RS Y et Y= =3 I 9.1% (8.0)%
Effect on the postretirement benefit obligation -- increase
(e RS Yt Y= =3 1 8.5% (7.5)%

The primary objectives for the investment of pension plan assets is to
secure participant retirement benefits and to minimize reliance on contributions
as a source of benefit security. Plan assets are invested consistent with the
provisions of prudence and diversification rules of ERISA and with a long-term
investment horizon. The expected return on plan assets assumption is determined
by reviewing the investment return of the plans since inception and evaluating
those returns in relation to expectations of various investment organizations to
determine whether long-term future returns are expected to differ significantly
from the past. The Company's pension plan asset allocations at December 31, 2004
and 2003, and target weighted-average allocations are as follows:

U.S. PLANS NON-U.S. PLANS
CURRENT CURRENT
2004 2003 TARGET 2004 2003 TARGET

Asset category:
Equity securities...... oo, 70% 69% 70% 65% 81l% 73%
Debt securities.......c.oii i iiiennnnnnnn 28% 29% 0% 26% 9% 25%
[ o 2% 2% - 9% 10% 2%
e ) - 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100%

The Company estimates that future benefit payments for the U.S. pension
plans will be as follows: $4,360 in 2005, $5,154 in 2006, $4,483 in 2007, $4,778
in 2008, $4,848 in 2009 and $26,594 in total over the five years 2010 through
2014. Using foreign exchange rates as of December 31, 2004, the Company
estimates that future benefit payments for the non-U.S. pension plans will be as
follows: $2,845 in 2005, $3,103 in 2006, $3,530 in 2007, $3,578 in 2008, $3,984
in 2009 and $27,215 in total over the five years 2010 through 2014. In 2005, the
Company expects to contribute $2,436 to U.S. pension plans and $5,050 to
non-U.S. pension plans.

NOTE 9: STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY AND EARNINGS PER SHARE
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At December 31, 2004 and 2003, 50,000,000 shares of $0.01 par value common
stock and 10,000,000 shares of $0.01 par value preferred stock were authorized.
Shares of common stock outstanding at December 31, 2004 and 2003 were 19,947,570
and 16,117,026, respectively. No shares of preferred stock were issued or
outstanding at December 31, 2004 or 2003. The shares of preferred stock, which
may be issued without further stockholder approval (except as may be required by
applicable law or stock exchange rules), may be issued in one or more series,
with the number of shares of each series and the rights, preferences and
limitations of each series to be determined by the Board of Directors. The
Company has a Stockholder's Rights Plan, under which each share of Gardner
Denver's outstanding common stock has an associated preferred share purchase
right. The rights are exercisable only under certain circumstances and
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allow holders of such rights to purchase common stock of Gardner Denver or an
acquiring company at a discounted price, which generally would be 50% of the

respective stock's current fair market value.

The following table details the calculation of basic and diluted earnings
per share for the year ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002:

2004 2003
AMT AMT
NET WID. AVG. PER NET WID. AVG. PER
INCOME SHARES SHARE INCOME SHARES SHARE

BASIC EARNINGS PER SHARE:
Income available to common
stockholders.............. $37,123 18,954,841 $1.96 $20,643 16,060,979 $1.29
DILUTED EARNINGS PER SHARE:
Effect of dilutive
securities:
Stock options granted and
outstanding............. 422,639 251,189
Income available to common
stockholders and assumed
CONVEerSioNS. ... eeeee.. $37,123 19,377,480 $1.92 $20,643 16,312,168 $1.27

NOTE 10: INCOME TAXES

Income before income taxes consist of the following:

2004 2003 2002
L $26,934 23,913 22,216
e 0 e U 25,352 6,445 6,611
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Income before income LaXesS. ... ittt ittt teeeeeeeneenennn $52,286 30,358 28,827

The following table details the components of the provision for income
taxes. A portion of these income taxes will be payable within one year and are
therefore classified as current, while the remaining balance is deferred:

2004 2003 2002

Current:

U.S. federal. . vttt ittt ettt eeeee et eeeeeeaaaeeeannens $ 8,458 2,977 4,944

U.S. state and 1ocCal. ...ttt iii ittt teeeeeeeeenaaanns 692 340 542

NON=U e St ittt ettt et e e e e eeaeeeeseeeeeenneeeseeeeenennnees 6,584 611 1,229
Deferred:

U.S. federal. . vttt ittt et ettt eeeeeeeaaeeeaenens (513) 4,753 2,253

U.S. state and 10Cal. .. i ittt ittt ettt et ettt ettt teeeenn (44) 543 257

e e (14) 491 ——
Provision for 1inCome taXesS. . ... iiiiiieeeteeeeeeeneenneens $15,163 9,715 9,225
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The U.S. federal corporate statutory rate is reconciled to the Company's
effective income tax rate as follows:

2004 2003 2002

U.S. federal corporate statutory rate............iiii... 35.0% 35.0% 35.0%
State and local taxes, less federal tax benefit............. 1.2 2.6 2.5
Foreign 1ncCome f£aXesS . . i ittt it ettt eeeeeeeeeeaneeeeenns (4.4) —= —=
Export benef it ... ..ttt e et e e e e e e (2.5) (3.0) (2.8)
(@ o 1 o 1 Y (0.3) (2.06) (2.7)
Effective income tax rate........ ittt enneneennn 29.0% 32.0% 32.0%

The principal items that gave rise to deferred income tax assets and
liabilities follow:

2004 2003
Deferred tax assets:
Reserves and ACCrUALS . v v it ittt enteeeeeeeneeeeeeneeneeaens $ 31,971 14,506
Postretirement benefits other than pensions............... 12,491 13,446

Tax 10SS Carryforwards . @i it ittt ittt e eeeeeeeeeenns 7,123 -
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Foreign tax credit carryforwardS........cuuiiieeeeeennnnns 852 -
L oL 4,729 3,014
Total deferred tax a@sSel S ...ttt ittt tieeeetneennenn $ 57,166 30,966
Valuation Gl lOWaANC . v v it v it ettt et et ettt eeeeeeeseeeneennens S (4,705) ——

Deferred tax liabilities:

LIFO INVeNE Ol Y e e i ittt ettt ettt e et e ee ettt eeeeeeenneeesenens S (3,766) (3,493)
Property, plant and equipment...........iiiiiieeeennnnnns (10,395) (7,763)
IS o o= o e i N o T O (42,248) (7,698)
L oL O (7,911) (2,9806)
Total deferred tax liabilities......c.uiiiiiiiiii e nnennnnn $(64,320) (21,940)
Net deferred income tax (liability) asset................... $(11,859) 9,026

As of December 31, 2004, Gardner Denver has net operating loss
carryforwards from various jurisdictions of $24.7 million that result in a
deferred tax asset of $7.1 million. It is more likely than not that a portion of
these tax loss carryforwards will not produce future benefits and a valuation
allowance of $4.7 million has been established with respect to these losses. The
expected expiration dates of the tax loss carryforwards are as follows; <5
years, $5.6 million, 5 to 10 years, $0, 10 to 20 years, $4.6 million and $14.5
million have no expiration date. The reversal of the valuation allowance will
reduce goodwill. In addition, the Company has a U.S. foreign tax credit
carryforward of $0.9 million that expires in 5 to 10 years.

U.S. deferred income taxes are not provided on certain undistributed
earnings of non-U.S. subsidiaries (approximately $54 million at December 31,
2004) because the Company intends to reinvest such earnings indefinitely or
distribute them only when available foreign tax credits could significantly
reduce the amount of U.S. taxes due on such distributions.

During the year, the Company recorded an income tax benefit related to
favorable audit settlements in Finland and the U.S. of $1.4 million and $0.2
million, respectively.
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On October 22, 2004, the American Jobs Creation Act (the "AJCA") was signed
into law. The AJCA includes a deduction of 85% of certain foreign earnings that
are repatriated, as defined in the AJCA. The Company may elect to apply this
provision to qualifying earnings repatriations made either after the date of
enactment in calendar year 2004 or throughout calendar year 2005. During
calendar 2004, the Company did not repatriate any qualified earnings pursuant to
the AJCA. However, the Company determined that approximately $16.6 million of
existing foreign earnings will meet the requirements of the AJCA. The Company
has determined that it will repatriate these earnings during calendar 2005, as
soon as the AJCA's qualifying requirements are met. Since these earnings are no
longer considered indefinitely reinvested, the Company accrued $0.9 million of
income tax expense in 2004. In addition, the Company is evaluating the potential
to repatriate other foreign earnings pursuant to the AJCA. Whether the Company
repatriates their foreign earnings is dependent upon the Company's ability to
meet the requirements of the AJCA with respect to these earnings. Until that
determination is made, the Company will make no change in its current intention
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to indefinitely reinvest accumulated earnings of its foreign subsidiaries except
with respect to the $16.6 million noted above. The range of additional amounts
that the Company is considering for repatriation under the AJCA is between zero
and $40 million. The related potential range of income tax is between zero and
$2.1 million.

Cash paid for income taxes in 2004, 2003 and 2002 was $8,031, $5,220 and
$6,512, respectively.

NOTE 11: STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION PLANS

Under the Company's Long-Term Incentive Plan (the "Incentive Plan"),
designated employees are eligible to receive awards in the form of stock
options, stock appreciation rights, restricted stock grants or performance
shares, as determined by the Management Development and Compensation Committee
of the Board of Directors. An aggregate of 4,250,000 shares of common stock has
been authorized for issuance under the Incentive Plan. Through December 31,
2004, the Company has granted options on 3,622,909 shares. Under the Incentive
Plan, the option exercise price equals the fair market value of the common stock
on the date of grant. Under the terms of existing awards, one-third of employee
options granted become vested and exercisable on each of the first three
anniversaries of the date of grant. The options granted to employees in 2002 and
2003 expire ten years after the date of grant. The options granted to employees
in 2004 expire seven years after the date of grant.

Pursuant to the Incentive Plan, each nonemployee director was granted an
option to purchase 4,500 shares of common stock on the day after the 2004, 2003
and 2002 annual meeting of stockholders. These options were granted at the fair
market value of the common stock on the date of grant, become exercisable on the
first anniversary of the date of grant (or upon retirement, death or cessation
of service due to disability, if earlier) and expire five years after the date
of grant.

The Company also has an employee stock purchase plan (the "Stock Purchase
Plan"), a qualified plan under the requirements of Section 423 of the Internal
Revenue Code, and has reserved 1,150,000 shares for issuance under this plan.
The Stock Purchase Plan requires participants to have the purchase price of
their options withheld from their pay over a one-year period. In November 2000,
the Stock Purchase Plan was amended to permit eligible employees to purchase
shares at the lesser of 85% of the fair market price of the common stock on
either the offering date or the exercise date. The exercise date for the 2000
offering was January 2, 2002, at which time employees elected to purchase 68,323
shares at an offering price of $15.36 per share, 85% of the fair market price on
the offering date.

In November 2001, the Stock Purchase Plan was offered to eligible employees
under the same provisions as the 2000 offering. The exercise date for the 2001
offering was January 2, 2003, at which time employees elected to purchase 46,460
shares at an offering price of $17.08 per share, 85% of the fair market price on
the exercise date.
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In November 2002, the Stock Purchase Plan was offered to eligible employees
under the same provisions as the 2001 offering. The exercise date for the 2002
offering was January 2, 2004, at which time employees elected to purchase 94,965

shares at an offering price of $12.72 per share, 85% of the fair market price on
the offering date.
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In November 2003, the Stock Purchase Plan was offered to eligible employees
under the same provisions as the 2002 offering. The exercise date for the 2003
offering is January 3, 2005, at which time employees elected to purchase 69,548
shares at an offering price of $18.19 per share, 85% of the fair market price on
the offering date.

No additional options were offered to employees under the Stock Purchase
Plan in 2004.

A summary of the status of the Company's Incentive Plan at December 31,
2004, 2003 and 2002, and changes during the years then ended, is presented in
the table and narrative below (underlying shares in thousands) :

2004 2003 2002
AVERAGE AVERAGE AVERAGE
PRICE SHARES PRICE SHARES PRICE SHARES
Options outstanding, beginning of
DTS $17.54 1,367 $17.56 1,144 $17.26 1,106
Options granted.........ccuuieeennnn. $28.46 263 $17.89 264 $20.35 221
Options exercised........ovvveennn.. $29.61 (217) $15.25 (13) $16.37 (85)
Options canceled.......ccuvivveennnn. $20.94 (10) $23.20 (28) $21.45 (98)
Options outstanding, end of year.... $19.67 1,403 $17.54 1,367 $17.56 1,144
Options exercisable, end of year.... $17.55 934 $17.07 940 $16.54 776
The following table summarizes information about fixed-price stock options

outstanding at December 31, 2004 (underlying shares in thousands) :

OUTSTANDING EXERCISABLE

AVERAGE

REMAINING

CONTRACTUAL AVERAGE AVERAGE
RANGE OF EXERCISE PRICES SHARES LIFE PRICE SHARES PRICE
S 5.00 to $10.00. ...ttt it 161 1.4 $ 8.71 161 $ 8.71
S10.01 to $15.00. . ¢ iii ittt it i 137 4.4 $12.83 137 $12.83
S15.01 to $20.00. . ¢t i i ittt it 665 6.5 $18.50 456 $18.64
$20.01 to $30.00. . ¢t ittt i e 440 4.9 $27.57 180 $26.30
Total .t it e e e e e e e 1,403 5.2 $19.67 934 $17.55

The fair value of each option granted under the Incentive Plan and the
Stock Purchase Plan is estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes
option pricing model. The following weighted average assumptions were used for
grants in 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively: risk-free interest rates of 3.1%,
2.4% and 3.0%; expected volatility of 34%, 35% and 35%; and expected lives of
4.5, 3.8 and 3.3 years. The valuations assume no dividends are paid. The
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weighted average fair values of options granted in 2004, 2003 and 2002 were
$9.45, $5.77 and $5.84, respectively.
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NOTE 12: OFF-BALANCE SHEET RISK, CONCENTRATIONS OF CREDIT RISK AND FAIR VALUE
OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

OFF-BALANCE SHEET RISK AND CONCENTRATIONS OF CREDIT RISK

There were no off-balance sheet derivative financial instruments as of
December 31, 2004 or 2003.

Concentrations of credit risk with respect to trade receivables are limited
due to the wide variety of customers and industries to which the Company's
products are sold, as well as their dispersion across many different geographic
areas. As a result, the Company does not consider itself to have any significant
concentrations of credit risk as of December 31, 2004.

FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The Company's financial instruments consist primarily of cash and
equivalents, trade receivables, trade payables and debt instruments. The book
values of these instruments are not materially different from their respective
fair values.

The Company selectively uses derivative financial instruments to manage
interest costs and currency exchange risks. The Company does not hold
derivatives for trading purposes. No credit loss is anticipated, as the
counterparties to these agreements are major financial institutions with high
credit ratings.

To effectively manage interest costs, the Company utilizes interest rate
swaps as cash flow hedges of variable rate debt. Also as part of its hedging
strategy, the Company utilizes purchased option and forward exchange contracts
as cash flow hedges to minimize the impact of currency fluctuations on
transactions, cash flows and firm commitments. These contracts for the sale or
purchase of European and other currencies generally mature within one year.

Notional transaction amounts and fair values for the Company's outstanding
derivatives, by risk category and instrument type, as of December 31, 2004 and
2003, are summarized as follows. Fair values of the derivatives do not consider
the offsetting underlying hedged item.

2004 2003
NOTIONAL FAIR NOTIONAL FAIR
AMOUNT VALUE AMOUNT VALUE
Foreign currency forwardsS........eeeeeiiiiiinnnnneens S 6,129 (479) - -
Interest rate SWaPS .« v vttt it i m ettt eeeeeeeeeennenns $125,317 304 - -

NOTE 13: CONTINGENCIES
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The Company is a party to various legal proceedings, lawsuits and
administrative actions, which are of an ordinary or routine nature. In addition,
due to the bankruptcies of several asbestos manufacturers and other primary
defendants, the Company has been named as a defendant in an increasing number of
asbestos personal injury lawsuits. The Company has also been named as a
defendant in an increasing number of silicosis personal injury lawsuits. The
plaintiffs in these suits allege exposure to asbestos or silica from multiple
sources and typically the Company is one of approximately 25 or more named
defendants. In the Company's experience, the vast majority of the plaintiffs are
not impaired with a disease for which the Company bears any responsibility.

Predecessors to the Company manufactured, distributed and sold products
allegedly at issue in the pending asbestos and silicosis litigation lawsuits
(the "Products"). The Company has potential responsibility for certain of these
Products, namely: (a) air compressors which used asbestos containing components
manufactured and supplied by third parties; and (b) portable air compressors
used in sandblasting operations
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as a component of sandblasting equipment manufactured and sold by others. The
sandblasting equipment is alleged to have caused the silicosis disease
plaintiffs claim in these cases.

Neither the Company nor its predecessors ever mined, manufactured, mixed,
produced or distributed asbestos fiber. The asbestos-containing components used
in the Products were completely encapsulated in a protective non-asbestos binder
and enclosed within the subject Products. Furthermore, the Company has never
manufactured or distributed portable air compressors.

The Company has entered into a series of cost sharing agreements with
multiple insurance companies to secure coverage for asbestos and silicosis
lawsuits. The Company also believes some of the potential liabilities regarding
these lawsuits are covered by indemnity agreements with other parties. The
Company's uninsured settlement payments for past asbestos and silicosis lawsuits
have been immaterial.

The Company believes that the pending and future asbestos and silicosis
lawsuits will not, in the aggregate, have a material adverse effect on its
consolidated financial position, results of operations or liquidity, based on:
the Company's anticipated insurance and indemnification rights to address the
risks of such matters; the limited potential asbestos exposure from the
components described above; the Company's experience that the vast majority of
plaintiffs are not impaired with a disease attributable to alleged exposure to
asbestos or silica from or relating to the Products; various potential defenses
available to the Company with respect to such matters; and the Company's prior
disposition of comparable matters. However, due to inherent uncertainties of
litigation and because future developments could cause a different outcome,
there can be no assurance that the resolution of pending or future lawsuits,
whether by judgment, settlement or dismissal, will not have a material adverse
effect on its consolidated financial position, results of operations or
liquidity.

The Company has also been identified as a potentially responsible party
with respect to several sites designated for environmental cleanup under various
state and federal laws. The Company does not own any of these sites. The Company
does not believe that the future potential costs related to these sites will
have a material adverse effect on its consolidated financial position, results
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of operations or liquidity.
NOTE 14: SEGMENT INFORMATION

Subsequent to the acquisition of Nash Elmo and Syltone, the Company
continues to be organized based upon the products and services it offers and has
four operating divisions: Compressor, Blower, Liquid Ring Pump and Fluid
Transfer. These divisions comprise two reportable segments, Compressor and
Vacuum Products (formerly Compressed Air Products) and Fluid Transfer Products.
The Compressor, Blower (which now includes the Syltone transportation-related
activities and Nash Elmo's side channel blower business) and Liquid Ring Pump
(consisting of Nash Elmo's liquid ring pump business) Divisions are aggregated
into one reportable segment (Compressor and Vacuum Products) since the long-term
financial performance of these businesses are affected by similar economic
conditions, coupled with the similar nature of their products, manufacturing
processes and other business characteristics. During the third quarter of 2004,
the Company's former Pump and Fluid Transfer (which consisted of the Syltone
fluid transfer-related activities) Divisions were combined into one division,
Fluid Transfer. These two divisions were previously aggregated into one
reportable segment (Fluid Transfer Products) primarily due to the same factors
as noted above, and thus, there has been no change to the Fluid Transfer
Products segment.

In the Compressor and Vacuum Products segment, the Company designs,
manufactures, markets and services the following products and related
aftermarket parts for industrial and commercial applications: rotary screw,
reciprocating, sliding vane and centrifugal air compressors; positive
displacement, centrifugal and side channel blowers; and liquid ring pumps and
engineered systems. The markets served are primarily in the United States,
Europe and Asia.
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The Fluid Transfer Products segment designs, manufactures, markets and
services a diverse group of pumps, water jetting systems and related aftermarket
products used in oil and natural gas production, well servicing and drilling and
industrial cleaning and maintenance. This segment also designs, manufactures,
markets and services other fluid transfer components and equipment for the
chemical, petroleum and food industries. The markets served are primarily the
United States, Europe, Canada and Asia.

The accounting policies of the segments are the same as those described in
Note 1. The Company evaluates the performance of its segments based on income
before interest expense, other income, net and income taxes. Certain assets
attributable to corporate activity are not allocated to the segments. General
corporate assets (unallocated assets) consist of cash and equivalents and
deferred tax assets. Intersegment sales and transfers are not significant.

Summarized information about the Company's operations by business segment
and by geographic area follows:

REVENUES OPERATING EARNINGS IDENTIEF
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Compressor and Vacuum

Products............

Fluid Transfer

Products............

Interest expense......
Other income, net.....

Income before income

General corporate

(unallocated) .......

Total assets..........

Compressor and Vacuum

Products............
Fluid Transfer Products

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS —--—

NOTE 15: QUARTERLY FINANCIAL INFORMATION (UNAUD

ITED)

369,023 350,036 $ 46,681 27,792 29,795 $ 848,470
70,507 68,122 15,069 4,093 5,193 106,073
439,530 418,158 61,750 31,885 34,988 954,543
(10,102) (4,748) (6,365)
638 3,221 204
$ 52,286 30,358 28,827
74,066
$1,028, 609
LIFO LIQUIDATION DEPRECIATION AND AMORTIZATION
INCOME EXPENSE CAPITAL E
2003 2002 2004 2003 2002 2004
316 161 $17,902 11,739 11,517 $16,367
50 233 3,999 2,827 2,622 3,183
366 394 $21,901 14,566 14,139 $19,550 1
REVENUES PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMEN
2004 2003 2002 2004 2003 2002
$327,551 253,592 264,536 $ 71,026 58,581 61,372
237,775 97,198 85,735 70,055 16,686 14,672
93,150 39,963 25,999 5,834 — -
37,564 26,972 18,597 263 90 70
32,227 17,401 17,773 1,532 71 48
11,272 4,404 5,518 109 — —
$739,539 439,530 418,158  $148,819 75,428 76,162
F-32
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FIRST QUARTER SECOND QUARTER THIRD QUARTER FOURTH QUA
2004 2003 2004 2003 2004 2003 2004
Revenues........couue... $154,428 101,491 161,297 109,388 182,616 112,061 241,198 1
Gross margin(l)........ $ 49,917 30,717 52,647 33,237 59,320 33,863 79,220
Net
income (2), (3),(4).... $ 6,557 3,520 8,276 5,346 8,654 5,277 13,636
Basic earnings per
share................ $ 0.40 0.22 0.42 0.33 0.44 0.33 0.69
Diluted earnings per
share................ $ 0.39 0.22 0.41 0.33 0.43 0.32 0.67
Common stock prices:
High........ .. ..o ... $ 30.30 20.44 28.96 20.80 28.53 25.10 37.95
LOW.e o ettt e et eeeeeeeeenn $ 23.75 16.35 24 .55 18.10 25.36 20.05 27.15

(1) Gross margin equals revenues less cost of sales

(2) The quarter ended December 31, 2003 includes $2,184 from an unrealized
foreign currency transaction gain and $1,946 in charges related to
profitability improvement programs.

(3) The quarter ended March 31, 2004 includes $846 from an unrealized foreign
currency transaction gain.

(4) The quarter ended December 31, 2004 includes the favorable impact of $939
stemming from an adjustment to deprecation and amortization expense due to
finalizing the purchase price allocation for the Syltone acquisition. In
addition, the effective income tax rate for the quarter ended December 31,
2004 was 18.3% due to net favorable income tax reductions that lowered the
effective rate for the full year to 29.0%, compared to 32.0% for the prior
year quarter and full year.

Gardner Denver, Inc. common stock (symbol GDI) has traded on the New York
Stock Exchange since August 14, 1997, under the ticker symbol GDI. Prior to this
date, the Company's common stock traded on the Nasdag National Market tier of
the Nasdag Stock Market under the symbol GDMI.

NOTE 16: SUBSEQUENT EVENT (UNAUDITED)

On March 8, 2005, the Company signed a definitive agreement to acquire
Thomas Industries Inc. ("Thomas"), a New York Stock Exchange listed company
trading under the ticker symbol "TII." Thomas is a worldwide leader in the
design, manufacture and marketing of precision engineered pumps, compressors and
blowers. The agreed-upon purchase price is $40.00 per share for all outstanding
shares and share equivalents (approximately $734 million) and the assumption of
$9.5 million of long-term capitalized lease obligations. As of December 31,
2004, Thomas had $267 million in cash, cash equivalents and short-term
investments. The net transaction value, including assumed debt and net of cash,
is approximately $476 million.

Thomas is a leading supplier of pumps, compressors and blowers to the
original equipment manufacturer (OEM) market in such applications as medical
equipment, gasoline vapor and refrigerant recovery, automotive and
transportation applications, printing, packaging, tape drives and laboratory
equipment. Thomas designs, manufacturers, markets, sells and services these
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products through worldwide operations with regional headquarters as follows:
North American Group —-- Sheboygan, Wisconsin; European Group —-- Puchheim,
Germany; and Asia Pacific Group -- Hong Kong, China.

Thomas has wholly-owned operations in 21 countries on five continents. Its
primary manufacturing facilities are located in Sheboygan, Wisconsin, Monroe,
Louisiana, Skokie, Illinois and Syracuse, New York; Schopfheim, Fahrnau,
Puchheim and Memmingen, Germany; and Wuxi, China. The manufacturing operations
in the United States produce rotary vane, linear, piston and diaphragm pumps and
compressors, and various liquid pump technologies. These products are directly
sold worldwide to OEM's, as well as through fluid
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power and industrial distributors. The German operations manufacture a
complementary line of rotary vane, linear, diaphragm, gear, side channel,
radial, claw, screw and rotary lobe pumps, compressors and blowers, as well as
various liquid pump technologies, air-centers and centralized systems. These
products are also distributed worldwide. The manufacturing facility in China was
constructed during late 2004 and will begin production in mid 2005.

Thomas' largest markets are Europe and the United States, which represent
approximately 52% and 38% of its revenues, respectively. Of the total sales to
Europe, approximately 61% are to Germany and 39% to other European countries.
Approximately 10% of Thomas' revenues are generated in Asia Pacific. At December
31, 2004, Thomas employed approximately 2,200 people.

For the year ended December 31, 2004, Thomas' revenues and operating income
were $410 million and $209 million, respectively. Operating income for this
period included $19 million from Thomas' 32% interest in the Genlyte Thomas
Group LLC (GTG), a joint venture formed with The Genlyte Group Incorporated
(Genlyte) in 1998, and a $160 million nonrecurring gain on the sale of this
joint venture in July 2004. For the twelve-month period of 2004, operating
income from Thomas' Pumps and Compressors segment, net of corporate expenses,
was $30 million.

Gardner Denver has received a debt commitment to fully finance the
acquisition of Thomas. However, Gardner Denver intends to finance the
acquisition through an amended and expanded senior secured bank facility and a
public offering of approximately $200 million of its common stock. In addition,
the Company may choose to access the debt capital markets. The acquisition is
not conditioned upon completion of any of these financings and the size and
timing of the equity and any debt financings are subject to prevailing market
conditions.

The acquisition is expected to close in 2005 and is subject to the approval
of Thomas' stockholders and other customary closing conditions, including the

receipt of applicable regulatory approvals.
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Shareholders of Thomas Industries Inc:
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We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Thomas
Industries Inc. (a Delaware corporation) as of December 31, 2004 and 2003, and
the related consolidated statements of income, shareholders' equity, and cash
flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2004. These
financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our
responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on
our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public
Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that
we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes
examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in
the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting
principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as
evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our
audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly,
in all material respects, the consolidated financial position of Thomas
Industries Inc. at December 31, 2004 and 2003, and the consolidated results of
their operations and their cash flows for each of the three years in the period
ended December 31, 2004, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting
principles.

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP

Louisville, Kentucky
March 10, 2005

THOMAS INDUSTRIES INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME

YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31

(IN THOUSANDS, EXCEPT SHARE DATA)

NEl SOl S . ittt it ittt et ettt ettt ee e e eeeeeeeeeseeeeenneeeeenens $410,114 $376,774
Cost Of Products SOLld. .. i ittt ittt ittt ettt eaeeeeeeen 262,654 246,832
GroOSSs Profit . ittt ittt e e e e e e e e e e e e e 147,460 129,942
Selling, general and administrative expenses................ 117,728 101,943
Equity income from GTG. .. .. u vt iiie et et eeeeeeeaneeeeenns 18,608 32,138
Gain on sale Of Gl G. i i it ittt ittt et ettt ettt eeeeneeaeeens 160,410

Operating InCOmME. & vt ittt it e et e e ettt et ettt e 208,750 60,137
TNt EresSt EXPEN S . ¢ ittt ettt ettt e ettt ea et 2,691 4,237
Interest INCOME . @ v it ittt it ettt et ettt ettt et et eeeeeeeneeaens 2,335 312
Other 1NCOmMEe (EXPENSE) t v vt ittt ittt ettt eeeeeeeeeeaneeeeees (724) (533)
Income before income taxes and minority interest............ 207,670 55,679
TN COME L AXE S e v vt i ettt e et ettt et teeeeeeeeeeneeeeeeeeeeneeaens 93,516 18,340

$240, 602
154,904
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Income before minority interest....... ...ttt eennnn 114,154 37,339 32,713
Minority interest, net of tax........ ittt iennnnnn - 25 21
J N A o KoL $114,154 $ 37,314 $ 32,692
Net income per share
R = T 0= T 2 $ 6.53 $ 2.17 S 2.06
—= Diluted. i e e e e e e S 6.44 S 2.12 S 2.00
Dividends declared per Share........iiiteeeeeeeeeeeeneennnns S 0.38 S 0.37 S 0.34

See accompanying notes.
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

DECEMBER 31

(IN THOUSANDS)

ASSETS
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalent s . .u e u e ettt ittt eeeneeeeennnnns $133,472 $ 23,933
Short—-term Investment S . ...ttt ittt ittt ettt e tnenens 133,627 ——
Accounts receivable, nNet..... .ttt e e 58,305 52,819
598 ol sl X == 75,207 65,895
Deferred 1NCOME LaAXE S . it i ittt eeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeneeneeanens 5,101 6,688
Other current assSet S . ... ittt it ittt ittt et et e eeaeeanns 7,514 6,287
Total CUrrent ASSEeL S . i i it ii ittt ittt it ettt e ettt eneaneean 413,226 155,622
Property, plant and equipment, net........... ittt 114,868 108,350
Investment In Gl G. .t i i ittt ittt ettt ettt ettt s eeeeeeeaeeaens —— 214,405
(€7 Yo L 2n P 68,639 70,164
Other intangible assets, Nel. ...ttt teennnennnn 22,659 21,788
(O 1ol o = = i Y 2,544 2,805
] o= T A = $621,936 $573,134
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY
Current liabilities
NOLES PAVAD e . i ittt e et ettt ettt ettt e e e S - $ 3,088
Accounts payvable. ...ttt e e e e e e e e e e e e 17,999 14,312
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities............ 34,204 30,519
Dividends payable. ...ttt ittt ettt e e 1,689 1,642
Income taxes payvable. .. ..ttt ittt et e e 1,758 595
Current portion of long-term debt.......... ..., 1,797 9,885
Total current liabilities. ...ttt ittt eeeetneennenn 57,447 60,041
Deferred 1NCOME LaAXE S . vt i u ettt eeteeeeeeeeeeneeeeeeneeneeens 8,978 6,177
Long-term debt, less current portion.............cceeeeiee... 7,751 102,673
Long-term pension liability....... it ieennnennnn 12,170 11,279
Other long-term liabilities........iiiiiiiiiiineenennennnn 8,657 9,609
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Total liabilitdes. . i ittt ittt ee e et eeeeeenanaaens 95,003 189,779
Shareholders' equity:
Preferred stock, $1 par value, shares authorized:
3,000,000, NONE 1SSUEA. .ttt it imteteeneeeeeeneeneenneens - -
Common stock, $1 par value, shares authorized: 60,000,000,
shares issued: 2004-18,648,723; 2003-18,108,664........ 18,649 18,109
Capital SULPLUS .t ittt ettt ettt et ettt et eaeeeee e 149,586 137,041
Deferred compensation. . ... ..ottt eeeeeeeeennenns 1,558 1,211
Treasury stock held for deferred compensation............. (1,558) (1,211)
Retained earningsS. ...ttt ittt ittt e teeeeeeeeennaeens 323,799 216,296
Accumulated other comprehensive income.................... 46,958 23,968
Less cost of 822,339 treasury shares..........oiiiean.. (12,059) (12,059)
Total shareholders' eqUitY. ...ttt ittt i et eeneenns 526,933 383,355
Total liabilities and shareholders' equity............c... ... $621,936 $573,134

See accompanying notes.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY

ENDED DECEMBER 31

YEARS
2004
Common stock:
Beginning Of Year. ...ttt ettt ettt ettt eeeaaeeeeaean $ 18,109
Stock options exercised. . ... ..ottt e e e 528
Shares issued to deferred share trust..................... 11
L o 1
0 o @ @ B S ol 18,649
Capital surplus:
Beginning of year. .. ...ttt ettt e e 137,041
Treasury shares issued in connection with acquisition..... -
Stock options exercised. . ... ..ttt e e e 8,384
Tax benefit from options exercised and other.............. 3,818
Shares issued to deferred share trust..................... 343
ENd Of VAT . ittt ittt it e e et e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e 149,586
Deferred compensation:
Beginning of year. .. ...ttt ittt e e e e 1,211
Deferred compensation. ... ..ottt tneeeeeeeeennenns 347
0 o @ @ B S ol 1,558

Treasury stock held for deferred compensation:
Beginning of year. .. ...ttt ittt e e e (1,211
Increase in treasury stock held for deferred

(IN THOUSANDS)

$ 17,948 $ 17,856

147 89
14 3

18,109 17,948
133,964 114,342

— 18,356

1,703 657

1,039 517

335 92

137,041 133,964

846 739

365 107

1,211 846

) (846) (739)
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[aTe) 111 TS0 o F=T= N e I ) o (347) (365) (107)

0 o @ @ B S ol (1,558) (1,211) (846)

Retained earnings:

Beginning of year. .. ...ttt ittt et e e e 216,296 185,351 158,161
J LR e o 11T 114,154 37,314 32,692
Cash dividends declared. . v .ttt ittt ettt tetenenens (6,651) (6,369) (5,502)
e Lo o B AV Y= s 323,799 216,296 185,351

Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss):

Beginning of year. .. ...ttt ittt et e e 23,968 (10,837) (14,189)
Other comprehensive income (1loss) (1) ..., 22,990 34,805 3,352
e Lo o B AV Y= s 46,958 23,968 (10,837)

Treasury stock:

Beginning of year. .. ...ttt ittt et e e e (12,059) (12,059) (38,457)

Treasury shares issued in connection with acquisition..... - - 26,398

ENnd Of YeaT . ittt ittt et e et e e e e e e e e e e e (12,059) (12,059) (12,059)

Total shareholders' Uity ...ttt it ettt eeeeennnnneens $526,933 $383, 355 $314,367
F-38

THOMAS INDUSTRIES INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY —-- (CONTINUED)

(1) A reconciliation of net income to total comprehensive income follows.

YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31

(IN THOUSANDS)

Net I1NCOmME. .« ittt e ettt ettt et et eeeeeeseeeeeannans $114,154 $37,314 $32,692
Other comprehensive income (loss):
Minimum pension liability (increase) .........c.c....... 7,942 (225) (6,783)
Related faX EXPEeNSE. it i it ittt ettt eeaeeneeenens (3,012) 196 2,476
Derivative adjustment........ ...t nnn. 454 178 -
Related tax expense (credit) .......ciiiiiiieeeen.. (173) (67) ——
Foreign currency translation............ccuiiiiieeeo.. 17,779 34,723 7,659
Total change in other comprehensive income (loss)...... 22,990 34,805 3,352
Total comprehensive INnCOmME. .......uieeeennneeeeennnnnns $137,144 $72,119 $36,044

Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) was comprised of foreign
currency translation gains (losses) of $47,922,000, $30,143,000 and
($4,580,000), and minimum pension liabilities, net of tax, of ($1,356,000),
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($6,286,000) and ($6,257,000), at December 31, 2004, 2003, and 2002,

respectively. The change in the minimum pension liabilities was primarily due to
the GTIG sale transaction. Additionally, accumulated other comprehensive income
(loss) included gains of $392,000 and $111,000, net of tax, from derivative

adjustments, at December 31, 2004 and 2003.
See accompanying notes.
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THOMAS INDUSTRIES INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOW

YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31

(IN THOUSANDS)

OPERATING ACTIVITIES
L= S 15's ¥ 11 $ 114,154
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash (used in)

provided by operating activities:

Depreciation and intangible amortization.................. 16,340
Deferred 1NCOME LaAXE S . i it it ieteeeeeeeeeeneeeeeeneeneeaens 1,376
Equity income from GTG. .. ...ttt imieeeeeeeneeeeeeeennneenns (18,608)
Gain on Sale Of GTG. v ittt ittt ettt et ettt et ettt e e (160,410)
Distributions from GTG. ... ..ttt iitteeeeeeeeeeneeneeanns 4,350
Other dfemsS . @ittt ittt e e e e e e e ettt e e et e et 966

Changes in operating assets and liabilities net of effect
of acquisitions:

Accounts recelvable. . ...ttt e e e e e e e e (3,312)
B 0 RV o w3 I == (4,905)
Accounts pavable. ...ttt e e e e e e e e e 2,827
Income taxes payvable. ... ..ttt ittt 4,086
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities......... (2,007)
[ sl (6,768)
Net cash (used in) provided by operating activities......... (51,911)
INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchases of property, plant and equipment.................. (16,403)
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment......... 268
Proceeds from sale Of GTG. .. ..ttt tttetteteeeeeeeneenneens 400,902
Purchases of short-term investments..........ciiiiiiennnn. (431,322)
Proceeds from sale of short-term investments................ 297,695
Adjustments (payments) for purchase of companies, net of
Cash aCqUIired. ..ttt ittt et e e et ettt et e 6,154
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities......... 257,294
FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from (payments on) short-term debt, net............ (2,904)
Payments on long-term debt....... ...ttt (122,356)
Proceeds from long-term debt....... ...t ennnnnennn 18,638
Dividends paid. . ...ttt ittt ettt e e e e (6,604)
Proceeds from stock options exercised..........iiiiiiiiee... 8,912
Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities......... (104,314)
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash..................... 8,470

$ 37,314

15,207
1,326

(32,138)
13,299
462

(20,108)
327

(23,199)

1,334
(19,672)

16,247
(6,182)

1,850

$ 32,692

10,468
621
(28,804)

13,785
1,291
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Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents........ 109,539 5,054 (10,621
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year.............. 23,933 18,879 29,500
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year.........c.cuvuvennn.. $ 133,472 $ 23,933 $ 18,879

SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURES OF CASH FLOW INFORMATION
Non-cash items:
Issuance of treasury shares in connection with
F=RoTo 16 0 =T I il 8 J'o NS S - S - $ 44,754
Capital lease arrangement S . .. ..ottt eeeenenneneeeeennns S - S - $ 1,292

See accompanying notes.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2004

1. DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS

Thomas Industries Inc. and subsidiaries (the Company or Thomas) and
affiliates operates in the Pump and Compressor Segment which designs,
manufactures and sells pumps and compressors for use in global original
equipment manufacturing (OEM) applications as well as construction equipment,
systems and laboratory equipment. The Company also provides aftermarket service
and spare parts to support OEM and end-user customers around the world.
Manufacturing facilities and sales and distribution operations are located in
North America and Europe, with additional sales and distribution operations
located in Asia, Australia and South America. A new manufacturing facility in
Asia will begin operations in 2005. Through July 31, 2004, the Company also
operated in the Lighting Segment through its 32% interest in Genlyte Thomas
Group LLC (GTG). GTG, which was formed August 30, 1998, designs, manufactures,
markets and sells lighting products principally in North America for commercial,
industrial and residential applications.

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES
BASIS OF PRESENTATION

Effective August 30, 1998, the Company and The Genlyte Group Incorporated
(Genlyte) formed GTG, combining Thomas' and Genlyte's lighting businesses.
Effective with the close of business on July 31, 2004, the Company sold its
interest in GTG. Genlyte had a 68% interest in GTG, and Thomas held a 32%
interest, which was accounted for using the equity method of accounting.

PRINCIPLES OF CONSOLIDATION

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company.
Affiliates not required to be consolidated are accounted for using the equity
method, under which the Company's share of earnings of these affiliates is
included in income as earned. Intercompany accounts and transactions are
eliminated.

USE OF ESTIMATES

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States requires
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management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in
the financial statements. Actual results could differ from these estimates.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and cash equivalents consist of liquid investments with initial
maturities of three months or less.

SHORT-TERM INVESTMENTS

Short-term investments are classified as available-for-sale securities and
include tax advantaged debt securities with original maturities ranging from
four to 38 years. These debt securities are callable at par value (cost) based
on seven to 35 days notification to the bondholders. The Company has the option
to either sell or put these securities every seven to 35 days and these
securities will normally be held for less than one year. The securities are
carried on the balance sheet at fair market value, which is equivalent to cost.
Current period adjustments to the carrying value of available-for-sale
securities would be included in accumulated other comprehensive income within
stockholder's equity. Because of the nature of all these investments, cost does
not differ from fair market value, so there are no such adjustments to the
carrying value.
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Financial instruments consist principally of cash and cash equivalents,
short-term investments, trade receivables and payables. The carrying amounts for
these instruments approximate fair value due to their short maturities. The
Company also uses forward currency exchange contracts which are recorded at fair
value on the balance sheet. See further discussion of these forward currency
exchange contracts under "Currency Risk Management" included in footnote 2.

CONCENTRATION OF CREDIT RISK

Assets that potentially subject the Company to concentration of credit risk
are cash and cash equivalents, short-term investments, and accounts receivable.
Cash and cash equivalents consist of liquid investments in investment grade,
short-term instruments which limits the amount of credit exposure. Investment
policies have been implemented which limit short-term investments to investment
grade securities with multiple financial institutions which limits credit
exposure. The Company sells products and services to customers in diversified
industries and geographic regions and provides credit to most of these
customers. The Company continuously evaluates the creditworthiness of its
customers and generally does not require collateral. No single customer accounts
for more than 10% of annual sales. Based on the Company's wide variety of
customers and markets, concentration of credit risk in accounts receivable is
not considered significant.

INVENTORIES

Inventories are valued at the lower of cost or market. Inventories valued
using the last-in, first-out (LIFO) method represented approximately 21% and 23%
of consolidated inventories at December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively.
Inventories not on LIFO are valued using the first-in, first-out (FIFO) method.
Inventories at December 31 consist of the following:
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(IN THOUSANDS)

Finished gOOdS . v i ittt ittt ettt et e teeeeeeeeneeeeeeenennns $36,331 $29,004
RAW MALETIA LS. ittt ittt ettt ettt ettt ettt e teeeeeeeaeeaeeens 31,674 28,250
WOTK Il PrOCE S S e it i it et ettt e ettt ettt eaeee e eneeaeeeeeenns 7,202 8,641
J ] it=T H 1 0 V=Y o o B 1 == $75,207 $65,895

On a current cost basis, inventories would have been $4,957,000 and
$4,639,000 higher than reported at December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
The cost of property, plant and equipment is depreciated principally by the
straight-line method over their estimated useful lives ranging from 3 to 31.5
years. Expenditures for maintenance, repairs and renewals of minor items are
expensed as incurred. Major renewals and improvements are capitalized. Property,
plant and equipment at December 31 consisted of the following:
F-42
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS —-- (CONTINUED)

= oL $ 10,299 $ 8,171
= B T o e 5 = 52,348 48,143
Leasehold ImprovVeEmMENt S . @ v vttt it ettt ettt et eaeeeeeenns 6,985 6,291
Machinery and equipment . ...ttt ittt ittt teeeeeeeeennenns 133,361 122,518

202,993 185,123
Accumulated depreciation and amortization................... (88,125) (76, 773)
Total property, plant and equipment, net...........oieuee... $114,868 $108, 350

Depreciation expense relating to property, plant and equipment, which
includes capital lease items, was approximately $15,410,000, $14,361,000 and
$9,772,000 during 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively.

Capital leases for land, building, machinery and equipment, autos and
software included above were $14,418,000 and $13,337,000 at December 31, 2004
and 2003, respectively. Accumulated depreciation on capital leases was
$3,355,000 and $2,039,000 at December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively.

GOODWILL AND OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Beginning in 2002 with the adoption of Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards (SFAS) No. 142, "Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets," goodwill and
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indefinite lived intangible assets are no longer amortized, but instead are
tested for impairment by applying a fair-value based test at least annually, and
more frequently if circumstances indicate a possible impairment.

The statement requires a two-step process for impairment testing. The first
step, used to identify potential impairment only, compares the fair value of the
reporting unit, which is a level below the reportable segments disclosed in Note
13 —— "Industry Segment Information", with its net carrying amount on the
financial statements. Fair value of the reporting unit is estimated based on the
present value of estimated future cash flows of the reporting unit. If the fair
value of the reporting unit exceeds its carrying amount, goodwill is not
considered impaired; thus the second step of the process is not necessary. If
the carrying amount of a reporting unit exceeds its fair value, the second step
of the goodwill impairment test shall be performed to measure the amount of
impairment loss, if any. If the carrying value of goodwill on the financial
statements exceeds the implied fair value of goodwill, the difference must be
recognized as an impairment loss. Implied fair value of goodwill shall be
determined in the same manner as the amount of goodwill recognized in a business
combination is determined.

If the carrying amount of an intangible asset with an indefinite life
exceeds its fair value, an impairment loss 1is recognized in an amount equal to
the excess. Separate intangible assets that are not deemed to have an indefinite
life continue to be amortized over their useful lives.

The Company tested the goodwill of all its reporting units for impairment
during the fourth quarter of 2004. This assessment did not indicate any
impairment.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS —-- (CONTINUED)

The changes in net carrying amount of goodwill for the years ended December
31, 2004 and 2003 were as follows (in thousands) :

2004 2003
Balance at beginning of year.........iii ittt eennnnnnnn $70,164 $55, 669
Adjustments to Rietschle acquisition.............oioinnn.. (6,154) 5,593
Minority interest acquisitions............iiiiiiiiiinnenn. - 1,778
Aldax aCqUIS L ioN . v ettt ittt ettt e e e e e e e e e e e e e (86) 2,175
Translation adjustments and other.......... ... 4,715 4,949
Balance at end Of YeaT ... i ittt ittt ettt eeeeenenoneeeeeeeeennns 568,639 $70,164

The goodwill included in the balance sheets is related to the Pump and
Compressor Segment.

Certain intangible assets have definite lives and are being amortized.
Amortizable intangible assets at December 31 consist of the following (in
thousands) :
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2004 2003
ACCUMULATED ACCUMULATED
LIFE COST AMORTIZATION LIFE COST AMORTIZATION
LiCensSesS . ittt eeenenneens 18-19 S 487 $ 218 18-19 S 503 S 207
Patents......ouviiiieennnnn 5-20 6,320 1,295 5-20 5,917 771
Other......iiiiiiiinna.. 1-10 4,267 1,470 1-10 3,619 890
Total..e et e i iieiiienn $11,074 $2,983 $10,039 $1,868

The total intangible amortization expense for the years ended December 31,
2004, 2003 and 2002 was $930,000, $846,000 and $696,000, respectively.

The estimated amortization expense for the next five years consists of the
following (in thousands):

200 . e e e e e e e e e $1,002
2006 . it e e e e e e e e e 1,002
O 991
2008 . i e e e e e e e e e e 938
2000 . i e e e e e e e e e e 829

The Company has various trademarks totaling $13,876,000 and $12,831,000 at
December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively, that are not amortized. Also included
in other intangible assets is an intangible asset associated with the minimum
pension liability of $692,000 and $786,000 as of December 31, 2004 and 2003,
respectively.

LONG-LIVED ASSETS

The Company periodically evaluates the recoverability of the carrying
amount of long-lived assets (including property, plant and equipment, and
intangible assets with determinable lives) whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be fully
recoverable. We evaluate events or changes in circumstances based on a number of
factors including operating results, business plans and forecasts, general and
industry trends and economic projections and anticipated cash flows. An
impairment is assessed when the undiscounted expected future cash flows derived
from an asset are less than its carrying amount. Impairment losses are measured
as the amount by which the carrying value of an asset exceeds its fair value and
are recognized in earnings. We also continually evaluate the estimated useful
lives of all long-lived assets and when warranted revise such estimates based on
current events. There were
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no significant impairment charges recorded in 2004 and 2003, but during the
fourth quarter of 2002, the Company recorded a $594,000 change in the Pump and

Compressor Segment's cost of sales to write-down certain assets to market value.

EXIT COSTS FOR WUPPERTAL, GERMANY FACILITY
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In February 2004, the Company announced the closing of its Wuppertal,
Germany manufacturing facility in an effort to further consolidate its European
manufacturing operations and strengthen its market position by concentrating its
product, logistics, and engineering capacity. The exit activities were completed
by December 31, 2004, with the exception of some minor severance which could be
paid in 2005. The following table describes the 2004 activity and the exit
liability as of December 31, 2004 (in thousands) :

BEGINNING BALANCE ENDING BALANCE
AT JAN. 1, 2004 ACCRUALS EXPENDITURES AT DEC. 31, 200
Exit Costs:
Ve aANCE e v v v vttt et ettt eeeeeeen - $1,642 $(1,622) $20
Contract termination............. —— 8 (8) -

Total exit CcOStS. v i, - $1,650 $(1,630) $20

In addition to the $1,650,000 exit charge noted above, the Company has
recorded $1,186,000 of additional charges in the twelve months ended December
31, 2004 which include costs to coordinate the facility shutdown ($488,000),
fixed asset disposal and other charges to write down assets to net realizable
value ($455,000) and training & other costs related to the transfer of
production from the Wuppertal facility ($243,000). The carrying value of assets
held for sale related to the Wuppertal facility is not significant.

Approximately $2.7 million of the costs associated with this exit activity
were recorded in selling, general and administrative expenses of the Pump and
Compressor Segment, while $.1 million of expense related to loss on asset
disposal was recorded in Other Income (Expense).

No additional exit cost charges or other shutdown related expenses are
expected related to the Wuppertal facility.

FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSLATION

The local currency is the functional currency for the Company's foreign
subsidiaries. Operating results are translated into U.S. dollars using monthly
average exchange rates, while balance sheet accounts are translated using
year—-end exchange rates. The resulting translation adjustments are included as a
component of accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) in shareholders'
equity.

COLLECTIVE BARGAINING AGREEMENTS
As of December 31, 2004, the Company had approximately 14.3% of its
workforce represented by labor unions. Union contracts have varying expiration
dates beginning with June 30, 2005 and ending with March 7, 2008. Management
does not expect the expiration and renegotiation of these agreements to have a
significant impact on 2004 or 2005 results of operations.
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REVENUE RECOGNITION

Revenue from product sales is recognized upon title transfer, which occurs
upon shipment, based on our customary terms of sale, which are FOB shipping
point. We do have exceptions to this general policy which are described as
follows:

1) Revenues from service and repair activities have been equal to or
below 6% of our total sales in 2004, 2003 and 2002. Most of these service
and repair revenues do not involve a shipment of product, but instead,
relate to the performance of a service or repair. Billings for these
activities are not made until the service activity has occurred. There are
other instances where we offer customers an annual service contract, which
we invoice in twelve monthly billings.

2) There are instances where we have consignment inventory
arrangements and in these instances, revenue is not recorded upon shipment
to the original customer. Revenue is only recorded when the original
customer ships the inventory to their customer or uses it for other
purposes. These consignment inventory arrangements are insignificant in
amount in all periods presented.

3) There are instances where our terms of sale are FOB destination. We
record accounting entries at the end of reporting periods, to make sure
these revenues are deferred to the subsequent period. These instances are
insignificant in amount in all periods presented.

Credit 1is extended based on local business customs and practices, and
collateral is not required. We estimate and record provisions for warranties in
the period the related products are sold. The warranty liabilities are
established based upon management's assessment of the various product warranty
periods, historical data and trends of warranty claims paid, and any current
information regarding specific warranty issues. While the Company engages in
extensive product quality programs and processes, should actual product failure
rates differ from estimates, revisions to the estimated warranty liability would
be required.

RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT COSTS

Research and development costs, which include costs of product improvements
and design, are expensed as incurred ($22,131,000 in 2004, $19,736,000 in 2003,
and $11,789,000 in 2002).

SHIPPING AND HANDLING COSTS

All shipping and handling amounts billed to a customer in a sale
transaction are classified as revenue. In addition to shipping and handling
costs included in cost of products sold, the Company also has shipping and
handling costs included in selling, general and administrative expenses totaling
$5,817,000, $4,765,000 and $1,736,000 for 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively.

PRODUCT WARRANTY COSTS

The Company generally offers warranties for most of its products for
periods from one to five years. The specific terms and conditions of these
warranties vary depending on the product sold and country in which the Company
does business. The Company estimates the costs that may be incurred under its
warranty and records a liability in the amount of such costs at the time product
revenue 1s recognized. Factors that affect the Company's warranty liability
include the number of units sold, historical and anticipated rates of warranty
claims, and cost per claim. The Company periodically assesses the adequacy of
its recorded warranty liability and adjusts the amount as necessary.
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Changes in the Company's warranty liability for December 31 are as follows
(in thousands) :

2004 2003
Balance at beginning of year.......c..iiiiiinnieeeeenennnnnn $ 5,382 $ 2,674
Warranties issued during the year...... ...t eeennn. 2,908 4,045
Settlements made during the year....... ... innnnn. (3,357) (2,856)
Warranty liability assumed in acquisition of business....... —= 956
Foreign currency translation adjustment..................... 405 563
Balance at end Of YeaT ...t ittt ittt ettt eeeeeeeoneeeeeneennnns $ 5,338 $ 5,382

ADVERTISING COSTS

Advertising costs consist of expenses related to promoting the Company's
products, including trade shows, web development, advertising and collateral
material and are charged to expense when incurred. Advertising expense was
$3,234,000, $3,306,000, and $2,142,000 in 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively.

STOCK BASED COMPENSATION

Stock options are granted under various stock compensation programs to
employees and independent directors (see Note 9, "Shareholders' Equity"). In
December 2003, the Company adopted the fair value recognition provisions of
accounting for stock-based compensation under Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards No. 123, "Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation," (SFAS 123) which
requires the Company to expense the fair value of employee stock options
prospectively for all employee awards granted, modified, or settled after
January 1, 2003. Awards under the Company's plan vest over a period of five
years. Therefore, the cost related to stock-based employee compensation included
in the determination of net income for 2003 is less than that which would have
been recognized if the fair value based method had been applied to all awards
since the original effective date of Statement 123. For employee stock options
granted prior to 2003, the Company continues to use the intrinsic value based
method of accounting prescribed by Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25,
"Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees" (APB 25). For purposes of pro forma
disclosures, the estimated fair value of the options granted prior to 2003 is
amortized to expense over the options' vesting period.

Included in stock option activity, but accounted for in accordance with
SFAS No. 123, are options granted to GIG employees, for which the Company has
recorded compensation expense. This compensation expense, shown net of tax, is
also included in the pro forma information on the following table.
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The following table illustrates the effect on net income and earnings per
share if the fair value based method had been applied to all outstanding and
unvested awards in each period.

(IN THOUSANDS, EXCEPT SHARE DATA)

Net income (as reported) ...t i i i it ee et eeeeennnnans $114,154 $37,314 $32,692
Add: Stock-based compensation expense for GTG employees
included in reported net income, net of related tax

effects. i e e 603 249 190
Add: Stock-based employee compensation expense included
in reported net income, net of related tax effects... 11 101 -

Deduct: Total stock-based employee compensation
determined under fair value based method for all

awards, net of related tax effects................... (1,059) (931) (966)
Net income (Pro forma) .....c.uii i i i nnnee et eeeennnnnans $113,709 $36, 733 $31,916
Net income per share (Basic) —-—- As reported............ S 6.53 S 2.17 S 2.06

@ T e B = 6.50 2.14 2.01
Net income per share (Diluted) -- As reported.......... 6.44 2.12 2.00

@ T e B = P 6.41 2.09 1.95

NEW ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS

In November 2004, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards No. 151 (FASB 151), Inventory Costs. The Company is required to adopt
the provisions of FASB 151, on a prospective basis, as of January 1, 2006. FASB
151 clarifies the accounting for abnormal amounts of idle facility expense,
freight, handling costs, and wasted material. FASB 151 requires that those
items —-- if abnormal -- be recognized as expenses in the period incurred. In
addition, FASB 151 requires the allocation of fixed production overheads to the
costs of conversions based upon the normal capacity of the production
facilities. The Company has not yet determined what effect FASB 151 will have on
its earnings and financial position.

In December 2004, FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards
No. 123 (revised 2004) (FASB 123R), Share-Based Payment. FASB 123R will require
the Company to expense share-based payments, including employee stock options,
based on their fair value. The Company is required to adopt the provisions of
FASB 123R effective as of the beginning of its third quarter in 2005, however,
earlier adoption in 2005 is allowed. FASB 123R provides alternative methods of
adoption which include prospective application and a modified retroactive
application. The Company adopted the fair-value method of accounting for
share-based payments effective January 1, 2003 using the prospective method
described in FASB Statement No. 148, Accounting for Stock-Based
Compensation —-- Transition and Disclosure. Currently, the Company uses the
Black-Scholes-Merton formula to estimate the value of stock options granted to
employees and expects to continue to use this acceptable option valuation model
upon the required adoption of Statement 123R on July 1, 2005. Because Statement
123R must be applied not only to new awards, but to previously granted awards
that are not fully vested on the effective date, and because the Company adopted
Statement 123 using the prospective transition method (which applied only to
awards granted, modified or settled after the adoption date), compensation cost
for some previously granted awards that were not recognized under Statement 123
will be recognized under Statement 123R. However, had we adopted Statement 123R
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in prior periods, the impact of that standard would have approximated the impact
of Statement 123 as described in the disclosure of pro forma net income and
earnings per share noted above. Statement 123R also requires the benefits of tax
deductions in excess of recognized compensation cost to be reported as a
financing cash flow, rather than as an operating cash flow as required under
current literature. This requirement will reduce net operating cash flows and
increase net financing cash flows in periods after
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adoption. While the Company cannot estimate what those amounts will be in the
future (because they depend on, among other things, when those employees
exercise stock options), the amount of operating cash flows recognized in prior
periods for such excess tax deductions were $2,805,000, $464,000, and $221,000
in 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively. The 2004 amount was significantly higher
than 2003 and 2002 due primarily to the increased options exercised by GTG
employees. The vesting of options to GTG employees was accelerated and the
options became 100% vested as of December 31, 2004. As part of the GIG sale
agreement, the GTG employees had until December 31, 2004 to exercise or forfeit
their options.

In December 2004, the FASB issued FASB Staff Position (FSP) 109-1,
"Application of FASB Statement No. 109, Accounting for Income Taxes, to the Tax
Deduction on Qualified Production Activities Provided by the American Jobs
Creation Act of 2004" and FSP 109-2, "Accounting for Disclosure Guidance for the
Foreign Earnings Repatriation Provision within the American Jobs Creation Act of
2004." FSP 109-1 provides a tax deduction on qualified production activities,
while FSP 109-2 introduces a special one-time dividends-received deduction on
the repatriation of certain foreign earnings to a U.S. taxpayer, provided
certain criteria are met. The Company has adopted both of these staff positions
in 2004 (See Note 7).

CURRENCY RISK MANAGEMENT

All derivative instruments are recorded at fair value on the balance sheet
and all changes in fair value are recorded to earnings or to shareholders'
equity through other comprehensive income in accordance with SFAS No. 133, as
amended, "Accounting for Derivatives and Hedging Activity" (SFAS 133).

The Company uses forward currency exchange contracts to manage its
exposures to the variability of cash flows primarily related to the purchase of
inventory manufactured in Europe but inventoried and sold in non
Euro-denominated countries. These contracts are designated as cash flow hedges.

The Company does not use derivative instruments for trading or speculative
purposes.

All of the Company's derivative contracts are adjusted to current market
values each period and qualify for hedge accounting under SFAS 133. The periodic
gains and losses of the contracts designated as cash flow hedges are deferred in
other comprehensive income until the underlying transactions are recognized.
Upon recognition, such gains and losses are recorded in operations as an
adjustment to the carrying amounts of the underlying transactions in the period
in which these transactions are recognized. The carrying values of derivative
contracts are included in other current assets.

The Company's policy requires that contracts used as hedges must be
effective at reducing the risk associated with the exposure being hedged and
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must be designated as a hedge at the inception of the contract. Hedging
effectiveness is assessed periodically. Any contract that is either not
designated as a hedge, or is so designated but is ineffective, is marked to
market and recognized in earnings immediately. If a cash flow hedge ceases to
qualify for hedge accounting or is terminated, the contract would continue to be
carried on the balance sheet at fair value until settled and future adjustments
to the contract's fair value would be recognized in earnings immediately. If a
forecasted transaction were no longer probable to occur, amounts previously
deferred in other comprehensive income would be recognized immediately in
earnings. Additional disclosure related to the Company's hedging contracts is
provided in Note 14.

OTHER

Accounts receivable at December 31, 2004 and 2003 was net of an allowance
for doubtful accounts of $2,303,000 and $2,270,000, respectively.

Certain prior year amounts have been reclassified to conform to the current
year presentation.
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3. ACQUISITIONS

On November 20, 2003, the Company purchased the remaining 25% minority
interests in the Company's New Zealand subsidiary for $244,000. All of the
purchase price was allocated to goodwill. The Company now owns 100% of the New
Zealand subsidiary.

On July 31, 2003, the Company purchased all of the outstanding equity
interests of Aldax AB, of Stockholm, Sweden for $2.6 million, of which $1.7
million was paid in cash at the acquisition date, while $944,000 was recorded as
a long-term liability to be paid on July 31, 2005 in accordance with the
purchase agreement. Approximately $2.0 million of the purchase price was
allocated to goodwill.

On April 11, 2003, the Company purchased the remaining 20% minority
interests in the Company's Italian subsidiary for $1.5 million. All of the
purchase price was allocated to goodwill. The Company now owns 100% of the
Italian subsidiary.

On August 29, 2002, the Company purchased substantially all the assets and
liabilities of Werner Rietschle Holding GmbH ("Rietschle"), a privately held
company based in Schopfheim, Germany. Rietschle is a world leader in vacuum and
pressure technology, which includes dry-running and oil-lubricated pumps,
blowers, compressors, and pressure/vacuum pumps utilizing rotary vane, screw,
roots and claw technologies. With the Rietschle product line, the Company wants
to pursue further opportunities through growth in markets such as printing,
packaging, woodworking and many other applications that fit Rietschle
technologies. The purchase price consisted of $83.3 million in cash and
1,800,000 treasury shares of the Company's common stock, for which fair value
was calculated by using a six-day average stock price, determined three days
before and after the acquisition date. The Company negotiated a $120.0 million
revolving credit facility with a group of banks to finance the cash portion of
the purchase price. Rietschle's operating results are included in the Company's
results since the date of acquisition.

On June 3, 2004, the Company received approximately $6.2 million in cash,
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which represents an adjustment to the Company's purchase price of Rietschle. The
purchase agreement specified the negotiation process to be followed for various
items in dispute, so that an adjustment to the purchase price could occur at a
subsequent time. In June 2004, negotiations on certain disputed items were
completed and this adjustment reduced goodwill by $6.2 million. Other
adjustments could occur in the future related to representations and warranties
per the purchase agreement.

In estimating the fair values of the assets acquired and liabilities
assumed in the Rietschle transaction, management considered a number of factors,
including collectibility of accounts receivable, net realizable value and
replacement cost of inventory, and the values of liabilities. In addition, an
independent appraiser was used to assist in determining the value of property,
plant and equipment and other intangible assets; however, management is
ultimately responsible for the values recorded.

Supplemental pro forma information below is presented as though the
business combination had been completed as of the beginning of the period being
reported on. The pro forma financial information does not necessarily reflect
the results of operations that would have occurred if the Company and Rietschle
constituted a single entity during such period.

YEAR ENDED
DECEMBER 31 2002

(IN THOUSANDS,

UNAUDITED)
L S = B I S = $333,371
J S i Ia Yo 1 35,581
FEarnings per share-diluted....... ..ttt eennnnennnn 2.03
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The adjusted aggregate purchase price for Rietschle consists of (in
thousands) :

Initial cash paid by the Company........ooiiiitiiieenneeennnn $ 83,288
Fair value of Thomas common StOCK......iiii ittt eeeeennenns 44,754
TransSacChion COSE S . i ittt it ittt ettt et ettt e st eeeeneaneean 5,931
Purchase price adjustment received in cash.................. (6,154)
Total adjusted aggregate purchase price..........oiiiinnn.. $127,819

The following summarizes the estimated fair values of the assets acquired
and liabilities assumed at the date of acquisition (in thousands) :
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59V o i sl X = 30,477
Other cuUrrent asSet S . . .u i ittt ittt ettt it ettt eaeeens 7,105
Property, plant and equipment..........iiiiietetennnnnennn 44,404
Other Intangibles. ...ttt ittt e e et e ettt aeeeeeeen 16,849
(O N ol o = = i Y 2,999
Current 1iabilitie s . .iv . u ittt ittt e ettt e e et ettt (29,221)
Long—term debt . ...ttt ittt ettt et e et e e (17,116)
Other long-term liabilities......o.iiiiiiiiiiieeeennnennnn (6,569)

77,328
(€70 Yo L2 50,491
Aggregate puUrChase PriCe. ... ittt ittt ittt eennenns $127,819

The goodwill associated with the Rietschle acquisition is all allocated to
the Pump and Compressor Segment.

4. SALE OF INTEREST IN GIG

Effective with the close of business on July 31, 2004, the Company sold its
32% joint venture interest in the Genlyte Thomas Group LLC (GTG), which the
Company accounted for using the equity method of accounting, to The Genlyte
Group Incorporated (Nasdaqg: GLYT) for approximately $400.9 million in cash.
Approximately $102.7 million of the proceeds were used to pay down long-term
debt on August 2, 2004. Approximately $80.5 million of the proceeds were used to
pay a portion of the income taxes (due on the gain) and transaction costs during
the third and fourth quarters.

The Company's adjusted book basis in GTG as of July 31, 2004 was as follows
(in millions) :

Investment in GTG at July 31, 2004. .. ...ttt iiiineneeeeennnn $230.5
Thomas' adjustment for accelerated option expense treated as

A LransacCtion COSE v it ittt e e e et et e e e e et et ee et (.2)
Other comprehensive loss items:
Minimum pension liability......c.o ittt 5.5
Foreign currency translation..........iiiiiieeeeeennnnnnnnn .5
Adjusted GTG book basis at July 31, 2004...... ..t innnn.. $236.3
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The gain on the sale of GTG, which the Company recorded in 2004, was
calculated as follows (in millions):

Total SAle PriCe .. i i it iiie ettt et eeeeeeenaeeeeeeeeennnneees $ 400.9
TransSaCtion COSE St v it it ittt et et e e e e e et ettt ettt eeeeaeann (4.2)
Net ProCeedS . v ittt ittt ittt e et e ettt ae et eeeeaeeeeeanns 396.7
Adjusted book basis at July 31, 2004..... ..ttt nnnnnsn (236.3)
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Pre—-tax book gadn.. ...ttt ittt et 160.4
B oYY 11T T it <= = (76.3)
Net after—tax gail. .. ..ottt et et eeeeeeeeeeeenneeeeenens $ 84.1
FEarnings per share —— diluted....... ...t tiinnnnnnnn S 4.74

This gain calculation is an estimate subject to final determination of
taxes of the transaction when tax returns are filed in 2005. The effective
income tax rate recorded on the gain of 47.6% is primarily due to the basis
differences for financial reporting and tax purposes in the partnership interest
in GTG.

5. NET INCOME PER SHARE

The computation of the numerator and denominator in computing basic and
diluted net income per share follows:

(IN THOUSANDS)

Numerator:

Net INCOME. t it ittt ettt ettt et e et et ettt ee e $114,154 $37,314 $32,692
Denominator:

Weighted average shares outstanding.................. 17,483 17,200 15,879
Effect of dilutive securities:

Director and employee stock options.................. 237 331 459

Employee performance SharesS........c..iiiiiiineeeeens 13 39 37
Dilutive potential common shares...........oiieieeennn. 250 370 496
Denominator for diluted earnings per share —-- adjusted

weighted average shares and assumed conversions...... 17,733 17,570 16,375

The deferred compensation obligation discussed in Note 9, "Shareholders'
Equity," is funded with shares of the Company's common stock, which are included
in the calculation of basic and diluted earnings per share.

6. EQUITY INVESTMENT

Through July 31, 2004, Genlyte Thomas Group LLC (GTG) was an affiliated
company accounted for on the equity method. As described in Notes 1 and 2,
Thomas and Genlyte formed GTG in August 1998.

Summarized financial information reported by the affiliate and a summary of
the amounts recorded in Thomas' consolidated financial statements follow. GTG is
organized as a limited liability corporation (LLC) that has elected to be taxed
as a partnership for U.S. income tax purposes. Therefore, Thomas and Genlyte are
responsible for income taxes applicable to their share of GTG's taxable income.
The net income reflected below for GTG does not include any provision for U.S.
income taxes, which will be incurred by
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Thomas and Genlyte;
and certain U.S.

however,
franchise taxes.

GTG BALANCE SHEETS

Cash and short-term investments.......... ...
Accounts receivable. . ...ttt e e e e e e e e e
I 0 VY o B i R

Property,

[T T A A
Other intangible assetsS. ...ttt ittt eeneenens
Other @SSl S . ittt ittt i et e e e e et e e e e et e e

TOLaAl ASSEE St i i ittt ittt e et e e ettt ettt e e

Current maturities of long-term debt.....................
Accounts payvable. .ot e e e e e e e e e e e e e

Payable to Genlyte Inc.

Total current liabilities........iiiiiiiiiineneeeeennnnn

Long-term debt,

AccCrued PENSION .t vttt ittt et ettt e e e e e e e
Other liabilities. ...ttt ittt
(S 16 e 2

Shareholders'

Total liabilities and shareholders'
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GTG INCOME STATEMENTS

J LS T B = R

Accrued expenses and other....... ...ttt eennnn

(CONTINUED)

JULY 31,
2004

amounts have been provided for foreign income taxes

AS OF
DECEMBER 31,
2003

(IN THOUSANDS)

. $116,284
. 200,367
c. 151,498
. 9,543

o 477,692
o 112,270
o 156, 623
o 11,360

ce 172,414
ce 11,072
ce 21,739
ce 11,776
ce 546,180

(CONTINUED)

SEVEN
MONTHS
ENDED

JULY 31,
2004

$130, 442
160,111
143,898

9,821
444,272
111, 624
150, 532

21,315
5,028

185,809
11,190
27,567
12,246

495,959

YEAR ENDED
DECEMBER 31,
2003

(IN THOUSANDS)

. $672,358

$1,033,899
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Cost Of Products SOLld. .« i ittt ittt ettt ettt aeeeeeeen 431,939 671,322
GroOSs ProOfit ..ttt ittt e e e e e e e e e e e e e 240,419 362,577
11 C 2 N 4 XY o = Y 176,143 260,381
Gain on settlement of patent litigation..................... - (8,000)
2N 11T Bk wlls A7 il I 3o NI 541 1,079
Operating profit. ...ttt e e e e e e e e e e 63,735 109,117
Interest eXPensSe, Net . ...ttt ittt ittt ttneeeeeeeeeneeeeeeeanns 56 238
Minority dnteresSt . ...ttt ittt e ettt et et (66) 185
Income before LaXe S . v v ittt ittt ettt et eeeeeeeaeeaens 63,745 108,694
TNCOME TAXES (1) v it ittt it et e et ettt et et et ettt e et 5,145 7,416
L= S 1o ) 1= $ 58,600 $ 101,278

Amounts recorded by Thomas:

I TS o 111 o - $ 214,405
EQUItY 1NCOmME . o ittt ittt et e e e e e e ettt e e $ 18,608 (2) 32,138 (3)
Distributions received. . ... ..ttt ittt ittt eeaeeanns 4,350 13,299

Changes in the Company's investment in GTG for the years ended December 31,
2004 and 2003 were as follows (in thousands) :

2004 2003
Balance at the beginning of period.......iiiiiieeeennnnn. $ 214,405 $188,810
GTG gross eqUity €arnNingS. . .u v e i ettt eeeeeeeanneeeenns 18,752 32,409
GTG cash distribuUtions. . ... ittt ittt ettt et e ettt eeeeeenn (4,350) (13,299)
GTG currency translation adjustment...............cciiiie.... (1,082) 6,457
GTG minimum pension adjustment & other...................... 2,751 28
Balance before sale transaction(4) « v . vttt it teeeeenenn 230,476 214,405
TOo record Sale Of GlG . i i v it ittt ettt et ettt et eeeeaeaen (230,476) ——
Balance at end of period. ...ttt ettt ettt S - $214,405

(1) GTIG is organized as a limited liability corporation (LLC) that has elected
to be taxed as a partnership for U.S. income tax purposes. GIG is subject to
foreign income taxes and certain U.S. franchise taxes.

(2) Consists of $18,752 of equity income from GTG for the period January 1
through July 31, less $144 of expense for Thomas Industries stock options
issued to GTG employees.

(3) Consists of $32,409 of equity income from GTG less $271 of expense for
Thomas Industries stock options issued to GTG employees.

(4) See computation of Company's adjusted book basis in GTG as of July 31, 2004,

included in "Note 4 -- Sale of Interest in GTG" in the Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements.
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The Company in the normal course of business has transactions with GTG.
These transactions consist primarily of reimbursement for other shared corporate
expenses.

Payables due to GTG as of December 31, 2004 and 2003 were $1,075,000 and
$175,000, respectively.

For the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002, the Company recorded
$4,000, $4,000, and $230,000, respectively, related to the reimbursement of
shared corporate expenses. For the seven months ended July 31, 2004, the Company
recorded $2,000 related to these items.

7. INCOME TAXES

A summary of the provision for income taxes follows:

(IN THOUSANDS)

Current:
Y Lot $71,756 $12,205 $10,988
1S o= o O 15,981 1,883 1,681
et S I 5 o 4,403 2,926 5,162
92,140 17,014 17,831

Deferred:
Federal and state (benefit) .... .. iiinnn. (2,687) 236 1,780
Foreign (benefit) ...ttt iiee e 4,063 1,090 (1,159
1,376 1,326 621
Total provision for income taxXesS......euweeeeeeeeeennnnnn $93,516 $18,340 $18,452

The U.S. and foreign components of income before income taxes follow:

(IN THOUSANDS)

United SELaAleS . v it it ittt ettt ettt et ettt eeeeeeeeennnnn $188,070 $42,160 $42,709
3o T = e o P 19,600 13,519 8,456
Income before INCOME LaAXES . i i ettt it eeeeeeeenneeenns $207,670 $55,679 $51,165

A reconciliation of the normal statutory federal income tax rate to the
Company's effective income tax rate follows:
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2004 2003 2002

U.S. statutory rate. ..ttt ittt et e e e e ettt eeeeeeeen 35.0% 35.0% 35.0%
State income taxes, net of federal tax benefits............. 4.9 2.2 2.4

Gain on sale of investment in GTG joint venture............. 5.2

Effect of foreign tax rates...... ittt enneneennn 0.1 (1.3) 5

GTG foreign equity earnings recorded net of tax............. (0.5) (2.9) (2.9)
Change in valuation alloWanCe..... ettt iiinneeeeeeeennnnas (0.1) - 1.6

[ ] w0 Sl 0.4 (.1) (.5)
Effective income tax rate...... ..ottt iinnnnn. 45.0% 32.9% 36.1%
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Deferred income taxes are provided for significant income and expense items
recognized in different years for tax and financial reporting purposes.
Temporary differences which gave rise to significant deferred tax assets and
liabilities follow:

Deferred tax assets:

Employee benefit obligations........... ... $ 2,266 $ 4,885
Net operating loss carryforwardsS.......cee i eeeeneneennn 3,238 819
Allowance for doubtful accounts receivable................ 318 269
INVENT O Y LTSIV S v v v v vt v oo e e e e e ot eaeeeeeesenaeeeeeeeenns 703 617
Compensation aCCrUalsS . c v i ittt et et et eeneeeeeeeenneeens 1,448 1,367
Miscellaneous forelgn.. ... ..ttt eeeeeeeeeeenns 5,399 4,479
Accrued liabilities and other....... ..t iennnnn 1,633 1,565
15,005 14,001
Less valuation @lloWanCe . v v vt i ittt ettt eeneeoeeeeeeneeaeeens (2,814) (1,320)
Net deferred tax assel ... ..ttt ittt te ettt eeeeneeaens 12,191 12,681
Deferred tax liabilities:
Accelerated depreciation. ...ttt ittt it e e e 4,851 4,689
Investment In Gl G. . v i i ittt ittt ettt ettt et e eeeeeneeaeean - 2,530
German GoOAWI Ll . .. v ittt ittt ettt ettt ettt aeeeeeeeeeaeeaeas 4,222 ——
Miscellaneous forelgn. ... ..ttt eeeeeeeeeeanns 5,185 3,513
L oL O 1,810 1,438
16,068 12,170
Net deferred tax asset/ (liability) «uevviini et eneennnnnnn $(3,877) S 511
2004 2003
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(IN THOUSANDS)

Classification:
Net CUFFENE BSSELE St it ittt ittt ettt ettt ettt e e e eeeeeeenas $ 5,101 56,688
Net long-term liabilities........iiiiiiiiiiiiiennnnennns 8,978 6,177
Net deferred tax asset/ (1liability) «ueuvien it inneinneeennnnnn $(3,877) $ 511

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are classified according to the related

asset and liability classification on the consolidated balance sheets.

Management believes it 1is more likely than not the Company will realize the

benefits of its deferred tax assets, net of the valuation allowance of
$2,814,000. $1,224,000 of this valuation allowance is provided for income tax
loss carryforward benefits for certain foreign jurisdictions (NOL's). The
foreign tax NOL's (in the amount of $12,417,000) can be carried forward from
five to seven years and some portion indefinitely. Management believes that,
based on a number of factors, the available evidence creates sufficient
uncertainty regarding the realizability of a portion of these NOL's. The
remaining valuation allowance of $1,590,000 is provided for various foreign

deferred tax assets. Management believes that, based on a number of factors, the
available evidence creates sufficient uncertainty regarding the realizability of

these foreign assets.
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Deferred income taxes have not been provided on $58,000,000 of foreign
undistributed earnings as of December 31, 2004. It is management's intent that
such undistributed earnings be permanently reinvested in the foreign countries.
It is not practicable to determine the amount of unrecognized deferred tax
liability for temporary differences related to investments in foreign
subsidiaries that are essentially permanent in duration.

On October 22, 2004, the President signed the American Jobs Creation Act of

2004 (the Act). The Act provides a deduction for income from qualified domestic
production activities, which will be phased in from 2005 through 2010. In
return, the Act also provides for a two-year phase out of the existing

Extra-Territorial Income (ETI) exclusion for foreign sales that was viewed to be

inconsistent with international trade protocols by the European Union. The
Company expects the net effect of the phase-out of the ETI and the phase-in of
this new deduction will not result in a significant change to the effective tax
rate for fiscal year 2005 and future years based on current earning levels.

Another provision of the Act creates a temporary incentive for U.S.
corporations to repatriate accumulated income earned abroad by providing an 85%
dividends-received deduction for certain dividends from controller foreign
corporations. The deduction is subject to a number of limitations and, as of
today, uncertainty remains as to how to interpret numerous provisions in the
Act. As such, we are not yet in a position to decide on whether, and to what
extent, we might repatriate foreign earnings that have not been remitted to the
U.S.

The Company made federal, state and foreign income tax payments of
$88,847,000 in 2004, $17,084,000 in 2003 and $21,035,000 in 2002.

8. LONG-TERM DEBT AND CAPITAL LEASES
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Long-term debt at December 31 consisted of the following:

(IN THOUSANDS)

Revolving credit NotesS ... ittt ittt ittt ittt eeeneennnns S - $ 85,000
57T 0 ol o Y ) == R —— 15,430
CaPital 1EaSE S i ittt ittt et ettt et e e e e e e 9,548 10,878
Industrial revenue bONAS . ...t i ittt ittt teeeeeeeeeneeneeaens —— 1,250

9,548 112,558
Less: current MatuUritiesS . vt i ittt ittt ettt t et e 1,797 9,885
Total long-term debt ... .ottt ittt ettt ettt eeeeenannaens $7,751 $102,673

The revolving credit notes were paid down in full on August 2, 2004, with
proceeds from the sale of GTIG.

The senior notes had a 9.36% fixed interest rate and were paid down in full
on August 2, 2004, with the proceeds from the sale of GTG.

The capital leases have terms ranging from 2.5 to 18.5 years, and are
payvable primarily in monthly installments with interest at rates ranging from

4.8% to 11.3%.

The Industrial Revenue Bonds had a variable interest rate and were paid
down in July 2004.

The fair value of the Company's long-term debt, including the current
portion, at December 31, 2003 was $113,790,000.
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Maturities of capital lease obligations are as follows (in thousands):

2/ 0 $1,797
2006 . i et i e e e e e e e e e e ettt e 234
200 7 e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e ettt e e e e 261
2/ 0 259
2000 . i it i e e e e e e e ettt e e e et e e e 247
[ o ol S T i = 6,750

$9,548

The Company has no loan agreements which include restrictions on working
capital, operating leases, tangible net worth and the payment of cash dividends
and stock distributions.
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Cash paid for interest was $3,458,000 in 2004, $4,739,000 in 2003, and
$3,447,000 in 2002.

9. SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY
STOCK REPURCHASE PROGRAM

Thomas' Board of Directors in 1999 authorized the purchase of up to
2,373,000 shares of Thomas common stock in the open market. Through December 31,
2004, Thomas had repurchased 879,189 shares at a cost of $17,334,000. No
purchases were made during 2004 and 2003.

STOCK INCENTIVE PLANS

At the April 20, 1995 Annual Meeting, the Company's shareholders approved
the Company's 1995 Incentive Stock Plan. An aggregate of 900,000 shares of
common stock, plus all shares remaining under the Company's 1987 Incentive Stock
Plan, were reserved for issuance under this Plan. At the April 15, 1999 Annual
Meeting, the Company's shareholders approved a 750,000 share increase in the
number of shares reserved for issuance under the 1995 Incentive Stock Plan. At
the April 22, 2004 Annual Meeting, the Company's shareholders approved the
Company's Amended and Restated 1995 Incentive Stock Plan which increased the
number of shares of common stock reserved for issuance by 550,000 shares and
added non-employee directors as participants under the Plan. Under this Plan,
options may be granted to employees and non-employee directors at not less than
market value at date of grant. All options granted have ten-year terms, and vest
and become fully exercisable at the end of five years of continued employment.
Under the terms of the Company's sale agreement with Genlyte, all stock options
granted to GTG employees became fully vested as of July 31, 2004 and expired as
of December 31, 2004.

At the April 21, 1994 Annual Meeting, the Company's shareholders approved
the Non-Employee Director Stock Option Plan. This Plan expired on April 21,
2004, except with respect to outstanding options which may be exercised through
2013. Under this Plan, each continuing non-employee director in office on the
date of each annual meeting was awarded options to purchase 3,000 shares of
common stock at not less than market value at date of grant. All options granted
have 10-year terms, and vest and become fully exercisable as of the date
granted. At December 31, 2004, there were seven non-employee directors in
office, and 225,000 options had been awarded under this Plan. A total of 131,017
shares reserved for this Plan, but not needed to satisfy awards outstanding
under the Non-employee Director Stock Option Plan, were made available under the
Company's Amended and Restated 1995 Incentive Stock Plan.

In December 2002, the FASB issued SFAS No. 148, "Accounting for Stock-Based
Compensation —-- Transition and Disclosure" (SFAS 148), as an amendment to SFAS
123, "Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation." Prior to the year ended December
31, 2003, the Company followed SFAS 123 but elected to
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continue to measure compensation cost using the intrinsic value based method of
accounting prescribed by APB 25, "Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees" and
related interpretations.
Effective December 2003, the Company elected to adopt the fair value method

of accounting for stock-based compensation under SFAS 123 which requires the
Company to expense the fair value of employee stock options granted, modified or
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settled after January 1, 2003. The three transition methods provided by SFAS 148
are the prospective method, the modified prospective method and the retroactive
restatement method. The Company has elected to apply the prospective method
whereby recognition provisions of SFAS 123 apply to all employee awards granted,
modified or settled after January 1, 2003. The Company has recorded expense
related to the stock options of $17,000 and $163,000 in 2004 and 2003,
respectively.

For awards granted prior to 2003, the Company continues to follow SFAS No.
123 and uses the intrinsic value based method of accounting prescribed by APB
25. Under APB 25, because the exercise price of the Company's stock options
equals the market price of the underlying stock on the date of grant, no
compensation expense is recognized for options granted to employees and
non-employee directors.

Pro forma information regarding net income and earnings per share is
required by SFAS 123, which also requires that the information be determined as
if the Company has accounted for its stock options granted subsequent to
December 31, 1994 under the fair value method of SFAS 123 (see Note 2,
"Accounting Policies —-- Stock Based Compensation"). The fair value for these
options was estimated at the date of grant using a Black-Scholes option pricing
model with the following weighted-average assumptions:

2004 2003 2002
Risk—-free interest rate...... ..ttt nnnnn 3.93% 3.14% 3.0%
Expected life, 1N YearS. ... ittt ittt ittt eanneeeenns 6.5 6.5 6.5
Expected volatilaty. iu ittt ittt ittt e e ettt 0.293 0.340 0.321
Expected dividend yield. ... ...ttt eeeeeeennnneenns 1.0% 1.4% 1.4%
A summary of stock option activity for all plans follows:
2004 2003 2002
WEIGHTED WEIGHTED WEIGHTED
AVERAGE AVERAGE PRICE
OPTIONS PRICE OPTIONS PRICE OPTIONS AVERAGE
Beginning of year...... 1,526,271 $18.08 1,616,359 $19.34 1,527,414 $17.86
Granted................ 77,915 38.99 88,000 24.91 212,800 26.31
Exercised.............. (599, 4406) 19.04 (166,438) 14.60 (105,957) 11.71
Forfeited or expired... (10,800) 22.12 (11, 650) 21.59 (17,898) 21.16
End of year............ 993,940 $22.27 1,526,271 $20.16 1,616,359 $19.34
Exercisable at end of
VT 739,480 $19.69 1,024,882 $18.08 985,028 $16.22
The weighted average fair value of options granted was $7.47 in 2004, $6.61

in 2003 and $6.67 in 2002. Options outstanding at December 31, 2004 had option
prices ranging from $10.67 to $38.99 and expire at various dates between April
20, 2005 and December 6, 2014 (with a weighted-average remaining contractual
life of 5.2 years). There are 808,891 shares reserved for future grant.
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Included in the summary of stock option activity above, are options granted
to GIG employees, which in accordance with SFAS 123, the Company has recorded
compensation expense based on using a Black-Scholes option pricing model. This
expense was $144,000 for the seven months ended July 31, 2004, $271,000 and
$201,000 for the twelve months ended December 31, 2003 and 2002, respectively,
and is netted with the Company's equity income from GTG (see Note 6, "Equity
Investment"). Under the terms of the Company's sale agreement with Genlyte, all
outstanding stock options previously granted to GTG employees

F-59
THOMAS INDUSTRIES INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS —-- (CONTINUED)
became fully vested as of July 31, 2004 and expired as of December 31, 2004. The
Company recognized $759,000 of expense in 2004 related to these options. This

amount was recorded against the gain on the sale of GTG.

The following table summarizes the status of stock options outstanding as
of December 31, 2004:

STOCK OPTIONS
STOCK OPTIONS OUTSTANDING EXERCISABLE
WEIGHTED WEIGHTED WEIGHTED
AVERAGE AVERAGE AVERAGE
REMAINING EXERCISE EXERCISE
RANGE OF EXERCISE PRICES SHARES LIFE PRICE SHARES PRICE
$10.67 to $14.58. .. ... 179,063 1.5 $14.20 179,063 $14.20
$16.44 to $25.00. .. ... 469,249 4.5 20.10 440,141 20.02
$25.87 to $38.99. ... . i, 345,628 8.1 29.40 120,276 26.64
993,940 5.2 $22.27 739,480 $19.69
The Company also issued cash only stock appreciation rights (SAR's) in 2004
and 2003. All SAR's granted have ten year terms. SAR's granted to employees vest
and become fully exercisable at the end of four years of continued employment.
Under the terms of the Company's sale agreement with Genlyte, SAR's granted to
GTG employees became fully vested as of July 31, 2004 and expired as of December
31, 2004. SAR's granted to non-employee directors vest and become fully
exercisable as of the date granted. The Company has recorded expense of $244,000
and $1,000 in 2004 and 2003, respectively, related to SAR's for Thomas employees
and non-employee directors. For SAR's previously granted to GTG employees in
2004, the Company recognized $177,000 of expense, which was recorded against the
gain on the sale of GIG.
A summary of SAR's activity follows:
2004 2003
WEIGHTED WEIGHTED
AVERAGE AVERAGE
SAR'S PRICE SAR'S PRICE
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Beginning of year. ...ttt neeeeeeeeeennnnn 99,230 $34.35 —= —=
Granted. v vttt it e e e e e e e e e 88,000 32.89 99,230 $34.35
= el o 1= =Y (61,020) 32.28 —— ——
Forfeited or expired..... ..t iennnnn. (7,480) 32.79 - -
End Oof year. ..ottt ittt et 118,730 $34.43 99,230 $34.35
Exercisable at end of year.......oiiiiinnnn.. 21,000 $34.82 - -

In addition to the options and SAR's listed above, 20,000 performance share
awards were granted in both December 2004 and December 2003, and 14,000
performance share awards were granted in December 2002. Performance share awards
may be earned based on the total shareholder return of the Company during the
three-year periods commencing January 1 following the grant date. A total of
11,526 shares were earned in 2004 from performance share awards granted in
December 2001, 10,550 shares were earned in 2003 from awards granted in December
2000, and 11,639 shares were earned in 2002 from awards granted in December
1999. The Company has recorded compensation expense related to performance
shares of $199,000, $482,000 and $323,000 for 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively.

DEFERRED SHARE TRUST

Employees who earn performance share awards as discussed above may elect to
defer receipt of such shares until termination of employment. Non-Employee
Directors are permitted to receive part or all of their
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director fees in the form of common stock of the Company and to defer receipt of
such shares until retirement or other termination of service. In April 2000, the
Company established a deferred share trust (the "Trust") to maintain the shares
deferred for these obligations. The Trust qualifies as a rabbi trust for income
tax purposes as the assets of the Trust are subject to the claims of general
creditors of the Company. Dividends payable on the shares held by the Trust are
reinvested in additional shares of common stock of the Company on behalf of the
participants. Since there is no provision for diversification of the Trust's
assets and settlement can only be made with a fixed number of shares of the
Company's common stock, the deferred compensation obligation is classified as a
component of shareholders' equity and the common stock held by the Trust is
classified as treasury stock. Subsequent changes in the fair value of the common
stock are not reflected in earnings or shareholders' equity of the Company.

SHAREHOLDER RIGHTS PLAN

On December 10, 1997, the Board of Directors of the Company adopted a
shareholder rights plan (the Rights Plan) pursuant to which preferred stock
purchase rights (the Rights) were declared and distributed to the holders of the
Company's common stock. These Rights are due to expire on January 5, 2008. The
Rights Plan generally provides that the Rights separate from the common stock
and become exercisable if a person or group of persons working together acquires
at least 20% of the common stock (a 20% Acquisition) or announces a tender offer
which would result in ownership by that person or group of at least 20% of the
common stock (a 20% Tender Offer). Upon a 20% Acquisition, the holders of Rights
may purchase the common stock at half-price. If, following the separation of the
Rights from the common stock, the Company is acquired in a merger or sale of
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assets, holders of Rights may purchase the acquiring company's stock at
half-price.

Notwithstanding the foregoing discussion, under the Rights Plan, the Board
of Directors has flexibility in certain events. In order to provide maximum
flexibility, the Board of Directors may delay the date upon which the Rights
become exercisable in the event of a 20% Tender Offer. In addition, the Board of
Directors has the option to exchange one share of common stock for each
outstanding Right at any time after a 20% Acquisition, but before the acquirer
has purchased 50% of the outstanding common stock. The Rights may also be
redeemed at two cents per Right at any time prior to a 20% Acquisition or a 20%
Tender Offer.

10. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS

The Company has noncontributory defined benefit pension plans and
contributory defined contribution plans covering its hourly union employees in
the U.S. The defined benefit plans in the U.S. primarily provide flat benefits
of stated amounts for each year of service. The Company's policy is to fund
pension costs deductible for income tax purposes for these plans.

The Company also has noncontributory defined benefit pension plans covering
certain employees of its foreign locations. These plans provide benefits to
employees based on rate of pay and years of service. The foreign defined benefit
plans are not funded.
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The Company also sponsors defined contribution pension plans covering
substantially all U.S. employees whose compensation is not determined by

collective bargaining. Annual contributions are determined by the Board of
Directors.

OTHER
PENSION BENEFITS POSTRETIREMENT
——————————————————————————————————— BENEFITS
FOREIGN PLANS U.S. PLANS (U.S. PLANS)
2004 2003 2004 2003 2004 2003
(IN THOUSANDS) (IN THOUSANDS)
CHANGE IN BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS
Benefit obligations at beginning
Of Vear. . vttt i i $10, 550 $ 8,056 $8, 749 $7,967 $1,523 $1,307
Foreign exchange impact......... 859 1,667 - - - -
Service COST .. ittt 255 288 325 285 96 67
Interest cost.....coiiiin.n. 643 592 526 513 106 85
Plan amendmentS.....uueeeeeeennnn —— 355 —— 163 (44) ——
Benefits paid.....ovviiiinn.. (373) (314) (351) (764) (40) (39)
Actuarial (gain) loss........... (120) (94) (8) 585 329 103
Benefit obligations at end of
VAT e e e ettt et $11,814 $10,550 $9,241 $8,749 $1,970 $1,523

CHANGE IN PLAN ASSETS
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Value of plan assets at

beginning of year............. S - S - $8,189 $7,226 S - $ -
Actual return on plan assets - - 592 1,157 - -
Employer contributions.......... 373 314 670 570 40 39
Benefits paid........ ..o (373) (314) (351) (764) (40) (39)

Value of plan assets at end of

PENSION BENEFITS
————————————————————————————————————— OTHER POSTRETIREMENT

FOREIGN PLANS U.S. PLANS BENEFITS (U.S. PLANS)
2004 2003 2004 2003 2004 2003
(IN THOUSANDS) (IN THOUSANDS)
FUNDED STATUS OF THE PLANS
Assets less projected
obligations................ $(11,814) $(10,550) $ (141) $ (560) $(1,970) $(1,523)
Unrecognized actuarial
10SS e it e 297 404 1,790 1,861 947 560
Unrecognized transition
obligations................ - - 2 4 110 168
Unrecognized prior service
Lo =3 - -— 690 782 - -
Net asset (liability)
recognized at end of
DTS T $(11,517) $(10,146) $2,341 $2,087 S (913) S (795)
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OTHER
PENSION BENEFITS POSTRETIREMENT
————————————————————————————————————— BENEFITS
FOREIGN PLANS U.S. PLANS (U.S. PLANS)
2004 2003 2004 2003 2004 2003
(IN THOUSANDS) (IN THOUSANDS)
BALANCE SHEET ASSETS
(LIABILITIES)
Prepaid benefit costs........... S -= $ - S 114 S 107 S - $ -
Accrued benefit liabilities..... (12,012) (10,707) (158) (572) (913) (795)
Intangible assets......covin.. - - 692 786 - -
Accumulated other comprehensive
income........ .. i, 495 561 1,693 1,766 - —=
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Net asset (liability) recognized
at end of year.........c...... $(11,517) $(10,146) $2,341 $2,087 $(913) $(795)
Increase in minimum liability
included in other
comprehensive income.......... S (67) S 387 S (73) $ (262) $ —- S —=
The Company uses a December 31 measurement date for all U.S. and foreign
plans.
The accumulated benefit obligation for all defined benefit pension plans
was $20,685,000 and $18,942,000 at December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively.
PENSION BENEFITS
FOREIGN PLANS U.S. PLANS
2004 2003 2004 2003
(IN THOUSANDS)
INFORMATION FOR PENSION PLANS WITH AN ACCUMULATED
BENEFIT OBLIGATION IN EXCESS OF PLAN ASSETS:
Projected benefit obligation..............ooo... $11,814 $10,550 $8,786 $8, 315
Accumulated benefit obligation................... 11,444 10,194 8,786 8,315
Fair value of plan assets......ccuiiiiiiiiennnnn.. —— —— 8,628 7,743
OTHER
PENSION BENEFITS POSTRETIRE
—————————————————————————————————————————— BENEFTIT
FOREIGN PLANS U.S. PLANS (U.S. PLA
2004 2003 2004 2003 2004
(IN THOUSANDS) (IN THOUSA
Discount rate used to determine benefit
obligations at December 31............ 6.00% 6.00% 6.00% 6.25% 6.00%
Weighted—-average assumptions used to
determine net periodic benefit cost
for years ended December 31:
Discount rate..............c ... 6.00% 6.00%-7.00% 6.25% 6.75% 6.25%
Expected return on plan assets..... - - 8.00% 8.00% -
Initial health care cost trend
= o -— - -— -— 11.00% 1
Ultimate health care cost trend
= o -— - -— -— 5.50%
Year ultimate rate is achieved..... 2013

To develop the expected long-term rate of return on assets assumption,
Company considered historical returns and future expectations.

period ending December 31,
have averaged 10.34%.

2003,

the
Over the 10-year

the compound annual returns on the portfolio
Considering this information and the potential for
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lower future returns due to a generally lower interest rate environment, the

Company selected an 8.00% long-term rate of return on asset assumptions.

The effect of a one-percentage-point change in assumed health care cost
trend rates consisted of the following:

ONE-PERCENTAGE
POINT INCREASE

(IN THOUSANDS)

ONE-PERCENTAGE
POINT DECREASE

Increase (decrease) in total postretirement service and

interest COSt COMPONENTS. &ttt e eeeeeeeeennennns $ 30 S (25)
Increase (decrease) to postretirement benefit

(o) o TN 7wl I o o U $254 $(217)

The following table details the components of pension and other

postretirement benefit costs.

PENSION BENEFITS

OTHER POSTRETIREMENT

FOREIGN PLANS U.S. PLANS BENEFITS (U.S. PLANS)
2004 2003 2002 2004 2003 2002 2004 2003 2002
(IN THOUSANDS) (IN THOUSANDS)

Service COST.viveenenn. $255 $288 $137 $ 325 $ 285 $ 289 S 96 S 67 $ 52

Interest cost.............. 643 593 243 526 513 490 106 86 75
Expected return on plan

assetS. .ttt - - - (623) (542) (610) - - -
Other amortization and

deferral................. - - - 188 204 91 54 31 24

$898 $881 $380 $ 416 $ 460 $ 260 $256 $184 $151

The Company's pension plan weighted-average asset allocations at December

31, 2004, and 2003, by asset category are as follows:

% OF PLAN
ASSETS AT
DECEMBER 31

ASSET CATEGORY 2004 2003
Equity securities. . .ottt ittt ettt e ettt 65% 57%
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Debt SEeCUritiesS . vttt ittt e et et e et e et e 34% 34%
Short-term investmentsS. ...ttt ittt ittt et eeeeaeenns 1% 9%

Equity securities include 14,430 shares of Company common stock with a
market value of $576,000 (6 percent of total plan assets) at December 31, 2004
and $500,000 (6 percent of total plan assets) at December 31, 2003.

Short-term investments include contributions to plans of $570,000 in
December 2003 that had not yet been invested by the investment manager.

The Company's investment objective for plan assets includes exceeding the
return generated by an unmanaged index composed of the S&P 500 Stock Index and
the Lehman Brothers Government/Corporate Bond Index in proportion to the target
portfolio, while achieving a rate of return greater than the actuarially assumed
interest rate. The targeted asset mix was 60 percent equities and 40 percent
fixed income as of December 31, 2004 and 55 percent equities and 45 percent
fixed income as of December 31, 2003. The targeted allocation provides
reasonable assurance that the investment objectives can be achieved based on
historical performance.
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The Company expects to contribute $670,000 to its pension plans and
$100,000 to its postretirement benefit plans in 2005.

The following benefit payments, which reflect expected future service, as
appropriate, are expected to be paid:

PENSION BENEFITS OTHER

————————————————————————————— POSTRETIREMEN

FOREIGN PLANS U.S. PLANS BENEFITS (U.S. PL

(IN THOUSANDS) (IN THOUSANDS
2005 . i e e e $ 373 S 486 $100
2006 . i e e e e e 386 479 99
2007 e e e e e e 394 535 102
2008 . e e e e e 443 468 117
2000 . i e e e 493 464 103
2010-2014 . . i e e e $3,804 $2,822 $808

Thomas sponsors various defined contribution plans to assist eligible
employees in providing for retirement or other future needs. Company
contributions to these plans amounted to $2,920,000 in 2004, $2,591,000 in 2003
and $1,364,000 in 2002.

On December 8, 2003, the Medicare Prescription Drug, Improvement and
Modernization Act of 2003 (the "Act"), which introduces a Medicare prescription
drug benefit, as well as a federal subsidy to sponsors of retiree health care
benefit plans that provide a benefit that is at least actuarially equivalent to
the Medicare benefit, was enacted. On May 19, 2004, the FASB issued Financial
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Staff Position No. 106-2, "Accounting and Disclosure Requirements Related to the
Medicare Prescription Drug, Improvement and Modernization Act of 2003", ("FSP
106-2") to discuss certain accounting and disclosure issues raised by the Act.
FSP 106-2 addresses accounting for the federal subsidy for the sponsors of
single employer defined benefit postretirement healthcare plans and disclosure
requirements for plans for which the employer has not yet been able to determine
actuarial equivalency. Except for certain nonpublic entities, FSP 106-2 is
effective for the first interim or annual period beginning after June 15, 2004
(the quarter ending September 30, 2004 for the Company). We have not yet
concluded whether the prescription drug benefits provided under our
postretirement plan are actuarially equivalent to the Medicare benefit as
necessary to qualify for the subsidy. The reported net periodic benefit costs of
our postretirement plan in the accompanying Financial Statements and included in
Note 10 to the Financial Statements do not reflect the effects of the Act.
Adoption of FSP 106-2 could require revisions to previously reported
information. While we may be eligible for benefits under the Act based on the
prescription drug benefits provided in our postretirement plan, we do not
believe such benefits will have a material impact on our Financial Statements.

11. LEASES, COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

Rental expense for building, machinery and equipment was $7,374,000 in
2004, $6,810,000 in 2003, and $3,875,000 in 2002. Future minimum rentals under

non-cancelable operating leases are as follows: 2005 -- $5,630,000;
2006 -- $4,481,000; 2007 -- $3,818,000; 2008 -- $3,416,000; 2009 -- $2,429,000;
and thereafter ——- $1,647,000.

The Company had letters of credit outstanding in the amount of $3,080,000
at December 31, 2004.

On August 13, 2002, a petition was filed in the District Court of Jefferson
County, Texas, adding Thomas Industries Inc. as a third party defendant in a
lawsuit captioned Hydro Action, Inc. v. Jesse James, individually and d/b/a
James Backhoe Service of Dietrich, Illinois, Inc. and Original Septic Solutions,
Inc. (the "Third Party Plaintiffs") (the "Original Lawsuit"). The Original
Lawsuit alleged that the Company violated the Texas Deceptive Trade Practices
Act and breached warranties of merchantability and fitness for a
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particular purpose with respect to pumps sold by the Company and used in septic
tanks manufactured or sold by the plaintiffs. The Original Lawsuit was stayed as
a result of the bankruptcy filing by Hydro Action, Inc. On October 8, 2003, a
lawsuit was filed against the Company, Gig Drewery, Yasunaga Corporation and
Aqua-Partners, Ltd. in the District Court of Jefferson County, Texas, making the
same allegations set forth in the Original Lawsuit and requesting class-action
certification. No class has been certified. The Third Party Plaintiffs are
plaintiffs in this action. This complaint has been amended to include
approximately 28 plaintiffs. The complaint currently seeks $3 million per
plaintiff and punitive and exemplary damages. The total sales by the Company
related to these products were approximately $900,000. On September 29, 2004,
the case was remanded to state court in Jefferson County and the stay is no
longer in place. Although this litigation is in the preliminary stages, the
Company believes it has meritorious defenses to the claims and intends to
vigorously defend this matter. Litigation is subject to many uncertainties and
the Company cannot guarantee the outcome of these proceedings. However, based
upon information currently available, the Company does not believe that the
outcome of this proceeding will have a material adverse effect on the
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consolidated financial position, results of operations or cash flows of the
Company .

In the normal course of business, the Company is a party to other legal
proceedings and claims. When costs can be reasonably estimated, appropriate
liabilities for such matters are recorded. While management currently believes
the amount of ultimate liability, if any, with respect to these actions will not
materially affect the consolidated financial position, results of operations, or
liquidity of the Company, the ultimate outcome of any litigation is uncertain.
Were an unfavorable outcome to occur, the impact could be material to the
Company .

The Company, like other similar manufacturers, is subject to environmental
rules and regulations regarding the use, disposal and cleanup of substances
regulated under environmental protection laws. It is the Company's policy to
comply with these rules and regulations, and the Company believes that its
practices and procedures are designed to meet this compliance.

The Company is subject to various federal, state and local environmental
laws and regulations that require remediation efforts at several locations
including both current and former operating facilities. One of the most
significant sites is a former manufacturing facility located in Beaver Dam,
Kentucky. Since 1992, the Company has been working under an Agreed Order with
the Kentucky Natural Resources and Environmental Protection Cabinet to remediate
this site. The Company has completed all closure activities and has received
approval for implementation of a post-closure plan.

In 2004, a letter was received from the Wisconsin Department of Natural
Resources (WDNR) indicating that the Company was solely responsible for
remediation of a former manufacturing facility located in Fort Atkinson,
Wisconsin, which was sold by the Company in 1985. In response to WDNR's demand,
the Company engaged a consultant to perform an initial hydrogeologic site
investigation. This initial site investigation found elevated levels of volatile
organic compounds including tetrachlorothene and its daughter products. The site
investigation will be expanded to determine the extent of the contamination and
to develop a remediation work plan. The Company provided a reserve of $900,000
in the third quarter and an additional $200,000 in the fourth quarter of 2004
for anticipated future costs associated with remediation of this site.

The Company's policy is to provide for environmental reserves on a
discounted basis, when appropriate. Environmental reserves are subject to
numerous inherent uncertainties that affect the ability to estimate future costs
of required remediation efforts. Such uncertainties involve the nature and
extent of contamination, the extent of required cleanup efforts under existing
environmental regulations, widely varying costs of alternate cleanup methods,
changes in environmental regulations, the potential effect of continuing
improvements in remediation technology and the financial strength of other
potentially responsible parties at multiparty sites. Reserves are reviewed for
adequacy on a quarterly basis and adjusted, if necessary, as environmental
assessment and remediation efforts proceed.
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Changes in the Company's environmental reserve at December 31, 2004 and
2003 1is as follows (in thousands) :
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FOR THE TWELVE
MONTHS ENDED
DECEMBER 31,

2004 2003
Balance at beginning of period.........iiiiiiiirennnnnnn $1,321 $1,350
Environmental ACCrUaAlS . . v vt it ie et eeeeneeneeeeeeneeneeens 1,100 315
D4 1D o L B I B = (239) (344)
Balance at end of period. ...ttt ittt ittt ettt $2,182 $1,321

Related to the $2,182,000 reserve at December 31, 2004, approximately
$1,276,000 of this amount was determined on a discounted basis using a 4.9%
discount rate. The $1,276,000 discounted amount is $1,977,000 on an undiscounted
basis. No recoveries are expected or assumed. Expected payments of the
$1,977,000 are as follows:

2/ 00 $ 163,000
2006 . i e et e e e e e e e e e e ettt e e e 154,000
2/ 162,000
2/ 0 137,000
2000 . i it e e e e e e e ettt e e e et e e 78,000
[ o ol S T i = I 1,283,000

o o $1,977,000

12. ACCRUED EXPENSES AND OTHER CURRENT LIABILITIES

A summary of accrued expenses and other current liabilities follows:

Accrued wages, taxes and withholdings..............coooo... $14,314 $10,875
ACCTUEd INSUTANCE .t vttt ettt et e et ae e eeeeeesneeeeeeeeeeneeneeen 1,680 1,878
Accrued Interest ...ttt it ittt e e e e e e e 3 769
Accrued Warranty EXPEN S . i v u it ittt it e et eaneeeeeeeeaneens 5,338 5,382
Other current liabilitiesS. ...ttt eeeeneenneens 12,869 11,615
Total accrued expenses and other current liabilities........ $34,204 $30,519

13. INDUSTRY SEGMENT INFORMATION

Operating segments are defined as components of an enterprise engaging in
business activities about which separate financial information is available that
is evaluated regularly by the chief decision maker or group in deciding how to

allocate resources and assessing performance.

The Company has historically been organized into two business segments, the
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gment designs, manufactures, markets and sells lighting products
in North America for commercial, industrial and residential
s. See Note 4 which describes in further detail the sale of the

nterest in GTG.

ry segment information follows:

2004 2003 2002
(IN THOUSANDS)
PERATING REVENUES
ComMPresSsSOr (1) c vttt ittt e e e e ettt aeeeeeeeenn
net sales including inter—-area sales........ $462,151 $420,473 $266,285
Area SALlES (2) v ittt it e e e e e e e e e e e (52,037) (43,699) (25,683)
les to unaffiliated customers............... $410,114 $376,774 $240,602
NCOME (LOSS)
ComMPTreSSOT (1) v v et ettt ettt eeeeeeeeeenenns S 40,936 S 36,742 $ 31,675
[ T (G 3 18,608 32,138 28,804
ale Of GTG(3) vt v i ittt et et et e e 160,410 - -—
............................................ (11,204) (8,743) (5,966)
$208, 750 $ 60,137 $ 54,513
ComMPTreSSOT (1) v vttt ettt ettt eeeeeeeneennns $382,102 $344,384 $287,167
[ T (G 3 —— 214,405 188,810
............................................ 239,834 14,345 15,039
$621,936 $573,134 $491,016
IN EQUITY AFFILIATES
[ T (G 3 - $214,405 $188,810
T AFFECTING CASH
n and amortization
ComMPTreSSOT (1) v vttt ettt ettt eeeeeeeneennns $ 16,200 $ 15,072 $ 10,312
............................................ 140 135 156
$ 16,340 $ 15,207 $ 10,468
O PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
ComMPTreSSOT (1) v v vt ettt ettt et eeeeeeeeeenenns $ 16,303 $ 19,805 $ 8,208
............................................ 100 303 150
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$ 16,403 $ 20,108 $ 8,358

(1) Includes Rietschle after the August 29, 2002 acquisition date.

(2) Inter—area sales represent intercompany sales between geographic regions
(North America, Europe and Asia Pacific).

(3) The Company sold its joint venture interest in Lighting (GTG) on July 31,
2004.
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Intra-area sales, which represent intercompany sales between locations
within a geographic region, have been eliminated from the above tabulation.
Operating income by segment is gross profit less operating expenses, excluding

interest, general corporate expenses, other income and income taxes.

Information by geographic area follows:

(IN THOUSANDS)

REVENUES (1) (2)
Total net sales including inter-area sales

United States. . vttt ittt ettt eeeeeennnans $171,063 $165,899 $144,481
GETMANY « v v e v v e e e e e e e aaeeeeeseeenenenaneeeeseeeenennnans 209,720 180,568 85,227
(@ ul o TS a3 b Bl 1 84,381 75,194 28,588
Asia PacCifiC. .ottt ettt ettt e e 40,034 34,512 18,568

Inter—-area sales (3)

United SLaAleS . v i i ettt ittt ettt et ettt $(14,829) $(12,712) $(13,139)
[T 1= 2O (78, 660) (62,243) (21, 969)
Other EUT 0P . i i ittt i it ettt ettt ettt eaeeeeeneens (1,451) (4,262) (1,135)
Asia PacCifiC. . i ittt ittt it ettt et e (144) (182) (19)

Net sales to unaffiliated customers

United SLaAleS . v i it ittt ittt ettt e ettt teeeeeennnn $156,234 $153,187 $131,342
GO TMANY & v v e e v v e e e e e e aaeeeeeeeeneenenneeeeseeenenennnnns 131,060 118,325 63,258
Other EUT O . i i ittt i et et et ettt ettt eaeeeeeneenn 82,930 70,932 27,453
Asia PacCifiC. .ttt ettt e e 39,890 34,330 18,549

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

United States. . vi ittt ittt ettt eeeeeennnans 29,219 $ 31,673 $ 32,069
[T 1= 2 65,329 64,859 48,061
(@ ul o TS a3 b Bl 1O 17,564 10,864 10,840
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Asia Pacific..... . e 2,756 954 621

(1) Revenues are attributed to geographic areas based on the location of the
selling entity.

(2) Includes Rietschle after the August 29, 2002 acquisition date.

(3) Inter-area sales represent intercompany sales between countries/geographic
areas (United States, Germany, other Europe, and Asia Pacific).

Intra-area sales, which represent intercompany sales between locations
within a country/geographic area, have been eliminated from the above
tabulation.
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Net exposed assets, which represents assets less liabilities for geographic
operations outside of North America that are exposed to foreign currency risk,
at December 31, 2004 are $239,065,000 and $19,416,000 for Europe and Asia
Pacific, respectively.

14. CURRENCY RISK MANAGEMENT

The Company conducts business in several major international currencies
(primarily the European Euro, British Pound, Japanese Yen, Swiss Franc, and
Australian Dollar) and is subject to risks associated with changing foreign
exchange rates. The Company's objective is to reduce earnings and cash flow
volatility associated with foreign exchange rate changes to allow management to
focus its attention on its core business issues and challenges. Accordingly, the
Company enters into contracts that change in value as foreign exchange rates
change to protect the value of anticipated foreign currency revenues and
expenses. The gains and losses on these contracts offset changes in the value of
the underlying transactions as they occur. The Euro is the only currency hedged.

At December 31, 2004, the Company held forward contracts expiring through
December 2005 to hedge probable, but not firmly committed, intercompany
inventory purchases. These hedging contracts are classified as cash flow hedges
and accordingly, are adjusted to current market values through other
comprehensive income until the underlying transactions are recognized. Upon
recognition, such gains and losses are recorded in operations as an adjustment
to the carrying amounts of the underlying transactions in the period in which
these transactions are recognized.

At December 31, 2004, the foreign currency forward contracts had a notional
amount of Euro 6,000,000 and a fair value of approximately $657,700. The fair
value of the foreign currency forward contracts, which represents an asset, is
included in other current assets. The amount of the pre-tax net gain deferred
through other comprehensive income as of December 31, 2004 was approximately
$631,900. There was $25,800 of gain recognized in fiscal 2004. There was no gain
or loss recognized during 2003.

15. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
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The Company had an accounts receivable of approximately $500,000 as of
December 31, 2004 and $900,000 as of December 31, 2003, from Werner Rietschle
Holding GmbH, a shareholder and the entity which sold the Company assets in the
Rietschle transaction. This amount primarily related to taxes paid by the
Company on behalf of Werner Rietschle Holding GmbH. Dieter Rietschle, who is the
Company's general manager of its TIWR Holding GmbH & Co. KG subsidiary and a
former director, has a 49% ownership and 51% voting control of Werner Rietschle
Holding GmbH. The $500,000 amount as of December 31, 2004 was subsequently
collected in 2005.

16. SUMMARY OF QUARTERLY RESULTS OF OPERATIONS (UNAUDITED)
Unaudited quarterly results of operations follow:
NET SALES GROSS PROFIT NET INCOME
2004 2003 2004 2003 2004 2003
(IN THOUSANDS, EXCEPT SHARE DATA)
Ist Qtr. wiviiiiian. $109,518 $ 92,346 $ 38,383 $ 33,115 $ 10,650 $ 8,806
2nd Qtr. ..o 102,656 95,810 37,563 33,760 9,805 9,432
3rd Qtr. .t 97,697 88, 985 35,433 29,513 90,268(1) 10,583
4th Qtr. .o 100,243 99,633 36,081 33,554 3,431 8,493
$410,114 $376,774 $147,460 $129,942 $114,154 $37,314
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BASIC NET DILUTED NET
INCOME PER INCOME PER
SHARE SHARE
2004 2003 2004 2003
T A $0.061 $0.51 $0.60 $0.50
27 0L N i 0.56 0.55 0.55 0.54
B O 5.16(1) 0.61 5.07(1) 0.60
2 i o O o 0.19 0.49 0.19 0.48
$6.53 $2.17 $6.44 $2.12
(1) Includes a gain of $84,135,000 (pre-tax gain of $160,410,000) from the sale

of the Company's joint venture interest in GTG. Net income per share related

to this gain was $4.81 (basic) and $4.74 (diluted).
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17. SUBSEQUENT EVENT

On January 10, 2005 the Company acquired certain assets of the side channel
blower business of Ruey Chaang Electric Co, Ltd. of Taipei, Taiwan for
approximately $12 million. A partial payment of $8.4 million in cash was paid in
January 2005, with the balance payable in the third quarter of 2005.
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DEBT SECURITIES
PREFERRED STOCK
COMMON STOCK
WARRANTS

This prospectus describes securities which we may offer and sell at various
times. A more detailed description of the securities is contained in this
prospectus under "Description of Debt Securities," "Description of our Capital
Stock," and "Description of Warrants and Warrant Units."

- The securities may be our senior and senior subordinated debt
securities, shares of our preferred or common stock or warrants or
warrant units.

- The securities to be issued under this prospectus may be offered as
separate series or issuances at an aggregate initial public
offering price not to exceed $250,000,000 (or the equivalent amount
in other currencies).

We will determine the terms of each series of securities (including, as
applicable, the specific designation, aggregate principal amount, interest
rates, dividend rates, maturity, redemption provisions, ranking and other terms)
at the time of sale, and we will describe those terms in a prospectus supplement
which we will deliver together with this prospectus at the time of the sale.

Our common stock is listed on the New York Stock Exchange and trades under
the ticker symbol "GDI." Each prospectus supplement offering any other
securities will state whether those securities are listed or will be listed on
any national securities exchange.

We may offer the securities in amounts, at prices and on terms determined
at the time of the offering. We may sell securities directly to you or through
underwriters, dealers or agents. More information about the way we will
distribute the securities is under the heading "Plan of Distribution."
Information about the underwriters, dealers or agents who will participate in
any particular sale of securities will be in the prospectus supplement relating
to that series of securities.

INVESTING IN THE SECURITIES INVOLVES RISKS. BEFORE PURCHASING THE
SECURITIES, SEE THE INFORMATION UNDER "RISK FACTORS" IN THE PROSPECTUS
SUPPLEMENT PROVIDED IN CONNECTION WITH THE OFFER AND SALE OF ANY SECURITIES.

NEITHER THE SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION NOR ANY STATE SECURITIES
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COMMISSION HAS APPROVED OR DISAPPROVED OF THESE SECURITIES, OR PASSED UPON THE
ADEQUACY OR ACCURACY OF THIS PROSPECTUS. ANY REPRESENTATION TO THE CONTRARY IS A
CRIMINAL OFFENSE.

THE DATE OF THIS PROSPECTUS IS FEBRUARY 9, 2005.

We have not authorized anyone to give any information or to make any
representations concerning the offering of the securities except that which is
in this prospectus or in the prospectus supplement which is delivered with this
prospectus, or which is referred to under "Where You Can Find More Information."
If anyone gives or makes any other information or representation, you should not
rely on it. This prospectus is not an offer to sell or a solicitation of an
offer to buy any securities other than the securities which are referred to in
the prospectus supplement. This prospectus is not an offer to sell or a
solicitation of an offer to buy securities in any circumstances in which the
offer or solicitation is unlawful. You should not interpret the delivery of this
prospectus, or any sale of securities, as an indication that there has been no
change in our affairs since the date of this prospectus. You should also be
aware that information in this prospectus may change after this date.
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WHERE YOU CAN FIND MORE INFORMATION

We file annual, quarterly and special reports, proxy statements and other
information with the Securities and Exchange Commission ("SEC"). You may read
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and copy any of these documents at the SEC's public reference rooms in
Washington, D.C., New York, New York and Chicago, Illinois. Please call the SEC
at 1-800-SEC-0330 for further information on the public reference rooms. Our SEC
filings are also available to the public at the SEC's Internet website at
http://www.sec.gov. The SEC allows us to incorporate by reference the
information we file with them, which means that we can disclose important
information to you by referring you to those documents.

This prospectus 1is part of a registration statement we filed with the SEC.
The information incorporated by reference is considered to be part of this
prospectus, and later information that we file with the SEC will automatically
update and supersede this information. We incorporate by reference the documents
listed below and any future filings made with the SEC (File No. 001-13215) under
Sections 13(a), 13(c), 14, or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934
(other than those made pursuant to Item 9 or Item 12 of Form 8-K or other
information "furnished" to the SEC) after January 31, 2005, the date we first
filed the registration statement to which this prospectus relates, until we sell
all of the securities:

- Our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31,
2003.

- Our Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q for the quarters ended March 31,
June 30 and September 30, 2004.

- Our Current Reports on Form 8-K dated January 13, March 11, March
24, September 2, October 28 and November 17, 2004 and January 21,
2005.

- The description of our preferred stock purchase rights contained in
our registration statement on Form 8-A/Al dated August 25, 1997 and
in our Current Report on Form 8-K dated January 21, 2005.

- The description of our common stock contained in our registration
statement on Form 8-A dated July 25, 1997.

You may receive a copy of any of these filings, at no cost, by writing or
calling the Investor Relations Department, Gardner Denver, Inc., 1800 Gardner
Expressway, Quincy, Illinois 62301, telephone 217-222-5400. You can also find
information about the Company at our Internet website at
http://www.gardnerdenver.com.

We have filed with the SEC a registration statement to register the
securities under the Securities Act of 1933. This prospectus omits certain
information contained in the registration statement, as permitted by SEC rules.
You may obtain copies of the registration statement, including exhibits, as
noted in the first paragraph above.

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

Certain statements that we include in a prospectus supplement, as well as
certain information incorporated by reference which is referred to under the
heading "Where You Can Find More Information," constitute "forward-looking
statements" as defined in the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995
and are made in reliance upon the safe harbor of the Private Securities
Litigation Reform Act of 1995. As a general matter, forward-looking statements
are those focused upon anticipated events or trends and expectations and beliefs
relating to matters that are not historical in nature and are subject to
uncertainties. Our Quarterly Report for the quarter ended September 30, 2004,
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which is incorporated herein by reference, describes certain factors that could
cause actual results to differ materially from those expressed or implied by
forward-looking statements.

ii

INFORMATION ABOUT GARDNER DENVER

We believe we are one of the leading designers, manufacturers and marketers
of engineered stationary air compressors, liquid ring pumps and blowers for
various industrial and transportation applications and of pumps used in the
petroleum and industrial markets and other fluid transfer equipment serving
chemical, petroleum and food industries. In 2003, we had revenues of
approximately $440 million, of which approximately 84% were derived from sales
of compressed air products while approximately 16% were from sales of pump
products.

Approximately 58% of our total revenues in 2003 were derived from sales in
the United States and approximately 42% were from sales to customers in various
countries outside the United States. Of the total non-U.S. sales, approximately
52% were to Europe, 22% to Asia, 15% to Canada, % to Latin America and 2% to
other regions. Since 1996, we have completed 17 acquisitions, growing our
revenues from approximately $176 million, at the time of our spin-off from
Cooper Industries, Inc., to $440 million in 2003. Of the 17 acquisitions, the
two largest were completed in 2004 with the acquisition of Syltone plc
("Syltone") and nash-elmo Holdings, LLC ("Nash Elmo") in January and September
of 2004, respectively. Revenues in 2003, on an unaudited pro-forma basis, as if
the acquisitions of both Syltone and Nash Elmo had each occurred on January 1,
2003, would have been $783 million.

Syltone is one of the world's largest manufacturers of equipment used for
loading and unloading liquid and dry bulk products on commercial transportation
vehicles. This equipment includes compressors, blowers and other ancillary
products that are complementary to our product line. Syltone is also one of the
world's largest manufacturers of fluid transfer equipment (including loading
arms, swivel joints, couplers and valves) used to load and unload ships, tank
trucks and rail cars.

Nash Elmo is a leading global manufacturer of industrial vacuum pumps and
side channel blowers serving the worldwide industrial vacuum equipment market.
Prior to the acquisition, Nash Elmo was primarily split between two businesses,
liquid ring pumps and side channel blowers. Both businesses' products are
complementary to the Compressor and Vacuum Products segment's existing product
portfolio.

Subsequent to the acquisition of Nash Elmo and Syltone, the Company
continues to be organized based upon the products and services it offers and has
four operating divisions: Compressor, Blower, Liquid Ring Pump and Fluid
Transfer. These divisions comprise two reportable segments, Compressor and
Vacuum Products (formerly Compressed Air Products) and Fluid Transfer Products.
The Compressor, Blower (which now includes the Syltone transportation-related
activities and Nash Elmo's side channel blower business) and Liquid Ring Pump
(consisting of Nash Elmo's liquid ring pump business) Divisions are aggregated
into one reportable segment (Compressor and Vacuum Products). During the third
quarter of 2004, the Company's former Pump and Fluid Transfer (which consisted
of the Syltone fluid transfer-related activities) Divisions were combined into
one division, Fluid Transfer. These two divisions were previously aggregated
into one reportable segment (Fluid Transfer Products) primarily due to the same
factors as noted above, and thus, there has been no change to the Fluid Transfer
Products segment.

152



Edgar Filing: GARDNER DENVER INC - Form 424B2

Through our Compressor and Vacuum Products segment, we design, manufacture,
market and service rotary screw, reciprocating, sliding vane and centrifugal
compressors, positive displacement, centrifugal and side channel blowers, liquid
ring pumps and engineered systems utilizing these products. Stationary air
compressors are used in manufacturing, process applications and materials
handling, and to power air tools and equipment. Blowers are used primarily in
pneumatic conveying, wastewater aeration, numerous applications in industrial
manufacturing and engineered vacuum systems. Liquid ring pumps are used in many
different vacuum applications and engineered systems, such as water removal,
distilling, reacting, efficiency improvement, lifting and handling, and
filtering, principally in the pulp and paper, industrial manufacturing, chemical
and power industries.

Through our Fluid Transfer Products segment we design, manufacture, market
and service a diverse group of pumps, water jetting systems and related
aftermarket parts used in oil and natural gas production, well servicing and
drilling and industrial cleaning and maintenance and other fluid transfer
equipment serving chemical, petroleum, and food industries.

With the acquisition of Syltone and Nash Elmo in 2004, we now have 30
manufacturing facilities throughout the world that use advanced manufacturing,
quality assurance and testing equipment geared to specific products being
manufactured. Most of the facilities use computer aided numerical control tools
and manufacturing techniques that concentrate the equipment necessary to produce
similar products in one area of the plant (cell manufacturing).

We sell our products through independent distributors and sales
representatives and directly to original equipment manufacturers (OEMs),
engineering firms and end users. A direct sales force is used to service OEM and
engineering firm accounts because these typically require more technical
assistance, shipment scheduling and product service.

Our executive offices are located at 1800 Gardner Expressway, Quincy,
Illinois 62301 and our telephone number is 217-222-5400.

You can obtain additional information about us in the reports and other
documents incorporated by reference in this prospectus. See "Where You Can Find
More Information."

USE OF PROCEEDS

Except as we may indicate otherwise in the prospectus supplement which
accompanies this prospectus, we intend to use the proceeds of the securities for
acquisitions, capital expenditures, repayment of borrowings, working capital and
other general corporate purposes. Before we use the proceeds for these purposes,
we may invest them in short-term investments. If we decide to use the proceeds
from a particular offering of securities for a specific purpose, we will
describe that purpose in the related prospectus supplement.

RATIO OF EARNINGS TO FIXED CHARGES

The following table shows the ratio of our earnings to fixed charges for
the periods indicated. We have computed these ratios by dividing earnings
available for fixed charges (income before income taxes plus fixed charges) by
fixed charges (interest expense plus that portion of rental expenses deemed to
represent interest).
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FOR THE NINE
MONTHS ENDED

SEPTEMBER 30, FOR THE YEAR ENDED MONTHS ENDE

2004 2003 2003 2002 2001 2000
Ratio of earnings to fixed charges... 5.7 5.8 6.0 4.9 5.5 4.5

2

DESCRIPTION OF DEBT SECURITIES

This section describes some of the general terms of the debt securities.
The prospectus supplement describes the particular terms of any debt securities
we are offering. The prospectus supplement also indicates the extent, if any, to
which these general provisions may not apply to the debt securities being
offered. The debt securities will be either senior debt securities or senior
subordinated debt securities. If you would like more information on these
provisions, you may review the Indentures which appear as exhibits to the
registration statement we have filed with the SEC. See "Where You Can Find More
Information."

We will issue the senior debt securities and the senior subordinated debt
under two separate indentures between us and The Bank of New York Trust Company,
NA, formerly known as BNY Midwest Trust Company, as trustee. We are summarizing
certain important provisions of the debt securities and these indentures. This
is not a complete description of the important terms. You should refer to the
specific terms of each indenture for a complete statement of the terms of the
indentures and the debt securities issuable thereunder. When we use capitalized
terms which we do not define here, those terms have the meanings given in the
indentures. Unless otherwise indicated, when we use references to Sections, we
mean Sections in both of the indentures.

GENERAL

The indentures do not limit the amount of debt securities that we may issue
under the indentures, nor do they limit other debt that we may issue. The debt
securities will be our unsecured general obligations. The senior debt securities
will rank pari passu with all of our other unsecured and unsubordinated
obligations. The senior subordinated debt securities will be unsecured and will
be subordinate and junior in priority of payment to some of our other
indebtedness to the extent described in the related prospectus supplement. None
of our subsidiaries will have any obligation to guarantee or otherwise pay
amounts due under the securities. We may issue senior debt securities and senior
subordinated debt securities at various times in different series, each of which
may have different terms. If we so indicate in the prospectus supplement for any
series, we may treat a subsequent offering of debt securities as a part of the
same series as that series.

The prospectus supplement relating to the particular series of debt
securities we are offering includes the following information concerning those
debt securities:

- The title of the debt securities.
- The total principal amount of the series of debt securities, and

whether we may treat a subsequent offering of debt securities as a
part of the same series as that series.
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Whether the debt securities are senior debt securities or senior
subordinated debt securities and the terms of subordination, if
applicable.

The date on which the principal and interest will be paid, any
rights we may have to extend the maturity of the debt securities and
any rights the holders may have to require payment of the debt
securities at any time.

The interest rate on the debt securities. We may specify a fixed
rate or a variable rate, or a rate to be determined under procedures
we will describe in the prospectus supplement, and the interest rate
may be subject to adjustment.

The date or dates from which interest will accrete or accrue, the
dates on which we will pay interest on the debt securities and the
regular record dates for determining the holders who are entitled to
receive the interest payments.

Where payments on the debt securities will be made, if it is other
than the office mentioned under "Payments on Debt Securities;
Transfers" below.

If applicable, the prices at which we may redeem all or a part of
the debt securities and the time periods during which we may make
the redemptions at our option or at your option. The redemptions may
be made under a sinking fund or otherwise.

3

Any obligation we may have to redeem, purchase or repay any of the
debt securities under a sinking fund or otherwise or at the option
of the holder, and the prices, time periods and other terms which
would apply.

The terms, if any, on which the debt securities may be convertible
into or exchangeable for common stock or other of our securities.
Such conversion may be mandatory, at the option of the holder, or at
our option, and the number any type of our securities to be received
by the holders on such conversion may be subject to adjustment.

Any additional or different events of default or covenants that will
apply to the debt securities.

The amounts we would be required to pay if the maturity of the debt
securities is accelerated, if it is less than the principal amount.

If we will make payments on the debt securities in any currency
other than U.S. dollars, the currencies in which we will make the
payments.

If applicable, the terms under which we or a holder may elect that
payments on the debt securities be made in a currency other than
U.S. dollars.

If amounts payable on the debt securities may be determined by a
currency or other index, information on how the payments will be
determined.

The amount of discount or premium with which such debt securities
will be issued.

155



Edgar Filing: GARDNER DENVER INC - Form 424B2

- Any other special terms that may apply to the debt securities.
PAYMENTS ON DEBT SECURITIES; TRANSFERS

We will make payments on the debt securities to the persons in whose names
the securities are registered at the close of business on the record date for
the interest payments. As explained under "Book-Entry Debt Securities" below,
the Depository Trust Company or its nominee will be the initial registered
holder unless the prospectus supplement provides otherwise.

Unless we indicate otherwise in the prospectus supplement, we will make
payments on the debt securities at the trustee's office, which is now located at
2 North LaSalle Street, Suite 1020, Chicago, Illinois. Transfers of debt
securities can be made at the same offices.

FORM AND DENOMINATIONS
Unless we otherwise indicate in the prospectus supplement:

- We will issue the debt securities of each series only in registered
form without coupons in denominations of $1,000 and any integral
multiple thereof.

- We will not charge any fee to register any transfer or exchange of
the debt securities, except for taxes or other governmental charges,
if any.

CERTAIN RESTRICTIONS
Creation of Secured Indebtedness

Under the senior indenture, we and our Restricted Subsidiaries (defined
below) may not create, assume, guarantee or permit to exist any indebtedness for
borrowed money which is secured by a pledge of, or a mortgage or lien on, any
Principal Plants (defined below) or on any of our Restricted Subsidiaries'
capital stock, unless we also provide equal and ratable security for the senior
debt securities. A "Restricted Subsidiary" is a subsidiary which owns or
operates a Principal Plant, unless it 1is incorporated or has its principal place
of business outside the United States, and any other subsidiary which we elect
to treat as a Restricted Subsidiary. A "Principal Plant" is any of our
production facilities, but does not include a facility which our board of
directors determines shall not be treated as a Principal Plant, as long as all
such plants which are determined not to be Principal Plants, taken together, are
not of material importance to our and our subsidiaries total business. Our board
of directors may change any such designation of a facility as a Principal Plant
or as excluded from the category of Principal Plant at varying times, subject to
the limit described in the preceding sentence.

4

The restriction described in the preceding paragraph does not apply to:
- purchase money liens, including liens for indebtedness incurred in
connection with the acquisition or construction of a Principal Plant
(so long as we incur the indebtedness within 180 days after the
acquisition or completion of construction of such Principal Plant),

- liens existing on property when we acquire it,

- liens on property of a Restricted Subsidiary when it becomes a
Restricted Subsidiary,

156



Edgar Filing: GARDNER DENVER INC - Form 424B2

- liens to secure the cost of development or construction of property,
or improvements of property, and which are released or satisfied
within 180 days after completion of the development or construction,

- liens in connection with the acquisition or construction of
Principal Plants or additions thereto financed by tax-exempt
securities,

- liens securing indebtedness to us or a wholly-owned Restricted
Subsidiary by a Restricted Subsidiary,

- liens existing at the date of the senior indenture,

- liens on property of a corporation existing at the time such
corporation is merged with or consolidated with us or a Restricted
Subsidiary, or at the time we or a Restricted Subsidiary acquires
all or substantially all of the properties of such corporation,

- liens in favor of the United States government or any U.S. state
government incurred in connection with financing the acquisition or
construction of properties pursuant to a statute or a contract with
any such governmental body, or

- extensions, renewals or replacements of the liens referred to above.
There is an additional exception described below under "Basket Amount."
Sale-Leaseback Financings

Under the senior indenture, neither we nor any Restricted Subsidiary may
enter into any sale and leaseback transaction involving a Principal Plant,
except a sale by us to a Restricted Subsidiary or a sale by a Restricted
Subsidiary to us or another Restricted Subsidiary or a lease not exceeding three
years, by the end of which we intend to discontinue use of the property, unless:

- the net proceeds of the sale are at least equal to the fair market
value of the property, and

- within 180 days of the transfer we repay Funded Debt (defined below)
and/or make expenditures for the expansion, construction or
acquisition of a Principal Plant at least equal to the net proceeds
of the sale.

There is an additional exception described below under "Basket Amount."
Basket Amount

In addition to the exceptions described above under "Creation of Secured
Indebtedness" and "Sale-Leaseback Financings," the senior indenture allows
additional secured indebtedness and additional sale-leaseback financings as long
as the total of the additional indebtedness and the fair market value of the
property transferred in the additional sale-leaseback financings when added to
the permitted Funded Debt described below, does not exceed 10% of our
consolidated total assets.

Limitation on Funded Debt of Restricted Subsidiaries

Under the senior indenture, we may not permit any Restricted Subsidiary to
create, assume or incur any Funded Debt other than:

- Funded Debt secured by a mortgage, pledge or lien which is permitted
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under the provisions described above under "Creation of Secured
Indebtedness, "

- Funded Debt owed to us or any wholly-owned Restricted Subsidiary,

5

- Funded Debt of a corporation existing at the time it becomes a
Restricted Subsidiary,

—— Funded Debt created in connection with, or with a view to,
compliance with the requirements of any program, law, statute or
regulation of any federal, state or local governmental authority and
applicable to the Restricted Subsidiary and providing financial or
tax benefits to the Restricted Subsidiary which are not available
directly to us, or not available on as favorable terms,

- guarantees existing at the date of the senior indenture, and

- other Funded Debt which, when added to outstanding secured debt and
sale—leaseback financings permitted under the provision described
under "Basket Amount" above, does not exceed 10% of our consolidated
total assets.

"Funded Debt" means indebtedness for money borrowed and indebtedness
represented by notes, debentures and other similar evidences of indebtedness,
including purchase money indebtedness, having a maturity of more than twelve
months from the date of determination or having a maturity of less than twelve
months but by its terms being renewable or extendible beyond twelve months at
our option, subject only to conditions which we are then capable of fulfilling,
and guarantees of similar indebtedness of others, except that Funded Debt does
not include:

- Any indebtedness of a person held in treasury by that person; or

- Any indebtedness with respect to which sufficient money has been
deposited or set aside in trust to pay the indebtedness; or

- Certain contingent obligations in respect of indebtedness of other
persons, such as keep-well, maintenance of working capital or
earnings or similar agreements.

Merger

We may not consolidate with or merge into any other corporation or transfer
or lease our properties and assets substantially as an entirety unless certain
conditions are met, including the assumption of the securities by any successor
corporation.

MODIFICATION OR AMENDMENT OF THE INDENTURE

We may modify and amend either indenture if the holders of a majority in
principal amount of the applicable outstanding debt securities give their
consent, except that no supplemental indenture may reduce the principal amount
of or interest or premium payable on any debt security, change the maturity date
or dates of principal, the interest payment dates or other terms of payment, or
reduce the percentage of holders necessary to approve a modification or
amendment of the indenture, without the consent of each holder of such
outstanding debt securities affected by the supplemental indenture.

We and the Trustee may amend an indenture without the holders' consent for
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certain specified purposes, including any change which is not otherwise
inconsistent with the indenture and which does not materially adversely affect
the holders' interests.

DEFEASANCE

The indentures include provisions allowing defeasance of the debt
securities of any series. In order to defease debt securities, we would deposit
with the trustee or another trustee money or securities which are direct
obligations of or guaranteed by the United States of America sufficient to make
all payments on those debt securities. If we make a defeasance deposit with
respect to your debt securities, we may elect either:

- to be discharged from all our obligations on your debt securities,
except for our obligations to register transfers and exchanges, to
replace temporary or mutilated, destroyed, lost or stolen debt
securities, to maintain an office or agency in respect of the debt
securities and to hold monies for payment in trust; or

- to be released from the restrictions described above relating to
liens, sale-leaseback transactions, Funded Debt of Restricted
Subsidiaries and certain other restrictions and obligations
contained in the

indentures (specifically not including, however, our obligation to
pay the principal of or interest on any debt securities).

To establish the trust, we must deliver to the Trustee an opinion of our
counsel that the holders of the debt securities will not recognize gain or loss
for Federal income tax purposes as a result of the defeasance and will be
subject to Federal income tax on the same amount, in the same manner and at the
same times as would have been the case if the defeasance had not occurred.
EVENTS OF DEFAULT, NOTICE AND WAIVER

An event of default in respect of any series of debt securities means:

- default for 30 days in any payment of interest;

- default in payment of principal or premium when due;

- default in payment of any sinking fund amount in accordance with the
terms of such debt security;

- default in performance of or breach of any covenant in the indenture
which applies to the series which continues for 60 days after notice
to us by the Trustee or by the holders of 25% in principal amount of
the outstanding debt securities of the affected series;

- default in our payment of indebtedness which we have incurred or
guaranteed exceeding $30 million or acceleration of the maturity
such indebtedness exceeding $30 million;

- certain events of bankruptcy, insolvency and reorganization; and

- any other events which are designated as Events of Default in
respect of that series.

If an event of default occurs and is continuing (other than with respect to
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certain events of bankruptcy, insolvency or similar Event of Default) in respect
of one or more series of debt securities, either the Trustee or the holders of
25% in principal amount of the outstanding debt securities of those series may
declare the principal of and accrued interest, if any, on all securities of
those series to be due and payable. If a bankruptcy, insolvency or similar Event
of Default occurs with respect to us, all outstanding debt securities will be
due and payable without notice or any other action on the part of the trustee or
any holder.

Within 60 days after a default in respect of any series of debt securities,
the Trustee must give to the holders of the debt securities of that series
notice of all uncured and unwaived defaults by us known to it. However, except
in the case of default in payment, the Trustee may withhold the notice if it in
good faith determines that it is in the interest of the holders. The term
"default" means, for this purpose, the occurrence of any event that, upon notice
or lapse of time, would be an Event of Default.

Before the Trustee is required to exercise rights under the indentures at
the request of holders, it is entitled to be indemnified by the holders, subject
to its duty, during an Event of Default, to act with the required standard of
care.

Subject to the Trustee's duty during a default to act with the required
standard of care, the Trustee has the right to be indemnified by the holders of
debt securities issued under the indentures before proceeding to exercise any
right or power under the indenture at the request of the holders. The holders of
a majority in principal amount of the outstanding securities of any series
(voting as a single class) may direct the time, method and place of conducting
any proceeding for any remedy available to the Trustee or exercising any trust
or power conferred upon the Trustee in respect of the securities of that series.

The holders of a majority in principal amount of the outstanding securities
of all series affected by a default (voting as a single class) may, on behalf of
the holders of all that securities, waive the default except a default in
payment of the principal of or premium, if any, or interest on any security. The
holders of a majority in principal amount of outstanding securities of all
series entitled to the benefits thereof (voting as a single class) may waive
compliance with certain covenants under the indenture. We will furnish to the
Trustee, annually, a statement as to the fulfillment by us of our obligations
under the indentures.

REGARDING THE TRUSTEE

The Bank of New York Trust Company, NA, formerly known as BNY Midwest Trust
Company, is the Trustee under both of the indentures. Its affiliate, The Bank of
New York, 1is a party to our credit agreement under which it has committed to
lend us up to $20 million, and it may provide other banking services to us.

GOVERNING LAW

The indentures and the debt securities will be governed by and construed in
accordance with the internal laws of the State of New York.

BOOK-ENTRY DEBT SECURITIES

The prospectus supplement will indicate whether we are issuing the related
debt securities as book-entry securities. Book-entry securities of a series will
be issued in the form of one or more global notes that will be deposited with
the Depository Trust Company, New York, New York, and will evidence all of the
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debt securities of that series. This means that we will not issue certificates
to each holder. We will issue one or more global securities to DTC, which will
keep a computerized record of its participants (for example, your broker) whose
clients have purchased the debt securities. The participant will then keep a
record of its clients who own the debt securities. Unless it is exchanged in
whole or in part for a security evidenced by individual certificates, a global
security may not be transferred, except that DTC, its nominees and their
successors may transfer a global security as a whole to one another. Beneficial
interests in global securities will be shown on, and transfers of beneficial
interests in global notes will be made only through, records maintained by DTC
and its participants. Each person owning a beneficial interest in a global
security must rely on the procedures of DTC and, if the person is not a
participant, on the procedures of the participant through which the person owns
its interest to exercise any rights of a holder of debt securities under the
applicable Indenture.

We will make payments on each series of book-entry debt securities to DTC
or its nominee, as the sole registered owner and holder of the global security.
Neither we nor the Trustee nor any of their agents will be responsible or liable
for any aspect of DTC's records relating to or payments made on account of
beneficial ownership interests in a global security or for maintaining,
supervising or reviewing any of DTC's records relating to the beneficial
ownership interests.

DTC has informed us that, when it receives any payment on a global
security, it will immediately, on its book-entry registration and transfer
system, credit the accounts of participants with payments in amounts
proportionate to their beneficial interests in the global security as shown on
DTC's records. Payments by participants to you, as an owner of a beneficial
interest in the global security, will be governed by standing instructions and
customary practices (as is now the case with securities held for customer
accounts registered in "street name") and will be the sole responsibility of the
participants.

A global security representing a series will be exchanged for certificated
debt securities of that series if (a) DTC notifies us that it is unwilling or
unable to continue as Depositary or if DTC ceases to be a clearing agency
registered under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and we don't appoint a
successor within 90 days or (b) we decide that the global security shall be
exchangeable. If that occurs, we will issue debt securities of that series in
certificated form in exchange for the global security. An owner of a beneficial
interest in the global security then will be entitled to physical delivery of a
certificate for debt securities of the series equal in principal amount to that
beneficial interest and to have those debt securities registered in its name. We
would issue the certificates for the debt securities in denominations of $1,000
or any larger amount that is an integral multiple thereof, and we would issue
them in registered form only, without coupons.

DTC has advised us that it is a limited-purpose trust company organized
under the New York Banking Law, a "banking organization" within the meaning of
the New York Banking Law, a member of the Federal Reserve System, a "clearing
corporation" within the meaning of the New York Uniform Commercial Code, and a
"clearing agency" registered under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 Act. DTC
was created to hold the securities of its participants and to facilitate the
clearance and settlement of securities transactions among its participants
through electronic book-entry changes in accounts of the participants, thereby
eliminating the need for physical movement of securities certificates. DTIC's
participants include securities brokers and
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dealers, banks, trust companies, clearing corporations, and certain other
organizations, some of whom (and/or their representatives) own DTC. Access to
DTC's book-entry system is also available to others, such as banks, brokers,
dealers and trust companies that clear through or maintain a custodial
relationship with a participant, either directly or indirectly. The rules
applicable to DTC and its participants are on file with the SEC. No fees or
costs of DTC will be charged to you.

DESCRIPTION OF OUR CAPITAL STOCK

Our certificate of incorporation authorizes the issuance of up to
50,000,000 shares of common stock, par value $.01 per share, and 10,000,000
shares of preferred stock, par value $.01 per share, of which we have designated
500,000 shares as Series A Junior Participating Preferred Stock in connection
with our shareholder rights plan discussed below. See "Amended and Restated
Rights Agreement —-- Series A Junior Participating Preferred Stock." As of
January 21, 2005, there were 19,954,832 shares of common stock outstanding, and
no shares of preferred stock were outstanding.

The following summary is not complete and is qualified by reference to the
applicable provisions of Delaware law and our certificate of incorporation,
by-laws and the amended and restated rights agreement dated as of January 17,
2005, between Gardner Denver, Inc. and National City Bank, as rights agent. This
is not a complete description of the important terms of Delaware law, our
certificate of incorporation, by-laws or the rights agreement. If you would like
more information on the provisions of our certificate of incorporation, by-laws
or the rights agreement, you may review our certificate of incorporation, our
by-laws and our rights agreement, each of which is incorporated by reference as
an exhibit to the registration statement we have filed with the SEC. See "Where
You Can Find More Information."

COMMON STOCK

The holders of our common stock are entitled to one vote for each share
they own on all matters voted on by our stockholders. The common stock does not
have cumulative voting rights. Subject to any preferential or other rights of
any outstanding series of preferred stock that may be designated by our board of
directors, the holders of common stock will be entitled to such dividends as may
be declared by our Board, and upon liquidation will be entitled to receive their
pro rata portion of our assets available for distribution to the holders of
common stock. All of the outstanding shares of common stock are fully paid and
nonassessable. Holders of common stock have no preemptive rights to purchase or
subscribe for any stock or other securities and there are no conversion rights
or redemption or sinking fund provisions with respect to our common stock. The
transfer agent and registrar for our common stock is National City Bank.

PREFERRED STOCK

Our board of directors has the authority to issue the preferred stock in
one or more series and to fix certain of the rights, preferences, privileges and
restrictions applicable to such series, including the annual dividend rate, the
time of payment for dividends, whether such dividends shall be cumulative or
non-cumulative, and the date or dates from which any cumulative dividends will
begin to accrue, redemption terms (including sinking fund provisions),
redemption price or prices, liquidation preferences, the extent of the voting
powers, if any, and conversion rights. In connection with the adoption of a
shareholder rights plan, we have designated 500,000 shares of preferred stock as
Series A Junior Participating Preferred Stock. See "Amended and Restated Rights
Agreement —-- Series A Junior Participating Preferred Stock." The prospectus
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supplement will describe the specific terms of any preferred stock we are
offering.

CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF DELAWARE LAW, OUR CERTIFICATE OF INCORPORATION AND BY-LAWS
General.

Delaware law, our certificate of incorporation and our by-laws contain
provisions that could make it more difficult for someone to acquire control of
us by means of a tender offer, open market purchases, a proxy contest or
otherwise.

Classified Board of Directors; Removal of Directors.

Our by-laws provide that we shall have at least three and not more than
nine directors, with the exact numbers of directors to be determined from time
to time by a majority of our entire board of directors. We now have eight
directors. The directors are divided into three classes, as nearly equal in
number as is possible, serving staggered three-year terms. With a classified
board of directors, at least two annual meetings of stockholders, instead of
one, 1is generally required to effect a change in a majority of the Board's
members. As a result, the classification of the Board may discourage proxy
contests for the election of directors,

10

unsolicited tender offers or purchases of a substantial block of the common
stock because it could prevent an acquiror from obtaining control of the board
of directors in a relatively short period of time. In addition, pursuant to
Delaware law and our certificate of incorporation, a director or the entire
board of directors may be removed only for cause and only by the affirmative
vote of holders of at least a majority of the outstanding shares of common stock
entitled to vote. As a result, a classified board of directors delays
stockholders who disagree with the policies of the board of directors from
replacing directors, unless they can demonstrate that the directors should be
removed for cause and obtain the requisite vote.

Filling Vacancies on the Board.

Our by-laws provide that, subject to the rights of holders of any shares of
preferred stock, vacancies on the board of directors may be filled only by a
majority of the board of directors then in office, even if less than a quorum,
or by the sole remaining director. Accordingly, the Board could temporarily
prevent any stockholder from obtaining majority representation on the board of
directors by enlarging the board of directors and filling the new directorships
with its own nominees.

No Stockholder Action by Written Consent; Special Meetings.

Stockholder action can be taken only at an annual or special meeting of
stockholders. Stockholder action by written consent in lieu of a meeting is
prohibited. The special meetings of stockholders may be called only by the
President or Secretary upon the request of a majority of the entire board of
directors or upon the request, in writing, of stockholders owning a majority of
the issued capital stock entitled to vote at such meeting. Business conducted at
any special meeting is limited to the purposes specified in the written notice
of the meeting. The provision prohibiting stockholder action by written consent
may delay consideration of a stockholder proposal until the next annual meeting
(unless a special meeting is called). These provisions prevent the holders of a
majority of the voting power of the outstanding shares of stock entitled to vote
generally in the election of directors from using the written consent procedure
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to take stockholder action and from taking action by consent without giving all
the stockholders entitled to vote on a proposed action the opportunity to
participate.

Advance Notice Provisions for Stockholder Nominations and Stockholder
Proposals.

Our by-laws establish an advance notice procedure with regard to the
nomination, other than by or at the direction of the board of directors, of
candidates for directors and with regard to business to be brought before an
annual or special meeting of stockholders. The nomination procedure provides
that, subject to any rights of holders of preferred stock, only persons who are
nominated by or at the direction of the board of directors or by a stockholder
who has given timely written notice to the Secretary prior to the meeting at
which directors are to be elected will be eligible for election as directors.
The business procedure provides that at an annual or special meeting only such
business may be conducted as has been specified in the notice of meeting,
brought before the meeting by or at the direction of the board of directors or
by a stockholder who has given timely written notice to our Secretary of such
stockholder's intention to bring such business before the meeting. If the
officer presiding at a meeting determines that a person was not nominated in
accordance with the nomination procedure, the nomination shall be disregarded.
If the presiding officer determines that business was not brought before the
meeting in accordance with the business procedure, the business will not be
transacted. Although the by-laws do not give the Board any power to approve or
disapprove stockholder nominations for the election of directors or proposals
for action, they may have the effect of precluding a contest for the election of
directors or the consideration of stockholder proposals if the proper procedures
are not followed, and of discouraging or deterring a third party from conducting
a solicitation of proxies to elect its own slate of directors or to approve its
proposal without regard to whether consideration of such nominees or proposals
might be harmful or beneficial to us and our stockholders.

Delaware Anti-Takeover Law.

We are subject to Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation Law
regulating corporate takeovers. Section 203, subject to certain exceptions,
prohibits a Delaware corporation from engaging in any "business
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combination" with any "interested stockholder" for a period of three years
following the date that such stockholder became an interested stockholder
unless:

- prior to such date, the board of directors of the corporation
approved either the business combination or the transaction that
resulted in the stockholder becoming an interested stockholder;

- upon consummation of the transaction that resulted in the
stockholder becoming an interested stockholder, the interested
stockholder owned at least 85% of the voting stock of the
corporation outstanding at the time the transaction commenced,
excluding those shares owned by persons who are directors and also
officers, and employee stock plans in which employee participants do
not have the right to determine confidentially whether shares held
subject to the plan will be tendered in a tender or exchange offer;
or

- on or subsequent to such date, the business combination is approved
by the board of directors and authorized at an annual or special



Edgar Filing: GARDNER DENVER INC - Form 424B2

meeting of stockholders, and not by written consent, by the
affirmative vote of at least two-thirds of the outstanding voting
stock that is not owned by the interested stockholder.

In general, Section 203 defines "business combination" to include mergers
or consolidations between a Delaware corporation and an interested stockholder,
transactions with an interested stockholder involving the assets or stock of the
corporation or its majority-owned subsidiaries and transactions which increase
an interested stockholder's percentage ownership of stock. In general, Section
203 defines an "interested stockholder" as any entity or person beneficially
owning 15% or more of the outstanding voting stock of the corporation and any
entity or person affiliated with or controlling or controlled by such entity or
person.

Amendment of Certain Certificate of Incorporation and By-Law Provisions.

Under Delaware law, stockholders have the right to adopt, amend or repeal
the by-laws of a corporation. In addition, if the certificate of incorporation
so provides, the by-laws may be amended by the board of directors. Our
certificate of incorporation provides that our by-laws may be amended by the
affirmative vote of the majority of the board of directors.

The by-laws provide that the stockholders may amend the by-laws by an
affirmative vote of the majority entitled to vote, provided, however, the
affirmative vote of the holders of at least 80% of our outstanding shares
entitled to vote is required to amend provisions relating to special meetings,
number, election and term of the board of directors, and amending the by-laws.
Provisions set forth in our certificate of incorporation relating to the removal
of directors and the prohibition of stockholder action without a meeting may be
amended only by the affirmative vote of the holders of at least 80% of our
outstanding shares.

AMENDED AND RESTATED RIGHTS AGREEMENT

Under our stockholder rights plan, we authorized the issuance of one
preferred stock purchase right for each outstanding share of common stock. The
amended and restated rights agreement between the Company and National City
Bank, as rights agent, contains the terms of the stockholder rights plan. The
summary description of the rights agreement and the Series A Junior Preferred
Stock set forth below does not purport to be complete and is qualified in its
entirety by reference to the rights agreement and the certificate of designation
for the Series A Junior Preferred Stock, which are incorporated by reference
into this registration statement.

Exercisability of Rights.

Under the rights agreement, each share of our common stock carries with it
an associated right. When exercisable, each right entitles the registered holder
to purchase from us one one-hundredth of a share of Series A Junior
Participating Preferred Stock, par value $.01, at a purchase price of $145 per
one-one hundredth of a share, subject to certain adjustments. For a description
of the terms of the Series A Junior Participating Preferred Stock. See
"-— Series A Junior Participating Preferred Stock."

The rights will not become exercisable until the earlier of: (i) 10
business days following a public announcement that a person or group of
affiliated or associated persons (an "Acquiring Person") has acquired, or
obtained the right to acquire beneficial ownership of 15% or more of the

outstanding shares of common stock (the "Stock Acquisition Date"), or (ii) 10
business days (or such later date as the board of
12
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directors shall determine) following the commencement of a tender or exchange
offer that would result in a person or group beneficially owning 15% or more of
such outstanding shares of common stock (the "Tender Offer Date") (the earlier
of the dates described in (i) and (ii) 1is referred to as a "Distribution Date").
The rights will expire at the close of business on January 31, 2015, unless
earlier redeemed by us as described below.

Until a right is exercised, the holder of the right will have no rights as
a stockholder, including the right to vote or to receive dividends.

"Flip In" Feature.

In the event (i) we are the surviving corporation in a merger or other
business combination with an Acquiring Person (or any associate or affiliate
thereof) and our common stock remains outstanding and unchanged, (ii) any person
becomes the beneficial owner of 15% or more of the then outstanding shares of
our common stock (except pursuant to (A) certain consolidations or mergers
involving us or sales or transfers of the combined assets or earning power of us
and our subsidiaries or (B) an offer for all of the outstanding shares of common
stock at a price and upon terms and conditions determined by a majority of the
board of directors to be in our and our stockholders best interest), or (iii)
there occurs a reclassification of securities, a recapitalization or any of
certain business combinations or other transactions (other than certain
consolidations and mergers involving us and sales or transfers of the combined
assets or earning power of us and our subsidiaries) involving us or any of our
subsidiaries which has the effect of increasing by more than 1% the
proportionate share of any class of our outstanding equity securities or any of
our subsidiaries beneficially owned by an Acquiring Person (or any associate or
affiliate there), each holder of a right (other than an Acquiring Person,
certain related parties and transferees) will thereafter have the right to
receive, upon exercise, common stock (or, in certain circumstances, cash,
property or other securities) having a value equal to two times the exercise
price of the right. Following the occurrence of any of the events set forth in
this paragraph, all rights that are, or (under certain circumstances specified
in the rights agreement) were, beneficially owned by any Acquiring Person will
be null and void.

"Flip Over" Feature
If at any time following the Stock Acquisition Date:

- We are acquired in a merger or business combination transaction in
which we are not the surviving corporation;

- We are the surviving corporation in a consolidation or merger
pursuant to which all or part of the outstanding shares of common
stock are changed into or exchanged for stock or other securities of
any other person or cash or any other property; or

- more than 50% of the combined assets or earning power of our and our
subsidiaries is sold or transferred (in each case other than certain
consolidations with, mergers with and into, or sales of assets or
earning power by or to our subsidiaries as specified in the rights
agreement),

each holder of a right shall thereafter have the right to receive, upon exercise
thereof, common stock of the acquiring company having a value equal to two times
the exercise price of the right.

In order to prevent dilution, the purchase price payable, the number and
kind of shares covered by each right and the number of rights outstanding are
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subject to adjustment from time to time in accordance with the terms of the
rights agreement.

Redemption of Rights

Generally, at any time until 10 business days following the Stock
Acquisition Date, we may redeem the rights in whole, but not in part, at a price
of $.01 per right (payable in cash, shares of common stock or other
consideration deemed appropriate by the board of directors). Immediately upon
the action of the board of directors ordering redemption of the rights, the
rights will terminate and the only right of the holders of rights will be to
receive the $.01 redemption price.

Series A Junior Participating Preferred Stock

Each share of Series A Junior Participating Preferred Stock purchased upon
exercise of the rights will be entitled to a minimum preferential quarterly
dividend payment equal to the greater of (i) $2.50 per share, and
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(ii) 100 times the dividend, if any, declared per share of common stock. In the
event of liquidation, the holders of the Series A Junior Participating Preferred
Stock will be entitled to a minimum preferential ligquidation payment equal to
100 times the par value per share plus an amount equal to accrued and unpaid
dividends and distributions to the date of such payment. Each share of Series A
Junior Participating Preferred Stock will have 100 votes and, except as
otherwise provided in the certificate of incorporation or applicable law, will
vote together with the common stock. In the event of any merger, consolidation
or other transaction in which shares of common stock are exchanged, each share
of Series A Junior Participating Preferred Stock will be entitled to receive 100
times the amount per share of common stock received in such merger,
consolidation or other transaction. These rights are protected by customary
anti-dilution provisions. The shares of Series A Junior Participating Preferred
Stock will, if issued, be junior to any other series of preferred stock
authorized and issued by us, unless the terms of the series provide otherwise.
Because of the nature of the Series A Junior Participating Preferred Stock's
dividend, liquidation and voting rights, the value of one one-hundredth of a
share of Series A Junior Participating Preferred Stock purchasable upon the
exercise of each right should approximate the value of one share of common
stock.

INDEMNIFICATION AGREEMENTS AND INSURANCE

We maintain insurance on behalf of any person who is or was our director,
officer, employee or agent, or is or was our director or officer serving at our
request as a director, officer, employee or agent of another corporation,
partnership, Jjoint wventure, trust, employee benefit plan or other enterprise
against certain claims asserted against him or her and liabilities incurred by
him or her in any such capacity, or arising out of his or her status as such,
whether or not we would have the power or the obligation to indemnify him
against such liability under the provisions of our certificate of incorporation
and by-laws.

We have entered into indemnification agreements with each of our executive
officers and directors. The indemnification agreements require us to indemnify
the officers and directors to the fullest extent permitted by law and to advance
to the executive officers and directors all related expenses, subject to
reimbursement if it is subsequently determined that indemnification is not
permitted. We must also indemnify and advance all expenses incurred by executive
officers and directors seeking to enforce their rights under the indemnification
agreements, and cover executive officers and directors under our directors' and
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officers' liability insurance. Although the form of indemnification agreement
offers substantially the same scope of coverage afforded by provisions in our
certificate of incorporation and by-laws, it provides greater assurance to
directors and officers that indemnification will be available, because, as a
contract, it cannot be modified unilaterally in the future by the board of
directors or by the stockholders to eliminate the rights it provides. Such
unilateral action is possible with respect to the relevant provisions of the
by-laws, at least as to prospective elimination of such rights.

14

DESCRIPTION OF WARRANTS AND WARRANT UNITS

We may issue warrants, including warrants to purchase debt securities,
common stock or preferred stock or any combination of the foregoing. Warrants
may be issued independently or as part of a unit with any other securities and
may be attached to or separate from the underlying securities. The warrants will
be issued under warrant agreements to be entered into between us and a bank or
trust company, as warrant agent, as detailed in the prospectus supplement
relating to warrants being offered.

A prospectus supplement relating to any warrants being offered will include
specific terms relating to the offering, including a description of any other
securities sold together with the warrants. Such terms will include:

—— the title of the warrants;
- the aggregate number of the warrants;

- the price or prices at which the warrants will be issued;

- the currencies in which the price or prices of the warrants may be
payvable;

- the designation, amount, and terms of the debt securities, common
stock or preferred stock purchasable upon exercise of the warrants
and procedures by which those numbers may be adjusted;

- the designation and terms of the other offered securities, if any,
with which the warrants are issued and the number of the warrants
issued with each security;

- if applicable, the date on and after which the warrants and the
offered securities purchasable upon exercise of the warrants will be

separately transferable;

- the price or prices at which the offered securities purchasable upon
exercise of the warrants may be purchased;

- the date on which the right to exercise the warrants shall commence
and the date on which the right shall expire;

- the minimum or maximum amount of the warrants that may be exercised
at any one time;

- any terms relating to the modification of the warrants, including
adjustments in the exercise price;

- information with respect to book-entry procedures, if any;

- a discussion of any material federal income tax considerations; and
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- any other material terms of the warrants, including terms,
procedures, and limitations relating to the transferability,
exchange, exercise or redemption of the warrants.

The applicable prospectus supplement will describe the specific terms of
any warrant units.

The descriptions of the warrant agreements in this prospectus and in any
prospectus supplement are summaries of the applicable provisions of the
applicable agreements. These descriptions do not restate those agreements in
their entirety and do not contain all of the information that you may find
useful. We urge you to read the applicable agreements because they, and not the
summaries, define your rights as holders of the warrants or any warrant units.
For more information, please review the form of the relevant agreements, which
will be filed with the SEC promptly after the offering of the warrants or
warrant units and will be available as described in the heading "Where You Can
Find More Information" above.

PLAN OF DISTRIBUTION

We may sell the securities to or through one or more underwriters or
dealers, and also may sell the securities directly to other purchasers or
through agents. These firms may also act as our agents in the sale of the
securities. Only underwriters named in the prospectus supplement will be
considered as underwriters of the securities offered by the prospectus
supplement.

We may distribute the securities at different times in one or more
transactions. We may sell the securities at fixed prices, which may change, at
market prices prevailing at the time of sale, at prices related to the
prevailing market prices or at negotiated prices.
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In connection with the sale of the securities, underwriters may receive
compensation from us or from purchasers of the securities in the form of
discounts, concessions or commissions. Underwriters, dealers and agents that
participate in the distribution of the securities may be deemed to be
underwriters. Discounts or commissions they receive and any profit on their
resale of the securities may be considered underwriting discounts and
commissions under the Securities Act of 1933. We will identify any underwriter
or agent, and we will describe any compensation, in the prospectus supplement.

We may agree to indemnify underwriters, dealers and agents who participate
in the distribution of the securities against certain liabilities, including
liabilities under the Securities Act of 1933.

We may authorize dealers or other persons who act as our agents to solicit
offers by certain institutions to purchase the securities from us under
contracts which provide for payment and delivery on a future date. We may enter
into these contracts with commercial and savings banks, insurance companies,
pension funds, investment companies, educational and charitable institutions and
others. If we enter into these agreements concerning any series of securities,
we will indicate that in the prospectus supplement.

In connection with an offering of the securities, underwriters may engage
in transactions that stabilize, maintain or otherwise affect the price of the
securities. Specifically, underwriters may over-—-allot in connection with the
offering, creating a syndicate short position in the securities for their own
account. In addition, underwriters may bid for, and purchase, securities in the
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open market to cover short positions or to stabilize the price of the
securities. Finally, underwriters may reclaim selling concessions allowed for
distributing the securities in the offering if the underwriters repurchase
previously distributed securities in transactions to cover short positions, in
stabilization transactions or otherwise. Any of these activities may stabilize
or maintain the market price of the securities above independent market levels.
Underwriters are not required to engage in any of these activities and may end
any of these activities at any time.

Each series of securities (other than our common stock) offered will be a
new issue of securities and will have no established trading market. The
securities (other than our common stock) may or may not be listed on a national
securities exchange. No assurance can be given as to the liquidity of or the
existence of trading markets for any securities offered (other than with respect
to our common stock).

LEGAL OPINION

Bryan Cave LLP, St. Louis, Missouri, as our counsel, will opine upon the
legality of the securities.

EXPERTS

The consolidated financial statements and schedule of Gardner Denver, Inc.
as of December 31, 2003 and 2002 and for the years ended December 31, 2003 and
2002, have been incorporated by reference herein in reliance upon the reports of
KPMG LLP, independent registered public accounting firm, incorporated by
reference herein, and upon the authority of said firm as experts in accounting
and auditing. The audit report for Gardner Denver, Inc. covering the December
31, 2003 consolidated financial statements refers to the adoption of Statement
of Financial Accounting Standards No. 142, "Goodwill and Other Intangible
Assets," in the year ending December 31, 2002.

The consolidated financial statements of Syltone plc and subsidiaries as of
31 March 2003 and 2002, and for the years ended 31 March 2003 and 2002, have
been incorporated by reference herein in reliance upon the report of KPMG Audit
Plc, independent auditors, incorporated by reference herein, and upon the
authority of said firm as experts in accounting and auditing.

The consolidated financial statements of nash_elmo Holdings LLC and
subsidiaries as of December 31, 2003 and for the year then ended, have been
incorporated by reference herein in reliance upon the report of KPMG LLP,
independent auditors, incorporated by reference herein, and upon the authority
of said firm as experts in accounting and auditing.

Arthur Andersen LLP, our former independent auditors, have audited the
consolidated financial statements and schedule of Gardner Denver, Inc. as of
December 31, 2001, and for the year ended December 31, 2001, as set forth in
their report. We have incorporated by reference our consolidated financial
statements and schedule in this prospectus and elsewhere in the registration
statement from our Annual
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Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2003 in reliance on
Arthur Andersen LLP's report.

On August 31, 2002, Arthur Andersen ceased practicing before the SEC. We
have been unable to obtain, after reasonable efforts, the written consent of
Arthur Andersen LLP to our naming it as an expert and as having audited such
consolidated financial statements, and including its audit report in this
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prospectus. The cessation of Arthur Andersen's practice and the absence of such
written consent from Arthur Andersen may limit your ability to recover damages
from Arthur Andersen LLP under Section 11 of the Securities Act for any untrue
statements of a material fact contained in the financial statements audited by
Arthur Andersen LLP or any omissions to state a material fact required to be
stated therein or necessary to make the statements therein not misleading.

On June 26, 2002, our board of directors, based on a recommendation of the
Audit and Finance Committee, dismissed Arthur Andersen LLP as our independent
public accountants and approved the selection of KPMG LLP to serve as our
independent public accountants for the year ending December 31, 2002.

Arthur Andersen LLP's reports on our financial statements for the past two
years did not contain an adverse opinion or disclaimer of opinion, nor were they
qualified or modified as to uncertainty, audit scope or accounting principles.
In connection with the audits for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2001 and
through June 26, 2002, there were no disagreements with Arthur Andersen LLP on
any matter of accounting principles or practices, financial statement
disclosure, or auditing scope or procedure, which disagreements, if not resolved
to the satisfaction of Arthur Andersen LLP, would have caused Arthur Andersen
LLP to make reference thereto in its report on our financial statements for such
years. Also, during those years, there have been no "reportable events," as such
term is used in Item 304 (a) (1) (v) of Regulation S-K.
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No dealer, salesperson or other person is authorized to give any
information or to represent anything not contained in this prospectus supplement
and accompanying prospectus. You must not rely on any unauthorized information
or representations. This prospectus supplement and accompanying prospectus is an
offer to sell only the shares offered hereby, but only under circumstances and
in jurisdictions where it is lawful to do so. The information contained in this
prospectus supplement and accompanying prospectus is current only as of its
date.
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